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PART I

 
Forward-Looking Statements

 
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements as that term is defined in the federal securities laws. The events

described in forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report may not occur. Generally these statements relate to
business plans or strategies, projected or anticipated benefits or other consequences of our plans or strategies, projected or
anticipated benefits from acquisitions to be made by us, or projections involving anticipated revenues, earnings or other aspects of
our operating results. The words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “project,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” and “continue,”
and their opposites and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. We caution you that these statements
are not guarantees of future performance or events and are subject to a number of uncertainties, risks and other influences, many of
which are beyond our control, that may influence the accuracy of the statements and the projections upon which the statements are
based. Factors which may affect our results include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties discussed in Item 6 of this
Annual Report under “Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition”.  
 

Any one or more of these uncertainties, risks and other influences could materially affect our results of operations and
whether forward-looking statements made by us ultimately prove to be accurate. Our actual results, performance and achievements
could differ materially from those expressed or implied in these forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether from new information, future events or otherwise.
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ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
 
(a) Business Development
 

General
 

We operate two lines of business:
 

·  franchising, ownership and operation of storefront insurance agencies under the DCAP, Barry Scott, Atlantic
Insurance and Accurate Agency brand names

 
·  premium financing of insurance policies for our DCAP, Barry Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency clients as

well as clients of non-affiliated entities
 

Our business strategy anticipates the utilization and expansion of our distribution network and delivery of insurance-related
services through this network. Pursuant to this strategy, we have
 

·  granted franchises for the use of the DCAP trade name
 

·  sold our interest in a number of storefronts but retained them as DCAP franchises
 

·  a s discussed below, purchased the assets of Accurate Agency, Inc. (and related entities), which has five store
locations and operate, under the Accurate Agency brand name

 
·  changed our business model with respect to our premium finance operations from selling finance contracts to third

parties to internally financing those contracts
 

Recent Developments
 

The following developments have occurred since January 1, 2007:
 

·  Effective March 23, 2007, the holders of approximately $1,385,000 outstanding principal amount of our subordinated
debt agreed to extend the maturity date of the debt from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008. In consideration
for the extension of the due date of the subordinated debt, we extended the expiration date of warrants held by the
debtholders for the purchase of 90,000 of our common shares from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008. See
Item 12 of this Annual Report.

 
·  Effective March 23, 2007, the holder of our Series A preferred shares exchanged such shares for an equal number of

Series B preferred shares. The terms of the Series B preferred shares are identical to those of the Series A preferred
shares, except that they are mandatorily redeemable on April 30, 2008 (as opposed to April 30, 2007 for the Series A
preferred shares). See Item 12 of this Annual Report.

 
·  On February 2, 2007, Robert Wallach resigned as a director.
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·  I n March 2007, Commercial Mutual Insurance Company’s Board of Directors adopted a resolution to convert

Commercial Mutual from an advance premium insurance company to a stock property and casualty insurance
company. We hold surplus notes of Commercial Mutual in the aggregate principal amount of $3,750,000. In the event
the conversion occurs, we may be able to convert such notes into a controlling equity interest in Commercial Mutual.
See Items 1(b) and 6 of this Annual Report.

 
Developments During 2006

 
The following material events occurred during 2006:

 
·  On January 31, 2006, we purchased from Eagle Insurance Company two surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual

Insurance Company in the aggregate principal amount of $3,750,000 plus accrued interest of $1,794,688.
Commercial Mutual is a New York property and casualty insurer. Eagle is a New Jersey property and casualty insurer
that is being operated by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance pursuant to an Order of
Rehabilitation. Eagle owns approximately 10% of our outstanding common shares. See Items 1(b), 6, 11 and 12 of
this Annual Report.

 
·  On July 28, 2006, we and our premium finance subsidiary, Payments Inc., entered into a new revolving line of credit

with Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company (“M&T”), which provides for a decrease in the credit line to
$20,000,000 and the elimination of M&T’s agreement to arrange an additional $10,000,000 credit facility with other
lenders on a “best efforts” basis (see “Developments During 2004” below). The new revolver bears interest, at our
option, at either M&T’s prime lending rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006) or LIBOR (5.35% at December 31, 2006)
plus 2.25%, and matures on June 30, 2008. The line of credit also allows for a $2,500,000 term loan (of the
$20,000,000 credit line availability) to be used to provide liquidity for ongoing working capital purposes. Any draws
against the term line bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%. Concurrently with the obtaining of the new credit line, we
borrowed $1,300,000 as a draw against the term line. See Items 6 and 7 of this Annual Report.

 
Developments During 2005

 
The following material events occurred during 2005:

 
·  During 2005, we utilized our line of credit with M&T to repay an aggregate of $2,000,000 of our $3,500,000

subordinated debt.
 

·  Effective May 25, 2005, the holders of the remaining $1,500,000 outstanding principal amount of our subordinated
debt agreed to extend the maturity date of the debt from January 10, 2006 to September 30, 2007. This extension
was given to satisfy a requirement of M&T that arose in connection with the increase in our revolving line of credit to
$25,000,000 and the extension of the line to June 30, 2007, as described under “Developments During 2004” below.
In consideration for the extension of the due date of the subordinated debt, we extended the expiration date of
warrants held by the debtholders for the purchase of 97,500 of our common shares from January 10, 2006 to
September 30, 2007.
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·  On November 15, 2005, we entered into an agreement for the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Accurate

Agency, Inc., Louisons Associates Limited and Accurate Agency of Western New York, Inc., insurance brokerage
firms with a total of four offices located in and around Rochester, New York that operate under the Accurate Agency
brand. The transaction was consummated effective as of January 1, 2006. The acquisition is part of our strategy to
expand our operations into other regions of New York State.

 
Developments During 2004

 
The following material events occurred during 2004:

 
·  Effective August 26, 2004, we effected a one-for-five reverse split of our common shares.

 
·  O n October 7, 2004, our common shares began trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market (formerly called The

NASDAQ Small Cap Market).
 

·  In December 2004, we increased our premium finance line of credit with M&T from $18,000,000 to $25,000,000 and
extended the term of the line to June 30, 2007. Subject to certain conditions, M&T agreed to arrange an additional
$10,000,000 credit facility with other lenders on a “best efforts” basis. The terms of the new line of credit agreement
were similar to our previous line of credit agreement with M&T, except that the interest rate was reduced from M&T’s
prime lending rate plus 1.5% to, at our option, either (i) M&T’s prime lending rate or (ii) LIBOR plus 2.5%, and the
amount that we could borrow was raised from 80% to 85% of eligible premium finance receivables.

 
(b) Business of Issuer
 

General
 

Our storefront locations serve as insurance agents or brokers and place various types of insurance on behalf of customers.
We focus on automobile, motorcycle and homeowners insurance and our customer base is primarily individuals rather than
businesses.
 

There are 70 store locations owned or franchised by us of which 65 are located in New York State. In the New York
metropolitan area, there are 43 DCAP franchises. There are also 17 Barry Scott locations and five Accurate Agency locations outside
the New York metropolitan area (all located in central and western New York State). There are five Atlantic Insurance locations in
eastern Pennsylvania. All of the Barry Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency locations are wholly-owned by us.
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The stores receive commissions from insurance companies for their services. We receive fees from the franchised locations

in connection with their use of the DCAP name. Neither we nor the stores currently serve as an insurance company and therefore do
not assume underwriting risks; however, as discussed below under “Commercial Mutual Insurance Company”, Commercial Mutual is
seeking to convert from an advance premium insurance company to a stock property and casualty insurance company. In the event of
such conversion, the surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual and held by us may be converted into a controlling equity interest in
Commercial Mutual.
 

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Payments Inc., we provide insurance premium financing services to our DCAP, Barry
Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency locations as well as non-affiliated insurance agencies. Payments Inc. is licensed as an
insurance premium finance agency in the states of New York, Pennsylvania and New Jersey.
 

W e also offer automobile club services for roadside emergencies. Income tax preparation services are also offered in
connection with the franchise operation of the DCAP stores.
 

We were incorporated in 1961 and assumed our current name in 1999.
 

Our executive offices are located at 1158 Broadway, Hewlett, New York 11557; our telephone number is (516) 374-7600 and
our fax number is (516) 295-7216.
 

Insurance Agencies
 

Insurance Brokerage
 

Our storefront agencies deal primarily with the insurance needs of individuals. I n the states in which we operate, all
automobile owners must secure liability insurance coverage. We provide various choices to the insured depending on market
conditions.
 

Our agencies currently operate under the DCAP, Barry Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency brand names. During
2006, we began the transition, planned to take two to three years, to change all store names to DCAP.
 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, approximately 90% of our insurance revenues were derived from
commissions and other fees received in connection with the selling of automobile and other property and casualty insurance policies.
 

In addition to automobile insurance, we offer:
 

·  property and casualty insurance for motorcycles, boats and livery/taxis
·  life insurance
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·  business insurance
·  homeowner’s insurance
·  excess coverage

 
We have obtained the right to receive calls placed to “1-800-INSURANCE” in the states of New York, New Jersey and

Pennsylvania (except for one area code in Pennsylvania) and “1-800-LOWEST-1” on a nationwide basis as a way to increase our
insurance brokerage business.
 

Franchises
 

A n important part of our strategy has been to increase our name recognition. We decided that granting others DCAP
franchises is an important step in achieving this goal.
 

Franchisees currently pay us an initial franchise fee of $25,000 to offer insurance products under the DCAP name.
Franchisees are obligated to also pay us monthly fees during the term of the franchise agreement, generally commencing after a six
to twelve month period from the date on which the storefront opens for business. Initial franchise fees and monthly fees payable by
franchisees constituted approximately 1% and 8%, respectively, of our insurance revenues during the year ended December 31,
2006.
 

Automobile Club
 

As a complement to our automobile insurance operations, we offer automobile club services for roadside emergencies. We
offer memberships for such services, and we make arrangements with towing dispatch companies to fulfill service call requirements.
 

During fiscal 2006, fees received in connection with automobile club services constituted approximately 1% of our insurance
revenues.
 

Internet
 

During fiscal 2006, we developed a website (www.dcapagents.com), a secure site for use by personnel of our company-
owned stores as well as our franchises.  Incorporated within the website are tools for managing the location’s business, including
comparative quoting, lead generation and tracking. 
 

Policy placement generates commission revenue.  Since policy sales can be measured as they relate to the number of
inquiries or leads, increased marketing  will result in more leads.  During fiscal 2006, we developed a plan to generate more leads by
increasing our presence on the Internet through Search Engine Optimization, or SEO, and lead procurement through contracting with
third party lead aggregators.  Our websites, including www.dcapinsurance.com, now offer the prospective insured the opportunity to
provide us the needed information in the very same manner as provided face to face or over the telephone.  With the information
provided, we can give multiple quotes to the prospect as well as track the status of the lead from the moment it is received.   
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Income Tax Return Preparation

 
A number of our franchise locations provide income tax return preparation services. The tax return preparation service allows

them to offer an additional service to the walk-in customers who comprise the bulk of their customer base, as well as t o existing
customers. We have also obtained the right to receive calls placed to “1-800-INCOME TAX” in New York, New Jersey and
Pennsylvania as a way to increase our franchisees’ tax preparation business.
 

Structure and Operations
 

As stated above, we currently have 70 offices, of which 43 are franchises, and 27 are wholly-owned. Our franchises consist of
both “conversion” and “startup” operations. In a conversion operation, an existing insurance brokerage with an established business
becomes a DCAP office. In a startup operation, an entrepreneur begins operations as a DCAP office. Our wholly-owned offices are
managed by our employees; each franchise is managed by or under the supervision of the franchisee.
 

In order to promote consistency and efficiency, and as a service to our franchises, we offer training to office managers. Our
training program covers:
 

·  marketing, sales and underwriting
·  office and logistics
·  computer information

 
We provide the administrative services and functions of a “central office” to our wholly-owned offices. The services provided to

these storefront offices are:
 

·  sales training
·  bookkeeping and accounting
·  processing services

 
Franchises operate without the assistance of our “central office” services.

 
We also provide support services to stores such as:

 
·  assistance with regard to the hiring of employees
·  assistance with regard to the writing of local advertising
·  advice regarding potential carriers for certain customers

 
We also manage the cooperative advertising program in which all of our offices participate.

 
In addition to the above services, we provide to all of our offices a direct business relationship with nationally-known and local

insurance carriers that may otherwise be beyond the reach of small, privately-owned retail insurance operations.
 

I n 2007, we obtained a new agency software system, AMS 360, that is used in connection with the management and
operations of our stores. We intend to begin to utilize the new system in our wholly-owned offices during April 2007 and expect that it
will be fully implemented at such locations by June 2007. We also intend to offer the new system to our franchisees.
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Premium Financing

 
Customers who purchase insurance policies are often unable to pay the premium in a lump sum and, therefore, require

extended payment terms. Premium finance involves making a loan to the customer that is secured by the unearned portion of the
insurance premiums being financed and held by the insurance carrier. Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Payments Inc., is licensed as a
premium finance agency in the states of New York, Pennsylvania and New Jersey.
 

In a typical premium finance arrangement, we lend the amount of the premium (minus the customer’s down payment) to the
customer and pay it to the insurance company on behalf of the customer. The customer makes periodic payments to us over the term
of the finance agreement (generally nine to ten months). We strive to design our payment plans so that the balance of the principal of
the loan is at all times less than the amount of the unearned portion of the insurance premiums being financed, which backs the loan.
We also seek to mitigate risk by acting on a timely basis to request cancellation of the policy if the policyholder defaults on his or her
obligation to repay the premium finance loan.
 

I f the policy is cancelled before its term expires, the policyholder has a right to receive a return of the unearned premium.
Under our premium finance agreement, the policyholder assigns this right to us to secure his or her obligations under the loan. If the
policyholder fails to make a payment, we have the right to request that the insurance company cancel the policy and pay to us the
amount of any unearned premium on the policy. If the amount of unearned premium exceeds the balance due on the loan plus any
interest and applicable fees owed by the policyholder to us, we return the excess amount to the policyholder in accordance with
applicable law.
 

The regulatory framework under which our premium finance procedures are established is generally set forth in the premium
finance statutes of the states in which we operate. Among other restrictions, the interest rate we may charge our customers for
financing their premiums is limited by these state statutes. See “Government Regulation.”
 

Reference is made to Items 1(a) and 6 of this Annual Report for a discussion of the line of credit and subordinated debt that
we utilize in connection with our premium finance operations.
 

Commercial Mutual Insurance Company
 

In March 2007, Commercial Mutual Insurance Company’s Board of Directors approved a resolution to convert Commercial
Mutual from an advance premium insurance company to a stock property and casualty insurance company pursuant to Section 7307
of the New York Insurance Law. Commercial Mutual has advised us that it has obtained permission from the Superintendent of
Insurance of the State of New York to proceed with the conversion process (subject to certain conditions as discussed below).
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As discussed in Item 1(a) hereof, we hold two surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual in the aggregate principal amount
of $3,750,000. Previously earned but unpaid interest on the notes as of December 31, 2006 was approximately $1,821,250. The
surplus notes are past due and provide for interest at the prime rate or 8.5% per annum, whichever is less. Payments of principal and
interest on the surplus notes may only be made out of the surplus of Commercial Mutual and require the approval of the Insurance
Department of the State of New York. As of December 31, 2006, the statutory surplus of Commercial Mutual, as reported t o the
Insurance Department, was approximately $4,965,000.
 

The conversion by Commercial Mutual to a stock property and casualty insurance company is subject to a number of
conditions, including the approval of the p lan of conversion by the Superintendent of Insurance and Commercial Mutual’s
policyholders. As part of the approval process, the Superintendent of Insurance is required to have an appraisal performed with
respect to the fair market value of Commercial Mutual. Such appraisal is to be based upon Commercial Mutual’s latest filings with the
Insurance Department and any significant subsequent developments and is to consider the assets and liabilities of Commercial
Mutual and any other factors bearing on its value. We, as a holder of the Commercial Mutual surplus notes, at our option, would be
able to exchange the surplus notes for an equitable share of the securities or other consideration, or both, of the corporation into
which Commercial Mutual would be converted. Based upon the amount payable on the surplus notes and the statutory surplus of
Commercial Mutual, we believe that, following any conversion by Commercial Mutual into a stock corporation, we could hold a
controlling equity interest in Commercial Mutual. No assurances can be given that the conversion will occur.
 

Strategy
 

I n order to achieve our goal of utilizing and expanding our distribution network and delivering insurance-related services
through this network, we currently have the following five-pronged business strategy:
 

·  promote franchise sales by providing proprietary products and services that may not be available elsewhere
 

·  acquire storefront agencies in New York State in order to expand our geographical footprint
 

·  increase the size of our premium finance business, both within and outside the DCAP storefronts
 

·  seek to increase commission revenue through Internet marketing
 

·  seek to expand our operations by acquiring businesses or other assets, or providing new services such as insurance
underwriting through Commercial Mutual, which we believe will complement or enhance our business

 
In seeking to promote franchise sales, we pursue increased name recognition through the establishment of additional DCAP

storefront sites (both conversion and start-up types) and increased marketing activities. In addition, our cooperative advertising
program will continue to use the aggregated buying power of the DCAP, Barry Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency offices
to advertise on the Internet, and through radio, telephone directories and other media.
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We utilize toll-free telephone numbers to increase business. Telephone calls received are routed to the DCAP, Barry Scott,
Atlantic Insurance or Accurate Agency office nearest the call (based on the zip code of the caller) for handling. We are promoting “1-
800-INSURANCE” in our current markets and intend to utilize such number in the future as our market expands.
 

During 2007, we will continue to seek to acquire additional locations in order to further capitalize on existing proprietary
services and relationships with carriers as well as to increase premium finance business.
 

A s indicated above, one of our strategies involves the growth of our premium finance business. Until mid-2003, as the
number of insurance companies participating voluntarily in the New York non-standard automobile insurance market declined, fewer
policies were written on a voluntary basis and there was an offsetting increase in the size of the involuntary or “assigned risk” market.
The New York Auto Insurance Plan (“NYAIP”), which provides coverage for “assigned risk” drivers, provides for limited finance
options. Unless the insured can either pay the entire premium at policy inception, or can provide a large down payment and be
capable of paying the balance over a short period of time, there is a need for premium financing. Our premium finance subsidiary,
Payments Inc., offers the insured a reduced down payment and the ability to spread the balance over a period of up to ten months.
 

Since mid-2003, as a result of rate increases for NYAIP policies, and the relaxation in underwriting standards by voluntary
carriers, the size of the voluntary non-standard market has been increasing and the NYAIP market has declined. Although NYAIP
premiums continued to rise until August 2004, the decline in the NYAIP market has led us to seek non-NYAIP premium financing
business. Beginning in late 2004, we began to provide premium financing on some policies written in the voluntary market.
 

During the last several years, we have seen a shift away from telephone inquiries from prospective insureds.  Much of this
can be attributed to the growth in the direct-to-consumer sales model of certain insurance companies.  To reach those “direct”
companies, a consumer can call or use the company’s website.  It should be noted that these “direct” carriers give the consumer a
single quote, one that relates only to that particular carrier.  We are redirecting our marketing efforts to place more emphasis on the
Internet and less on telephone directory advertising.
 

W e have decided upon a strategy to capitalize on the change in shopping methods.  We have built consumer-oriented
websites to allow prospective insureds to receive rate quotes from our company-owned and franchised locations.  We have licensed
software that enables us to give the prospect multiple quotes from multiple carriers based on one set of data.  We have built a tracking
and follow up system to monitor the progress of an inquiry to a quote to a status report to a sale or non-sale.  We have been testing
this system for the past several months and are refining and changing it as needed.  We believe that, as more consumers use the
Internet for shopping, our efforts will result in a greater number of policy sales.
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Our f inal strategy involves the expansion of our operations into complementary areas. W e continually explore such
opportunities as a means to enhance our business. Complimentary insurance products, including different or enhanced coverages,
and other financial products (such as mortgages) are being considered. Our acquisition of the surplus notes issued by Commercial
Mutual has allowed for an enhanced relationship between us and a licensed property and casualty insurer. Commercial Mutual offers
coverages in New York State which can be sold through the DCAP, Barry Scott and Accurate networks. Commercial Mutual currently
sells homeowners insurance, commercial automobile insurance and various physical damage coverages and plans to offer other
coverages including private passenger auto liability, umbrella and business owner insurance. As discussed under “Commercial
Mutual Insurance Company” above, in the event Commercial Mutual converts from an advance premium insurance company to a
stock property and casualty insurance company, the surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual and held by us may be converted
into a controlling equity interest in Commercial Mutual.
 

Competition
 

W e compete with numerous insurance agents and brokers in our market. The amount o f capital required to commence
operations is generally small and the only material barrier to entry is the ability to obtain the required licenses and appointments as a
broker or agent for insurance carriers. There is no price competition between us and other agents and brokers. All must sell a
particular carrier’s policies at exactly the same price. Because we may be able to offer a different payment plan through premium
financing, we are able to differentiate ourselves.
 

In recent years, extensive competition has come from direct sales entities, such as Progressive Direct, Esurance and GEICO
Insurance, who have concentrated their advertising efforts on television and radio. In addition, the Internet sales effort of some of our
competitors has shown promise. Further, legislation that allows banks to offer insurance to their customers has taken market share
from the storefront insurance operators.
 

Our premium finance operation competes with many other companies that have been in business longer than we have, and
have long term relationships with their insurance agency clients.
 

Government Regulation 
 

Our premium finance subsidiary, Payments Inc., is regulated by governmental agencies in the states in which it conducts
business. The regulations, which generally are designed to protect the interests of policyholders who elect to finance their insurance
premiums, vary by jurisdiction, but usually, among other matters, involve:
 

·  regulating the interest rates, fees and service charges we may charge our customers
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·  imposing minimum capital requirements for our premium finance subsidiary or requiring surety bonds in addition to or

as an alternative to such capital requirements
 

·  governing the form and content of our financing agreements
 

·  prescribing minimum notice and cure periods before we may cancel a customer’s policy for non-payment under the
terms of the financing agreement

 
·  prescribing timing and notice procedures for collecting unearned premium from the insurance company, applying the

unearned premium to our customer’s premium finance account, and, if applicable, returning any refund due to our
customer

 
·  requiring our premium finance company to qualify for and obtain a license and to renew the license each year

 
·  conducting periodic financial and market conduct examinations and investigations of our premium finance company

and its operations
 

·  requiring prior notice to the regulating agency of any change of control of our premium finance company
 

Employees
 

We employ 87 persons. We believe that our relationship with our employees is good.
 
ITEM 2. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 

Our principal executive offices are located at 1158 Broadway, Hewlett, New York, our central processing offices are located at
1762 Central Avenue, Albany, New York and the administrative offices of Payments Inc. are located at 1154 Broadway, Hewlett, New
York.
 

Our 17 Barry Scott offices and five Accurate Agency offices are located in upstate New York. Our five Atlantic Insurance
offices are located in eastern Pennsylvania.
 

Our 27 wholly-owned storefront locations, and our executive and other offices are operated pursuant to lease agreements that
expire from time to time through 2015. The current yearly aggregate base rental for the offices is approximately $548,000.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

None.
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
 

There were no matters submitted to our stockholders during the quarter ended December 31, 2006.
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PART II
 
I T E M 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND SMALL BUSINESS ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 
 

Market Information
 

Since October 7, 2004, our common shares have been quoted on The NASDAQ Capital Market (formerly called The
NASDAQ Small Cap Market) under the symbol “DCAP.”
 

Set forth below are the high and low bid prices (and since August 1, 2006, the date on which The Nasdaq Stock Market
became operational as a national securities exchange, the high and low sales prices) for our common shares for the periods
indicated, as reported on The NASDAQ Capital Market. The bid prices set forth are prices between broker-dealers and do not include
retail mark-ups or mark-downs or any commissions to the broker-dealer. The bid prices may not necessarily reflect actual
transactions.
 

  High   Low  
2006 Calendar Year        
First Quarter  $ 3.35 $ 2.54 
Second Quarter   3.00  1.95 
Third Quarter   2.44  1.52 
Fourth Quarter   3.18  1.42 
 

  High   Low  
2005 Calendar Year        
First Quarter  $ 7.95 $ 4.95 
Second Quarter   6.35  3.00 
Third Quarter   4.75  3.02 
Fourth Quarter   3.50  2.58 

Holders
 

As of March 21, 2007, there were approximately 1,504 record holders of our common shares.
 

Dividends
 

Holders of our common shares are entitled to dividends when, as and if declared by our Board of Directors out of funds legally
available. Until March 23, 2007, there were also outstanding 780 Series A preferred shares. These shares were entitled to cumulative
aggregate dividends of $39,000 per annum (5% of their liquidation preference of $780,000). Effective March 23, 2007, the holder of
our Series A preferred shares exchanged such shares for an equal number of Series B preferred shares. The terms of the Series B
preferred shares are identical to those of the Series A preferred shares except that they are mandatorily redeemable on April 30,
2008 (as opposed to April 30, 2007 for the Series A preferred shares). No dividends may be paid on our common shares unless an
equivalent pro rata payment is made to the holders of the Series B preferred shares on the accumulated and unpaid dividends
payable to such holders at such time.
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We have not declared or paid any dividends in the past to the holders of our common shares and do not currently anticipate

declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain earnings, if any, to finance the development and
expansion of our business. Future dividend policy will be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and will be contingent
upon future earnings, if any, our financial condition, capital requirements, general business conditions, and other factors. Therefore,
we can give no assurance that any dividends of any kind will ever be paid to holders of our common shares.
 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

Not applicable.
 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
 

The following table set forth certain information with respect to purchases of common shares made by us or any “affiliated
purchaser” during the quarter ended December 31, 2006:
 

 
 
 
 

Period

 

 
Total Number of

SharesPurchased(1)  

Average
Price Paid
per Share   

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs   

Maximum
Number of
Shares that
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs  
              
10/1/06 - 10/31/06   350 $ 1.71  -  - 
11/1/06 - 11/30/06   1,403 $ 1.47  -  - 
12/1/06 - 12/31/06   -  -  -  - 
Total   1,753 $ 1.51  -  - 
__________

(1)  Represents shares acquired by “affiliated purchaser”.
 
ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION
 

Overview
 

We operate 27 storefronts, including 17 Barry Scott locations acquired through our August 2002 acquisition of Barry Scott
Companies, Inc., five Atlantic Insurance locations acquired through our May 2003 acquisition of substantially all of the assets of AIA
Acquisition Corp., four Accurate Agency locations acquired through our January 2006 acquisition of substantially all of the assets of
Accurate Agency, Inc., Louisons Associates Limited and Accurate Agency of Western New York, Inc., and one Accurate location
opened in early 2007. We also have 43 franchised DCAP locations.
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Our insurance storefronts serve as insurance agents or brokers and place various types of insurance on behalf of customers.

We focus on automobile, motorcycle and homeowner’s insurance and our customer base is primarily individuals rather than
businesses.
 

The stores receive commissions from insurance companies for their services. We receive fees from the franchised locations
in connection with their use of the DCAP name. Neither we nor the stores currently serve as an insurance company and therefore do
not assume underwriting risks; however, as discussed in Item 1(b) of this Annual Report, in March 2007, Commercial Mutual
Insurance Company’s Board of Directors adopted a resolution to convert Commercial Mutual from an advance premium insurance
company to a stock property and casualty insurance company. We hold surplus notes of Commercial Mutual in the aggregate
principal amount of $3,750,000. In the event the conversion occurs, we may be able to convert such notes into a controlling equity
interest in Commercial Mutual.
 

The stores also offer automobile club services for roadside assistance and some of our franchise locations offer income tax
preparation services.
 

Payments Inc., our wholly-owned subsidiary, is an insurance premium finance agency that offers premium financing to clients
of DCAP, Barry Scott, Atlantic Insurance and Accurate Agency offices, as well as non-affiliated insurance agencies. We currently
operate within the states of New York, Pennsylvania and New Jersey.
 

Critical Accounting Policies
 

O u r consolidated financial statements include accounts of DCAP Group, Inc. and a l l majority-owned and controlled
subsidiaries. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in our
consolidated financial statements and related notes. In preparing these financial statements, our management has utilized information
available including our past history, industry standards and the current economic environment, among other factors, in forming its
estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the consolidated financial statements, giving due consideration to materiality.
It is possible that the ultimate outcome as anticipated by our management in formulating its estimates inherent in these financial
statements might not materialize. However, application of the critical accounting policies below involves the exercise of judgment and
use of assumptions as to future uncertainties and, as a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. In addition, other
companies may utilize different estimates, which may impact comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in
similar businesses.
 

Commission and fee income
 

We recognize commission revenue from insurance policies at the beginning of the contract period. Refunds of commissions
on the cancellation of insurance policies are reflected at the time of cancellation.

15
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Franchise fee revenue on initial franchisee fees is recognized when substantially all of our contractual requirements under the
franchise agreement are completed. Franchisees also pay a monthly franchise fee plus a monthly advertising fee. We are obligated to
provide marketing and training support to each franchisee.
 

Franchise fee revenue is recognized when substantially all of our contractual requirements under the franchise agreement
are completed.
 

Automobile club dues are recognized equally over the contract period.
 

Finance income, fees and receivables
 

For our premium finance operations, we are using the interest method to recognize interest income over the life of each loan
in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 91, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs
Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases.”
 

Upon the establishment of a premium finance contract, we record the gross loan payments as a receivable with a
corresponding reduction for deferred interest. The deferred interest is amortized to interest income using the interest method over the
life of each loan. The weighted average interest rate charged with respect to financed insurance policies was approximately 26.49%
and 26.55% per annum for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
 

Upon completion of collection efforts, after cancellation of the underlying insurance policies, any uncollected earned interest
or fees are charged off.
 

Allowance for finance receivable losses
 

Customers who purchase insurance policies are often unable to pay the premium in a lump sum and, therefore, require
extended payment terms. Premium finance involves making a loan to the customer that is backed by the unearned portion of the
insurance premiums being financed. No credit checks are made prior to the decision to extend credit to a customer. Losses on
finance receivables include an estimate of future credit losses on premium finance accounts. Credit losses on premium finance
accounts occur when the unearned premiums received from the insurer upon cancellation of a financed policy are inadequate to pay
the balance of the premium finance account. After collection attempts are exhausted, the remaining account balance, including
unrealized interest, is written off. We review historical trends of such losses relative to finance receivable balances to develop
estimates of future losses. However, actual write-offs may differ materially from the write-off estimates that we used. For the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the provision for finance receivable losses was approximately $650,000 and $900,000 (before
estimated recoveries of approximately $65,000 and $225,000, respectively, which reduced the provision for finance receivable
losses), respectively, and actual principal write-offs for such years, net of actual and anticipated recoveries of previous write-offs,
were approximately $679,000 and $732,000, respectively. If our provision for finance receivable losses was understated by 10%
because our actual write-offs were greater than anticipated, the effect would have been a reduction in our basic earnings per share
by approximately $0.01 and $0.02 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively
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Goodwill and intangible assets
 

The carrying value of goodwill was initially reviewed for impairment as of January 1, 2002, and is reviewed annually or
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount might not be recoverable. If the fair value of the
operations to which goodwill relates is less than the carrying amount of those operations, including unamortized goodwill, the carrying
amount of goodwill is reduced accordingly with a charge to expense. Based on our most recent analysis, we believe that no
impairment of goodwill exists at December 31, 2006.
 

Stock-based compensation
 

Effective January 1, 2006, our plans have been accounted for in accordance with the recognition and measurement
provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”), which replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (“APB 25”) and
related interpretations. FAS 123(R) requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, including employee
stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements. In addition, we adhere to the guidance set forth within Securities and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107, which provides the Staff's views regarding the interaction
between SFAS 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations and provides interpretations with respect to the valuation of share-
based payments for public companies.
 

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for similar transactions in accordance with APB 25 which employed the intrinsic value
method of measuring compensation cost. Accordingly, compensation expense was not recognized for fixed stock options i f the
exercise price of the option equaled or exceeded the fair value of the underlying stock at the grant date.
 

While SFAS 123 encouraged recognition of the fair value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant as an expense over
the vesting period, companies were permitted to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by APB
25 and disclose certain pro forma amounts as if the fair value approach of SFAS 123 had been applied. In December 2002, SFAS No.
148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure,” an amendment of SFAS 123, was issued, which, in
addition to providing alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation, required more prominent pro forma disclosures in both the annual and interim financial statements. We
complied with these disclosure requirements for all applicable periods prior to January 1, 2006.
 

I n adopting SFAS 123(R), we applied the modified prospective approach to transition. Under the modified prospective
approach, the provisions of SFAS 123(R) are to be applied to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after
the required effective date. Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has not been
rendered that are outstanding as of the required effective date shall be recognized as the requisite service is rendered on or after the
required effective date. The compensation cost for that portion of awards shall be based on the grant-date fair value of those awards
as calculated for either recognition or pro-forma disclosures under SFAS 123.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued SFAS No. 155 "Accounting for Certain
Hybrid Financial Instruments," an amendment of FASB Statements No. 133 and 140 (“SFAS 155”). SFAS 155 improves financial
reporting by eliminating the exemption from applying FASB Statement No. 133 to interests in securitized financial assets so that
similar instruments are accounted for similarly regardless of the form of the instruments. SFAS 155 also improves financial reporting
by allowing a preparer to elect fair value measurement at acquisition, at issuance, or when a previously recognized financial
instrument is subject to a remeasurement (new basis) event, on an instrument-by-instrument basis, in cases in which a derivative
would otherwise have to be bifurcated. SFAS 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an
entity's first fiscal year that begins after September 15, 2006. Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an entity's fiscal year,
provided the entity has not yet issued financial statements, including financial statements for any interim period for that fiscal year.
Provisions of SFAS 155 may be applied to instruments that an entity holds at the date of adoption on an instrument-by-instrument
basis. SFAS No. 155 did not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations as of December 31, 2006 or for
the year then ended.
 

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 requires that we recognize
the impact of a tax position in our financial statements if that position is more likely than not to be sustained on audit, based on the
technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective in the first quarter of 2007, with the cumulative effect of the
change in accounting principle, if any, recorded as an adjustment to opening retained earnings. W e are currently evaluating the
impact of adopting FIN 48 on our consolidated financial statements.
 

I n September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive
guidance on the SEC’s views regarding the process of quantifying the materiality of misstatements in the financial statements. SAB
108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006, and early application for the first interim period of the same fiscal
year is encouraged. The application of SAB 108 did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations as of
December 31, 2006 or for the year then ended.
 

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework and gives guidance regarding the methods used in measuring fair value, and expands disclosures
about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our consolidated
financial statements. 
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I n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans” ("SFAS 158"). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined
benefit post-retirement plan as an asset or liability in its balance sheet and to recognize changes in funded status in the year in which
the changes occur through comprehensive income. SFAS 158 will have no impact on our financial position or results of operations.
 

In January 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities -
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS 159”). SFAS 159 is intended to improve financial reporting by providing
entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently
without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. It also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed
to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The
statement does not affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value, and it
does not establish requirements for recognizing dividend income, interest income or interest expense. It also does not eliminate
disclosure requirements included in other accounting standards. The provisions of SFAS 159 are effective for the fiscal year beginning
after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of the provisions of SFAS 159.
 

Results of Operations
 

Our ne t income for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $508,385 as compared to $495,760 for the year ended
December 31, 2005.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, revenues from our insurance-related operations were $7,121,724 as compared to
$7,036,599 for the year ended December 31, 2005. The revenue increase of $85,125 was primarily attributable to revenues of
Accurate whose assets were acquired effective January 1, 2006, offset by a reduction in commissions received by our locations
caused by a reduction in renewal commission rates and the elimination of certain other compensation by one of our major insurance
carriers.
 

Premium finance revenues decreased $1,021,786 during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2005. The total number of premium finance loans that we financed during 2006 decreased 5.7% as compared to 2005.
Also, there was a decline in the number of loans originated in downstate New York, which carries a higher average loan size, and an
increase in loans originated in central and northern New York State at a lower average loan size. As a result, our average loan size
declined, resulting in a decline in our premium finance revenue.
 

 Our general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 were $179,406 more than for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to the expenses related to
Accurate whose assets were acquired effective January 1, 2006, offset by a decrease in executive salaries due to the resignation in
October 2005 of John Willis, our former Chief Operating Officer.
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Our provision for finance receivable losses for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $184,989 less than for the year ended
December 31, 2005. This was caused by a decrease in volume in the year ended December 31, 2006.
 

Our depreciation and amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $52,091 more than for the year
ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily the result of depreciation and amortization expenses related to Accurate
whose assets were acquired effective January 1, 2006.
 

Our premium finance interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $76,075 more than for the year ended
December 31, 2005. This increase was the result of an increase in LIBOR, offset by a decrease in the average outstanding balance
of our revolving credit line for the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2005.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we purchased $3,750,000 of surplus notes o f Commercial Mutual Insurance
Company at a price of $3,075,141. Accrued but unpaid interest totaled $1,794,688 at the time of the purchase. This transaction
resulted in interest income-notes receivable of $1,182,844 during the year ended December 31, 2006. No such interest-bearing notes
were owned by us during the year ended December 31, 2005.
 

Our interest expense, excluding interest on our mandatorily redeemable preferred stock, for the year ended December 31,
2006 was $167,773 more than for the year ended December 31, 2005. This increase was a result of interest on the promissory notes
given in connection with the Accurate acquisition and the purchase of the Commercial Mutual surplus notes, and the borrowing
against our revolving credit line to purchase the Commercial Mutual surplus notes (no similar items were recorded in 2005), offset by
a reduction caused by our repaying a portion of our subordinated debt in 2005.
 

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold one of our stores, resulting in a gain of $81,105. No such sale occurred
during the year ended December 31, 2005.
 

Our insurance-related operations, on a stand-alone basis, generated a net profit before income taxes of $1,235,740 during
the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to a net profit before income taxes of $1,602,330 during the year ended December
31, 2005. This decrease was primarily due to decreased revenue (exclusive of the revenues of Accurate stores that were acquired
effective January 1, 2006). Our premium finance operations, on a stand-alone basis, generated a net profit before income taxes of
$721,081 during the year ended December 31 2006 as compared to a net profit before income taxes of $1,230,570 during the year
ended December 31, 2005. The decrease was primarily due to reduced premium finance revenue in 2006 offset by a decrease in our
provision for finance receivable losses. Loss before income taxes from corporate-related items not allocable to reportable segments
was $1,032,484 during the year ended December 31, 2006 as compared to $1,931,140 during the year ended December 31, 2005.
The decrease in net loss was primarily due to an increase in interest income-notes receivable related to the purchase of the surplus
notes issued by Commercial Mutual and a decrease in executive compensation.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

As o f December 31, 2006, we had $1,196,412 in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $2,031,120. As of
December 31, 2005, we had $1,961,489 in cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $5,321,837.

 
Cash and cash equivalents decreased by $765,077 between December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006 primarily due to

the following:
 

·  Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $315,607 primarily due the
following: (i) a decrease in premiums payable of $1,098,712, the accretion of discount on notes receivable of
$905,500 and a decrease in income taxes payable of $330,262 offset by (ii) our net income for the year of $508,385,
our depreciation and amortization expense of $456,614, an increase in deferred income taxes of $360,000 and an
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $208,522. Premiums payable have declined due to a change
in our mix of business. We finance premiums for assigned risk plans, where the loan is funded in two stages,
generally over a 30 day period. We also finance premiums with carriers where the entire loan is funded at inception.
As our mix of business has changed to include fewer assigned risk loans and more direct carrier loans, there has
been a reduction in the amount of our premium liability. The decrease in income taxes payable and increase in
deferred income taxes is the result of the accretion of the discount on the Commercial Mutual note receivable not
being currently taxable. The increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses was attributable to Accurate as well
as our ability to increase payment terms of certain vendors.

 
·  Though fluctuations in our premium finance business impact our cash position and daily operations, our cash flows

from operating activities do not reflect changes in the premium finance contract receivables or borrowing under our
revolving credit facility associated with that business. Changes in the premium finance contract receivables are
considered investing activities as they include the making and collection of loans and borrowings under our revolving
line of credit are considered financing activities.

 
·  Cash of $2,433,742 was used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2006 primarily due to

following: (i) the use of $3,075,141 in cash to purchase the surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual and the use
of $1,000,786 in cash to purchase the Accurate agency and other business acquisitions, offset by (ii) a decrease in
our net finance contracts receivable of $1,737,168. This decrease was the result of a reduction in the dollar amount
of premium finance contracts entered into in 2006.

 
·  Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $1,984,272 primarily due to

the following: (i) proceeds of $50,914,830 from our revolving credit line from M&T for premium finance purposes and
$1,300,000 for the purchase of the surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual, offset by (ii) payments of
$49,739,009 on the revolving credit line and $593,846 of long-term debt.
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Our premium finance operations are financed pursuant to a $20,000,000 revolving line of credit from M&T entered into on
July 28, 2006, which replaced our revolving line of credit agreement with M&T dated December 27, 2004. The line of credit bears
interest at either (i) M&T’s prime rate or (ii) LIBOR plus 2.25%, matures on June 30, 2008 and is secured by substantially all of our
assets. We can borrow against the line to the extent of 85% of eligible premium finance receivables. As of December 31, 2006,
$10,952,345 was outstanding under the line. As of December 31, 2006, of the $16,186,559 reflected on the Balance Sheet as
“Finance contracts receivable,” approximately $13,244,722 represents eligible receivables for purposes of our finance credit
agreement. The line of credit also allows for a $2,500,000 term loan (of the $20,000,000 credit line availability) to be used to provide
liquidity for ongoing working capital purposes. Any draws against this line bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%. As of July 28, 2006, we
made our first draw of $1,300,000 against the term line. The draw is repayable in quarterly principal installments of $130,000 each,
commencing September 1, 2006. The remaining principal balance is payable on June 30, 2008. Interest is payable monthly.
 

We have no current commitments for capital expenditures. However, we may, from time t o time, consider acquisitions of
complementary businesses, products or technologies.
 

On January 31, 2006, we purchased $3,750,000 of surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual for a price of $3,075,141, of
which $1,303,434 was paid by delivery of a six month promissory note which provided for interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum. The
promissory note was paid in full on July 28, 2006. Accrued but unpaid interest on the surplus notes totaled $1,794,688 at the time of
the purchase.
 

I n January 2006, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Accurate Agency, Inc., Louisons Associates Limited and
Accurate Agency of Western New York, Inc. for $1,600,000, of which $800,000 was paid at the closing and the balance was paid by
delivery of a seven year promissory note.
 

In connection with our initial acquisition of the line of credit from M&T, we obtained a $3,500,000 secured subordinated loan
to support our premium finance operations. During 2005, we utilized the M&T line of credit to repay an aggregate of $2,000,000 of the
subordinated debt. The remaining balance of the loan was due in January 2006 and carries interest at the rate of 12-5/8% per annum.
In May 2005, we obtained an extension of the maturity date of the remaining subordinated debt to September 30, 2007. In March
2007, holders of approximately $1,385,000 of the outstanding principal amount of the subordinated debt agreed to extend the maturity
date of the debt from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008. We have the right to prepay the subordinated debt (subject to
M&T’s consent) without penalty.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our
financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or
capital resources that is material to investors.
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Factors That May Affect Future Results and Financial Condition
 

Based upon the following factors, as well as other factors affecting our operating results and financial condition, past financial
performance should not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance, and investors should not use historical trends
to anticipate results or trends in future periods. In addition, such factors, among others, may affect the accuracy of certain forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual Report.
 

Because our core product is personal automobile insurance, our business may be adversely affected by negative
developments in the conditions in this industry.
 

Approximately 57% of our revenues for 2006 were commissions and fees from the sale of personal automobile and other
property and casualty insurance policies. As a result o f our concentration in this line of business, negative developments in the
economic, competitive or regulatory conditions affecting the personal automobile insurance industry could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
 

Because substantially all of our insurance-related operations are located in New York and Pennsylvania, our business may
be adversely affected by conditions in these states.
 

Substantially all of our insurance-related operations are located in the states of New York and Pennsylvania. Our revenues
and profitability are affected by the prevailing regulatory, economic, demographic, competitive and other conditions in these states.
Changes in any of these conditions could make it more costly or difficult for us to conduct our business. Adverse regulatory
developments in New York or Pennsylvania, which could include fundamental changes to the design o r implementation of the
automobile insurance regulatory framework, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
 

Our inability to refinance our current line of credit or obtain additional required financing would have an adverse effect on our
premium finance revenue.
 

The working capital needs of our premium finance subsidiary, Payments Inc., are substantially dependent on its line of credit
agreement with M&T that expires in June 2008. That agreement includes covenants requiring us to pass specified financial tests and
to refrain from certain kinds of actions. In the event we fail to meet our covenants or are unable to extend, refinance, replace or
increase our bank line of credit on economically feasible terms, our income and the marketability of our premium finance services
would be materially adversely affected.
 

Increases in interest rates would have an adverse effect on our premium finance operations.
 

Our premium finance line of credit with M&T provides for interest based upon M&T’s floating prime rate or the floating LIBOR
rate. Increases in these rates would increase the cost of borrowing for premium financing. Since we generally charge interest on our
premium finance loans at the statutory rate permitted in each state, we would not be able to increase our loan rates to compensate
for any such increased cost of borrowing.
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If we lose key personnel or are unable to recruit qualified personnel, our ability to implement our business strategies could be
delayed or hindered
 

Our future success will depend, in part, upon the efforts of Barry Goldstein, our Chief Executive Officer. The loss of Mr.
Goldstein or other key personnel could prevent us from fully implementing our business strategies and could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, an event of default under our line of credit agreement will
be triggered if Mr. Goldstein is no longer serving as our chief executive and chief operating officer or that of Payments Inc. We have
an employment agreement with Mr. Goldstein that expires on April 1, 2007. Our Board’s Compensation Committee has retained an
independent compensation consultant to advise it in connection with the determination of Mr. Goldstein’s salary and bonus
compensation and other terms and conditions of employment. As we continue to grow, we will need to recruit and retain additional
qualified management personnel, but we may not be able to do so. Our ability to recruit and retain such personnel will depend upon a
number of factors, such as our results of operations and prospects and the level of competition then prevailing in the market for
qualified personnel.
 

Reductions in the New York involuntary automobile insurance market may adversely affect our premium finance business.
 

Our primary source of premium finance loans has been the assigned risk, or involuntary, automobile insurance market. In
New York, since mid-2003, there has been a decline of more than 70% in the number of new applications for coverage at the New
York Auto Insurance Plan. This has led to a reduction in the number of loans where policies of this type are the collateral. We have
partially offset the rate of decline by increasing our loan originations at our Barry Scott locations and, effective January 2006, by
offering premium financing to our Accurate locations. In general, these loans are of a smaller average size a s upstate New York
premiums are generally lower in amount than those for a comparable downstate policy. Beginning in 2004, we began to finance
certain voluntary auto insurance policies. There is no guaranty that the number or size of the loans in the voluntary marketplace will
offset the declines experienced in the involuntary market.
 

The volatility of premium pricing and commission rates could adversely affect our operations. 
 

W e currently derive most of our insurance-related revenues from commissions paid b y insurance companies. The
commission is usually a percentage of the premium billed to an insured. Insurance premiums are not determined by us. Historically,
property and casualty premiums have been cyclical in nature and have displayed a high degree of volatility based on economic and
competitive conditions. Because our commission revenue is paid to us based on insurance premiums, a decline in premium levels will
have an adverse effect on our business. In times of expanded underwriting capacity of insurance companies, premium rates have
decreased causing a reduction in the commissions payable to us. In addition, in many cases, insurance companies may seek to
reduce their expenses by reducing the commission rates payable to insurance agents or brokers and generally reserve the right to
make such reductions. We cannot predict the timing or extent of future changes in commission rates or premiums and therefore
cannot predict the effect, if any, that such changes would have on our operations.

24
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



We are subject to regulation that may restrict our ability to earn profits.
 

Our premium finance subsidiary is subject to regulation and supervision by the financial institution departments in the states
where it offers to finance premiums. Certain regulatory restrictions, including restrictions on the maximum permissible rates of interest
for premium financing, and prior approval requirements may affect its ability to operate.
 

The operations of our storefronts depend on their continued good standing under the licenses and approvals pursuant to
which they operate. Licensing laws and regulations vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Such laws and regulations are subject to
amendment or interpretation by regulatory authorities, and generally such authorities are vested with broad discretion as to the
granting, suspending, renewing and revoking of licenses and approvals.
 

In addition, there are currently 43 DCAP franchises. The offering of franchises is regulated by both the federal government
and some states, including New York.
 

As a holding company, we are dependent on the results of operations of our operating subsidiaries and the regulatory and
contractual capacity of our premium finance subsidiary to pay dividends to us.
 

We are a holding company and a legal entity separate and distinct from our operating subsidiaries. As a holding company
without significant operations of our own, the principal sources of our funds are dividends and other payments from our operating
subsidiaries. Dividends from our premium finance subsidiary are limited by the minimum capital requirements in applicable state
regulations and by covenants in our loan agreement with M&T. Consequently, our ability to repay debts, pay expenses and pay cash
dividends to our shareholders may be limited.
 

Our premium finance subsidiary is subject to capital requirements, and our failure to meet these standards could subject us to
regulatory actions.
 

Our premium finance subsidiary is subject to minimum capital requirements imposed under the laws of the states in which it
conducts business. Failure to meet applicable minimum statutory capital requirements could subject our premium finance subsidiary
to further examination or corrective action imposed by state regulators, including limitations on our engaging in finance activities,
state supervision or even liquidation.
 

Our business is highly competitive, which may make it difficult for us to market our core products effectively and profitably.
 

The personal automobile insurance business is highly competitive. We compete with numerous other insurance agents and
brokers in our market. The amount of capital required to commence operations as a broker or agent is generally small and the only
material barrier to entry is the ability to obtain the required licenses and appointments as a broker or agent for insurance carriers. We
also compete with insurers, such as Progressive Direct, Esurance and GEICO Insurance, that sell insurance policies directly to
consumers by the Internet and telephone, without a broker.
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Some of our competitors, including those who provide premium finance services, have substantially greater financial and
other resources than we have, and they may offer a broader range of products or offer competing products or services at lower
prices. Our results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by a loss of business to
competitors offering similar insurance products or services at lower prices or having other competitive advantages.
 

A decline in the number of insurance companies offering insurance products in our markets would adversely affect our
business.
 

Based upon economic conditions and loss history, insurance companies enter and leave our market. A reduction in the
number of available insurance products that we can offer to our customers would adversely affect our business.
 

W e may have difficulties in managing our expansion into new geographic markets, and we may not be successful in
identifying agency acquisition candidates or integrating their operations.
 

Our future growth plans include expanding into new markets by acquiring the business and assets of local agencies. Our
future growth will face risks, including risks associated with obtaining necessary licenses for our premium finance operations and our
ability to identify agency acquisition candidates or, if acquired, to integrate their operations. In addition, we may acquire businesses in
markets in which conditions may not be favorable to us.
 

Our inability to identify and acquire agency acquisition candidates could hinder our growth by slowing down our ability to
expand into new markets. If we do acquire additional agencies, we could suffer increased costs, disruption of our business and
distraction of our management if we are unable to integrate the acquired agencies into our operations smoothly. Our geographic
expansion will also continue to place significant demands on our management, operations, systems, accounting, internal controls and
financial resources. Any failure by us to manage our growth and to respond to changes in our business could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 

We may seek to expand through acquisitions of complementary businesses or other assets which involve additional risks that
may adversely affect us
 

We continually seek to expand our operations by acquiring businesses or other assets which we believe will complement or
enhance our business. We may also acquire or make investments in complementary businesses, products, services or technologies.
In the event we effect any such acquisition, we may not be able to successfully integrate any acquired business, asset, product,
service or technology in our operations without substantial costs, delays or other problems or otherwise successfully expand our
operations. In addition, efforts expended in connection with such acquisitions may divert our management’s attention from other
business concerns. We also may have to borrow money to pay for future acquisitions and we may not be able to do so at all or on
terms favorable to us. Additional borrowings and liabilities may have a materially adverse effect on our liquidity and capital resources.
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If we obtain a controlling interest in Commercial Mutual Insurance Company, we will face new risks and uncertainties.
 

A s discussed in Item 1 hereof, in March 2007, Commercial Mutual Insurance Company’s Board of Directors adopted a
resolution to convert Commercial Mutual from an advance premium insurance company to a stock property and casualty insurance
company. We hold surplus notes of Commercial Mutual in the aggregate principal amount of $3,750,000. In the event the conversion
occurs, we may be able to convert such notes into a controlling equity interest in Commercial Mutual. We have never operated as an
insurance company and would face all of the risks and uncertainties that come with operating such a company, including underwriting
risks.
 

We are materially dependent upon the operations of our third party premium finance servicing agent. 
 

The administration, servicing and collection of our premium finance receivables is handled by a third party. Our premium
finance business is materially dependent upon the operations of such company in a professional manner, including the timely
cancellation of insurance policies based upon the failure of the customer to pay a premium finance receivable installment.
 

We rely on our information technology and telecommunication systems, and the failure of these systems could materially and
adversely affect our business.
 

Our business is highly dependent upon the successful and uninterrupted functioning of our information technology and
telecommunications systems as well as those of our premium financing servicing agent. We rely on these systems to support our
operations, as well as to process new and renewal business, provide customer service, make claims payments, support premium
financing activities, and facilitate collections and cancellations. The failure of these systems could interrupt our operations and result
in a material adverse effect on our business.
 

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, increased costs as a result of being an SEC reporting company.
 

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as a variety of related rules implemented by the SEC, have required changes in
corporate governance practices and generally increased the disclosure requirements of public companies. As a reporting company,
we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses in connection with our public disclosure and other obligations. Based upon
SEC regulations currently in effect, we will be required to establish, evaluate and report on our internal control over financial reporting
commencing with our financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2007, and to have our registered independent public
accounting firm issue an attestation as to such reports commencing with our financial statements for the year ending December 31,
2008. We believe that, based upon SEC regulations currently in effect, our general and administrative expenses, including amounts
that will be spent on outside legal counsel, accountants and professionals and other professional assistance, will increase in 2007
over 2006 and in 2008 over 2007, which could require us to allocate what may be limited cash resources away from our operations
and business growth plans. We also believe that compliance with the myriad of rules and regulations applicable to reporting
companies and related compliance issues will divert time and attention of management away from operating and growing our
business.
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The enactment of tort reform could adversely affect our business. 
 

Legislation concerning tort reform is from time to time considered in the United States Congress and in several states. Among
the provisions considered for inclusion in such legislation are limitations on damage awards, including punitive damages. Enactment
of these or similar provisions by Congress or by states in which we sell insurance could result in a reduction in the demand for liability
insurance policies or a decrease in the limits of such policies, thereby reducing our commission revenues. We cannot predict whether
any such legislation will be enacted or, if enacted, the form such legislation will take, nor can we predict the effect, if any, such
legislation would have on our business or results of operations.
 
ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

The financial statements required by this Item 7 are included in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB following Item 14 hereof.
 
ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 

There were no changes in accountants due to disagreements on accounting and financial disclosure during the twenty-four
month period ended December 31, 2006.
 
ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) that are designed to assure
that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated t o management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures.
 

A s required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), as of the end of the period covered b y this Annual Report, under the
supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of that date.
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There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recently completed fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
ITEM 8B. OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
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PART III

ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS, CONTROL PERSONS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE;
COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(A) OF THE

EXCHANGE ACT
 
Executive Officers and Directors
 

The following table sets forth the positions and offices presently held by each of our current directors and executive officers
and their ages:
 
Name Age Positions and Offices Held
   
Barry B. Goldstein 54 President, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Chief

Financial Officer, Treasurer and Director
Morton L. Certilman 75 Secretary and Director
Jay M. Haft 71 Director
David A. Lyons 57 Director
Jack D. Seibald 46 Director

Barry B. Goldstein
 

Mr. Goldstein was elected our President, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chairman of the Board, and a
director in March 2001 and our Treasurer in May 2001. Since January 2006, Mr. Goldstein has served as Chairman of the Board of
Commercial Mutual Insurance Company, a New York property and casualty insurer, as well as Chairman of its Executive Committee.
From April 1997 to December 2004, he served as President of AIA Acquisition Corp., which operated insurance agencies in
Pennsylvania and which sold substantially all of its assets to us in May 2003. Mr. Goldstein received his B.A. and M.B.A. from State
University of New York at Buffalo, and has been a certified public accountant since 1979.
 
Morton L. Certilman
 

Mr. Certilman served as our Chairman of the Board from February 1999 until March 2001. From October 1989 to February
1999, he served as our President. He was elected our Secretary in May 2001 and has served as one of our directors since 1989. Mr.
Certilman has been engaged in the practice of law since 1956 and is affiliated with the law firm of Certilman Balin Adler & Hyman,
LLP. Mr. Certilman is Chairman of the Long Island Museum of Science and Technology, and was formerly Chairman of the Long
Island Regional Planning Board, the Nassau County Coliseum Privatization Commission, and the Northrop/Grumman Master
Planning Council. He served as a director of the Long Island Association and the New Long Island Partnership for a period of ten
years and currently serves as a director of the Long Island Sports Commission. Mr. Certilman has lectured extensively before bar
associations, builders’ institutes, title companies, real estate institutes, banking and law school seminars, The Practicing Law Institute,
The Institute of Real Estate Management and at annual conventions of such organizations as the National Association of Home
Builders, the Community Associations Institute and the National Association of Corporate Real Estate Executives. He was a member
of the faculty of the American Law Institute/American Bar Association, as well as the Institute on Condominium a n d Cluster
Developments of the University of Miami Law Center. Mr. Certilman has written various articles in the condominium field, and is the
author of the New York State Bar Association Condominium Cassette and the Condominium portion of the State Bar Association book
on Real Property Titles. Mr. Certilman received an LL.B. degree, cum laude, from Brooklyn Law School.
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Jay M. Haft
 

Mr. Haft served as our Vice Chairman of the Board from February 1999 until March 2001. From October 1989 to February
1999, he served as our Chairman of the Board. He has served as one of our directors since 1989. Mr. Haft has been engaged in the
practice of law since 1959 and since 1994 has served as counsel to Parker Duryee Rosoff & Haft (and since December 2001, its
successor, Reed Smith). From 1989 to 1994, he was a senior corporate partner of Parker Duryee. Mr. Haft is a strategic and financial
consultant for growth stage companies. He is active in international corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Haft also
represents emerging growth companies. He has actively participated in strategic planning and fund raising for many high-tech
companies, leading edge medical technology companies and marketing companies. Mr. Haft has been a partner of Columbus Nova,
a private investment firm, since 2000. He is a director of a number of public and private corporations, including DUSA
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., whose securities are traded on Nasdaq, and also serves on the Board of the United States-Russian Business
Counsel. Mr. Haft is a past member of the Florida Commission for Government Accountability to the People, a past national trustee
and Treasurer of the Miami City Ballet, and a past Board member of the Concert Association of Florida. He is also a past trustee of
Florida International University Foundation and previously served on the advisory board of the Wolfsonian Museum and Florida
International University Law School. Mr. Haft received B.A. and LL.B. degrees from Yale University.
 
David A. Lyons
 

Mr. Lyons has served since 2004 as a principal of Den Ventures, LLC, a consulting firm focused on business, financing, and
merger and acquisition strategies for public and private companies. Since 2002, Mr. Lyons has also served as a managing partner of
the Nacio Investment Group, whose holdings include Nacio Systems, Inc., a managed hosting company that provides outsourced
infrastructure and communication services for mid-size businesses. Prior to forming the Nacio Investment Group, Mr. Lyons served as
Vice President of Acquisitions for Expanets, Inc., a national provider of converged communications solutions. Previously, he was
Chief Executive Officer of Amnex, Inc. and held various executive management positions at Walker Telephone Systems, Inc. and
Inter-tel, Inc. Mr. Lyons serves on the Board of Directors of GoAmerica, Inc., whose securities are traded on Nasdaq. He has served
as one of our directors since July 2005.
 
Jack D. Seibald
 

Mr. Seibald is a Managing Director of Concept Capital, a division of Sanders Morris Harris, a broker dealer. Mr. Seibald has
been affiliated with Sanders Morris Harris and its predecessor firms since 1995 and is a registered representative with extensive
experience in equity research and investment management dating back to 1983. Since 1997, Mr. Seibald has also been a Managing
Member of Whiteford Advisors, LLC, an investment management firm. He began his career at Oppenheimer & Co. and has also been
affiliated with Salomon Brothers, Morgan Stanley & Co. and Blackford Securities. Mr. Seibald is a member of the Board of Directors of
Commercial Mutual Insurance Company, a New York property and casualty insurer, and serves as Chairman of its Investments
Committee. He holds an M.B.A. from Hofstra University and a B.A. from George Washington University. He has served as one of our
directors since 2004.
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Family Relationships
 

There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers and directors.
 
Term of Office
 

Each director will hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is elected and qualified or
until his earlier resignation or removal. Each executive officer will hold office until the initial meeting of the Board of Directors following
the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is elected and qualified or until his earlier resignation or removal.
 
Audit Committee
 

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our accounting and financial reporting processes
and the audits of our financial statements. The members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Lyons, Haft and Seibald.
 
Audit Committee Financial Expert
 

Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Lyons is an “audit committee financial expert,” as that is defined in Item
401(e)(2) of Regulation S-B. Mr. Lyons is an “independent director” based on the definition of independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of
the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 

Section 16 of the Exchange Act requires that reports of beneficial ownership of common shares and changes in such
ownership be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission by Section 16 “reporting persons,” including directors, certain
officers, holders of more than 10% of the outstanding common shares and certain trusts of which reporting persons are trustees. We
are required to disclose in this Annual Report each reporting person whom we know to have failed to file any required reports under
Section 16 on a timely basis during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006. To our knowledge, based solely on a review of copies
o f Forms 4 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and written representations that no other reports were required,
during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, our officers, directors and 10% stockholders complied with all Section 16(a) filing
requirements applicable to them.
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Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers
 

Our Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the Code of Ethics is posted o n our website,
www.dcapgroup.com. We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a
waiver from, our Code of Ethics by posting such information on our website, www.dcapgroup.com.
 
ITEM 10.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
 
Summary Compensation Table
 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the compensation for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006
for Barry B. Goldstein, our Chief Executive Officer:
 
Name and
Principal Position

 
Year

 
Salary

 
Bonus

All Other
Compensation

 
Total

      
Barry Goldstein

Chief Executive Officer
2006 $350,000 - (1) $54,942(2) $404,942(1)

___________
 
(1) The bonus payable to Mr. Goldstein for services rendered during 2006 has not yet been determined. It is anticipated that

such determination will be made by June 30, 2007.
(2) Includes payment on behalf of Mr. Goldstein of country club dues of $28,532. 

Employment Contracts
 

Mr. Goldstein is employed as our President, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to an employment
agreement that expires on April 1, 2007. Mr. Goldstein is entitled to receive a salary of $350,000 per annum plus such additional
compensation as may be determined by the Board of Directors. Our Board’s Compensation Committee has retained an independent
compensation consultant to advise it in connection with the determination of Mr. Goldstein’s salary and bonus compensation and
other terms and conditions of employment.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
 

 
 
Name

Option Awards
Number of Securities Underlying

Unexercised Options
Option Exercise

Price
Option

Expiration Date

 Exercisable   
    
Barry B. Goldstein 66,000 (1) $1.50 5/15/07
___________
 
(1) Such options have been exercisable since May 15, 2002 and were exercised in full in January and February 2007.

Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements
 

Pursuant to the employment agreement with Mr. Goldstein, he would be entitled, under certain circumstances, to a payment
equal to one and one-half times his then annual salary in the event of the termination of his employment following a change of control
of DCAP.
 
Compensation of Directors
 

The following table sets forth certain information concerning the compensation o f our directors for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006:
 
 
Name

Director Compensation Fees
Earned or Paid in Cash

 
Option Awards

 
All Other

Compensation

 
Total

     
Morton L. Certilman $19,500 -     $49,900 (1) $69,400
Jay M. Haft $23,625 - (2) - $23,625
David A. Lyons $29,125  - (3) - $29,125
Jack D. Seibald $24,125 -      - $24,125
____________
 

(1)  Represents consulting fees paid to Mr. Certilman.
 

(2)  As of December 31, 2006, Mr. Haft held options for the purchase of 25,000 common shares.
 

(3)  As of December 31, 2006, Mr. Lyons held options for the purchase of 20,000 common shares.
 

Our non-employee directors are entitled to receive compensation for their services as directors as follows:
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·  $15,000 per annum

·  additional $5,000 per annum for committee chair

·  $500 per Board meeting attended ($250 if telephonic)

·  $250 per committee meeting attended ($125 if telephonic)

ITEM 11.  SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

 
Security Ownership
 

The following table sets forth certain information as of February 28, 2007 regarding the beneficial ownership of our common
shares by (i) each person who we believe to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common shares, (ii) each
present director, (iii) each person listed in the Summary Compensation Table under “Executive Compensation,” and (iv) all of our
present executive officers and directors as a group.
 
Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner

 Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned

 Approximate
Percent of Class

Barry B. Goldstein
1158 Broadway
Hewlett, New York
 

 393,400(1)(2)  13.3%

AIA Acquisition Corp
6787 Market Street
Upper Darby, Pennsylvania
 

 361,600(3)  11.1%

Eagle Insurance Company
c/o The Robert Plan
Corporation
999 Stewart Avenue
Bethpage, New York
 

 297,378(4)  10.0%

Infinity Capital Partners, L.P.
767 Third Avenue, 16th Floor
New York, New York
 

 292,597(1)(5)  9.9%

Jack D. Seibald  
1336 Boxwood Drive West
Hewlett Harbor, New York
 

 274,750(1)(6)  9.2%

Jay M. Haft
69 Beaver Dam Road
Salisbury, Connecticut
 

 182,278(1)(7)  6.1%

Morton L. Certilman
90 Merrick Avenue
East Meadow, New York
 

 170,248(1)  5.8%
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David A. Lyons
252 Brookdale Road
Stamford, Connecticut
 

 20,000(8)  *

All executive officers
and directors as a group
(5 persons)

     1,040,676(1)(2)(5)
(7)(8)

 34.5%

   
* Less than 1%

(1) Based upon Schedule 13D filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a s amended, and other information that is
publicly available.

  
(2) Includes (i) 8,500 shares held by Mr. Goldstein’s children, and (ii) 11,900 shares held in a retirement trust for the benefit of

Mr. Goldstein. Mr. Goldstein disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by his children and retirement trust. Excludes
shares owned by AIA Acquisition Corp. of which members of Mr. Goldstein’s family are principal stockholders.

  
(3) Based upon Schedule 13G filed under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a s amended, and other information that is

publicly available. Includes 312,000 shares issuable upon the conversion of preferred shares that are currently convertible.
  
(4) Eagle is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Robert Plan Corporation. We have been advised that, pursuant to an Order of

Rehabilitation filed with the Superior Court of New Jersey, Mercer County on January 29, 2007, the Commissioner of the
Department of Banking and Insurance of the State of New Jersey has been vested with title to the shares registered in
Eagle’s name.

  
(5) Each of (i) Infinity Capital, LLC (“Capital”), as the general partner of Infinity Capital Partners, L.P. (“Partners”), (ii) Infinity

Management, LLC (“Management”), as the Investment Manager of Partners, and (iii) Michael Feinsod, as the Managing
Member of Capital and Management, the General Partner and Investment Manager, respectively, of Partners, may be
deemed to be the beneficial owners of the shares held by Partners. Pursuant to the Schedule 13D filed under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, by Partners, Capital, Management and Mr. Feinsod, each has sole voting and dispositive
power over the shares.
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(6) Represents (i) 113,000 shares owned jointly by Mr. Seibald and his wife, Stephanie Seibald; (ii) 100,000 shares owned by

SDS Partners I, Ltd., a limited partnership (“SDS”); (iii) 3,000 shares owned by Boxwood FLTD Partners, a limited partnership
(“Boxwood”); (iv) 33,000 shares owned by Stewart Spector IRA (“S. Spector”); (v) 3,000 shares owned by Barbara Spector
IRA Rollover (“B. Spector”); (vi) 4,000 shares owned by Karen Dubrowsky IRA (“Dubrowsky”); and (vii) 18,750 shares
issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable warrants. Mr. Seibald has voting and dispositive power over the shares
owned by SDS, Boxwood, S. Spector, B. Spector and Dubrowsky. The amount reflected as owned by S. Spector includes
30,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable warrants.

  
(7) Includes (i) 25,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable options and (ii) 3,076 shares held in a

retirement trust for the benefit of Mr. Haft.
  
(8) Represents shares issuable upon the exercise of currently exercisable options.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
 

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2006 with respect to compensation plans (including individual
compensation arrangements) under which our common shares are authorized for issuance, aggregated as follows:
 

·  All compensation plans previously approved by security holders; and
·  All compensation plans not previously approved by security holders.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
 

 

 

 

 
Number of

securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options, warrants
and rights

(a)   

Weighted average
exercise price of

outstanding
options, warrants

and rights
(b)   

Number of
securities

remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation

plans (excluding
securities reflected

in column (a))
(c)

 
 

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
 

 
 193,300  $ 2.34   682,000  

Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders
 

 
 -0-   -0-   -0-  

Total
   193,300  $ 2.34   682,000  
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ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
 

Guaranty
 

In July 2003, Barry Goldstein, our President and Chief Executive Officer, guaranteed the repayment of $2,500,000 of an
$18,000,000 line of credit from M&T utilized by our subsidiary, Payments Inc., to finance its premium finance business. Mr. Goldstein
also executed a wind-down guaranty pursuant to which, among other things, he agreed with M&T that, in the event M&T had the right
to foreclose upon the collateral securing the line, Mr. Goldstein would use his best efforts to assist M&T in the foreclosure process.
Pursuant to the wind-down guaranty, Mr. Goldstein is also responsible for any loss suffered by M&T by reason of any breach or
misrepresentation that involves, is connected with or arises out of any dishonest or fraudulent act or omission either committed by Mr.
Goldstein or known but not timely reported by him to M&T. Effective April 30, 2005, pursuant to the terms of the financing agreement,
Mr. Goldstein’s payment guaranty was reduced to $1,250,000. Effective July 28, 2006, in connection with a restructuring and
extension of the line of credit, Mr. Goldstein’s payment guaranty terminated; however, the wind-down guaranty remains in effect. In
consideration of the payment guaranty, and for so long as the payment guaranty remained in effect, we paid Mr. Goldstein $50,000
per annum and reimbursed him for all premiums paid by him on a $2,500,000 insurance policy on his life. In consideration of the wind-
down guaranty, in July 2006, we paid Mr. Goldstein a one-time fee of $50,000.
 

Subordinated Debt Financing
 

Effective July 10, 2003, in order to fund our premium finance operations, we obtained $3,500,000 from a private placement of
subordinated debt. The subordinated debt was initially repayable on January 10, 2006 and provides for interest at the rate of 12.625%
per annum, payable semi-annually. Subject to M&T’s consent, we have the right to prepay the subordinated debt. During 2005, we
utilized our M&T line of credit to repay $2,000,000 of the subordinated debt.
 

In consideration of the debt financing, we issued to the lenders warrants for the purchase of an aggregate of 105,000 of our
common shares at an exercise price o f $6.25 per share. The warrants were initially scheduled to expire on January 10 , 2006.
Effective May 25, 2005, the holders of the remaining $1,500,000 of subordinated debt agreed to extend the maturity date of the debt
to September 30, 2007. The debt extension was given to satisfy a requirement of M&T that arose in connection with the December
2004 increase in M&T’s revolving line of credit to $25,000,000 and the extension of the line to June 30, 2007. In consideration for the
extension of the due date for the subordinated debt, we extended the expiration date of warrants held by the debtholders for the
purchase of 97,500 common shares to September 30, 2007. Effective March 23, 2007, the holders of approximately $1,385,000
outstanding principal amount o f the subordinated debt agreed to a further extension of the due date to September 30, 2008. In
consideration for such further extension, we further extended the expiration date of the warrants held by the debtholders for the
purchase of 90,000 common shares to September 30, 2008.
 

One of the private placement lenders was a retirement trust established for the benefit of Jack Seibald which loaned us
$625,000 and was issued a warrant for the purchase of 18,750 of our common shares. Mr. Seibald is one of our principal stockholders
and, effective September 2004, became one of our directors. Mr. Seibald’s retirement trust currently holds approximately $288,000 of
the subordinated debt and he indirectly owns or controls 48,750 warrants, including those issued at the time of the loan.
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Commercial Mutual Insurance Company
 

On January 31, 2006, we purchased from Eagle Insurance Company two surplus notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$3,750,000 issued by Commercial Mutual Insurance Company. The aggregate purchase price for the surplus notes was $3,075,141,
of which $1,303,434 was paid to Eagle by delivery of a six month promissory note. The promissory note was paid in full in July 2006.
Commercial Mutual is a New York property and casualty insurer. Eagle is a New Jersey property and casualty insurer that is being
operated by the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance pursuant to an Order of Rehabilitation. Eagle owns approximately
10% of our outstanding common stock.
 

Robert Wallach, one of our directors at the time of purchase, is Vice President of Eagle and Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of Eagle’s parent, The Robert Plan Corporation. Additionally, until our purchase of the surplus notes, Mr. Wallach and a
number of other Eagle employees were directors of Commercial Mutual. Further, concurrently with the purchase, and following the
resignations of Mr. Wallach and four other directors of Commercial Mutual, Jack Seibald, one of our directors, and four other persons
(including one of our employees) were elected by the remaining Commercial Mutual directors to the eleven person Board of Directors
of Commercial Mutual. In addition, the new Commercial Mutual Board of Directors elected Barry Goldstein, our President and Chief
Executive Officer, as its Chairman. Mr. Goldstein had been elected as a director of Commercial Mutual in December 2005.
 

Preferred Stock Exchange
 

Effective March 23, 2007, we issued 780 Series B preferred shares to AIA Acquisition Corp. (“AIA”) in exchange for an equal
number of our outstanding Series A preferred shares. The terms of the Series B preferred shares are substantially identical to those of
the Series A preferred stock, except that they are mandatorily redeemable on April 30, 2008 (as opposed to April 30, 2007 for the
Series A preferred shares). The current aggregate redemption amount for the Series B preferred shares is $780,000, plus
accumulated and unpaid dividends. AIA, as the holder of the Series B preferred shares, is entitled to dividends at the rate of 5% per
annum. The Series B preferred shares are convertible into our common shares at a price of $2.50 per share. Members of the family of
Barry B. Goldstein, our Chief Executive Officer, are principal stockholders of AIA.
 

Relationship
 

Certilman Balin Adler & Hyman, LLP, a law firm with which Mr. Certilman is affiliated, serves as our counsel. It is presently
anticipated that such firm will continue to represent us and will receive fees for its services at rates and in amounts not greater than
would be paid to unrelated law firms performing similar services.
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Director Independence
 

Board of Directors
 

Our Board of Directors is currently comprised of Barry B. Goldstein, Morton L. Certilman, Jay M. Haft, David A. Lyons and
Jack D. Seibald. Each of Messrs. Certilman, Haft, Lyons and Seibald is currently an “independent director” based on the definition of
independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the listing standards at The Nasdaq Stock Market. During 2006, Robert Wallach also served as
one of our directors. Mr. Wallach was an “independent director” based on the definition of independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the
listing standards at The Nasdaq Stock Market.
 

Audit Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Audit Committee currently are Messrs. Lyons, Haft and Seibald, each of whom is an
“independent director” based on the definition of independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock
Market and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
 

Nominating Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Nominating Committee currently are Messrs. Haft, Lyons and Seibald, each of whom is an
“independent director” based on the definition of independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock
Market.
 

Compensation Committee
 

The members of our Board’s Compensation Committee currently are Messrs. Seibald, Haft and Lyons, each of whom is an
“independent director” based on the definition of independence in Rule 4200(a)(15) of the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock
Market.
 
ITEM 13. EXHIBITS
 
Exhibit
Number

 
Description of Exhibit

  
3(a) Restated Certificate of Incorporation (1)
  
3(b) Certificate of Designations of Series A Preferred Stock (2)
  
3(c) Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock
  
3(d) By-laws, as amended (3)
  
10(a) 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended (4)
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10(b) Employment Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2001, between DCAP Group, Inc. and Barry Goldstein (5)
  
10(c) Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 18, 2003 (but effective as of January 1, 2003), to Employment Agreement

between DCAP Group, Inc. and Barry Goldstein (6)
  
10(d) Amendment No. 2, dated as of June 29, 2004 (but effective as of January 1, 2004), to Employment Agreement

between DCAP Group, Inc. and Barry Goldstein (7)
  
10(e) Amendment No. 3, dated as of March 22, 2005, to Employment Agreement between DCAP Group, Inc. and Barry

Goldstein (6)
  
10(f) Stock Option Agreement, dated as of May 15, 2002, between DCAP Group, Inc. and Jay M. Haft (8)
  
10(g) Amended and Restated Financing and Security Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2006, by and among Payments Inc.,

DCAP Group, Inc. and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, in its capacity as both collateral and
administrative agent for each of the “Lenders” and sole arranger

  
10(h) Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Note, dated July 28, 2006, in the principal amount of $20,000,000 issued by

Payments Inc. and DCAP Group, Inc. to Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company
  
10(i) Term Line Note, dated July 28, 2006, in the principal amount of $1,300,000 issued by Payments Inc. and DCAP

Group, Inc. to Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company
  
10(j) Security Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2006, by DCAP Group, Inc, DCAP Management Corp., DCAP Accurate,

Inc., AIA-DCAP Corp., Barry Scott Agency, Inc., Barry Scott Companies, Inc., Barry Scott Acquisition Corp., Baron
Cycle, Inc., Blast Acquisition Corp., Dealers Choice Automotive Planning, Inc., IAH, Inc. and Intandem Corp. for the
benefit of Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company in its capacity as “Agent” for itself and other “Lenders”

  
10(k) Pledge, Assignment and Security Agreement, dated December 27, 2004, by DCAP Group, Inc. for the benefit of

Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company in its capacity as “Agent” for itself and other “Lenders” (6)
  
10(l) Pledge, Assignment and Security Agreement, dated December 27, 2004, by Blast Acquisition Corp. for the benefit of

Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company in its capacity as “Agent” for itself and other “Lenders” (6)

41
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
  
10(m) Reaffirmation of and Amendment to Stock Pledge Agreements, dated as of July 28, 2006, by DCAP Group, Inc.,

Barry Scott Agency, Inc., Barry Scott Companies, Inc. and Blast Acquisition Corp. for the benefit of Manufacturers
and Traders Trust Company in its capacity as “Agent” for itself and other “Lenders”

  
10(n) Unit Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 2, 2003, by and among DCAP Group, Inc. and the purchasers named

therein (9)
  
10(o) Security Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2003, by and among Payments Inc. and the secured parties named therein

(9)
  
10(p) Pledge Agreement, dated as of July 10, 2003, by and among DCAP Group, Inc. and the pledgees named therein (9)
  
10(q) Form of Secured Subordinated Promissory Note, dated July 10, 2003, issued by DCAP Group, Inc. with respect to

indebtedness in the original aggregate principal amount of $3,500,000 (9)
  
10(r) Letter agreement, dated May 25, 2005, between DCAP Group, Inc. and Jack Seibald as representative and attorney-

in-fact with respect to the outstanding subordinated debt
  
10(s) Letter agreement, dated March 23, 2007, between DCAP Group, Inc. and Jack Seibald as representative and

attorney-in-fact with respect to the outstanding subordinated debt
  
10(t) Form of Warrant, dated July 10, 2003, for the purchase of an aggregate of 525,000 common shares (105,000 shares

after giving effect to 1-for-5 reverse split effectuated on August 26, 2004) of DCAP Group, Inc. (9)
  
10(u) Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 10, 2003, by and among DCAP Group, Inc. and the purchasers named

therein (9)
  
10(v) 2005 Equity Participation Plan (10)
  
10(w) Surplus Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2006, by and between DCAP Group, Inc. and Eagle

Insurance Company (10)
  
10(x) Promissory Note, dated January 31, 2006, in the principal amount of $1,303,434 issued by DCAP Group, Inc. to

Eagle Insurance Company (10)
  
10(y) Surplus Note, dated April 1, 1998, in the principal amount of $3,000,000 issued by Commercial Mutual Insurance

Company to DCAP Group, Inc. (10)
  
10(z) Surplus Note, dated March 12, 1999, in the principal amount of $750,000 issued by Commercial Mutual Insurance

Company to DCAP Group, Inc. (10)
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14 Code of Ethics (11)
  
21 Subsidiaries
  
23 Consent of Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP
  
31 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
  
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
__________
 
(1) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the period ended September 30, 2004

and incorporated herein by reference.
  
(2) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Current Report on Form 8-K for an event dated May 28, 2003 and incorporated

herein by reference.
  
(3) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the period ended June 30, 2005 and

incorporated herein by reference.
  
(4) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002

and incorporated herein by reference.
  
(5) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the period ended June 30, 2001 and

incorporated herein by reference.
  
(6) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004

and incorporated herein by reference.
  
(7) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the period ended June 30, 2004 and

incorporated herein by reference.
  
(8) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-QSB for the period ended March 31, 2001 and

incorporated herein by reference.
  
(9) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to Amendment No. 1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K for an event dated May 28,

2003 and incorporated herein by reference.
  
(10) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005

and incorporated herein by reference.
  
(11) Denotes document filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003

and incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 

The following is a summary of the fees billed to us by Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP, our independent auditors, for
professional services rendered for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005:

 
Fee

Category   
Fiscal 2006

Fees   
Fiscal 2005

Fees  
Audit Fees(1)  $ 87,425  $ 90,200  
Audit-Related Fees(2)   -   -  
Tax Fees(3)   34,000   -  
All Other Fees(4)   15,485   13,335  
Total Fees  $ 136,910  $ 103,535  

 
(1) Audit Fees consist of aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial

statements and review of the interim financial statements included in quarterly reports or services that are normally provided
by the independent auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for the fiscal years ended
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, respectively.

  
(2) Audit-Related Fees consist of aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the

performance of the audit or review of our financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.”
  
(3) Tax Fees consist of aggregate fees billed for preparation of our federal and state income tax returns and other tax

compliance activities.
  
(4) All Other Fees consist of aggregate fees billed for products and services provided by Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP, other

than those disclosed above. These fees related to the audits of our wholly-owned subsidiary, DCAP Management Corp.,
and general accounting consulting services.

The Audit Committee is responsible for the appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of the independent auditors
and approves in advance any services to be performed by the independent auditors, whether audit-related or not. The Audit
Committee reviews each proposed engagement to determine whether the provision of services is compatible with maintaining the
independence of the independent auditors. All of the fees shown above were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
 

44
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
 

DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

REPORT ON AUDITS OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Two Years Ended December 31, 2006

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

 
 

Contents
Two Years Ended December 31, 2006 

Consolidated Financial Statements  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheet
Consolidated Statements of Income
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6

F-7 - F-26
 

 
 
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Consolidated Financial Statements

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
DCAP Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Hewlett, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of DCAP Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and
the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended
December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

W e conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
DCAP Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment.

/s/Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP
 
Melville, New York
March 14, 2007
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 DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Balance Sheet        
December 31, 2006        
        
Assets        
        
Current Assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 1,196,412 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for        

doubtful accounts of $66,000      1,446,981 
Finance contracts receivable  $ 16,186,559    

Less: Deferred interest   (1,203,435)    
Less: Allowance for finance receivable losses   (205,269)  14,777,855 

Prepaid income taxes      261,403 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      96,955 
Deferred income taxes      76,000 

        
Total Current Assets      17,855,606 
        
Property and Equipment, net      356,106 
Goodwill      2,601,257 
Other Intangibles, net      348,786 
Notes Receivable      4,007,986 
Deposits and Other Assets      233,146 
Total Assets     $ 25,402,887 
        
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity        
        
Current Liabilities:        

Revolving credit line     $ 10,952,345 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses      1,013,181 
Premiums payable      3,062,249 
Current portion of long-term debt      630,565 
Other current liabilities      166,146 

Total Current Liabilities      15,824,486 
        
Long-Term Debt      2,408,139 
Deferred Income Taxes      396,000 
Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Stock      780,000 
        
Commitments        
        
Stockholders' Equity:        

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 10,000,000 shares;        
issued 3,672,947      36,730 

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized        
1,000,000 shares; 0 shares issued and outstanding      - 

Capital in excess of par      11,633,884 
Deficit      (4,497,797)

      7,172,817 
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Treasury stock, at cost, 776,923 shares      (1,178,555)

Total Stockholders' Equity      5,994,262 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity     $ 25,402,887 
        
See notes to consolidated financial statements.      F-3 
 
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 

 DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

 
Consolidated Statements of Income        
Years Ended December 31,   2006  2005 
        
Revenue:        

Commissions and fees  $ 7,121,724 $ 7,036,599 
Premium finance revenue   3,960,223  4,982,009 

Total Revenue   11,081,947  12,018,608 
        
Operating Expenses:        

General and administrative expenses   8,965,066  8,785,660 
Provision for finance receivable losses   650,005  834,994 
Depreciation and amortization   456,614  404,523 
Interest expense   824,382  748,307 

Total Operating Expenses   10,896,067  10,773,484 
        
Operating Income   185,880  1,245,124 
        
Other (Expense) Income:        

Interest income   4,454  18,930 
Interest income - notes receivable   1,182,844  - 
Interest expense   (490,946)  (323,173)
Interest expense - mandatorily redeemable preferred stock   (39,000)  (39,121)
Gain on sale of store   81,105  - 

Total Other (Expense) Income   738,457  (343,364)

        
Income Before Provision for Income Taxes   924,337  901,760 
Provision for Income Taxes   415,952  406,000 
Net Income  $ 508,385 $ 495,760 
        
Net Income Per Common Share:        

Basic:  $ 0.18 $ 0.18 
       

Diluted:  $ 0.17 $ 0.17 
        
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding:        

Basic   2,888,805  2,726,526 
        

Diluted   3,250,937  3,199,620 
        
 See notes to consolidated financial statements.      F-4  
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 DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES  

  
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity  
Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005   

  
 Common Stock   Preferred Stock

Capital in
Excess     Treasury Stock    

  Shares    Amount  Shares  Amount  of Par  (Deficit)  Shares    Amount  Total  
                          
Balance, January 1,
2005   3,449,347    $34,494  -    -   $11,040,831 $(5,501,942)  776,923    $(1,178,555) $4,394,828 
Conversion of
Mandatorily
Redeemable

Preferred Stock

 

 49,600      496  -    -    123,504   -   -      -  124,000 
Exercise of Stock
Options   46,500     465  -    -    59,285   -  -     -  59,750 
Extension of
Warrants in
consideration for the

extension of the
due date of
Subordinated Debt

 

 -     -  -    -    148,260   -  -     -  148,260 
Net Income   -     -  -    -    -  495,760   -     -  495,760 
Balance, December
31, 2005   3,545,447     35,455  -    -    11,371,880  (5,006,182)  776,923     (1,178,555)  5,222,598 
Exercise of Stock
Options   127,500     1,275   -    -    189,974   -  -     -  191,249 
Tax Benefit from
Exercise of Stock
Options

 
 -     -  -    -    42,400   -  -     -  42,400 

Stock-Based
Payments   -     -  -    -    29,630   -  -     -  29,630 
Net Income   -     -  -    -    -  508,385   -     -  508,385 
Balance, December
31, 2006   3,672,947    $36,730  -    -   $11,633,884 $(4,497,797)  776,923    $(1,178,555) $5,994,262 
                                      
 
See notes to consolidated financial statements.          F-5 
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 DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES 

        
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows        
Years Ended December 31,   2006   2005  
        
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:        

Net income  $ 508,385 $ 495,760 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in)        

provided by operating activities:        
Depreciation and amortization   456,614  404,523 
Bad debt expense   19,000  - 
Accretion of discount on notes receivable   (905,500)  - 
Amortization of warrants   77,526  71,683 
Amortization of debt discounts   42,920  - 
Stock-based payments   29,630  - 
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options   42,400    
Gain on sale of store   (81,105)  - 
Deferred income taxes   360,000  14,800 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:        

Decrease (increase) in assets:        
Accounts receivable   208,522  1,164,510 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   56,876  124,275 
Deposits and other assets   (16,706)  (99,957)

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:        
Premiums payable   (1,098,712)  (278,420)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   347,603  (1,042,585)
Income taxes payable   (330,262)  (361,634)
Other current liabilities   (32,798)  (15,773)

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Operating Activities   (315,607)  477,182 
        
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:        

Decrease (increase) in finance contracts receivable - net   1,737,168  4,947,011 
Decrease in notes receivables - net   42,352  18,427 
Proceeds from sale of store   50,100  - 
Purchase of property and equipment   (187,435)  (32,885)
Purchase of notes receivable   (3,075,141)  - 
Purchase of business   (1,000,786)  (67,000)

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities   (2,433,742)  4,865,553 
        
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:        

Proceeds from Term Loan   1,300,000  - 
Principal payments on long-term debt   (593,846)  (2,137,760)
Deferred loan costs   (88,952)  - 
Proceeds from revolving credit line   50,914,830  57,580,406 
Payments on revolving credit line   (49,739,009)  (59,399,541)
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants   191,249  59,750 

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities   1,984,272  (3,897,145)
        
Net (decrease) increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents   (765,077)  1,445,590 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year   1,961,489  515,899 
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year  $ 1,196,412 $ 1,961,489 
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Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Investing       
and Financing Activities:        

Note payable issued for purchase of business  $ 612,481 $ - 
        
See notes to consolidated financial statements.      F-6 
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DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
Two Years Ended December 31, 2006

 

 
1. Organization and Nature of Business
  
 DCAP Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries (referred to herein as "we" or "us") operate a network of retail offices and franchise
operations engaged in the sale of retail auto, motorcycle, boat, business, and homeowner's insurance, and provide premium
financing of insurance policies for customers of our offices as well as customers of non-affiliated entities. We also provide
automobile club services for roadside emergencies and tax preparation services.

  
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
  
 Principles of consolidation - The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries and
joint ventures in which we have a majority voting interest or voting control. All significant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

  
 Commission and fee income - We recognize commission revenue from insurance policies at the beginning of the contract
period. Refunds of commissions on the cancellation of insurance policies are reflected at the time of cancellation.

  
 Franchise fee revenue on initial franchisee fees is recognized when substantially all of our contractual requirements under the
franchise agreement are completed. Franchisees also pay a monthly franchise fee plus an applicable percentage of advertising
expense. We are obligated to provide marketing and training support to each franchisee. During the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, approximately $50,000 and $65,000, respectively, was recognized as initial franchise fee income.

  
 Fees for income tax preparation are recognized when the services are completed. Automobile club dues are recognized equally
over the contract period.

  
 Allowance for doubtful accounts - Management must make estimates of the uncollectability of accounts receivable.
Management specifically analyzed accounts receivable and analyzes historical bad debts, customer concentrations, customer
credit-worthiness, current economic trends and changes in customer payment terms when evaluating the adequacy of the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

  
 Finance income, fees and receivables - For our premium finance operations, we are using the interest method to recognize
interest income over the life of each loan in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 91,
"Accounting for Nonrefundable Fees and Costs Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of
Leases."

  
 Upon the establishment of a premium finance contract, we record the gross loan payments as a receivable with a
corresponding reduction for deferred interest. The deferred interest is amortized to interest income using the interest method
over the life of each loan. The weighted average interest rate charged with respect to financed insurance policies was
approximately 26.49% and 26.55% per annum for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

 Upon completion of collection efforts, after cancellation of the underlying insurance policies, any uncollected earned interest or
fees are charged off.

  

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 Allowance for finance receivable losses - Customers who purchase insurance policies are often unable to pay the premium
in a lump sum and, therefore, require extended payment terms. Premium finance involves making a loan to the customer that is
backed by the unearned portion of the insurance premiums being financed. No credit checks are made prior to the decision to
extend credit to a customer. Losses on finance receivables include an estimate of future credit losses on premium finance
accounts. Credit losses on premium finance accounts occur when the unearned premiums received from the insurer upon
cancellation of a financed policy are inadequate to pay the balance of the premium finance account. After collection attempts
are exhausted, the remaining account balance, including unrealized interest, is written off. We review historical trends of such
losses relative to finance receivable balances to develop estimates of future losses. However, actual write-offs may differ
materially from the write-off estimates that we used. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the provision for
finance receivable losses was approximately $650,000 and $900,000 (before estimated recoveries of approximately $65,000
which reduced the provision for finance receivable losses), respectively, and actual principal write-offs for such year, net of
actual and anticipated recoveries o f previous write-offs, were approximately $679,000 and $732,000, respectively. If our
provision for finance receivable losses was understated by 10% because our actual write-offs were greater than anticipated, the
effect would have been a reduction in our basic earnings per share by approximately $0.01 and $0.02 for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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 Goodwill and intangible assets - Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over fair value o f identifiable net
assets acquired from business acquisitions. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill
is no longer amortized, but is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis and between annual tests in certain circumstances.
We conduct our annual impairment test for goodwill at the beginning of the first quarter. We performed the required impairment
test for fiscal years 2006 and 2005 and found no impairment of goodwill. There can be no assurance that future goodwill
impairment tests will not result in a charge to earnings.

  
 Other Intangibles - SFAS No. 142 requires purchased intangible assets other than goodwill to be amortized over their useful
lives unless those lives are determined t o be indefinite. Purchased intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization. Definite-lived intangible assets, which include customer and phone, have been assigned an estimated finite life
and are amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from 3 to 15 years.

  
 Property and equipment - Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Leasehold improvements are being amortized using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets or the remaining term of the lease.

  
 Deferred loan costs - Deferred loan costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the related term of the loan.
  
 Concentration of credit risk - W e invest our excess cash in deposits and money market accounts with major financial
institutions and have not experienced losses related to these investments.

  
 All finance contracts receivable are repayable in less than one year. In the event of a default by the borrower, we are entitled to
cancel the underlying insurance policy financed and receive a refund for the unused term of such policy from the insurance
carrier. We structure the repayment terms in an attempt to minimize principal losses on finance contract receivables.

  
 We perform ongoing credit evaluations and generally do not require collateral.
  
 Cash and cash equivalents - We consider all highly liquid debt instruments with a maturity of three months or less, as well as
bank money market accounts, to be cash equivalents.
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 Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates include the
allowance for finance receivable losses. It is reasonably possible that events could occur during the upcoming year which could
change such estimates.

  
 Net income per share - Basic net income per share is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share reflect, in periods in which they have a
dilutive effect, the impact of common shares issuable upon exercise of stock options and conversion of mandatorily redeemable
preferred stock.

  
 The reconciliation for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,   2006   2005  
        

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding   2,888,805  2,726,526 
Effect of Dilutive Securities, common stock equivalents   362,132  473,094 
Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding, used for

computing diluted earnings per share   3,250,937  3,199,620 

 Net income available to common shareholders for the computation of diluted earnings per share is computed as follows:

Years Ended December 31,   2006   2005  
        

Net Income  $ 508,385 $ 495,760 
Interest Expense on Dilutive Convertible Preferred Stock   39,000  39,121 
Net Income Available to Common Shareholders for
Diluted Earnings Per Share  $ 547,385 $ 534,881 

 Advertising costs - Advertising costs are charged to operations when the advertising first takes place. Included in general and
administrative expenses are advertising costs approximating $479,000 and $601,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

  
 Impairment of long-lived assets - We review long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be held and used for
impairment on an annual basis and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds the fair value of the asset. If other events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
that we expect to hold and use may not be recoverable, we will estimate the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result
from the use of the asset or its eventual disposition, and recognize an impairment loss. The impairment loss, i f determined to
be necessary, would be measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the
assets. A similar evaluation is made in relation to goodwill, with any impairment loss measured as the amount by which the
carrying value of such goodwill exceeds the expected undiscounted future cash flows.
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 Income taxes - Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between financial reporting and
tax bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the
differences are expected to reverse.

  
 Share-based compensation - Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based compensation under the recognition
and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" ("APB
25"). Therefore, we measured compensation expense for our share-based compensation using the intrinsic value method, that
is, as the excess, if any, of the fair market value of our stock at the grant date over the amount required to be paid to acquire the
stock, and provided the disclosures required by SFAS 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" (“SFAS 123”) and
SFAS 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure" (“SFAS 148”).
 
Effective January 1, 2006, we began recording compensation expense associated with stock options and other equity-based
compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123(R)”) using the modified
prospective transition method and therefore we have not restated results for prior periods. Under the modified prospective
transition method, share-based compensation expense for 2006 includes (1) compensation expense for all share-based awards
granted on or after January 1, 2006 as determined based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 123(R) and (2) compensation expense for share-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS 123. We recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award.
 
Pro forma financial information - For stock options granted prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the following table illustrates
the pro forma effect on net income and earnings per common share for the year ended December 31, 2005, as if we had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 in determining stock-based compensation:

Year Ended December 31, 2005     
     

Net Income, as reported  $ 495,760 
Add:     

Stock-based employee compensation expense     
included in reported net loss   - 

Deduct:     
Total stock-based employee compensation expense     

determined under fair value based method   149,361 
Net Income, pro forma  $ 346,399 

Net Income Per Share:     
Basic - as reported  $ .18 

Basic - Pro forma  $ .13 

Diluted - as reported  $ .17 

Diluted - Pro forma  $ .12 

 Website development costs - Technology and content costs are generally expensed as incurred, except for certain costs
relating to the development of internal-use software, including those relating to operating our website, that are capitalized and
depreciated over two years. A total of $43,160 and $172 in such costs were incurred during the years ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.
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 Comprehensive income (loss) - Comprehensive income (loss) refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under
generally accepted accounting principles are included in comprehensive income but are excluded from net income as these
amounts are recorded directly as an adjustment to stockholders' equity. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, there were no such
adjustments required.

 Reclassifications -
 Certain reclassifications (including the reclassification of the premium finance revenue (interest and late fees) write-offs from
the “Provision for finance receivable losses” to “Premium finance revenue” (see below)) have been made to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005 to conform to the classifications used for the year ended December
31, 2006. Beginning in 2005, we were able to obtain a complete detail of the interest and fee write-offs for the premium finance
receivables.  Effective January 1, 2006, we began reporting the premium finance revenue, net of the interest and fee write-offs
as illustrated below. 

 Year Ended December 31, 2005

Statement of Income Accounts   
Originally
Reported   Reclassifications  As Restated  

           
Premium finance revenue  $ 6,884,563 $ 1,902,554 $ 4,982,009 
Provision for finance receivable losses   2,737,548  (1,902,554)  834,994 
Net  $ 4,147,032 $ 0 $ 4,147,032 

 New accounting pronouncements
 I n July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Financial Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in tax positions. FIN 48 requires that we recognize the impact of a tax position in our financial statements if that
position is more likely than not to be sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48
are effective in the first quarter of 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle, if any, recorded as an
adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our consolidated
financial statements.

  
 In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") released Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 108,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements”
(“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on the SEC’s views regarding the process of quantifying the materiality of
misstatements in the financial statements. SAB 108 is effective for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006, and early
application for the first interim period of the same fiscal year is encouraged. The application of SAB 108 did not have a material
effect on our financial position or results of operations as of December 31, 2006 or for the year then ended.

  
 In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework and gives guidance regarding the methods used in measuring fair value, a n d expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial statements.
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 I n September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans” ("SFAS 158"). SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize the over-funded or underfunded status of a
defined benefit post-retirement plan as an asset or liability in its balance sheet and to recognize changes in funded status in the
year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. SFAS 158 will have no impact on our financial position or
results of operations.

  
 In January 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities —
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 is intended to improve financial
reporting by providing entities with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets
and liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. It also establishes presentation and
disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different measurement attributes for
similar types of assets and liabilities. The statement does not affect any existing accounting literature that requires certain
assets and liabilities to be carried at fair value, and it does not establish requirements for recognizing dividend income, interest
income or interest expense. It also does not eliminate disclosure requirements included in other accounting standards. The
provisions of SFAS 159 are effective for the fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the
impact of the provisions of SFAS No. 159.

3. Business Acquisitions
  
 Effective January 1, 2006, we acquired substantially all of the assets of Accurate Agency of Western New York, Inc., Louisons

Associates Limited and Accurate Agency, Inc. (collectively, “Accurate”), insurance brokerage firms with a total of four offices
located in and around Rochester, New York. The acquisition allows for the expansion of our geographical footprint.

  
 The aggregate purchase price was $1,600,000, including $800,000 of cash with the balance paid through the issuance of an

$800,000 non-interest bearing note payable over 72 months commencing on January 10, 2007. The note has been recorded at
its estimated present value of $612,481. The purchase price of $1,447,022, including transaction costs of $34,541, was
allocated as follows:

Goodwill  $1,157,286 
Intangible Assets   280,686 
Property and Equipment   9,050 
Net Assets Acquired  $1,447,022 

 In January 2006, we purchased the book of business, customer list and certain other assets of Mid-Hudson Valley Brokerage,
LLC (“Mid-Hudson”) located in Poughkeepsie, New York, for $94,505 in cash. The purchase price of $99,245, including
transactions costs of $4,740, was allocated as follows:

Goodwill  $ 78,956 
Intangible Assets   20,289 
Net Assets Acquired  $ 99,245 

 These acquisitions are part of our strategy to expand into other regions within New York State. The aggregate intangible assets
acquired have been assigned to customer lists, which is subject to periodic amortization over a weighted average estimated
useful life of four years. Our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2006 includes the revenue and
expenses of Accurate and Mid-Hudson from January 2006. Had the transactions taken place on January 1, 2005, on a pro
forma basis, the effect on the reported amounts for the year ended December 31, 2005 is considered to be insignificant.
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The goodwill acquired in the acquisitions is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes and amortized over a period of
15 years.

  
4. Purchase of Notes Receivable

  
 On January 31, 2006, we purchased from Eagle Insurance Company (“Eagle”) two surplus notes issued by Commercial Mutual

Insurance Company (“CMIC”) in the aggregate principal amount of $3,750,000 (the “Surplus Notes”), plus accrued interest of
$1,794,688. The aggregate purchase price for the Surplus Notes was $3,075,141, of which $1,303,434 was paid to Eagle by
delivery of a six month promissory note which provided for interest at the rate of 7.5% per annum. The promissory note was
paid in full on July 28, 2006. CMIC is a New York property and casualty insurer. Eagle is a New Jersey property and casualty
insurer whose business is being conducted by the Commissioner of the New Jersey Department of Banking and Insurance
under an Order of Rehabilitation. Eagle owns approximately 10% of our outstanding common stock. The Surplus Notes
acquired by us are past due and provide for interest at the prime rate or 8.5% per annum, whichever is less. Payments of
principal and interest on the Surplus Notes may only be made out of the surplus of CMIC and require the approval of the New
York State Department of Insurance. During the year ended December 31, 2006, interest payments totaling $250,000 were
received. The discount on the Surplus Notes and the accrued interest at the time of acquisition are being accreted over a 30
month period, the estimated period to collect such amounts. Such accretion amount, together with interest on the Surplus
Notes for the period ended December 31, 2006, is included in our Statement of Income as “Interest income-notes receivable.”
 
In March 2007, CMIC’s Board of Directors adopted a resolution to convert CMIC from an advance premium insurance company
to a stock property and casualty insurance company. In the event the conversion occurs, we may be able to convert our notes
into a controlling equity interest in CMIC.

  
5. Sale of Store
  
 During the year ended December 31, 2006, we sold one of our retail stores for $125,000 in cash and notes. The sale of the
store resulted in a gain of $81,105. In addition, concurrently with the sale, the purchaser entered into a franchise agreement
with us.

6. Finance Contract Receivables
  
 A summary of the changes of the allowance for finance receivable losses is as follows:

December 31,   2006   2005  
        

Balance, beginning of year  $ 234,029 $ 65,957 
Provision for Finance Receivable Losses   650,005  900,479 
Charge-offs   (678,765)  (732,407)

Balance, end of year  $ 205,269 $ 234,029 
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 Finance receivables are collateralized by the unearned premiums of the related insurance policies. These finance receivables
have an average remaining contractual maturity of approximately four months, with the longest contractual maturity being
approximately ten months.

  
7. Goodwill
  
 The changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2006 are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year  $ 1,305,551 
Addition, as a result of acquisitions   1,235,706 
Addition, as a result of contingent acquisition costs   67,000 
Reduction from sale of store   (7,000)
Balance, end of year  $ 2,601,257 

 
8. Other Intangibles
  
 At December 31, 2006, other intangible assets consist of the following:

Gross Carrying Amount:     
Customer lists  $ 554,525 
Vanity phone numbers   204,416 

   758,941 
Accumulated Amortization:     

Customer lists   314,281 
Vanity phone numbers   95,874 

   410,155 
Balance, end of year  $ 348,786 

 The aggregate amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was approximately $141,000 and
$77,000, respectively.

 Estimated amortization expense for the five years subsequent to December 31, 2006 is as follows:

 Years Ending December 31,   
   

 2007  101,000
 2008  89,000
 2009  89,000
 2010  15,000
 2011  14,000

 The remaining weighted-average amortization period as of December 31, 2006 is as follows:

 Customer lists 2.9 years
 Vanity phone numbers 8.0 years

 4.5 years
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 Other intangible assets are being amortized using the straight-line method over a period of four to fifteen years.
  
  

9. Property and Equipment
  
 At December 31, 2006, property and equipment consists of the following:

   
Useful
Lives     

        
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment   5 years $ 360,393 
Leasehold Improvements   3 - 5 years  268,110 
Computer Hardware, Software and Office Equipment   2 - 5 years  1,375,222 
Entertainment Facility   20 years  200,538 

      2,204,263 
Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization      1,848,157 

     $ 356,106 

 Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was approximately $123,000 and $119,000,
respectively.

  
10. Deposits and Other Assets

  
 At December 31, 2006, deposits and other assets consists of the following:

Deferred Loan Costs, net  $ 139,320 
Deposits   47,226 
Other   46,600 

  $ 233,146 
     

Amortization of deferred loan costs for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was approximately
$192,000 and $209,000, respectively.     

11. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
  
 At December 31, 2006, accounts payable and accrued expenses consists of the following:

Accounts Payable  $ 455,958 
Interest   157,638 
Payroll and Related Costs   62,704 
Professional Fees   106,420 
Acquisition Costs   67,000 
Other   163,461 

  $ 1,013,181 
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12. Debentures Payable

  
 In 1971, pursuant to a plan of arrangement, we issued a series of debentures, which matured in 1977. As of December 31,
2006, $154,200 of these debentures has not been presented for payment. Accordingly, this balance has been included in other
current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Interest has not been accrued on the remaining debentures
payable. In addition, no interest, penalties or other charges have been accrued with regard to any escheat obligation.

  
13. Revolving Credit Facility

  
 On December 27, 2004, we entered into a revolving line of credit (the “Old Revolver”) with Manufacturers and Traders Trust
Co. (the “Bank”), which provided for an increase in the credit line to $25,000,000. Subject to certain conditions, the Bank had
agreed to arrange an additional $10,000,000 credit facility with other lenders on a "best efforts" basis. The Old Revolver bore
interest, at our option, at either (i) the Bank's prime lending rate (7.25% at December 31, 2005) or (ii) LIBOR (4.34% at
December 31, 2005) plus 2.5%, and was to mature on June 30, 2007. We could borrow against the line to the extent of 85% of
eligible premium finance receivables. As of December 31, 2005, $9,776,524 was outstanding under the Old Revolver.

  
 On July 28, 2006, we and our premium finance subsidiary, Payments, Inc., entered into a new revolving line of credit (the “New
Revolver”) with the Bank, which provides for a decrease in the credit line to $20,000,000 and the elimination of the Bank’s
agreement to arrange an additional $10,000,000 credit facility with other lenders on a “best efforts” basis. The New Revolver
bears interest, at our option, at either the Bank’s prime lending rate (8.25% at December 31, 2006) or LIBOR (5.35% at
December 31, 2006) plus 2.25%, and matures on June 30, 2008. The line of credit also allows for a $2,500,000 term loan (of
the $20,000,000 credit line availability) to be used to provide liquidity for ongoing working capital purposes. Any draws against
the term line bear interest at LIBOR plus 2.75%. As of July 28, 2006, we made our first draw against the term l ine of
$1,300,000. The draw is repayable in quarterly principal installments of $130,000 each, commencing September 1, 2006. The
remaining principal balance is payable on June 30, 2008. Interest is payable monthly. The New Revolver eliminates the
personal guaranty required of our CEO of $1,250,000 but continues his obligation on an unlimited wind-down guaranty and his
personal guaranty as to misrepresentations that relate to dishonest or fraudulent acts committed by him or known but not timely
reported by him. The New Revolver also allows for a reduction of life insurance coverage on the life of our CEO from
$4,000,000 to $1,500,000.

  
 The New Revolver is secured by substantially all of the assets of our premium finance subsidiary, Payments, Inc., and is
guaranteed by DCAP Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

  
14. Long-Term Debt

  
 At December 31, 2006, long-term debt is comprised of the following:

Note payable issued in connection with the purchase of Accurate,
payable in monthly installments of $11,111, including imputed
interest at 7% per annum. Payments on the note commence in January
2007 and the note matures in December 2012. (a).

 

$ 556,555 
     

Term loan from Manufacturers & Traders Trust Co. (see Note 13)   1,040,000 
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Subordinated loan, which bears interest at 12.625% per annum, payable

 semi-annually. The principal balance is due and payable in the amount
 of approximately $115,000 on September 30, 2007 and approximately
 $1,385,000 on September 30, 2008. The loan is subordinate to the
 revolving credit facility, and is secured by a security interest in the
 assets of our premium finance subsidiary and a pledge of our
 subsidiary's stock.

 

 1,500,000 
     

Unamortized value of stock purchase warrants issued in connection with subordinated loan   (57,851)
   3,038,704 

Less Current Maturities   630,565 
  $ 2,408,139 

 In each of January 2005 and May 2005, we repaid $1,000,000 of the subordinated loan (an aggregate of $2,000,000) with
proceeds of the Old Revolver. The repayments reduced the outstanding principal amount of the subordinated loan from
$3,500,000 to $1,500,000. In March 2007, holders of approximately $1,385,000 of the principal amount of the subordinated
loan agreed to extend the maturity of this loan from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008, and as a result has been
reflected as a non-current liability at December 31, 2006.
 
(a) At December 31, 2006, we reduced the amount due to Accurate by approximately $98,000 as a result of pre-acquisition
liabilities satisfied by us.

  
 Long-term debt matures as follows:

 Years Ending December 31,   
   

 2007  $630,565
 2008  1,942,337
 2009  104,887
 2010   112,246
 2011  120,121
 2012  128,548

15. Related Party Transaction
  
 Professional fees - A law firm affiliated with one of our directors was paid legal fees of $139,000 and $147,000 for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

  
 A director was paid a fee of $49,900 and $59,980 during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for
consulting services in accordance with a consulting agreement. This agreement expired on October 31, 2006.

  
 Guarantee - Under our revolving line of credit which was replaced in July 2006, our Chairman and CEO personally guaranteed
the repayment of $2,500,000 of our revolving credit facility and was obligated on an unlimited wind-down guaranty. In
consideration of this guaranty, we paid him $50,000 in 2005 and reimbursed him for all premiums paid by him on a $2,500,000
life insurance policy. Under our revolving line of credit entered into in July 2006, our Chairman and CEO is obligated on a
unlimited wind-down guaranty as long as the loan is in effect. In consideration of this guaranty, he was paid $50,000 in 2006.

F-17

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



DCAP GROUP, INC. AND
SUBSIDIARIES

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements
Two Years Ended December 31, 2006

 

16. Income Taxes
  
 We file a consolidated U.S. Federal Income Tax return that includes all wholly-owned subsidiaries. State tax returns are filed on
a consolidated or separate basis depending on applicable laws. The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following:

Years Ended December 31,   2006  2005 
        

Current:        
Federal  $ 42,000 $ 301,500 
State   12,952  89,700 

   54,952  391,200 
Deferred:        

Federal   278,000  11,400 
State   83,000  3,400 

   361,000  14,800 
  $ 415,952 $ 406,000 

 A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to our effective tax rate is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,   2006  2005 
        

Computed Expected Tax Expense   34.00%  34.00%
State Taxes, net of federal benefit   5.79  5.74 
Permanent Differences   5.21  5.28 
Total Tax Expense   45.00%  45.02%

 At December 31, 2006, we had net operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes, which expire at various dates through 2019,
of approximately $1,589,000. These net operating loss carryforwards are subject to Internal Revenue Code Section 382, which
places a limitation on the utilization of the federal net operating loss to approximately $10,000 per year, as a result of a greater
than 50% ownership change of DCAP Group, Inc. in 1999. We utilized net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $0
and $10,000 during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, to offset current taxable income.

 The tax effects of temporary differences which give rise to deferred tax assets at December 31, 2006 consist of the
following:
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Deferred Tax Assets:     

Net operating loss carryovers  $ 550,000 
Provision for doubtful accounts   26,000 
Allowance for loan losses   82,000 
Amortization of intangible assets   91,000 
Stock compensation expense   12,000 

Gross Deferred Tax Assets   761,000 
     

Deferred Tax Liabilities:     
Interest on note   373,000 
Depreciation   23,000 
Prepaid expenses   33,000 
Amortization of goodwill   156,000 

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities   585,000 
     

Net Deferred Tax Assets Before Valuation Allowance   176,000 
Less Valuation Allowance   (496,000)
Net Deferred Tax Liability  $ (320,000)

17. Commitments
  
 Leases - We, and each of our affiliates, lease office space under noncancellable operating leases expiring at various dates
through December 31, 2015. Many of the leases are renewable and include additional rent for real estate taxes and other
operating expenses. The minimum future rentals under these lease commitments for leased facilities and office equipment are
as follows:

 
 Years Ending December 31,   

   
 2007  $ 465,000
 2008  377,000
 2009  215,000
 2010  151,000
 2011  98,000
 Thereafter  154,000

 
 Rental expense approximated $548,000 and $515,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 
  
 Employment agreement - During 2004, we amended our employment agreement with an officer, increasing the minimum
salary to $350,000 per annum for the remainder of the agreement. The employment agreement also provides for discretionary
bonuses and other perquisites commonly found in such agreements. During 2005, we amended the agreement with the officer,
pursuant to which, among other things, the term of the agreement has been extended to April 1, 2007 and the officer shall be
entitled, under certain circumstances, to a payment equal to one and one-half times his then annual salary in the event of the
termination of his employment following a change of control.
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 Acquisition - I n connection with the 2003 acquisition of AIA Acquisition Corp. ("AIA"), additional contingent cash
consideration based upon the EBITDA of the combined operations of AIA and our wholly-owned subsidiary, Barry Scott
Companies, Inc., during the 12 month period ending April 30, 2008 may be payable. The additional cash consideration
cannot exceed $67,000.

  
 Litigation - From time to time, we are involved in various lawsuits and claims incidental to our business. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate liabilities, i f any, resulting from such lawsuits and claims will not materially affect our financial
position.

  
18. Mandatorily Redeemable Preferred Stock

  
 On May 8, 2003, we issued 904 shares of $.01 par value 5.0% Series A Preferred Stock in connection with the acquisition of
substantially all of the assets of AIA. The Series A Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share. Dividends
on the Series A Preferred Stock are cumulative and are payable in cash.

  
 Each share of the Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder at any time into shares of our Common
Stock, par value $.01 per share, at a conversion rate of $2.50 per share.

  
 On January 15, 2005, the preferred stockholder converted 124 shares of Series A Preferred Stock into 49,600 shares of our
Common Stock.

  
 Subject to legal availability of funds, the Series A Preferred Stock was mandatorily redeemable by us for cash at its liquidation
preference on April 30, 2007 (unless previously converted into our Common Stock). In March 2007, the holders of the Series
A Preferred Stock agreed to exchange the Series A Preferred Stock for a new Series B Preferred Stock that is mandatorily
redeemable by us for cash at its liquidation preference on April 30, 2008 (unless previously converted into our Common
Stock). Redemption of the Series B Preferred Stock can occur prior to April 30, 2008 upon a substantial sale by us, as
defined. The terms of the Series B Preferred Stock are the same as the Series A Preferred Stock with the exception of the
redemption date.

  
 In accordance with SFAS No. 150, "Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity", the Series A Preferred Stock has been reported as a liability, and the preferred dividends have been classified as
interest expense.

  
19. Stockholders' Equity

  
 Preferred Stock - During 2001, we amended our Certificate of Incorporation to provide for the authority to issue 1,000,000
shares of Preferred Stock, with a par value of $.01 per share. Our Board of Directors has the authority to issue shares of
Preferred Stock from time to time in a series and to fix, before the issuance of each series, the number of shares in each
series and the designation, liquidation preferences, conversion privileges, rights and limitations of each series.

  
 Warrants - On July 10, 2003, in connection with the issuance of the subordinated debt, we issued warrants to purchase
105,000 shares of our Common Stock at an exercise price of $6.25 per share (the "Warrants"). The Warrants were valued at
$147,000 and were being amortized as additional interest expense over the term of the associated debt. The Warrants were
scheduled to expire on January 10, 2006. Effective May 25, 2005, the holders of $1,500,000 outstanding principal amount of
our subordinated debt agreed to extend the maturity date of the debt from January 10, 2006 to September 30, 2007. This
extension was given to satisfy a requirement of our premium finance lender that arose in connection with the increase in our
revolving line of credit to $25,000,000 and the extension of the line to June 30, 2007. In consideration for the extension of the
due date of our subordinated debt, we extended the expiration date of Warrants held by the debt holders for the purchase of
97,500 shares of our Common Stock from January 10, 2006 to September 30, 2007. The extension of the Warrants was
valued at approximately $148,000 and is being amortized as additional interest expense over the extension period. In March
2007, holders of approximately $1,385,000 of the principal amount of the subordinated loan agreed to extend the maturity
date of this loan from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008. In consideration for the extension of the due date of our
subordinated debt, we extended the expiration date of Warrants held by the debt holders for the purchase of 90,000 shares of
our common stock from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008.
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 Stock Options - In November 1998, we adopted the 1998 Stock Option Plan, which provides for the issuance of incentive
stock options and non-statutory stock options. Under this plan, options to purchase not more than 400,000 shares of our
Common Stock were permitted to be granted, at a price to be determined b y our Board of Directors or the Stock Option
Committee at the time of grant. During 2002, we increased the number of shares of Common Stock authorized to be issued
pursuant to the 1998 Stock Option Plan to 750,000. Incentive stock options granted under this plan expire no later than ten
years from date of grant (except no later than five years for a grant to a 10% stockholder). Our Board of Directors or the Stock
Option Committee will determine the expiration date with respect to non-statutory options granted under this plan.

  
 In December 2005, our shareholders ratified the adoption of the 2005 Equity Participation Plan, which provides for the issuance
of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options and restricted stock. Under this plan, a maximum of 300,000 shares of
Common Stock may be issued pursuant to options granted and restricted stock issued. Incentive stock options granted under
this plan expire no later than ten years from date of grant (except no later than five years for a grant to a 10% stockholder). Our
Board of Directors or the Stock Option Committee will determine the expiration date with respect to non-statutory options, and
the vesting provisions for restricted stock, granted under this plan.

  
 Effective January 1, 2006, our plans are accounted for in accordance with the recognition and measurement provisions of
SFAS No. 123(R), which replaces SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB 25, and related interpretations. FAS 123(R) requires
compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions, including employee stock options, to be recognized in the
financial statements. In addition, we adhere to the guidance set forth within SEC SAB No. 107, which provides the Staff's views
regarding the interaction between SFAS 123(R) and certain SEC rules and regulations and provides interpretations with respect
to the valuation of share-based payments for public companies. 

  
 Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for similar transactions in accordance with APB 25 which employed the intrinsic value
method of measuring compensation cost. Accordingly, compensation expense was not recognized for fixed stock options if the
exercise price of the option equaled or exceeded the fair value of the underlying stock at the grant date.   

  
 While SFAS 123 encouraged recognition of the fair value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant as an expense over
the vesting period, companies were permitted to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by
APB 25 and disclose certain pro forma amounts as if the fair value approach of SFAS 123 had been applied. I n December
2002, SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure,” an amendment of SFAS 123,
was issued, which, in addition to providing alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of
accounting for stock-based employee compensation, required more prominent pro forma disclosures in both the annual and
interim financial statements. We complied with these disclosure requirements for all applicable periods prior to January 1, 2006. 
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 I n adopting SFAS 123(R), we applied the modified prospective approach t o transition. Under the modified prospective
approach, the provisions of SFAS 123(R) are to be applied to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled
after the required effective date. Additionally, compensation cost for the portion of awards for which the requisite service has
not been rendered that are outstanding as of the required effective date shall be recognized as the requisite service is rendered
on or after the required effective date. The compensation cost for that portion of awards shall be based on the grant-date fair
value of those awards as calculated for either recognition or pro-forma disclosures under SFAS 123.

  
 A s a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R), our results for the year ended December 31, 2006 include share-based
compensation expense totaling approximately $30,000 and a tax benefit of approximately $13,500. Such amounts have been
included in the Consolidated Statement of Income within general and administrative expenses. Stock compensation expense
and tax benefit recorded under APB 25 in the Consolidated Statements of Income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was
$0.
 
Stock option compensation expense in 2006 is the estimated fair value of options granted amortized on a straight-line basis
over the requisite service period for entire portion of the award less an estimate for anticipated forfeitures.

  
 The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was
$1.46 and 1.85, respectively, per share. The fair value of options at the date of grant was estimated using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model. During 2006, we took into consideration the guidance under SFAS 123(R) and SAB No. 107 when
reviewing and updating assumptions. The expected volatility is based upon historical volatility of our stock and other
contributing factors. The expected term is based upon observation of actual time elapsed between date of grant and exercise of
options for all employees. Previously such assumptions were determined based on historical data.

 
 The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
following weighted average assumptions were used for grants during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

 
 Years Ended December 31, 2006 2005

   
 Dividend Yield 0.00% 0.00%
 Volatility 123.23% 90.98%
 Risk-Free Interest Rate 5.00% 4.29%
 Expected Life 5 years 5 years

 
 The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options, which have no
vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because our stock options have characteristics significantly different
from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value
estimate, in management's opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of
our stock options.
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 A summary of option activity under the Plan as of December 31, 2006, and changes during the year then ended is as follows:

 
 

 
 
 
Fixed Stock Options

 

 Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term (years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value  

              
Outstanding, beginning of year   328,025 $ 2.09        
Granted   20,000  1.77        
Exercised   127,500  1.50        
Expired   -  -        
Forfeited   27,225  2.84        
Outstanding, end of year   193,300 $ 2.34   1.65   207,610 

              
Exercisable, end of year   173,608 $ 2.31   1.35   183,092 

 
 The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2006 is calculated as the
difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the market price of our common stock for the shares that
had exercise prices, that were lower than the $3.06 closing price of our common stock on December 29, 2006. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $135,150 and $126,265,
respectively, determined as of the date of exercise. We received cash proceeds from options exercised in the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2005 of approximately $191,000 and $60,000, respectively.
 
A summary of the status of our non-vested shares as of December 31, 2006 and the changes during the year ended December
31, 2006, is as follows:

 
 
 

 
 Options   

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

        
Nonvested at December 31, 2005   30,788 $ 1.11 
Granted   20,000  1.46 
Vested   (16,321)  1.53 
Forfeited   (14,775)  2.27 
Nonvested at December 31, 2006   19,692 $ 1.86 
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 As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the fair value of unamortized compensation cost related to unvested stock option awards
was approximately $39,000 and $80,000, respectively. Unamortized compensation cost as of December 31, 2006 is expected
to be recognized over a remaining weighted-average vesting period of 1.25 years. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the
weighted average fair value of options exercised was $2.22.
 
The total fair value of shares vested during the year ended December 31, 2006 was $24,966.

  
 Common shares reserved

 Warrants  97,500

   
 Stock Option Plan/Equity Participation Plan  682,000

 
20. Business Segments

  
 We currently have two reportable business segments: Insurance and Premium Finance. The Insurance segment sells retail
auto, motorcycle, boat, life, business, and homeowner's insurance and franchises. In addition, this segment offers tax
preparation services and automobile club services for roadside emergencies. Insurance revenues are derived from activities
within the United States, and all long-lived assets are located within the United States. The Premium Finance segment offers
property and casualty policyholders loans to finance the policy premiums.

  
 Revenue, interest income, interest expense, depreciation and amortization, profit and loss, and assets pertaining to the
segments in which we operate are presented below.

 

Year Ended December 31, 2006   
Premium
Finance   Insurance   Other (1)  Total  

Revenues from External Customers  $ 3,960,223 $ 7,121,724 $ - $ 11,081,947 
Interest Income   -  4,287  167  4,454 
Interest Income-Notes Receivable   -  -  1,182,844  1,182,844 
Interest Expense   809,776  83,116  461,436  1,354,328 
Depreciation and Amortization   171,430  220,880  44,122  436,432 
Segment Profit (Loss)

before Income Taxes   721,081  1,235,740  (1,032,484)  924,337 
Segment Profit (Loss)   396,595  679,656  (567,866)  508,385 
Segment Assets   15,713,074  5,205,570  4,484,243  25,402,887 

 
 _____________
(1) Column represents corporate-related items and, as it relates to segment profit (loss), income, expense and assets not

allocated to reportable segments.
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Year Ended December 31, 2005   
Premium
Finance   Insurance   Other (1)  Total  

              
Revenues from External Customers  $ 4,982,009 $ 7,036,599 $ - $ 12,018,608 
Interest Income   -  705  18,225  18,930 
Interest Expense   748,307  54,873  307,421  1,110,601 
Depreciation and Amortization   200,278  154,410  49,479  404,523 
Segment Profit (Loss) before

Income Taxes   1,230,570  1,602,330  (1,931,140)  901,760 
Segment Profit (Loss)   738,342  961,174  (1,203,756)  495,760 
Segment Assets   18,014,122  3,618,894  877,071  22,510,087 

 ____________
(1) Column represents corporate-related items and, as it relates to segment profit (loss), income, expense and assets not

allocated to reportable segments.

21. Major Insurance Company

 At December 31, 2006, revenue from a major insurance company consisted of the following:

 Company % of Total Revenue Segment
   

 A 22% Insurance

 At December 31, 2005, revenue from a major insurance company consisted of the following:
 

 Company % of Total Revenue Segment
   

 A 22% Insurance
 

22. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
  
 The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the following classes of financial instruments were:
  
 Current Assets and Current Liabilities: The carrying values of cash, accounts receivables, finance contract receivables and
payables and certain other short-term financial instruments approximate their fair value.

  
 Long-Term Debt: The fair value of our long-term debt, including the current portion, was estimated using a discounted cash
flow analysis, based on our assumed incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The carrying
amount of variable and fixed rate debt at December 31, 2006 approximates fair value.

  
23. Retirement Plan

  
 Qualified employees are eligible to participate in a salary reduction plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code.
Participation in the plan is voluntary, and any participant may elect to contribute up to a maximum of $15,000 per year. We will
match 25% of the employee's contribution up to 6%. Contributions for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005
approximated $17,000 and $17,000, respectively.
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24. Supplementary Information - Statement of Cash Flows
  
 Cash paid during the years for:

Years Ended December 31,   2006  2005 
        

Interest  $ 1,311,408 $ 1,149,327 
        

Income Taxes  $ 332,038 $ 751,791 

 During the year ended December 31, 2005, the holder of our Series A Preferred Stock converted 124 shares ($124,000 face
value) into 49,600 shares of our Common Stock
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DCAP GROUP, INC.

Certificate of Designations of Preferred Stock Authorized by Resolution of the Board of Directors
Providing for an Issue of 780 Shares of Preferred Stock Designated “Series B Preferred Stock.”

DCAP Group, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware, in accordance with the provisions of Section 151 of Title 8 thereof and Article FOURTH of the Corporation’s
Certificate of Incorporation, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY THAT:

Pursuant to authority conferred upon the Board of Directors by the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, said
Board of Directors, at a meeting duly held, adopted a resolution providing for the issuance of up to seven hundred eighty (780) shares
of the Corporation’s Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, designated “Series B Preferred Stock,” which resolution is as follows:

RESOLVED, that, pursuant to the authority vested in the Board of Directors of the Corporation by the Certificate of
Incorporation, the Board of Directors does hereby provide for and authorize the issuance of up to seven hundred eighty (780) shares
of the Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, of the Corporation, to be designated “Series B Preferred Stock” of the presently
authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock. The voting powers, designations, preferences, and relative, participating, optional
or other special rights of the Series B Preferred Stock authorized hereunder and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions of such
preferences and rights are as follows:

(i) Dividends.

(a) Dividend Preference. From and after the date hereof, when and if the Board of Directors of the
Corporation declares a dividend or distribution payable with respect to (i) the Common Stock or any other capital stock or security
issued by the Corporation which is junior to the Series B Preferred Stock a s t o such dividends or distributions, such dividend or
distribution shall not be paid until payment is made to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock o f al l dividends or distributions
accumulated or accrued through that date, or (ii) the then outstanding capital stock of the Corporation that is pari passu to the Series
B Preferred Stock as to such dividends or distributions, such dividends or distributions shall not be paid unless an equivalent payment
is made to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock, pro rata, on the accumulated and unpaid dividends or distributions payable to
the Series B Preferred Stock as of the date of such payment.

(b)  Dividend Amount and Payment. Holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive,
when, as and if declared by the Board of Directors, out of funds legally available for that purpose, with respect to each share of Series
B Preferred Stock, a cash dividend equal to five percent (5.0%) of the Original Issue Price (as hereinafter defined), per annum. Such
dividend shall be cumulative, shall accrue from the date hereof and shall be payable quarterly on each January 15, April 15, July 15
and October 15 for the preceding calendar quarter. For purposes hereof, the term “Original Issue Price” shall mean one thousand
dollars ($1,000.00).
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(ii) Voting Rights. Except as required by applicable law, the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall not be
entitled to vote on any matters required to be or otherwise submitted to a vote of stockholders of the Corporation.

(iii) Redemption.

(a) Subject to the requirements of applicable law, on April 30, 2008 (the “Outside Redemption Date”), i f any
shares of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be then outstanding, the Corporation shall redeem, for cash, all outstanding shares of the
Series B Preferred Stock, at a redemption price per share equal to the Original Issue Price, together with any accumulated and unpaid
dividends thereon to the Outside Redemption Date (the “Redemption Price”).

(b) In the event the Corporation redeems shares of Series B Preferred Stock pursuant to paragraph (a) above, notice
of such redemption (the “Redemption Notice”) shall be given by first class mail, postage prepaid, mailed not less than ten (10) days
nor more than twenty (20) days prior to the Outside Redemption Date, to each holder of record of the shares of Series B Preferred
Stock to be redeemed at such holder’s address as the same appears on the stock register of the Corporation. The Redemption Notice
shall state: (i) the Outside Redemption Date; (ii) the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed; (iii) the place or
places where certificates for such shares are to be surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price; and (iv) that dividends on the
shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the Outside Redemption Date.

(c) In the event the Corporation shall make a Substantial Sale (as hereinafter defined) prior to the Outside
Redemption Date, the Corporation shall give notice thereof (the “Sale Notice”) to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock, which
notice shall provide for a date (no less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days following the date thereof) (the “Sale
Redemption Date”) upon which, subject to the requirements of applicable law, the Corporation shall redeem, for cash, such number of
outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock, at the Redemption Price, as is hereinafter provided. The Sale Notice shall be given
by first class mail, postage prepaid, to each holder of record of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed at each holder’s
address as the same appears on the stock register of the Corporation. The Sale Notice shall state: (i) the Sale Redemption Date; (ii)
the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed; (iii) the place or places where certificates for such shares are to be
surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price; and (iv) that dividends on the shares to be redeemed will cease to accrue on the
Sale Redemption Date.

(d) The number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock to be redeemed pursuant to paragraph (c) above shall
be such number of shares as may be redeemed at an aggregate Redemption Price equal to twenty percent (20%) of the net cash
proceeds of the Substantial Sale. In the event that less than all of the outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock are to be
redeemed in connection with a Substantial Sale, then the outstanding shares shall be redeemed on a pro rata basis from all of the
holders of Series B Preferred Stock.
 

2

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(e) For purposes hereof, a “Substantial Sale” shall be deemed to have occurred if any of the following occur:
(i) the Corporation sells all or substantially all of its assets; (ii) any of Payments, Inc. (“Payments”), Blast Acquisition Corp. (“Blast”),
Barry Scott Companies Inc. (“BSC”) or AIA-DCAP Corp. (“AIA”), each a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation,
sells all or substantially all of its assets (except in the case where the purchaser becomes a franchisee of the Corporation or a
subsidiary thereof); or (iii) the Corporation sells all of the outstanding stock of Payments or Blast, or Blast sells all of the outstanding
stock of BSC or AIA (except in the case where Blast, BSC or AIA becomes a franchisee of the Corporation or a subsidiary thereof).

(f) In the event the Corporation shall consummate a “Rule 13e-3 transaction” (as such term is defined in Rule
13e-3 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), the
Corporation shall give written notice thereof (the “Going Private Notice”) to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock. Each holder of
Series B Preferred Stock thereupon shall have the right, exercisable by written notice (the “Redemption Exercise Notice”) given to the
Corporation within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Going Private Notice, to cause the Corporation, subject to the requirements of
applicable law, to redeem, for cash, all or any portion of such holder’s Series B Preferred Stock at the Redemption Price. The
Redemption Exercise Notice shall provide for the number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock that the holder desires that the
Corporation redeem and a date (no less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days following the date thereof (together with
the Outside Redemption Date and the Sale Redemption Date, the “Redemption Date”)) upon which, subject to the requirements of
applicable law, the Corporation shall redeem, for cash, such number of shares of Series B Preferred Stock as is set forth in the
holder’s Redemption Exercise Notice.

(g) In the case of any redemption pursuant to paragraph (a), (c) or (f) above, as to which any required notice
from the Corporation was properly mailed as provided in paragraph (b), (c) or (f) above, from and after the Redemption Date (unless
default shall be made by the Corporation in paying the Redemption Price of the shares called for redemption), dividends on the
shares of Series B Preferred Stock so called for redemption shall cease to accrue, and all rights of the holders thereof as stockholders
of the Corporation (except the right to receive from the Corporation the Redemption Price per share) shall cease. Upon surrender in
accordance with said notice of the certificates for any shares so redeemed (properly endorsed or assigned for transfer, if the Board of
Directors shall so require and the notice shall so state), such shares shall be redeemed by the Corporation at the Redemption Price.
 

(h) The Corporation’s redemption obligation hereunder shall be secured by the pledge by Blast to the original
holder of the Series B Preferred Stock (the “Original Holder”) of all of the outstanding stock of AIA pursuant to an amended and
restated guaranty and pledge agreement, dated as of the date hereof, between Blast and the Original Holder.
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 (iv) Conversion.

(a) Conversion Right. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock shall be convertible, at any time and from
time to time, at the option of the holder thereof, into such number of shares of Common Stock of the Corporation as is determined by
dividing the Original Issue Price by the Conversion Price (as hereinafter defined). For purposes hereof, the term “Conversion Price”
shall mean two dollars and fifty cents ($2.50), subject to adjustment as hereinafter set forth.

Before any holder of Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive Common Stock upon conversion,
the holder shall send a notice of conversion with respect thereto (the “Conversion Notice”) and shall surrender the certificate(s)
therefor, duly endorsed, at the principal offices of the Corporation. Effective upon the Corporation’s receipt of the Conversion Notice
(the “Effective Conversion Date”), the holder shall thereupon be deemed to be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable
upon conversion, notwithstanding that the stock transfer books of the Corporation shall then be closed or that the certificate(s)
representing such Common Stock shall not then be actually delivered to the holder. Subject to the provisions hereof, promptly
following the Effective Conversion Date, the Corporation shall issue or cause its transfer agent to issue and deliver to such holder of
Series B Preferred Stock a certificate for the number of shares of Common Stock to which the holder shall be entitled.

    (b) Adjustment of Conversion Price.

(I)  Adjustments for Stock Dividends; Combinations, Etc. In the event that the Corporation shall
(A) declare a dividend or other distribution on its Common Stock payable in Common Stock of the Corporation; (B) effect a subdivision
of its outstanding Common Stock into a greater number of shares of Common Stock (by reclassification, stock split or otherwise than
by payment of a dividend in shares of Common Stock); (C) effect a combination of its outstanding Common Stock into a lesser
number of shares of Common Stock (by reclassification, reverse split or otherwise); (D) issue by reclassification, exchange or
substitution of its Common Stock any shares of capital stock of the Corporation; or (E) effect any other transaction having a like effect,
the Conversion Price in effect immediately prior to such action shall be adjusted so that, in the event of a conversion at any time after
the occurrence of any event described in (A) through (E) above, the holder shall be entitled to receive the shares of Common Stock to
which such holder would have been finally entitled, after giving effect to the occurrence of such event, as if the Series B Preferred
Stock had been converted into Common Stock immediately prior to the occurrence of such event. An adjustment made pursuant to
this paragraph (b)(I) shall become effective immediately after the record date in the case of a dividend or other distribution and shall
become effective immediately upon the effective date in the case of a subdivision, combination, reclassification, exchange or
substitution.
 

(II) Adjustment for Consolidation or Merger. In case of any consolidation or merger to which the
Corporation is a party, other than a merger or consolidation in which the Corporation is the surviving or continuing corporation and
which does not result in any reclassification of, or change (other than a change in par value or from par value to no par value or from
no par value to par value, or as a result of a subdivision or combination) in, outstanding Common Stock, then in the event of a
conversion, the holder of each share of Series B Preferred Stock then outstanding shall receive, in exchange for such shares of Series
B Preferred Stock, the kind and amount of shares or other securities and property receivable upon such consolidation or merger by a
holder of the number of shares of Common Stock into which such Series B Preferred Stock would have been converted immediately
prior to such consolidation or merger had the conversion occurred.
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(c) Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon conversion of Series B
Preferred Stock. In lieu of any fractional shares to which the holder would otherwise be entitled, the Corporation shall pay, in cash, an
amount equal to the product of (i) such fraction of a share times (ii) the Current Market Price Per Share (as hereinafter defined) on
the Effective Conversion Date. As used herein, the term “Current Market Price Per Share” shall mean the closing price, or, if not
available, the closing bid price, of the Common Stock as quoted on a national securities exchange, including The Nasdaq Stock
Market (“Nasdaq”), or the OTC Bulletin Board (the “Bulletin Board”), as the case may be (or, if there is no closing price or closing bid
price on a particular day, then the closing price or, if not available, the closing bid price on the nearest trading date before that day
and for which such prices are available), and if the Common Stock is not listed on such an exchange, including Nasdaq, or the
Bulletin Board on such particular day, then the Current Market Price Per Share shall be determined by the Board of Directors in good
faith by taking into consideration all relevant factors.

(d) Reservation of Shares Issuable Upon Conversion. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep
available out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion o f the Series B
Preferred Stock, such number of its shares of Common Stock as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all
outstanding Series B Preferred Stock; provided, however, that nothing contained herein shall preclude the Corporation from satisfying
its obligations in respect of the conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock by delivery of Common Stock which is held in the treasury
of the Corporation.

(e) Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Certificates. In the event that the holder notifies the Corporation that the
certificate(s) representing Series B Preferred Stock have been lost, stolen or destroyed and either (i) provides a letter, in form
satisfactory to the Corporation, to the effect that it will indemnify the Corporation from any loss incurred by it in connection therewith,
and/or (ii) provides an indemnity bond in such amount as is reasonably required by the Corporation, the Corporation having the
option of electing either (i) or (ii) or both, the Corporation shall accept such letter and/or indemnity bond in lieu of the surrender of the
certificate(s) as otherwise required by the provisions hereof.

(f) Certificate as to Adjustments. Whenever the number of shares of Common Stock issuable, or the
securities or other property deliverable, upon the conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be adjusted pursuant to the
provisions hereof, the Corporation shall give written notice thereof to each holder of shares of Series B Preferred Stock a t such
holder’s address as it appears on the transfer books of the Corporation and shall forthwith file, at its principal executive office and with
any transfer agent or agents for the Series B Preferred Stock and the Common Stock, a certificate, signed by the Chief Financial
Officer of the Corporation, stating the number of shares of Common Stock issuable, or the securities or other property deliverable, per
share of Series B Preferred Stock converted, calculated to the nearest cent or to the nearest one one-hundredth of a share and setting
forth in reasonable detail the method of calculation and the facts requiring such adjustment and upon which such calculation is based.
Each adjustment shall remain in effect until a subsequent adjustment hereunder is required.
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(g) N o Conversion Charge or Tax. The issuance and delivery of certificates representing shares of
Common Stock upon the conversion of shares of Series B Preferred Stock shall be made without charge to the holder of shares of
Series B Preferred Stock for any issue tax, or other incidental expense in respect of the issuance or delivery of such certificates or the
securities represented thereby, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Corporation.

(h) Status on Conversion. Upon any conversion of shares of the Series B Preferred Stock, the shares so
converted shall be canceled.

(i) Statutory Restrictions. The foregoing provisions for conversion of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be
subject to all applicable statutory limitations and restrictions.

(v) Liquidation Preference. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the
Corporation, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock will be entitled to receive, prior and in preference to any distribution of the assets
or surplus funds of the Corporation to the holders of any Common Stock and any other stock of the Corporation ranking in liquidation
junior to the Series B Preferred Stock, by reason of the ownership thereof, an amount (the “Series B Preferential Amount”) equal to (A)
the Original Issue Price and no more, and (B) all accumulated and unpaid dividends thereon. If, upon the occurrence of such an
event, the assets and funds thus distributable among the holders of Series B Preferred Stock shall be insufficient to permit the
payment to such holders of the full Series B Preferential Amount, then the entire assets and funds of the Corporation legally available
for distribution to the holders of the Series B Preferred Stock shall be distributed ratably among such holders in accordance with the
respective amounts which would be payable on such shares if all amounts payable thereon were paid in full. After the payment or
setting apart of the full Series B Preferential Amount required to be paid to the holders of Series B Preferred Stock, the holders of
Common Stock and any other stock of the Corporation ranking in liquidation junior to the Series B Preferred Stock shall be entitled to
receive ratably all remaining assets or surplus funds of the Corporation. Neither the merger or consolidation of the Corporation, nor
the sale, lease or conveyance of all or part of its assets, shall be deemed to be a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of
the Corporation, either voluntarily or involuntarily, within the meaning of this section.
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(vi) Seniority. For so long as any shares of Series B Preferred Stock are issued and outstanding, the Corporation
shall not, without the written consent of the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of Series B Preferred Stock, issue any
series of preferred stock that ranks senior to the Series B Preferred Stock with respect to dividend rights or on liquidation, dissolution
or winding up of the Corporation.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, DCAP GROUP, INC. has caused this Certificate to be executed by its Chief Executive
Officer this 23rd day of March, 2007.

 
   
 DCAP GROUP, INC.
 
 

 
 

 
 

 By:  /s/ Barry Goldstein
 

Barry Goldstein, Chief Executive Officer
 Title 
 
 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



AMENDED AND RESTATED
FINANCING AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

 
 

THIS FINANCING AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement” ) i s made as of July 28, 2006, by and among
PAYMENTS INC., a corporation organized under the laws the State of New York (“Payments Inc.”), and DCAP GROUP, INC., a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Parent”), of which Payments Inc. is a wholly-owned
subsidiary, jointly and severally (the “Borrower”); MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York State Bank
organized under the laws of the State of New York (“M&T”); and each other financial institution that is a party to this Agreement,
whether b y execution of this Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the “Lenders” and individually, a “Lender” ) ; and
MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York State Bank, in its capacity as both collateral and administrative
agent for each of the Lenders and sole arranger (the “Agent”).
 

RECITALS
 

A. Payments Inc., the Agent and M&T (as sole Lender) entered into a Financing and Security Agreement dated December
27, 2004 (the “Original Financing Agreement”). The Original Financing Agreement provides for some of the agreements between the
Payments Inc. and the Lenders with respect to the “Credit Facilities” (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement),
including the Revolving Credit Facility (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement) i n an amount not to exceed
$35,000,000.
 

B. The Borrower has requested that the Lenders agree to provide a $2,500,000 multiple-advance term loan facility to be used
by the Borrower for the Permitted Uses described in this Agreement and guaranteed by the Guarantors (as that term is defined
below) and to reduce the aggregate Commitments to $20,00,000.
 

C. The Lenders are willing to make the recast credit facilities available to the Borrower upon the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth in this Agreement.
 

AGREEMENTS
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is
hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

 
Section 1.1  Certain Defined Terms.

 
A s used in this Agreement, the terms defined in the Preamble and Recitals hereto shall have the respective meanings

specified therein, and the following terms shall have the following meanings:
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“Account Debtor” means any Person who is obligated on a Receivable and “Account Debtors” mean all Persons who are
obligated on the Receivables.
 

“ACH Settlement Risk Reserve” means any and all Reserves that the Agent from time to time establishes, in its sole
discretion, with respect to ACH Transactions.
 

“ACH Transactions” means any cash management or related services including the automatic clearing house transfer of
funds by the Agent for the account of the Borrower pursuant to agreement or overdrafts.
 

“Adjustment Date” means, as applicable, the date on which a financial institution becomes a new Lender pursuant to the
provisions of Section 9.5 (Remaining Syndication) or the date on which an assignment by an existing Lender is effective pursuant to
the provisions of Section 9.6 (Assignments by Lenders).
 

“Advances” means the collective reference to each advance under the Revolving Loan including, without limitation, those
under Section 2.1.1 (Revolving Credit Facility), Agent Advances, and Overadvances.
 

“Affiliate” means, with respect to any designated Person, any other Person, (a) directly or indirectly controlling, directly or
indirectly controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with the Person designated, (b) directly or indirectly owning or
holding five percent (5%) or more of any equity interest in such designated Person, or (c) five percent (5%) or more of whose stock or
other equity interest is directly or indirectly owned or held by such designated Person. For purposes of this definition, the term
“control” (including with correlative meanings, the terms “controlling”, “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the
possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether
through ownership of voting securities or other equity interests or by contract or otherwise.
 

“Agent” means the Person defined as the “Agent” in the preamble of this Agreement and shall also include any successor
Agent appointed pursuant to Section 8.9 (Successor Agent).
 

“Agent Advances” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6.1 (Agent Advances).
 

“Agent’s Liens” means the Liens in the Collateral granted to the Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, M&T, and Agent
pursuant to this Agreement and the other Financing Documents.
 

“Agent-Related Persons” means the Agent, together with its Affiliates, and the officers, directors, employees, counsel,
representatives, agents and attorneys-in-fact of the Agent and such Affiliates.
 

“Agent’s Obligations” shall mean any and all Obligations payable solely to and for the exclusive benefit of the Agent or M&T
(except in its capacity as a Lender) by the Borrower under the terms of this Agreement and/or any of the other Financing Documents,
including, without limitation, indebtedness, liabilities and obligations with respect to Bank Products, the Arrangement Fee, and any
and all Monitoring Fees.
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“Agreement” means this Amended and Restated Financing and Security Agreement (which amends and restates the Original
Financing Agreement), as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified in writing in accordance with the provisions of
Section 9.2 (Amendments; Waivers).
 

“Aggregate Commitments” means $20,000,000.
 

“Applicable Interest Rate” means (a) the LIBOR Rate, (b) the LIBOR Floating Rate, or (c) the Base Rate.
 

“Applicable Margin” means the applicable rate per annum added, as set forth in Section 2.4.1 (Applicable Interest Rates -
Term Line) Section  2.4.2 (Applicable Interest Rates - Revolving Loan), to the LIBOR Base Rate, the LIBOR Index Rate or the Prime
Rate.
 

“Approved Acquisition” means an acquisition (by acquisition of assets, acquisition of stock, voting agreements, merger, other
combination or other arrangements for control) by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of any other business entity or all or a
substantial portion of the assets of a Person, for which Acquisition the Borrower has obtained the Agent’s prior written consent, which
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
 

“Arranger” means the Investment Banking Group of M&T.
 

“Arrangement Fee” has the meaning set forth in that certain letter agreement dated of even date herewith between the Agent
and the Borrower.
 

“Assignee” means any Person to which any Lender assigns all or any portion of its interests under this Agreement, any
Commitment, and any Loan, in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.6 (Assignments by Lenders), together with any and all
successors and assigns of such Person; “Assignees” means the collective reference to all Assignees.
 

“Assignment of Life Insurance” means that certain assignment of life insurance as collateral dated as of the Original Closing
Date from the Borrower to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the Agent, which Assignment of Life Insurance assigns
to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the Agent, all of the right, title and interest of the Borrower in, and to, that
certain life insurance policy issued by Zurich Life Insurance of New York on the life of Barry B. Goldstein in the face amount of Four
Million Dollars ($4,000,000) (which amount may be reduced to an amount not less than One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($1,500,000) if done so in accordance with this Agreement), as amended, restated, reissued, supplemented or otherwise modified in
writing at any time and from time to time.
 

“Back-Up Servicing Agreement” means the collective reference to the Media Storage Agreement dated April 21, 2004
between the Servicer and Media Storage and the IBM Business Recovery Services Contract Document dated September, 2003
between Servicer and IBM, and each other of the Borrower with a servicer (other than the Servicer) to provide substantially the same
services provided by the Servicer under the Servicing Agreement in the event the Servicer does not provide such services, which
agreement shall be subject to such other agreements (by way of example and not limitation, an agreement similar to the Servicing
Agreement Assignment), and the servicer and all of the foregoing agreements being in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent
in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to time.
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“Bank Products” means any service or facility extended to the Borrower by M&T or any Affiliate of M&T including: (a) credit
cards, (b) credit card processing services, (c) debit cards, (d) purchase cards, (e) ACH Transactions, (f) cash management, including
controlled disbursement, accounts or services, or (g) Hedge Agreements.
 

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time, and any successor Laws.
 

“Base Rate” means the Prime Rate plus the Applicable Margin.
 

“Base Rate Loan” means any Loan for which interest is to be computed with reference to the Base Rate.
 

“Borrower” means the collective reference to each and every Person defined as a “Borrower” in the preamble of this
Agreement or otherwise so identified in this Agreement from time to time, and to any one or more of such Persons, all jointly and
severally, unless a specific Borrower is expressly identified. “Borrowers” means the collective reference to all Persons included in the
definition of “Borrower.”
 

“Borrowing Base” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.3(a) (Computation of Borrowing Base).
 

“Borrowing Base Deficiency” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.3(d) (Computation of Borrowing Base).
 

“Borrowing Base Report” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.5 (Borrowing Base Report).
 

“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which (a) in the case of M&T (as Agent and
Lender), commercial banks in the State are authorized or required to close and, (b) in the case of the Lenders other than M&T, those
Lenders are closed for the transaction of business at the addresses stated after their names on the signature pages of this
Agreement.
 

“Capital Adequacy Regulation” means any guideline, request or directive of any central bank or other Governmental Authority,
or any other law, rule or regulation, whether or not having the force of law, in each case, regarding capital adequacy of any bank or of
any corporation controlling a bank.
 

“Capital Expenditure” means an expenditure (whether payable in cash or other property or accrued as a liability) for Fixed or
Capital Assets, including, without limitation, the entering into of a Capital Lease.
 

“Capitalization” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
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“Capitalization Ratio” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
 

“Capital Lease” means with respect to any Person any lease of real or personal property, for which the related Lease
Obligations have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, capitalized on the balance sheet of that Person.
 

“Cash Equivalents” means (a) securities with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully
guaranteed or insured by the United States Government or any agency thereof, (b) certificates of deposit with maturities of one (1)
year or less from the date of acquisition of, or money market accounts maintained with, the Agent, any Affiliate of the Agent, or any
other domestic commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of One Hundred Million Dollars ($100,000,000.00) or such other
domestic financial institutions or domestic brokerage houses to the extent disclosed to, and approved by, the Agent and (c)
commercial paper of a domestic issuer rated at least either A-1 by Standard & Poor’s Corporation (or its successor) or P-1 by Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc. (or its successor) with maturities of six (6) months or less from the date of acquisition.
 

“Closing Date” means the date of this Agreement.
 

“Collateral” means all property of the Borrower subject from time to time to the Liens of this Agreement, any of the Security
Documents and/or any of the other Financing Documents, together with any and all cash and non-cash proceeds and products
thereof.
 

“Collateral Account” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.10 (Collateral Account).
 

“Commitment” means with respect to a Lender, the Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment and the Term Line Commitment,
as the case may be, and “Commitments” means the collective reference to the Revolving Credit Commitment and the Term Line
Commitment.
 

“Committed Amount” means with respect to a Lender, the Lender’s Revolving Credit Committed Amount or the Term Line
Committed Amount, as the case may be, and “Committed Amounts” means collectively the Revolving Credit Committed Amount and
the Term Line Committed Amount.
 

“Compliance Certificate” means a periodic Compliance Certificate furnished by the Borrower in compliance Section 6.1.1(d)
(Borrower Information) and in substantially the form attached to this Agreement as EXHIBIT C.
 

“Copyrights” means and includes, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, all of the Borrower’s rights, title and
interest in and to (a) all copyrights, rights and interests in copyrights, works protectable by copyright, copyright registrations, copyright
applications, and all renewals of any of the foregoing, (b) all income, royalties, damages and payments now or hereafter due and/or
payable under any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, damages or payments for past, current or future infringements of any
of the foregoing, (c) the right to sue for past, present and future infringements of any of the foregoing, and (d) all rights corresponding
to any of the foregoing throughout the world.
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“Corporate Guarantor” means the Parent, and each of the direct and indirect wholly-owned Subsidiaries of the Parent, as the

case may be and each of their respective successors and assigns, and “Corporate Guarantors” means collectively the Parent, such
subsidiaries and each of their respective successors and assigns.
 

“Corporate Guaranties” means the collective reference to each of those certain guaranties of payment for the benefit of the
Lenders ratably and the Agent dated the date hereof to the Agent from the Corporate Guarantors, respectively, as the same may from
time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified; and “Corporate Guaranty” means each of the Corporate
Guaranties.
 

“Credit Facility” means the Revolving Credit Facility or the Term Line Facility, as the case may be, and “Credit Facilities”
means collectively the Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Line Facility and any and all other credit facilities now or hereafter extended
under or secured by this Agreement.
 

“Default” means an event that, with the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both, could or would constitute an Event of Default
under the provisions of this Agreement.
 

“Defaulting Lender” means any Lender that fails to make any Advance (or other extension of credit) that it is required to make
hereunder on the date that it is required to do so hereunder.
 

“Early Termination Fee” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.13 (Early Termination Fee).
 

“EBITDA” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
 

“Eligible Carrier” shall mean a property and casualty insurance company which has an A. M. Best rating of not less than “B”
o r Standard and Poor’s rating of not less than “BBBq” , o r which is included in EXHIBIT E attached to and made a part of this
Agreement, up to and including the aggregate amount of Receivables financing insurance policies of such insurance company as set
forth in EXHIBIT E, all as acceptable to the Agent in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to time.
 

 “Eligible Receivables” shall mean shall mean any bona fide Receivable that is created by Payments Inc. in the ordinary
course of its business and that satisfies and continues to satisfy, the following requirements:
 

(a)  the Receivable was created pursuant to a Premium Finance Agreement that is in form and
substance acceptable to the Agent, that reflects by its terms and in related payment coupon books and other materials, the
Agent as secured creditor to Payments Inc.;

 
(b)  the insurance carrier issuing the underlying insurance relating to the Receivable (i) is not a

debtor in any case under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code, is not insolvent, has not made an assignment for the benefit of
creditors and is not the subject of any insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution, receivership, conservatorship,
trusteeship or other such proceeding, and (ii) is an Eligible Carrier; provided, however, that in the case of a carrier for a non-
commercial Premium Finance Agreement, a Receivable may be an Eligible Receivable even if the insurance carrier is not an
Eligible Carrier provided that (A) such Receivable otherwise meets the criteria of an Eligible Receivable, and (B) the Premium
Finance Agreements relating to insurance carriers who are not Eligible Carriers do not exceed an amount equal to twenty
percent (20%) of Payments Inc.’s Capitalization at any time;
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(c)  the broker or agent of the underlying insurance relating to the Receivable is not a debtor in
any case under any chapter of the Bankruptcy Code, is not insolvent, has not made an assignment for the benefit of creditors,
and is not the subject of any insolvency, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution, receivership, conservatorship, trusteeship or
other such proceeding;

 
(d)  the Receivable does not relate to an insurance policy that is subject in the ordinary course to

audit and adjustment;
 

(e)  the underlying insurance relating to the Receivable is cancelable by Payments Inc. and its
assignees at any time following a default by the insured and provides for the return of unearned premiums and commissions
upon cancellation;

 
(f)  the rights to the return of unearned premiums and commissions upon cancellation o f the

underlying insurance relating to the Receivable may be validly assigned to Payments Inc. and to assignees of Payments Inc.;
 

(g)  t he amount of unearned premiums or commissions payable upon cancellation of the
underlying insurance relating to the Receivable is calculable at all times;

 
(h)  the Premium Finance Agreement giving rise to the Receivable at the time of execution was in

compliance with, and was created, solicited and entered into in compliance with, all applicable laws, statutes, regulations,
rules, orders, decrees or injunctions of any governmental body, including all applicable insurance and consumer laws and
regulations;

 
(i)  t h e Receivable, the related Premium Finance Agreement and the related underlying

insurance are each valid, binding and enforceable against each party thereto;
 

(j)  the Premium Finance Agreement giving rise to the Receivable is fully and properly completed
and contains a valid, binding and enforceable assignment to Payments Inc. of all unearned premiums and commissions
payable upon cancellation of the related underlying insurance and such assignment grants Payments Inc. a perfected first-
priority security interest in such unearned premiums and commissions without the necessity of filing any financing statement
or of making any other filing or taking any other action;
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(k)  the Premium Finance Agreement giving rise to the Receivable gives Payments Inc. and its

assignees a power of attorney or other legal authority that enables Payments Inc. and its assignees to cancel the underlying
insurance;

 
(l)  t he Premium Finance Agreement giving rise to the Receivable is in the possession of

Payments Inc.;
 

(m)  the Receivable is in compliance with all representations and warranties made with respect
thereto in this Agreement, including all representations and warranties made by Payments Inc. with respect to the Premium
Finance Agreement giving rise to the Receivable and with respect to the underlying insurance relating to the Receivable;

 
(n)  i f the related underlying insurance is canceled, cancellation was made before any payment

on the Receivable became more than forty-five (45) days past due;
 

(o)  for a non-commercial Premium Finance Agreement, if the underlying insurance has been
canceled, not more than 90 days have elapsed since the date of cancellation;

 
(p)  f o r a commercial Premium Finance Agreement, if the underlying insurance has been

canceled, not more than 120 days have elapsed since the date of cancellation
 

(q)  for a commercial Premium Finance Agreement with a policy premium in excess of $75,000,
the Agent shall have expressly approved inclusion of the applicable Receivables among the Eligible Receivables;

 
(r)  i f the underlying insurance has been canceled, the unearned premiums and commissions

have not been paid;
 

(s)  except for security interests securing the Obligations and security interests in favor of
Payments Inc., the Receivable is not subject to any lien or security interest;

 
(t)  the Receivable has been entered into and tracked by a premium finance software system

acceptable to the Agent;
 

(u)  the Receivable relates to a premium for which the payee on the check or draft used to pay
the premium is either: (i) the insurance carrier on the policy securing the Premium Finance Agreement, (ii) the New York
Automobile Insurance Plan (NYAIP), New Jersey Personal Automobile Insurance Plan (NJPAIP) or the Pennsylvania
Automobile Insurance Plan (PAIP); (iii) a Managing General Agent or General Agent, duly authorized to receive payments on
behalf of the carrier on the underlying policy of insurance, or (iv) an insurance agent or broker for whom Payments Inc. has
completed due diligence in form and with results satisfactory to the Agent, a l l of clauses (i) through (iv) based on
documentation on file with and satisfactory to the Agent, provided, however, that the Agent in the exercise of its sole and
absolute discretion from time to time may approve additional or other State plans or payment arrangements;
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(v)  t he Receivable arises under either (i) a Premium Finance Agreement under which the
underlying insured is domiciled in the State of New York; or (ii) a Premium Finance Agreement under which the underlying
insured is domiciled in the State of New Jersey or the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania provided, that no such Receivables
from such State shall be included among Eligible Receivables unless the Agent shall have received an opinion of counsel
that Payments Inc. has the necessary Premium Finance Licenses for such State; and provided, further, that the Agent in the
exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to time may approve Premium Finance Agreement relating to insureds
in additional States;

 
(w)  for a non-commercial Premium Finance Agreement, the Receivable arises under a Premium

Finance Agreement under which the underlying carrier participates in the NYAIP, NJPAIP and/or PAIP.
 

T h e Agent may determine from time to time, in its sole and absolute discretion and notwithstanding any previous
determinations made by it or the preceding criteria, to exclude from Eligible Receivables specific Receivables or specific categories or
types of Receivables, specific components of Receivables, Receivables with respect to which the related underlying insurance is
issued b y a specific issuer or by specific categories or types of issuers, Receivables arising out of specific Premium Finance
Agreements or specific categories or types of Premium Finance Agreements, Receivables with respect to which the related
underlying insurance was produced by a specific agent, broker or other producer or by specific categories or types of agents, brokers
or other producers, or otherwise to limit Receivables, or the amount of Receivables, which shall constitute Eligible Receivables. Such
determinations may be based upon evaluations of risk or any other factors considered relevant by the Agent, whether such factors
have or have not heretofore been used, contemplated or foreseen as bases for defining or limiting Eligible Receivables. Any such
determination by the Agent to modify Eligible Receivables will be promptly communicated to the Borrower in writing. In order to
enable the Agent to make such determinations, the Borrower agrees to furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Agent from time to
time such information and documentation that has been requested and is reasonably available concerning Receivables, Premium
Finance Agreements, underlying insurance, issuers of underlying insurance, agents, brokers and other producers of underlying
insurance, premium down payments made by insureds with respect to underlying insurance and other matters as the Agent may from
time to time request. Without implying any limitation on the foregoing, the Borrower may propose that the Agent consider from time to
time the inclusion of Receivables from commercial Account Debtors among Eligible Receivables, which the Agent may from time to
time agree or decline to do from time to time in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion.
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“Enforcement Costs” means all expenses, charges, costs and fees whatsoever (including, without limitation, reasonable

outside and allocated in-house counsel attorney’s fees and expenses) of any nature whatsoever paid or incurred by or on behalf of
the Agent and/or any of the Lenders (whether arising before or after the commencement of any proceedings under the United States
Bankruptcy Code or other applicable laws related to insolvency or otherwise and whether or now allowed or allowable as a claim in
any such proceeding) in connection with (a) any or all of the Obligations, this Agreement and/or any of the other Financing
Documents, (b) the creation, perfection, collection, maintenance, preservation, defense, protection, realization upon, disposition, sale
or enforcement of all or any part of the Collateral, this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents, including, without
limitation, those costs and expenses more specifically enumerated in Section 3.7 (Costs) and/or Section 9.11 (Enforcement Costs),
and further including, without limitation, amounts paid to lessors, processors, bailees, warehousemen, sureties, judgment creditors
and others in possession of or with a Lien against or claimed against the Collateral, and (c) the monitoring, administration, processing
and/or servicing of any or all of the Obligations, the Financing Documents, and/or the Collateral.
 

“Equipment” means all equipment, machinery, computers, chattels, tools, parts, machine tools, furniture, furnishings, fixtures
and goods (other than inventory) of every nature (including, without limitation, embedded software), presently existing o r hereafter
acquired or created and wherever located, whether or not the same shall be deemed to be affixed to real property, and all of such
types of property leased by the Borrower and all of the Borrower’s rights and interests with respect thereto under such leases
(including, without limitation, options to purchase), together with all accessions, additions, fittings, accessories, special tools, and
improvements thereto and substitutions therefor and all parts and equipment that may be attached to or that are necessary or
beneficial for the operation, use and/or disposition of such personal property, all licenses, warranties, franchises and General
Intangibles related thereto or necessary o r beneficial for the operation, use and/or disposition of the same, together w i th all
Receivables, chattel paper, instruments and other consideration received by the Borrower on account of the sale, lease or other
disposition of all or any part of the foregoing, and together with all rights under or arising out of present or future documents and
contracts relating to the foregoing and all proceeds (cash proceeds and noncash proceeds) of the foregoing.
 

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
 

“ERISA Affiliate” means any Person that is a member of the Borrower’s controlled group, or under common control with the
Borrower, within the meaning of Section 414 of the Internal Revenue Code.
 

“Event of Default” has the meaning described in ARTICLE VII (Default and Rights and Remedies).
 

“Excess Availability” means, as of any time of determination, (a) the lesser of the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount
or the Borrowing Base (after giving effect to provisions for Reserves and other adjustments permitted by this Agreement) minus (b)
the aggregate Revolver Usage.
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“Facilities” means the collective reference to the loan, letter of credit, interest rate protection, foreign exchange risk, cash
management, and other credit facilities now or hereafter provided to the Borrower by the Agent or the Lenders under this Agreement
or otherwise by M&T.
 

“Federal Funds Rate” means for any day of determination, the weighted average of the rates on overnight federal funds
transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers, as published for such day (or, if such
day is not a Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank for the immediately preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank
of Richmond or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average of quotations for such day on such
transactions received by the Agent from three (3) federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by the Agent.

 
“Fees” means the collective reference to each fee payable to the Agent, for its own account or for the ratable benefit of the

Lenders, under the terms of this Agreement or under the terms of any of the other Financing Documents, including, without limitation,
the Revolving Credit Unused Line Fees, the Early Termination Fee, the Arrangement Fee and the Monitoring Fees.

 
“Financing Documents” means at any time collectively this Agreement, the Notes, the Security Documents, the Wind Down

Guaranty, the Corporate Guaranties, any Hedge Agreement, agreements with respect to Bank Products, and any other instrument,
agreement or document previously, simultaneously or hereafter executed and delivered by the Borrower, any Guarantor and/or any
other Person, singly o r jointly with another Person o r Persons, evidencing, securing, guarantying or in connection w i th this
Agreement, any Note, any of the Security Documents, any of the Facilities, and/or any of the Obligations.

 
“Fiscal Year” means as to the Borrower a fiscal year ending December 31.

 
“Fixed or Capital Assets” of a Person at any date means all assets that would, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied,

be classified on the balance sheet of such Person as property, plant or equipment at such date.
 

“Floating Rate Loan” means any Loan for which interest is to be computed with reference to the either the Base Rate or the
LIBOR Floating Rate.
 

“Funded Debt” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
 

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America in effect from time to time.
 

“General Intangibles” means all general intangibles of every nature, whether presently existing or hereafter acquired or
created, and without implying any limitation of the foregoing, further means all books and records, commercial tort claims, other
claims (including without limitation all claims for income tax and other refunds), payment intangibles, Supporting Obligations, choses
in action, causes of action in tort or equity, contract rights, judgments, customer lists, software, Patents, Trademarks, licensing
agreements, rights in intellectual property, goodwill (including goodwill of the Borrower’s business symbolized by and associated with
any and all trademarks, trademark licenses, Copyrights and/or service marks), royalty payments, licenses, letter-of-credit rights,
letters of credit, contractual rights, the right to receive refunds of unearned insurance premiums, rights as lessee under any lease of
real or personal property, literary rights, Copyrights, service names, service marks, logos, trade secrets, amounts received as an
award in or settlement of a suit in damages, deposit accounts, interests in joint ventures, general or limited partnerships, or limited
liability companies or partnerships, rights in applications for any o f the foregoing, books and records in whatever media (paper,
electronic or otherwise) recorded or stored with respect to any or all of the foregoing, all Supporting Obligations with respect to any of
the foregoing, and all equipment and general intangibles necessary or beneficial to retain, access and/or process the information
contained in those books and records, and all proceeds (cash proceeds and noncash proceeds) of the foregoing.
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“Governmental Authority” means any nation or government, any state or other political subdivision thereof and any entity

exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government and any department,
agency or instrumentality thereof.
 

“Guarantor” means a Wind Down Guarantor or a Corporate Guarantor, as the case may be, and “Guarantors” means the
Wind Down Guarantor and all Corporate Guarantors.
 

“Guarantor Security Agreements” means the collective reference to those certain Security Agreements dated as of the date of
this Agreement executed by each of the respective Corporate Guarantors in favor of the Agent for itself and the ratable benefit of the
Lenders, each as amended, restated, modified, substituted, extended and renewed from time to time. 
 

“Guaranty” means the Wind Down Guaranty or the Corporate Guaranties, as the case may be, and “Guaranties” means the
Wind Down Guaranty and the Corporate Guaranties.
 

“Hazardous Materials” means (a) any “hazardous waste” as defined by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of
1976, as amended from time to time, and regulations promulgated thereunder; (b) any “hazardous substance” as defined by the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended from time to time, and regulations
promulgated thereunder; (c) any substance the presence of which on any property now or hereafter owned, acquired or operated by
the Borrower is prohibited by any Law similar to those set forth in this definition; and (d) any other substance that by Law requires
special handling in its collection, storage, treatment or disposal.
 

“Hazardous Materials Contamination” means the contamination (whether presently existing or occurring after the date of this
Agreement) by Hazardous Materials of any property owned, operated or controlled by the Borrower or for which the Borrower has
responsibility, including, without limitation, improvements, facilities, soil, ground water, air or other elements on, or of, any property
now or hereafter owned, acquired or operated by the Borrower, and any other contamination by Hazardous Materials for which the
Borrower is, or is claimed to be, responsible.
 

“Hedge Agreement” means any and all transactions, agreements or documents now existing or hereafter entered into, that
provides for an interest rate, credit, commodity or equity swap, cap, floor, collar, forward foreign exchange transaction, currency swap,
cross currency rate swap, currency option, or any combination of, or option with respect to, these or similar transactions, for the
purpose of hedging the Borrower’s exposure to fluctuations in interest or exchange rates, loan, credit exchange, security or currency
valuations or commodity prices.
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“Hedge Reserve” means any and all Reserves that the Agent from time to time establishes, in its sole discretion, with respect
to Hedge Agreement Transactions.
 

“Hedge Transactions” means the collection reference to transactions contemplated by Hedge Agreements.
 

“Indebtedness for Borrowed Money” of a Person means at any time the sum at such time of (a) indebtedness of such Person
for borrowed money or for the deferred purchase price of property or services, (b) any obligations of such Person in respect of letters
of credit, banker’s or other acceptances or similar obligations issued or created for the account of such Person, (c) Lease Obligations
of such Person with respect to Capital Leases, (d) all liabilities secured by any Lien on any property owned by such Person, to the
extent attached to such Person’s interest in such property, even though such Person has not assumed or become personally liable
for the payment thereof, (e) obligations of third parties that are being guarantied or indemnified against by such Person or that are
secured by the property of such Person; (f) any obligation of such Person under or with respect to an employee stock ownership plan
or other similar employee benefit plan; (g) any obligation of such Person or a ERISA Affiliate to a Multi-employer Plan; and (h) any
obligations, liabilities or indebtedness, contingent or otherwise, under or in connection with, any Hedge Transactions; but excluding
trade and other accounts payable in the ordinary course of business in accordance with customary trade terms and that are not
overdue (as determined in accordance with customary trade practices) or that are being disputed in good faith by such Person and for
which adequate reserves are being provided on the books of such Person in accordance with GAAP.
 

“Indemnified Liabilities” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.19 (Indemnification).
 

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.19 (Indemnification).
 

“Interest Payment Date” means with respect to the Revolving Loan, the first day of each calendar month commencing on
August 1, 2006 and continuing thereafter until the Obligations have been irrevocably paid in full.
 

“Interest Period” means as to any LIBOR Loan, the period commencing on and including the date such LIBOR Loan is made
(or on the effective date of the Borrower’s election to convert any Floating Rate Loan to a LIBOR Loan in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement) and ending on and including the day which is one month, two months, three or six months thereafter, as
selected by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and thereafter, each period commencing on the last
day of then preceding Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan and ending on and including the day which is one month, two months,
three months or six months thereafter, as selected by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; provided,
however that:
 
 

-13-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(a) the first day of any Interest Period shall be a LIBOR Business Day;
 

(b) if any Interest Period would end on a day that shall not be a LIBOR Business Day, such Interest
Period shall be extended to the next succeeding LIBOR Business Day unless such next succeeding LIBOR Business
Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case, such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding LIBOR
Business Day; and

 
(c) no Interest Period shall extend beyond the Revolving Credit Expiration Date.

 
“Interest Rate Election Notice” has the meaning described in Section 2.4.3(e).

 
“Internal Revenue Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and the Income Tax

Regulations issued and proposed to be issued thereunder.
 

“Item of Payment” means each check, draft, cash, money, instrument, item, wire transfer, ACH transfer, other electronic
transfer and other remittance, in any form or method whatsoever, in payment or on account of payment of the Receivables or
otherwise with respect to any Collateral, including, without limitation, cash proceeds and other proceeds of Collateral; and “Items of
Payment” means the collective reference to all of the foregoing.
 

“Laws” means all ordinances, statutes, rules, regulations, orders, injunctions, writs, or decrees of any Governmental
Authority.
 

“M&T Loan” means an Advance made by M&T in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.6.2 (M&T Advances).
 

“Lease Obligations” of a Person means for any period the rental commitments of such Person for such period under leases
for real and/or personal property (net of rent from subleases thereof, but including taxes, insurance, maintenance and similar
expenses that such Person, as the lessee, is obligated to pay under the terms of said leases, except to the extent that such taxes,
insurance, maintenance and similar expenses are payable by sublessees), including rental commitments under Capital Leases.
 

“LIBOR Base Rate” means for any Interest Period with respect to any LIBOR Loan, the per annum interest rate rounded
upward, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%, appearing on Page 3750 (or any successor page) on the Dow Jones Markets
Screen as the London interbank offered rate for deposits in Dollars at or about 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the date that is two (2)
LIBOR Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period for a term comparable to such Interest Period. If for any reason
such rate is not available, the term “LIBOR Base Rate” shall mean, for any LIBOR Loan for any Interest Period therefor, the rate per
annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/100 of 1%) determined by the Agent from time to time to be an equivalent
rate.

 
“LIBOR Business Day” means any Business Day on which dealings in United States Dollar deposits are carried out on the

London interbank market and on which commercial banks are open for domestic and international business (including dealings in
Dollar deposits) in London, England.
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“LIBOR Floating Index” means a per annum rate of interest equal to the rate obtained by dividing (i)  the one month interest
period London Interbank Offered Rate, fixed by the British Bankers Association for United States dollar deposits in the London
Interbank Eurodollar Market at approximately 11:00 a.m. London, England time (or as soon thereafter as practicable) each day (or if
such day is a non-Business Day, as fixed in the same manner on the immediately preceding Business Day, which day’s rate shall
apply to the immediately succeeding non-Business Days), as determined by the Lender from any broker, quoting service or commonly
available source utilized by the Lender by (ii)  a percentage equal to 100% minus the stated maximum rate of all reserves required to
be maintained against “Eurocurrency Liabilities” as specified in Regulation D (or against any other category of liabilities which
includes deposits by reference to which the interest rate on LIBOR Rate loans is determined or any category of extensions of credit or
other assets which includes loans by a non-United States’ office of a bank to United States residents) on such date to any member
bank of the Federal Reserve System.
 

“LIBOR Floating Rate” means the sum of (a) the Applicable Margin for the LIBOR Floating Rate Loan plus (b) the LIBOR
Floating Index.
 

“LIBOR Floating Rate Loan” means any Loan for which interest is to be computed with reference to the LIBOR Floating Rate.
 

“LIBOR Loan” means any Loan for which interest is to be computed with reference to the LIBOR Rate.
 

“LIBOR Rate” means for any Interest Period with respect to any LIBOR Loan, (a) the Applicable Margin, plus (b) the per
annum rate of interest calculated pursuant to the following formula:
 

_____LIBOR Base Rate
1.00 - Reserve Percentage

 
“Lien” means any mortgage, deed of trust, deed to secure debt, grant, pledge, security interest, assignment, encumbrance,

judgment, lien, financing statement, hypothecation, provision in any instrument or other document for confession o f judgment,
cognovit or other similar right or other remedy, claim, charge, control over or interest of any kind in real or personal property securing
any indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities owed to, or a claimed to b e owed to, a Person, all whether perfected or
unperfected, avoidable or unavoidable, based on the common law, statute or contract or otherwise, including, without limitation, any
conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof, and the filing of or agreement to give any financing
statement under the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction, excluding the precautionary filing of any financing statement by
any lessor in a true lease transaction or by any bailor in a true bailment transaction under the Uniform Commercial Code of any
jurisdiction or the agreement to give any financing statement by any lessee in a true lease transaction or by any bailee in a true
bailment transaction.
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“Loan” means the Revolving Loan or the Term Line, as the case may be, and “Loans” means the collective reference to the
Revolving Loan and the Term Line.
 

“Loan Notice” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.2 (Procedure for Making Advances).
 

“Lockbox” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.10 (Collateral Account).
 

“Material Adverse Effect” means with respect to the applicable Person an effect, either in any case or in the aggregate, which
might result in a material adverse change (w) in the business, prospects, condition, affairs or operations of that Person, (x) to that
Person’s material properties or assets, (y) in the right or ability of that Person to carry on a substantial portion of its operations as now
conducted or proposed to be conducted or to perform its obligations under the Financing Documents, or (z) to the value of, or the
ability of the Agent or the Lenders to realize upon, the Collateral.
 

“Maximum Rate” has the meaning described in Section 2.3.5 (Maximum Interest Rate).
 

“Monitoring Fees” has the meaning described in Section 2.3.3 (Monitoring Fees).
 

“Multi-employer Plan” means a Plan that is a Multi-employer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.
 

“Net Worth” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
 

“Note” means the Revolving Credit Note or a Term Line Note, as the case may be, and “Notes” means collectively the
Revolving Credit Note and each Term Line Note, and any other promissory note which may from time to time evidence all or any
portion of the Obligations.
 

“Obligations” means (a) all present and future indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities, whether now existing or
contemplated or hereafter arising, of the Borrower to the Lenders and/or Agent under, arising pursuant to, in connection with and/or
on account of the provisions of this Agreement, each Note, each Security Document, and/or any of the other Financing Documents,
the Loans, and/or any of the Facilities including, without limitation, the principal of, and interest on, each Note, late charges, the Fees,
Enforcement Costs, and prepayment fees (if any), letter of credit reimbursement obligations, letter of credit fees or fees charged with
respect to any guaranty of any letter of credit; (b) all other present and future indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities, whether
now existing or contemplated or hereafter arising, of the Borrower to the Agent and/or to M&T or its Affiliates of any nature
whatsoever including, without limitation, any indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities, under or in connection with, any Bank
Products; regardless of whether any or all of the foregoing indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities are direct, indirect,
primary, secondary, joint, several, joint and several, fixed or contingent; and (c) any and all renewals, extensions, substitutions,
amendments, restatements and rearrangements of any or all of the foregoing indebtedness, duties, obligations, and liabilities.
 

“Original Closing Date” means December 27, 2004.
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“Overadvance” means, as of any date of determination, the amount, if any, by which the Revolver Usage exceeds the

Borrowing Base.
 

“Parent” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
 

“Parent Subordinated Debt” means that certain Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Parent in favor of the Parent
Subordinated Note Purchasers in an original, aggregate face principal amount of Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($3,500,000).
 

“Parent Subordinated Debt Documents” means any and all promissory notes, agreements, documents or instruments now or
at any time evidencing, securing, guarantying or otherwise executed and delivered in connection with the Subordinated Debt, as the
same may from time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or modified.
 

“Parent Subordinated Note Purchasers” means, collectively, (a) IRA FBO Stewart R. Spector, Pershing LLC Custodian, (b)
IRA FBO Jack D. Seibald, Pershing LLC Custodian, (c) Sanders Opportunity Fund, (d) J.M.J Realty Company, (e) Take-Two Capital
LP, (f) Michael Rosen and Catherine Rosen, (g) Andrew Tarica and (h) Citco Trustees (B.V.I) Limited as Trustee of the MS Deferred
Income Trust.
 

“Parent Subordination Agreements” means the collective reference to (a) that certain subordination agreement by and
between the Parent and the Parent Subordinated Note Purchasers in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the
Agent, and (b) that certain subordination agreement by and between the Borrower and the Parent Subordinated Note Purchasers in
favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the Agent, as the same may be from time to time amended, restated,
supplemented or modified.
 

“Patents” means and includes, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, all of the Borrower’s rights, title and
interest in and to (a) any and all patents and patent applications, (b) any and all inventions and improvements described and claimed
in such patents and patent applications, (c) reissues, divisions, continuations, renewals, extensions and continuations-in-part of any
patents and patent applications, (d) income, royalties, damages, claims and payments now or hereafter due and/or payable under and
with respect to any patents or patent applications, including, without limitation, damages and payments for past a n d future
infringements, (e) rights to sue for past, present and future infringements of patents, and (f) all rights corresponding to any of the
foregoing throughout the world.
 

“Payments Inc.” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.
 

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
 

“Perfection Certificate” has the meaning described in Section 3.3 (Perfection Certificate).
 

“Permitted Distributions” means an optional principal prepayment on the Parent Subordinated Debt, but such prepayment and
such distribution may only be made if at the time thereof (i) there exists no Event of Default, (ii) after giving effect to the prepayment
and distribution on a proforma basis and to the payment of the Borrower’s other indebtedness, liabilities and obligations then due in
the ordinary course, the Borrower has Excess Availability of more than $1,000,000.
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“Permitted Liens” means: (a) Liens for Taxes that are not delinquent or that the Agent has determined in the exercise of its

sole and absolute discretion (i) are being diligently contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings, and such contest
operates to suspend collection of the contested Taxes and enforcement of a Lien, (ii) the Borrower has the financial ability to pay, with
all penalties and interest, at all times without materially and adversely affecting the Borrower, and (iii) are not, and will not be with
appropriate filing, the giving of notice and/or the passage of time, entitled to priority over any Lien of Agent and/or the Lenders; (b)
deposits or pledges to secure obligations under workers’ compensation, social security or similar laws, or under unemployment
insurance in the ordinary course of business; (c) Liens securing the Obligations; (d) judgment Liens to the extent the entry of such
judgment does not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under the terms of this Agreement or result in the sale or levy of, or
execution on, any of the Collateral; (e) purchase money security interests securing Indebtedness for Borrowed Money for the
purchase of Equipment in arms-length, commercially reasonable transactions with Persons who are not Affiliates; provided, however,
that (i) the indebtedness secured shall not exceed the unpaid purchase price of the Equipment acquired, plus reasonable finance
charges and the reasonable costs of collection (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys fees); (ii) each item of Equipment
shall secure only its portion of the indebtedness described in item (i); and (iii) the amount of such indebtedness incurred shall not
exceed $50,000 in the aggregate; (f) purchase money security interests expressly approved by the Lender and securing
Indebtedness for Borrowed Money for the purchase pursuant to an Approved Acquisition; and (g) such other Liens, if any, as are set
forth on Schedule 4.1.22 (Perfection and Priority of Collateral) attached hereto and made a part hereof.
 

“Permitted Uses” means the financing of Premium Finance Receivables and providing liquidity for ongoing working capital
purposes, including, without limitation, the repayment of indebtedness to Eagle *.
 

“Person” means and includes an individual, a corporation, a partnership, a joint venture, a limited liability company or
partnership, a trust, an unincorporated association, a Governmental Authority, or any other organization or entity.
 

“Plan” means any pension plan that is covered by Title IV of ERISA and in respect of which the Borrower or a ERISA Affiliate
is an “employer” as defined in Section 3 of ERISA.
 

“Post-Default Rate” means the Prime Rate in effect from time to time, plus three and one-half percent (3.5%) per annum.
 

“Premium Claim Notices” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.29 (Borrower’s Procedures).
 

“Premium Finance Agreement” shall mean any written agreement signed by an insured or prospective insured or, i f permitted
under applicable state law, signed by the agent or broker or another authorized person for such insured or such prospective insured
by which the insured or prospective insured promises or agrees to pay to Borrower an amount advanced or to be advanced under the
agreement by Borrower on behalf of the insured or prospective insured to an insurer, agent or broker in payment of premiums on
insurance contracts and which contains an assignment of, or is otherwise secured by, the unearned premium or refund obtainable
from the insurer, agent, broker or other parties upon cancellation of the insurance contract, and is otherwise substantially in the form
attached hereto as EXHIBIT F, subject to required change under applicable Laws.
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“Premium Finance Licenses” shall mean any and all franchises, licenses, rights, permits, authorizations, consents ordinances,
registrations, certificates, agreements, or other rights filed (or entered into) with, or granted (or otherwise issued) by, the federal
government or any state or local governmental authority (whether pursuant to any franchise, ordinance, license, other agreement, or
otherwise), pursuant to which the Borrower has the right to engage in the business of providing personal automobile insurance
premium finance services; including, without limitation, the Borrower’s existing licenses issued by the State of New York and State of
New Jersey.
 

“Premium Related Liabilities” shall mean, at any time, the aggregate amount of the Borrower’s liabilities created pursuant to
the financing of insurance premiums, excluding any indebtedness for credit extended to the Borrower relating to the financing of such
insurance premiums, but including (a) amounts due to insurance carriers, insureds, agents and brokers (including an estimated
amount with respect to outstanding checks payable to such Persons), (b) escrow accounts, and (c) book and other overdrafts.
 

“Prepayment” means a Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayment, a Revolving Loan Optional Prepayment, or a Term Line
Optional Prepayment, as the case may be, and “Prepayments” mean collectively all Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayments, all
Revolving Loan Optional Prepayments, and all Term Line Optional Prepayments.
 

“Prime Rate” means the highest prime rate published in The Wall Street Journal in its table entitled “Money Rates” or such
similar publication, quoting service, or commonly available source used by the Agent for determining prime rate of interest.
 

“Pro Rata Share” means with respect to all matters relating to any Lender, the percentage obtained b y dividing (i) the
Commitments of that Lender by (ii) the Aggregate Commitments of all Lenders.
 

“Receivables” means the collective reference to: (a) all of the Borrower’s present and future accounts, contract rights,
receivables, promissory notes and other instruments, chattel paper, General Intangibles, and investment property; (b) all present and
future tax refunds of the Borrower and all present and future rights of the Borrower to refunds or returns of prepaid expenses,
including unearned insurance premiums; (c) all present and future cash of the Borrower; (d) all deposit accounts now or hereafter
maintained or established by, for or on behalf of the Borrower with any bank or other institution, and all balances of funds now or
hereafter on deposit in all such accounts, including, without limitation, all checking accounts, collection accounts, lockbox accounts,
disbursement accounts, concentration accounts and all other deposit accounts of every kind and nature; (e) all present and future
judgments, orders, awards and decrees in favor of the Borrower and causes of action in favor of the Borrower; (f) all present and
future claims, rights of indemnification and other rights of the Borrower under or in connection with any contracts or agreements to
which the Borrower is or becomes a party or third party beneficiary; (g) all rights and claims of the Borrower with respect to any
deposits of money or other property made with any lessors of any property, insurers, bonding agents or any other persons; (h) all
present and future rights and claims which the Borrower may now or hereafter have under any insurance policies, contracts or
coverages now or hereafter in effect; (i) all rights which the Borrower may now or at any time hereafter have, by law or agreement,
against any Account Debtor or other obligor of the Borrower, and all supporting obligations, rights, liens and security interests which
the Borrower may now or at any time hereafter have, by law or agreement, against any property of any Account Debtor or other
obligor of the Borrower; ( j) all present and future customer lists of the Borrower; (k) all present and future contingent and non-
contingent rights of the Borrower to the payment of money for any reason whatsoever, whether arising in contract, tort or otherwise
whether or not such rights are otherwise included in this definition, (l) all books and records in whatever media (paper, electronic or
otherwise) recorded or stored, with respect to any or all of the foregoing and all equipment and general intangibles necessary or
beneficial to retain, access and/or process the information contained in those books and records, and (m) all present and future rights
of the Borrower with respect to licenses patents copyrights franchises trade names and trademarks. “Receivable” means each of the
Receivables. Without limitation of the foregoing it is specifically understood and agree that the Receivables shall include all right, title
and interest of the Borrower in and to all Premium Finance Agreements whether now existing or hereafter arising and all amounts due
or to become due thereunder.
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“Reportable Event” means any of the events set forth in Section 4043(c) of ERISA or the regulations thereunder.
 

“Required Lenders” means at any time of determination one or more of the Lenders holding at least sixty-six and two-thirds
percent (66-2/3%) of the Commitments.
 

“Reserve Percentage” means, at any time, then current maximum rate for which reserves (including any basic, special,
supplemental, marginal and emergency reserves) are required to be maintained by member banks of the Federal Reserve System
under Regulation D of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System against “Eurocurrency liabilities”, as that term is defined
in Regulation D. Without limiting the effect of the foregoing, the Reserve Percentage shall reflect any other reserves required to be
maintained by such member banks with respect to (i) any category of liabilities which includes deposits by reference to which the
LIBOR Rate is to be determined, or (ii) any category of extensions of credit or other assets which include LIBOR Loans. The LIBOR
Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in the Reserve Percentage.
 

“Reserves” means the collective reference to reserves, in amounts and with respect to such matters, as the Agent in its sole
discretion shall deem necessary or appropriate to establish against the Borrowing Base, including, without limitation, reserves with
respect to (i) sums that the Borrower is required to pay (such as taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, or, in the case of leased
assets, rents or other amounts payable under such leases) and has failed to pay under any provision of this Agreement or any of the
other Financing Documents, and (ii) amounts owing by the Borrower to any Person to the extent secured by a Lien on, or trust over,
any of the Collateral, which Lien or trust as the Agent in its discretion deems likely to have a priority superior to Liens of the Agent and
the Lenders (such as Liens or trusts in favor of landlords, warehousemen, carriers, mechanics, materialmen, laborers, or suppliers, or
Liens or trusts for a d valorem, excise, sales, or other taxes where given priority under applicable law) in all or any part of the
Collateral; it being understood and agreed that Reserves are established solely for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders and no
other Person, including, without limitation, the Borrower, shall have any rights or interests with respect to the establishment or failure
to establish Reserves.
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“Responsible Officer” means the chief executive officer of the Borrower or the president of the Borrower o r as any Vice
President of the Borrower.
 

“Responsible Officer - Parent” means the chief executive officer of the Parent or the president of the Parent or, with respect to
financial matters, the chief financial officer of the Parent.
 

“Revolver Usage” means, as of any date of determination, the aggregate of the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving
Loan (including, without limitation, Agent Advances and M&T Advances).
 

“Revolving Credit Commitment” means the agreement of a Lender relating to the making of Advances subject to and in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; “Revolving Credit Commitments” means the collective reference to the Revolving
Credit Commitment of each of the Lenders.
 

“Revolving Credit Commitment Period” means the period of time from the Closing Date to the Business Day preceding the
Revolving Credit Termination Date.
 

“Revolving Credit Committed Amount” means the amount of each Lender’s Revolving Credit Commitment, in each case as
set forth beside such Lender’s name under the applicable heading on EXHIBIT A-3 to this Agreement or in the assignment pursuant
to which such Lender became a Lender hereunder in accordance with the provisions of Section 9.6 (Assignments by Lenders).
 

“Revolving Credit Expiration Date” means June 30, 2008.
 

“Revolving Credit Facility” means the facility established by the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.1 (Revolving Credit Facility).
 

“Revolving Credit Note” and “Revolving Credit Notes” have the meanings described in Section 2.1.6 (Revolving Credit Notes).
 

“Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share” means the Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitments.
 

“Revolving Credit Termination Date” means the earlier of (a) the Revolving Credit Expiration Date, or (b) the date on which
the Revolving Credit Commitments are terminated pursuant to Section 7.2 (Remedies) or otherwise.
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“Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee” and “Revolving Credit Unused Line Fees” have the meanings described in Section 2.1.12

(Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee).
 

“Revolving Loan” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.1 (Revolving Credit Facility).
 

“Revolving Loan Account” has the meaning described in Section 2.1.11 (Revolving Loan Account).
 

“Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayment” and “Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayments” have the meanings described in
Section 2.1.7 ((Mandatory Prepayments of Revolving Loan).
 

“Revolving Loan Optional Prepayment” and “Revolving Loan Optional Prepayments” have the meanings described in Section
2.1.8 (Optional Prepayment of Revolving Loan).
 

“Security Documents” means collectively any assignment, pledge agreement, security agreement, mortgage, deed of trust,
deed to secure debt, financing statement and any similar instrument, document or agreement under or pursuant to which a Lien is
now or hereafter granted to, or for the benefit of, the Agent and/or the Lenders on any real or personal property of any Person to
secure all or any portion of the Obligations, all as the same may from time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified including, without limitation, this Agreement, the Wind Down Guaranty, the Corporate Guaranties, the Assignment o f Life
Insurance, the Servicing Agreement Assignment, the Stock Pledge Agreements, and the Guarantor Security Agreements.
 

“Servicer” means Input 1, LLC; and such additional or other servicer as Agent may approve in writing from time to time.
 

“Servicing Agreement” means that certain Full Service Data Processing and Consulting Agreement, dated July 7, 2003,
between the Borrower and the Servicer, as the same may be as amended, restated, modified, substituted, extended, replaced and
renewed from time to time, with the Agent’s prior written consent.
 

“Servicing Agreement Assignment” means that certain collateral assignment of the Servicing Agreement among the Agent,
the Servicer and the Borrower, as amended, restated, modified, substituted, extended, replaced and renewed from time to time.
 

“Servicing Agreement Documents” means the collective reference to the Servicing Agreement, the Servicing Agreement
Assignment, and any and all agreements and documents now or at any time evidencing, securing, guarantying or otherwise executed
and delivered in connection with the Servicing Agreement, as the same may from time to time be as amended, restated, modified,
substituted, extended and renewed from time to time.
 

“Settlement” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.2(a).
 

“Settlement Date” means each Business Day after the Closing Date selected by the Agent in its sole discretion subject to and
in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.7 (Settlement Among Lenders) as of which a Settlement Report is delivered by the
Agent and on which settlement is to be made among the Lenders in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.7.2 (Revolving Loan
Settlement).
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“Settlement Report” means each report prepared by the Agent and delivered to each Lender and setting forth, among other
things, as of the Settlement Date indicated thereon and as of the immediately preceding Settlement Date, the aggregate outstanding
principal balance of the Revolving Loan, each Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share thereof, each Lender’s funded portion of the
Advances (including, without limitation, Agent Advances and M&T Loans) made, and all payments of principal, interest, Fees and
other amounts received by the Agent from the Borrower during the period beginning on such immediately preceding Settlement Date
and ending on such Settlement Date.
 

“Solvent” means when used with respect to any Person that at the time of determination:
 

(a) the assets of such Person, at a fair valuation, are in excess of the total amount o f its debts
(including, without limitation, contingent liabilities); and

 
(b) the present fair saleable value of its assets is greater than its probable liability on its existing

debts as such debts become absolute and matured; and
 

(c) i t is then able and expects to be able to pay its debts (including, without limitation, contingent
debts and other commitments) as they mature; and

 
(d) it has capital sufficient to carry on its business as conducted and as proposed to be conducted.

 
For purposes of determining whether a Person is Solvent, the amount of any contingent liability shall be computed as the

amount that, in light of all the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected
to become an actual or matured liability.
 

“State” means the State of Maryland.
 

“Stock Pledge Agreements” means the collective reference to those certain pledge, assignment and security agreements,
dated as of the Original Closing Date or dated the date hereof from Parent and the other pledgors identified below to the Agent for the
benefit of the Lenders, as the same may from time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified:
 

 
Pledgor

 

 
Stock covered

 
 
Parent
 

 
Blast Acquisition Corp., Intandem Corp., DCAP
Management Corp., Dealers Choice
Automotive Planning, Inc., the Borrower,
AADCAP Greenbrook, Inc., and IAH, Inc.
(formerly known as International Airport Hotel,
Inc.)
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Barry Scott Companies, Inc.
 

 
Barry Scott Acquisition Corp., Barry Scott
Agency, Inc., Baron Cycle, Inc.
 
 
DCAP Accurate, Inc.
 

 
Blast Acquisition Corp.
 

 
AIA DCAP Corp and Barry Scott Companies,
Inc.
 

 
“Subordinated Debt (Parent)” means that certain Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Borrower owed by Parent to Parent

Subordinated Note Purchasers in a face principal amount of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000).
 

“Subordinated Debt Documents” means any and all promissory notes, agreements, documents or instruments now or at any
time evidencing, securing, guarantying or otherwise executed and delivered in connection with the Subordinated Debt (Parent), as
the same may from time to time be amended, restated, supplemented or modified.
 

“Subordinated Indebtedness” means all indebtedness, including, without limitation, the Subordinated Debt (Parent), incurred
at any time by the Borrower, that is in amounts, subject to repayment terms, and subordinated to the Obligations, as set forth in one
or more written agreements, all in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion.
 

“Subordination Agreement” means that certain subordination agreement by the Parent and the Borrower in favor of the Agent
and the Lenders, as the same may be from time to time amended, restated, supplemented or modified.
 

“Subsidiary” means of a Person means any corporation, association, partnership, joint venture or other business entity of
which more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting stock or other equity interests (in the case of Persons other than corporations), is
owned or controlled directly or indirectly by the Person, or one or more of the Subsidiaries of the Person, or a combination thereof.
Unless the context otherwise clearly requires, references herein to a “Subsidiary” refer to a Subsidiary of the Borrower and to any
Subsidiary of any such Subsidiary.
 

“Supporting Obligation” means a letter-of-credit right, secondary obligation, or obligation of a secondary obligor, or secondary
obligation that supports the payment or performance of an account, chattel paper, a document, a general intangible, an instrument, or
investment property.
 

“Tangible Net Worth” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1.15(a).
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“Taxes” means all taxes and assessments whether general or special, ordinary or extraordinary, or foreseen or unforeseen,

of every character (including all penalties or interest thereon), that at any time may be assessed, levied, confirmed or imposed by any
Governmental Authority on the Borrower or any of its properties or assets or any part thereof or in respect of any of its franchises,
businesses, income or profits.
 

 “Term Line” has the meaning described in Section 2.2 (The Term Line).
 

“Term Line Advance Period” means the period of time from the Closing Date to May 31, 2008.
 

“Term Line Commitment” means the agreement of a Lender relating to the making of advances subject to and in accordance
with the provisions of Section 2.2.1(a); “Term Line Commitments” means the collective reference to the Term Line Commitment of
each of the Lenders.
 

“Term Line Committed Amount” means $2,500,000.
 

“Term Line Facility” means the facility established by the Lender pursuant to Section 2.2 (Term Line Facility).
 

“Term Loan Installment Payment Date” has the meaning described in Section 2.2.4 (Payments of Term Line).
 

“Term Line Maturity Date” means the earlier of (a) June 30, 2008, or (b) the Revolving Credit Termination Date.
 

“Term Line Optional Prepayment” and “Term Line Optional Prepayments” have the meanings described in Section 2.2.6
(Optional Prepayments of Term Line).
 

“Term Line Note” and “Term Line Notes” have the meaning described in Section 2.2.3 (Term Line Notes).
 

“Term Line Pro Rata Share” means the Pro Rata Share of the Term Line Commitments.
 

“Term Line Usage” means the aggregate of all advances outstanding under the Term Line.
 

“Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount” means the aggregate of (a) $20,000,000 minus (b) Term Line Usage from time to
time.
 

“Total Term Line Committed Amount” means $2,500,000.
 

“Trademarks” means and includes in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising, all of the Borrower’s rights, title and
interest in and to (a) any and all trademarks (including service marks), trade names and trade styles, and applications for registration
thereof and the goodwill of the business symbolized by any of the foregoing, (b) any and all licenses of trademarks, service marks,
trade names and/or trade styles, whether as licensor or licensee, (c) any renewals of any and all trademarks, service marks, trade
names, trade styles and/or licenses of any of the foregoing, (d) income, royalties, damages and payments now or hereafter due and/or
payable with respect thereto, including, without limitation, damages, claims, and payments for past, present and future infringements
thereof, (e) rights to sue for past, present and future infringements of any of the foregoing, including the right to settle suits involving
claims and demands for royalties owing, and (f) all rights corresponding to any of the foregoing throughout the world.
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“Uniform Commercial Code” means, unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted
by and in effect from time to time in the State or in any other jurisdiction, as applicable.
 

“Wholly Owned Subsidiary” means any domestic United States corporation all the shares of stock of all classes of which (other
than directors’ qualifying shares) at the time are owned directly or indirectly by the Borrower and/or by one or more Wholly Owned
Subsidiaries of the Borrower.
 

“Wind Down Guarantor” means Barry B. Goldstein and his heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns.
 

“Wind Down Guaranty” means that certain conditional guaranty of payment for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the
Agent dated the date hereof to the Agent from the Wind Down Guarantor, as the same may from time to time be amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified.
 

Section 1.2  Accounting Terms and Other Definitional Provisions.
 

Unless otherwise defined herein, as used in this Agreement and in any certificate, report or other document made or
delivered pursuant hereto, accounting terms not otherwise defined herein, and accounting terms only partly defined herein, t o the
extent not defined, shall have the respective meanings given to them under GAAP, as consistently applied to the applicable Person.
All terms used herein which are defined by the Uniform Commercial Code shall have the same meanings as assigned to them by the
Uniform Commercial Code unless and to the extent varied by this Agreement. The words “hereof”, “herein” and “hereunder” and
words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of
this Agreement, and article, section, subsection, schedule and exhibit references are references to articles, sections or subsections
of, or schedules or exhibits to, as the case may be, this Agreement unless otherwise specified. As used herein, the singular number
shall include the plural, the plural the singular and the use of the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall include all genders, as
the context may require. Reference to any one or more of the Financing Documents shall mean the same as the foregoing may from
time to time be amended, restated, substituted, extended, renewed, supplemented or otherwise modified. Reference in this
Agreement and the other Financing Documents to the “Borrower”, the “Borrowers”, “each Borrower” or otherwise with respect to any
one or more of the Borrowers shall mean each and every Person included from time to time in the term “Borrower” and any one or
more of the Borrowers, jointly and severally, unless a specific Borrower is expressly identified.
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Section 1.3  Interpretive Provisions.
 

(a) The term “writing” shall have its ordinary meaning except that, to limited extent the Agent in an authenticated
record expressly so agrees from time to time in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion, the term may also include a record in a
form other than a writing. The terms “sign,” “signed” and signatures” shall have their ordinary meanings except that, to limited extent
the Agent in an authenticated record expressly agrees otherwise from time to time in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion,
the terms may also include other methods used to authenticate.
 

(b) The headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience only, shall not constitute a part of this
Agreement for any other purpose, and shall not be deemed to affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof.
 

(c) This Agreement and the other Financing Documents are the result of negotiations among and have been
reviewed by counsel to the Agent, the Lenders, the Borrower and the other parties, and are the products of all parties. Accordingly,
they shall not be construed against the Lenders or the Agent because of the involvement of the Agent, the Lenders and their counsel
in their preparation.
 

ARTICLE II
THE CREDIT FACILITIES

 
Section 2.1  The Revolving Credit Facility.

 
2.1.1  The Revolving Loan.

 
(a)  Subject to and upon the provisions of this Agreement, the Lenders collectively, but severally,

establish during the Revolving Credit Period a revolving credit facility (sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the “Revolving
Loan”) in favor of the Borrower in an amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed such Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata
Share of an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the Aggregate Commitment and (ii) the lesser of (A) the Total Revolving Credit
Committed Amount and (B) the Borrowing Base. Neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall be responsible for the Revolving
Credit Commitment of any other Lender, nor will the failure of any Lender to perform its obligations under its Revolving Credit
Commitment in any way relieve any other Lender from performing its obligations under its Revolving Credit Commitment.
 

(b)  Subject to and upon the provisions of this Agreement, the Borrower may request Advances during the
Revolving Credit Commitment Period in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; provided that after giving effect to the
Borrower’s request, the aggregate Revolver Usage would not exceed the lesser of (i) the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount
or (ii) the Borrowing Base.
 

(c)  Unless sooner paid, the unpaid Revolving Loan, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon,
and all other Obligations shall be due and payable in full on the Revolving Credit Expiration Date.
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(d)  I f at any time the Revolver Usage exceeds the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount i n effect
from time to time, the Borrower shall pay such excess to the Agent for the benefit of the Lender ON DEMAND.
 

2.1.2  Requests for Advances.
 

(a)  The Borrower may borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility on any Business Day Revolving Credit
Commitment Period. Not later than 10:00 a.m. (Baltimore City Time) on the date of the requested borrowing, the Borrower shall give
the Agent written notice (a “Loan Notice”) which may be by fax of the amount and (if requested by the Agent) the purpose of the
requested borrowing. Any oral Loan Notice shall be confirmed in writing by the Borrower within three (3) Business Days after the
making of the requested Advance. Each Loan Notice shall be irrevocable. Advances under the Revolving Loan shall be deposited to
a demand deposit account of the Borrower with the Lender or shall be otherwise applied as directed by the Borrower, which direction
the Lender may require to be in writing, except that controlled disbursement Advances shall be deposited to a demand deposit
account of the Borrower with the Agent or shall be otherwise applied as directed by the Borrower, which direction the Agent may
require to be in writing.
 

(b)  In addition, the Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes the Lenders at any time and from time to time,
without further request from or notice to the Borrower, to make Advances, and irrevocably authorizes the Agent to establish, without
duplication, Reserves against the Borrowing Base, that the Agent, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems necessary or appropriate
to protect the interests of the Agent and/or any or all of the Lenders under this Agreement, including, without limitation, Advances and
Reserves to cover debit balances in the Revolving Loan Account, principal of and interest on any Loan, Bank Products, Revolver
Usage, Enforcement Costs and the other Obligations, all of the foregoing whether prior to, on, or after the termination of other
advances under this Agreement, and regardless of whether the outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Loan that the Lenders
may advance or the Agent may reserve hereunder exceeds the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount or the Borrowing Base;
provided, however, with respect to Bank Products consisting of credit cards, credit card processing services, debit cards, or purchase
cards, no such Advances and Reserves shall be made or imposed unless (i) the Borrower so agrees, (ii) the Agent has given the
Borrower no less than ten (10) days’ prior notice of the Agent’s intent to do so, or (iii) an Event of Default has occurred.
 

(c)  The Agent may elect to process the Advances under the Agent’s First Investment Loan Manager
program, or other automated sweep program in effect at the Agent from time to time, to facilitate automatic the Advances to cover
items drawn under a designated demand deposit account of the Borrower with the Agent. The Borrower shall enter into the Agent’s
standard agreements and instruments (which may include promissory notes) in connection such program promptly upon the Agent’s
request from time to time. The Agent may cease funding under and use of that program at any time upon notice to the Borrower.
 

2.1.3  Computation of Borrowing Base.
 

(a)  As used in this Agreement, the term “Borrowing Base” means at any time, an amount equal to the
aggregate of eighty-five percent (85%) of the amount of Eligible Receivables (subject to the adjustments provided in Section
2.1.3(b)) less Premium Related Liabilities, and provided that the aggregate amount of Eligible Receivables relating to commercial
carriers that may be included in the Borrowing Base is limited to $1,000,000.
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(b)  The Borrowing Base shall be computed based on the Borrowing Base Report required b y Section

2.1.5 (Borrowing Base Report) most recently delivered to and accepted by the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion. In the event
the Borrower fails to furnish a Borrowing Base Report, or in the event the Agent believes that a Borrowing Base Report is no longer
accurate, the Agent may, in its sole and absolute discretion exercised from time to time and without limiting other rights and remedies
under this Agreement, direct the Lenders to suspend the making of or limit Advances. The Borrowing Base shall be subject to
reduction by the amount of Reserves applicable from time to time, by amounts credited to the Collateral Account since the date of the
most recent Borrowing Base Report and by the amount of any Receivable or that was included in the Borrowing Base but that the
Agent determines fails to meet the respective criteria applicable from time to time for Eligible Receivables.
 

(c)  Without implying any limitation on the Agent’s discretion with respect to the Borrowing Base, the
criteria for Eligible Receivables contained in the respective definitions of Eligible Receivables are in part based upon the business
operations of the Borrower existing on or about the Closing Date and upon information and records furnished to the Agent by the
Borrower. If at any time or from time to time hereafter, the business operations of the Borrower change or such information and
records furnished to the Agent is incorrect or misleading, the Agent in its discretion, may at any time and from time to time during the
duration of this Agreement change such criteria or add new criteria. The Agent may communicate such changed or additional criteria
to the Borrower from time to time either orally or in writing.
 

(d)  I f at any time the Revolver Usage exceeds the Borrowing Base, a borrowing base deficiency
(“Borrowing Base Deficiency” ) shall exist. Each time a Borrowing Base Deficiency exists, the Borrower at the sole and absolute
discretion of the Agent exercised from time to time shall pay the Borrowing Base Deficiency ON DEMAND to the Agent for the benefit
of the Lenders.
 

2.1.4  Agent’s Election.
 

Promptly after receipt of a request or authorization for an Advance pursuant to Section 2.1.2 (Requests For
Advances), Agent shall elect, in its discretion, the one of the alternatives for funding set forth in Section 2.6 (Funding of Advances).
 

2.1.5  Borrowing Base Report.
 

The Borrower will furnish to the Agent no less frequently than weekly and at such other times as may be requested
by the Agent or any of the Lenders a report of the Borrowing Base (each a “Borrowing Base Report”; collectively, the “Borrowing
Base Reports”) in the form required from time to time by the Agent, appropriately completed and duly signed. The Borrowing Base
Report shall contain the amount and payments on the Receivables and the calculations of the Borrowing Base, all in such detail, and
accompanied by such supporting and other information, as the Agent may from time to time request. Upon the Agent’s request and
upon the creation of any Receivables, or at such intervals as the Agent may require, the Borrower will provide the Agent with
statements and such further schedules, documents and/or information regarding the Receivables as the Agent may reasonably
require. The items to be provided under this subsection shall be in form satisfactory to the Agent, and certified as true and correct by
a Responsible Officer (or by any other officers or employees of the Borrower whom a Responsible Officer from time to time
authorizes in writing to do so), and delivered to the Agent from time to time solely for the Agent’s convenience in maintaining records
of the Collateral. The Borrower’s failure to deliver any of such items to the Agent shall not affect, terminate, modify, or otherwise limit
the Liens of the Agent and the Lenders in the Collateral.
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2.1.6  Revolving Credit Notes.
 

The obligation of the Borrower to pay each Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan, with interest, shall be
evidenced by a series of promissory notes (as from time to time extended, amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified,
collectively the “Revolving Credit Notes”; and individually a “Revolving Credit Note”) substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A-1 attached
hereto and made a part hereof, with appropriate insertions. Each Lender’s Revolving Credit Note shall be dated as of the Closing
Date, shall be payable to the order of such Lender at the times provided in the Revolving Credit Notes, and shall be in the principal
amount of such Lender’s Revolving Credit Committed Amount. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that, if the outstanding
principal balance of the Revolving Loan outstanding from time to time exceeds the aggregate face amount of the Revolving Credit
Notes, the excess shall bear interest at the rate or rates provided from time to time for Advances evidenced by the Revolving Credit
Notes and shall be payable, with accrued interest, ON DEMAND. The Revolving Credit Notes shall not operate as a novation of any
of the Obligations or nullify, discharge, or release any such Obligations or the continuing contractual relationship of the parties hereto
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
 

2.1.7  Mandatory Prepayments of Revolving Loan.
 

The Borrower shall make the mandatory prepayments (each a “Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayment” and
collectively, the “Revolving Loan Mandatory Prepayments”) of the Revolving Loan at any time and from time to time in such amounts
requested by the Agent pursuant to Section 2.1.3 (Borrowing Base) in order to cover any Borrowing Base Deficiency, provided, under
the circumstances set forth in Section 2.1.13 (Early Termination Fee), the Early Termination Fee may be due and payable.
 

2.1.8  Optional Prepayments of Revolving Loan.
 

The Borrower shall have the option at any time and from time to time to prepay (each a “Revolving Loan Optional
Prepayment” and collectively the “Revolving Loan Optional Prepayments”) the Revolving Loan, in whole or in part without premium or
penalty; provided, under the circumstances set forth in Section 2.1.13 (Early Termination Fee), the Early Termination Fee may be due
and payable.
 

2.1.9  Optional Reduction of Revolving Credit Committed Amount.
 

The Borrower shall have the right to reduce permanently (each a “Revolving Credit Optional Reduction” and
collectively the “Revolving Credit Optional Reductions”) the Revolving Credit Committed Amount in effect from time to time in the
amount of any integral multiple of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), upon at least ten (10) Business Days prior written notice to the
Lender specifying the date and amount of such Revolving Credit Optional Reduction; provided, that no Revolving Credit Optional
Reduction shall be permitted if, after giving effect thereto and to any Revolving Loan Optional Prepayment made on the effective date
thereof, either (a) the then Revolver Usage exceeds the Revolving Credit Committed Amount as so reduced or (b) the Revolving
Credit Committed Amount after such reduction would be less than Fifteen Million Dollars ($15,000,000). Such notice shall be
irrevocable as to the amount and date of such Revolving Credit Optional Reduction. After each such Revolving Credit Optional
Reduction, the Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee provided for in Section 2.1.12 (Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee) and the Early
Termination Fee provided for i n Section 2.1.13 (Early Termination Fee) shall be calculated with respect to the Revolving Credit
Committed Amount as so reduced.
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2.1.10  Collateral Account.
 

The Borrower will deposit, or cause to be deposited, all Items of Payment to a bank account designated by the Agent
and from which the Agent alone has power of access and withdrawal (the “Collateral Account”) styled “Manufacturers and Traders
Trust Company, assignee of Payments Inc.” or other styling acceptable to the Agent. Each deposit shall be made not later than the
next Business Day after the date of receipt of the Items of Payment. The Items of Payment shall be deposited in precisely the form
received, except for the endorsements of the Borrower where necessary to permit the collection of any such Items of Payment, which
endorsement the Borrower hereby agrees to make. In the event the Borrower fails to do so, the Borrower hereby authorizes the
Agent to make the endorsement in the name of the Borrower. Prior to such a deposit, the Borrower will not commingle any Items of
Payment with any of the Borrower’s other funds or property, but will hold them separate and apart in trust and for the account of the
Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably and the Agent.
 

In addition, if so directed by the Agent, the Borrower shall direct the mailing of all Items of Payment from its Account
Debtors to one or more post-office boxes designated by the Agent (or, with the Agent’s consent, designated by the Servicer), or to
such other additional or replacement post-office boxes pursuant to the request of the Agent from time to time (collectively, the
“Lockbox”). The Agent shall have unrestricted and exclusive access to the Lockbox.
 

The Borrower hereby authorizes the Agent to inspect all Items of Payment, endorse all Items of Payment in the name
of the Borrower, and deposit such Items of Payment in the Collateral Account. The Agent reserves the right, exercised in its sole and
absolute discretion from time to time, to provide to the Collateral Account credit prior to final collection of an Item of Payment and to
disallow credit for any Item of Payment that is unsatisfactory to the Agent. In the event Items of Payment are returned to the Agent for
any reason whatsoever, the Agent may, in the exercise of its discretion from time to time, forward such Items of Payment a second
time. Any returned Items of Payment shall be charged back to the Collateral Account, the Revolving Loan Account, or other account,
as appropriate.
 

Upon the Agent’s receipt of collected funds from the Collateral Account in Baltimore, Maryland, the Agent will credit
the collected funds to the Obligations arising under this Agreement or under the Note (or following an Event of Default, any o f the
Obligations), the order and method of such application to be in the sole discretion of the Agent.
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2.1.11  Revolving Loan Account.
 

The Agent will establish and maintain a loan account on its books (the “Revolving Loan Account”) to which the Agent
will (a) debit (i) the principal amount of each Advance made by the Lenders hereunder as of the date made, (ii) the amount of any
interest accrued on the Revolving Loan as and when due, and (iii) any other amounts due and payable by the Borrower to the Agent
and/or the Lenders from time to time under the provisions of this Agreement in connection with the Revolving Loan, including, without
limitation, Enforcement Costs, Fees, late charges, and service, collection and audit fees, as and when due and payable, and (b) credit
all payments made by the Borrower to the Agent on account of the Revolving Loan as of the date made including, without limitation,
funds credited to the Revolving Loan Account from the Collateral Account. The Agent may debit the Revolving Loan Account for the
amount of any Item of Payment that is returned to the Agent unpaid. All credit entries to the Revolving Loan Account are conditional
and shall be readjusted as of the date made if final and indefeasible payment is not received by the Agent in cash or solvent credits.
Any and all periodic or other statements or reconciliations, and the information contained in those statements or reconciliations, of the
Revolving Loan Account shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Borrower in all respects, absent manifest error, unless the
Agent receives specific written objection thereto from the Borrower within thirty (30) Business Days after such statement or
reconciliation shall have been sent by the Agent.
 

2.1.12  Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee.
 

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders a monthly revolving credit facility fee
(collectively, the “Revolving Credit Unused Line Fees” and individually, a “Revolving Credit Unused Line Fee”) in an amount equal to
one-quarter of one percent (0.25%) per annum of the average daily unused and undisbursed portion of the Total Revolving Credit
Committed Amount in effect from time to time accruing during each month. The accrued and unpaid portion of the Revolving Credit
Unused Line Fee shall be paid by the Borrower to the Agent on the first day of each month, commencing on the first such date
following the date hereof, and on the Revolving Credit Termination Date.
 

2.1.13  Early Termination Fee.
 

In the event of the termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment by, or on behalf of, the Borrower, the Borrower
shall pay a fee (the “Early Termination Fee”) equal to 1.0% of the Aggregate Commitments. Termination of the Revolving Credit
Commitment in whole or in part following and as a result of the institution of any bankruptcy proceeding by or against the Borrower,
shall be deemed to be a termination of the Revolving Credit Commitment subject to the Early Termination Fee provided in this
subsection. The Early Termination Fee shall be paid to the Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders.
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Section 2.2  The Term Line Facility.
 

2.2.1  The Term Line.
 

(a)  Subject to and upon the provisions of this Agreement, the Lenders collectively, but severally,
establish during the Term Line Advance Period a multiple-advance term loan facility (sometimes referred to in this Agreement as the
“Term Line”) in favor of the Borrower in an amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed such Lender’s Term Line Pro Rata
Share of the Total Term Line Committed Amount. Neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall be responsible for the Term Line
Commitment of any other Lender, nor will the failure of any Lender to perform its obligations under its Term Line Commitment in any
way relieve any other Lender from performing its obligations under its Term Line Commitment.
 

(b)  Subject to and upon the provisions of this Agreement, the Borrower may request Term Line advances
during the Term Line Advance Period in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; provided that after giving effect to the
Borrower’s request, (i) the aggregate of all advances under the Term Line would not exceed the Total Term Line Committed Amount
and (ii) the aggregate of (A) Term Line Usage plus (B) Revolver Usage would not exceed the Aggregate Commitments.
 

(c)  I f at any time the aggregate of all advances under the Term Line exceeds the Total Term Line
Committed Amount in effect from time to time, the Borrower shall pay such excess to the Agent for the benefit of the Lender ON
DEMAND.
 

2.2.2  Term Line Procedures.
 

(a)  The Borrowers may borrow under the Term Line on any Business Day during the Term Line Advance
Period.
 

(b)  An advance under the Term Line to made on the date of this Agreement in the amount of One Million
Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000) has been approved by the Lenders.
 

(c)  Any subsequent advance under the Term Line shall require the prior written consent of all of the
Lenders, which consent may be given or withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the Lenders. Without implying any limitation
on the foregoing, the Borrower shall be obligated to provide such information, certificates, confirmations, and other items as the Agent
and any one or more of the Lenders may require in connection with any proposed advance.
 

(d)  The proceeds of each advance under the Term Line shall be used for Permitted Uses, and for no
other purposes except as may otherwise be agreed by the Lenders in writing. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans
promptly.
 

2.2.3  Term Line Notes.
 

The obligation of the Borrower to pay each Lender’s Pro Rata Share of each advance under the Term Line, with
interest, shall be evidenced by a series of promissory notes (as from time to time extended, amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified, collectively the “Term Line Notes”; and individually a “Term Line Note”) substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A-2
attached hereto and made a part hereof, with appropriate insertions. Each Lender’s Term Line Note shall be dated as of the date of
the applicable advance under the Term Line, shall be payable to the order of such Lender at the times provided in the Term Line
Notes, and shall b e in the principal amount of such Lender’s the applicable advance under the Term Line. The Borrower
acknowledges and agrees that, if the Term Line Usage exceeds the aggregate face amount of the Term Line Notes, the excess shall
bear interest at the rate or rates provided from time to time for advances evidenced by the Term Line Notes and shall be payable,
with accrued interest, ON DEMAND. The Term Line Notes shall not operate as a novation of any of the Obligations or nullify,
discharge, or release any such Obligations or the continuing contractual relationship of the parties hereto in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement.
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2.2.4  Payments of Term Line.
 

The Borrower shall make monthly installment payments of principal on the first day of each month, commencing on
the first or second (at the Agent’s election) such day after the date of the Term Line advance (each, a “Term Line Installment Payment
Date”), with respect to the Term Line advance. The One Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000) advance on the
Closing Date, however, shall be repayable in equal quarterly installments of principal in an amount equal to 1/10th of such Term Line
advance, on the first day of each _______, _______, _______ and _________. In the event the Lenders in the exercise of their sole
and absolute discretion from time to time approve one or more subsequent advances, such advances shall be subject to repayment
terms established by the Lenders at that time.
 

2.2.5  Term Line Maturity.
 

The Term Line shall mature, and the entire unpaid principal balance and accrued and unpaid interest thereon shall be
due and payable on the Term Line Maturity Date.
 

2.2.6  Optional Prepayments of Term Line.
 

The Borrower may, at its option, at any time and from time to time prepay (each a “Term Line Optional Prepayment”
and collectively the “Term Line Optional Prepayments”) the Term Line, in whole or in part without premium or penalty, upon five (5)
Business Days prior written notice, specifying the date and amount of prepayment. The amount to be so prepaid, together with
interest accrued thereon to date of prepayment if the amount is intended as a prepayment of the Term Line in whole, shall be paid by
the Borrower to the Lender on the date specified for such prepayment. Partial Term Line Loan Optional Prepayments shall be in an
amount not less than the aggregate amount of the next principal installment under the applicable Term Line Note and shall be applied
first to all accrued and unpaid interest on the principal of the applicable Term Line Note, and then to the balloon payment, if any, due
at maturity and to the principal installment payments in the inverse order of maturity. In the absence of a direction from the Borrower
and at any time during the continuance of an Event of Default, Term Line Optional Prepayments shall be applicable to one or more of
the Term Line Notes as the Agent may elect in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to time.
 
 

-34-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



Section 2.3  Certain Interest and Fee Provisions.
 

2.3.1  Payment of Interest.
 

Unpaid and accrued interest on the Loans shall be paid monthly, in arrears, on the first day of each calendar month,
commencing on the first such date after the date of this Agreement, and on the first day of each calendar month thereafter, and at
maturity (whether by acceleration, declaration, extension or otherwise).
 

2.3.2  Arrangement Fee.
 

The Borrowers shall pay the Arrangement Fee to the Agent for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Agent on or
before the Closing Date, which Arrangement Fee shall be fully earned and nonrefundable upon payment and shall be a part of the
Agent’s Obligations.
 

2.3.3  Monitoring Fees.
 

The Borrower shall pay to the Agent for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Agent on the Closing Date and on the
first day of each month thereafter until the Obligations have been paid in full and the Revolving Credit Commitment has been
terminated, a loan administration fee (collectively, the “Monitoring Fees”) in the amount of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
($1,500), which shall be fully earned when due and non-refundable.
 

2.3.4  Computation of Interest and Fees.
 

All applicable Fees and interest shall be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days for the actual number of days
elapsed. Any change in the interest rate on any of the Obligations resulting from a change in the Prime Rate shall become effective
as of the opening of business on the day on which such change in the Prime Rate is announced.
 

2.3.5  Maximum Interest Rate.
 

I n n o event shall any interest rate provided for hereunder exceed the maximum rate permissible for corporate
borrowers under applicable law for loans of the type provided for hereunder (the “Maximum Rate”). If, in any month, any interest rate,
absent such limitation, would have exceeded the Maximum Rate, then the interest rate for that month shall be the Maximum Rate,
and, if in future months, that interest rate would otherwise be less than the Maximum Rate, then that interest rate shall remain at the
Maximum Rate until such time as the amount of interest paid hereunder equals the amount of interest that would have been paid if
the same had not been limited by the Maximum Rate. In the event that, upon payment in full of the Obligations, the total amount of
interest paid or accrued under the terms of this Agreement is less than the total amount of interest that would, but for this Section,
have been paid or accrued if the interest rates otherwise set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect, then the Borrower
shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, pay the Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, an amount equal to the excess of
(a) the lesser of (i) the amount of interest that would have been charged if the Maximum Rate had, at all times, been in effect or (ii)
the amount of interest that would have accrued had the interest rates otherwise set forth in this Agreement, at all times, been in effect
over (b) the amount of interest actually paid or accrued under this Agreement. In the event that a court determines that the Lenders
have received interest and other charges hereunder in excess of the Maximum Rate, such excess shall be deemed received on
account of, and shall automatically be applied to reduce, the Obligations other than interest, in the inverse order of maturity, and if
there are no Obligations outstanding, the Lenders shall refund to the Borrower such excess.
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2.3.6  Liens; Setoff

 
The Borrower hereby grants to the Agent and to the Lenders a continuing Lien for all of the Obligations (including,

without limitation, the Agent’s Obligations) upon any and all monies, securities, and other property of the Borrower and the proceeds
thereof, now or hereafter held or received by or in transit to, the Agent, any of the Lenders, and/or any Affiliate of the Agent and/or
any of the Lenders, from or for the Borrower, and also upon any and all deposit accounts (general or special) and credits of the
Borrower, if any, with the Agent, any of the Lenders or any Affiliate of the Agent or any of the Lenders, at any time existing, excluding
any deposit accounts held by the Borrower in its capacity a s trustee for Persons who are not the Borrower or Affiliates of the
Borrower. Without implying any limitation on any other rights the Agent and/or the Lenders may have under the Financing Documents
or applicable Laws, during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Agent and the each of the Lenders, respectively, are hereby
authorized by the Borrower at any time and from time to time, without notice to the Borrower, to set off, appropriate and apply any or
all items hereinabove referred to against all Obligations (including, without limitation, the Agent’s Obligations) then outstanding
(whether or not then due), all in such order and manner as shall be determined by the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion;
except that no Lender shall exercise any such right without the prior written consent of the Agent. Any Lender exercising a right to set
off shall purchase for cash (and the other Lenders shall sell) interests in each o f such other Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the
Obligations as would be necessary to cause all Lenders to share the amount so set off with each other Lender in accordance with
their respective Pro Rata Shares. The Borrower agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that any Lender may exercise its right
to set off with respect to amounts in excess of its Pro Rata Share of the Obligations and upon doing so shall deliver such amount so
set off to the Agent for the benefit of all Lenders in accordance with their Pro Rata Shares.
 

2.3.7  Requirements of Law.
 

I n the event that any Lender shall have determined in good faith that (a) the adoption of any Capital Adequacy
Regulation, or (b) any change in any Capital Adequacy Regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof or (c) compliance by
such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender with any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether or not
having the force of law) from any central bank or Governmental Authority, does or shall have the effect of reducing the rate of return
on the capital of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender, as a consequence of the obligations of such Lender
hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender would have achieved but for such
adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration the policies of such Lender and the corporation controlling such Lender,
with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by such Lender to be material, then from time to time, after submission by
such Lender to the Borrower of a written request therefor and a statement of the basis for such determination, the Borrower shall pay
to such Lender such additional amount or amounts in order to compensate for such reduction.
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Section 2.4  Interest.

 
2.4.1  Applicable Interest Rate - Term Line.

 
The provisions of this Section 2.4.1 (Applicable Interest Rate - Term Line) apply only to the Term Line.

 
(a)  The Term Line shall bear interest until paid at the LIBOR Floating Rate, or as otherwise determined

in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.4.
 

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default, at the option of the Agent, the Term Line until paid shall bear interest at the Post-Default Rate.
 

(c)  The Applicable Margin for the LIBOR Floating Rate Loans under the Term Line shall be two hundred
seventy-five (275) basis points per annum,
 

2.4.2  Applicable Interest Rate - Revolving Loan.
 

The provisions of this Section 2.4.2 (Applicable Interest Rate - Revolving Loan) apply only to the Revolving Loan.
 

(a)  Each Loan shall bear interest until paid at either a Floating Rate or the LIBOR Rate, as selected and
specified by the Borrower in an Interest Rate Election Notice furnished to the Lender in accordance with the provisions of Section
2.4.3(e), or as otherwise determined in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.4, and as may be adjusted from time to time in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.4.4 (Inability to Determine LIBOR Base Rate).
 

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default, at the option of the Agent, all Loans and all other Obligations until paid shall bear interest at the Post-Default Rate.
 

(c)  The Applicable Margin for (i) LIBOR Loans and for LIBOR Floating Rate Loans shall be two hundred
twenty-five (225) basis points per annum, and (ii) Base Rate Loans shall be zero (0) basis points per annum unless and until a
change is required by the operation of Section 2.4.2(d).
 

(d)  Changes in the Applicable Margin for LIBOR Loans and LIBOR Floating Rate Loans only shall be
made not more frequently than quarterly based on the average Excess Availability for the preceding fiscal quarter, determined by the
Agent in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion, except that the first such determination shall be made based on the
Borrower’s fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2006 and shall be effective as of the first day of the first month after the quarter of
determination. The Applicable Margin (expressed as basis points) shall vary depending upon the Borrower’s Excess Availability, as
follows:
 

 
Excess Availability

 

 
Applicable Margin for LIBOR Loans and
LIBOR Floating Rate Loans (expressed

as basis points)
 

 
 

-37-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



 
 
Less than $2,000,000
 

 
250

 
 
Greater than or equal to $2,000,000 but less than
$3,000,000
 

 
225

 

 
Greater than or equal to $3,000,000 but less than
$4,000,000
 

 
200

 

 
Greater than or equal to $4,000,000
 

 
175

 
 

2.4.3  Selection of Interest Rates.
 

The provisions of this Section 2.4.3 (Selection of Interest Rates) apply only to the Revolving Loan.
 

(a)  The Borrower may select the initial Applicable Interest Rate or Applicable Interest Rates to be
charged on the Loans.
 

(b)  From time to time after the date of this Agreement as provided in this Section, by a proper and timely
Interest Rate Election Notice furnished to the Agent in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.4.3(e), the Borrower may select an
initial Applicable Interest Rate or Applicable Interest Rates for any Loans or may convert the Applicable Interest Rate and, when
applicable, the Interest Period, for any existing Loan to any other Applicable Interest Rate or, when applicable, any other Interest
Period.
 

(c)  The Borrower’s selection of an Applicable Interest Rate and/or an Interest Period, the Borrower’s
election to convert an Applicable Interest Rate and/or an Interest Period to another Applicable Interest Rate or Interest Period, and
any other adjustments in an interest rate are subject to the following limitations:
 

(i)  the Borrower shall not at any time select or change to an Interest
Period that extends beyond the Revolving Credit Expiration Date;

 
(ii)  except as otherwise provided in Section 2.4.5 (Indemnity), no change

from the LIBOR Rate to the Base Rate shall become effective on a day other than a Business Day and on a day
which is the last day of then current Interest Period, no change of an Interest Period shall become effective on a day
other than the last day of then current Interest Period, and no change from the Base Rate to the LIBOR Rate shall
become effective on a day other than a day which is a LIBOR Business Day;

 
(iii)  any Applicable Interest Rate change for any Loan to be effective on

a date on which any principal payment on account of such Loan is scheduled to be paid shall be made only after such
payment shall have been made;
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(iv)  no more than three (3) different LIBOR Rates may be outstanding at
any time and from time to time with respect to the Revolving Loan;

 
(v)  the first day of each Interest Period shall be a LIBOR Business Day;

 
(vi)  as of the effective date of a selection, there shall not exist an Event

of Default; and
 

(vii)  the minimum principal amount of a LIBOR Loan shall be Two Million
Dollars ($2,000,000), plus integral increments of One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000).

 
(d)  If a request for an advance under the Loans is not accompanied by an Interest Rate Election Notice

or does not otherwise include a selection of an Applicable Interest Rate and, if applicable, an Interest Period, or if, after having made
a selection of an Applicable Interest Rate and, if applicable, an Interest Period, the Borrower fails or is not otherwise entitled under
the provisions of this Agreement to continue such Applicable Interest Rate or Interest Period, the Borrower shall be deemed to have
selected the Base Rate as the Applicable Interest Rate until such time as the Borrower has selected a different Applicable Interest
Rate and specified an Interest Period in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions of this Section.
 

(e)  The Lenders will not be obligated to make Loans, to convert the Applicable Interest Rate on Loans to
another Applicable Interest Rate, or to change Interest Periods, unless the Agent shall have received an irrevocable written or
telephonic notice (an “Interest Rate Election Notice”) from the Borrower specifying the following information:
 

(i)  the amount to be borrowed or converted;
 

(ii)  a selection of the Floating LIBOR Rate, the Base Rate or the LIBOR Rate;
 

(iii)  the length of the Interest Period if the Applicable Interest Rate selected is the
LIBOR Rate; and

 
(iv)  the requested date on which such election is to be effective.

 
Any telephonic notice must be confirmed in writing within three (3) Business Days. Each Interest Rate Election Notice must be
received by the Agent not later than 10:00 a.m. (Baltimore City time) on the Business Day of any requested borrowing or conversion
in the case of a selection of the Base Rate or of the Floating LIBOR Rate and not later than 10:00 a.m. (Baltimore City time) on the
third Business Day before the effective date of any requested borrowing or conversion in the case of a selection of the LIBOR Rate.
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2.4.4  Inability to Determine LIBOR Base Rate.
 

In the event that (a) the Agent shall have determined that, by reason of circumstances affecting the London interbank
eurodollar market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the LIBOR Base Rate for any requested Interest
Period with respect to a Loan the Borrower have requested to be made as or to be converted to a LIBOR Loan or (b) the Agent shall
determine that the LIBOR Base Rate for any requested Interest Period with respect to a Loan the Borrower have requested to be
made as or to be converted to a LIBOR Loan does not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funding or converting
such Loan, the Agent shall give telephonic or written notice of such determination to the Borrower at least one (1) day prior to the
proposed date for funding or converting such Loan. If such notice is given, any request for a LIBOR Loan shall be made as or
converted to a Base Rate Loan. Until such notice has been withdrawn by the Agent the Borrower will not request that any Loan be
made as or converted to a LIBOR Loan.
 

Further, if such notice has been given, LIBOR Floating Loans shall be made as or converted to a Loan that bears
interest at the Prime Rate plus an Applicable Margin that the Agent determines in good faith would provide a rate of interest
substantially equivalent to the LIBOR Floating Rate. Until such notice has been withdrawn by the Agent the Borrower will not request
that any Loan be made as or converted to a LIBOR Floating Loan.
 

2.4.5  Indemnity.
 

The Borrower agree to indemnify and reimburse the Agent and the Lenders and to hold the Agent and the Lenders
harmless from any loss, cost (including administrative costs) or expense which any one or more of the Agent or the Lenders may
sustain or incur as a consequence of (a) a default by the Borrower in payment when due of the principal amount of or interest on any
LIBOR Loan, (b) the failure of the Borrower to make, or convert the Applicable Interest Rate of, a Loan after the Borrower has given a
Loan Notice or an Interest Rate Election Notice, (c) the failure of the Borrower to make any prepayment of a LIBOR Loan after the
Borrower have given notice of such intention to make such a prepayment, and/or (d) the making by the Borrower of a prepayment of
a LIBOR Loan on a day which is not the last day of the Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan, calculated as provided in the following
paragraph including, without limitation, any such loss or expense arising from the reemployment of funds obtained by the Lenders to
maintain any LIBOR Loan or from fees payable to terminate the deposits from which such funds were obtained. This agreement and
covenant of the Borrower shall survive termination or expiration of this Agreement and payment of the other Obligations.
 

2.4.6  Payment of Interest.
 

(a)  Unpaid and accrued interest on any portion of the Loans which consists of a Base Rate Loan shall
be paid monthly, in arrears, on the first day of each calendar month, commencing on the first such date after the date of this
Agreement, and on the first day of each calendar month thereafter, and at maturity (whether by acceleration, declaration, extension or
otherwise).
 

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any and all unpaid and accrued interest on any Base Rate Loan
converted to a LIBOR Loan or prepaid shall be paid immediately upon such conversion and/or prepayment, as appropriate.
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(c)  Unpaid and accrued interest on any LIBOR Loan shall be paid on the last Business Day o f each

Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan, at maturity (whether by acceleration, declaration, extension or otherwise), and, in the case of an
Interest Period of six (6) months, every three (3) months; provided, however that any and all unpaid and accrued interest on any
LIBOR Loan prepaid prior to expiration of then current Interest Period for such LIBOR Loan shall be paid immediately upon
prepayment.
 

Section 2.5  General Financing Provisions.
 

2.5.1  Borrower’s Representatives.
 

The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes each of the Lenders to make Loans pursuant to the provisions of this
Agreement upon the written, oral or telephone request of any one or more of the Persons who is from time to time a Responsible
Officer of the Borrower under the provisions of the most recent certificate of corporate resolutions and/or incumbency of the Borrower
on file with the Agent. Neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders assumes any responsibility or liability for any errors, mistakes, and/or
discrepancies in the oral, telephonic, written or other transmissions of any instructions, orders, requests and confirmations between
the Agent and the Borrower or the Agent and any of the Lenders in connection with the Credit Facilities, any Loan, any Revolver
Usage or any other transaction in connection with the provisions of this Agreement.
 

2.5.2  Use of Proceeds of the Loans.
 

The proceeds of each advance under the Loans shall be used by the Borrower for Permitted Uses, and for no other
purposes except as may otherwise be agreed by the Lenders in writing. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Loans promptly.
 

2.5.3  Payments by Borrower.
 

(a)  All payments of the Obligations, including, without limitation, principal, interest, Prepayments, and
Fees, shall be paid by the Borrower without setoff or counterclaim to the Agent (except as otherwise provided herein) at the Agent’s
office specified in Section 9.1 (Notices) in immediately available funds not later than 12 p.m. noon (Baltimore City Time) on the due
date of such payment. All payments received by the Agent after such time shall be deemed to have been received by the Agent for
purposes of computing interest and Fees and otherwise as of the next Business Day. Payments shall not be considered received by
the Agent until such payments are paid to the Agent in immediately available funds.
 

(b)  Unless the Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any
payment is due to the Agent that the Borrower will not make such payment in full, the Agent may assume that the Borrower has made
such payment in full to the Agent on such date and the Agent in its sole discretion may, in reliance upon such assumption, cause to
be distributed to each Lender on such due date an amount equal to the amount then due such Lender. If and to the extent the
Borrower shall not have so made such payment in full to the Agent and the Agent shall have distributed to any Lender all or any
portion of such amount, such Lender shall repay to the Agent on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender, together with
interest thereon at the Federal Funds Rate for the first three (3) days from and after the date such amount is distributed to such
Lender and thereafter at the Base Rate applicable to the Revolving Loans, until the date such Lender repays such amount to the
Agent.
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2.5.4  Bank Products.
 

The Borrower may request, and the Agent or its affiliates may, in their sole and absolute discretion, provide, Bank
Products although the Borrower is not required to do so. In the event the Borrower requests Agent and/or its affiliates to procure or
provide Bank Products, then the Borrower agrees with the Agent and/or such affiliates, as applicable, to pay when due all
indebtedness, liabilities and obligations with respect to Bank Products and further agrees to indemnify and hold the Agent and/or
such affiliates harmless from any and all indebtedness, liabilities, obligations, losses, costs and expenses (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys fees) now or hereafter owing to or incurred by the Agent (including, without limitation, those under agreements
of indemnifications or assurances provided by the Agent to its affiliates) and/or its affiliates with respect to Bank Products, all as the
same may arise. In the event the Borrower shall not have paid to the Agent and/or its affiliates such amounts, the Agent may cover
such amounts by an advance under the Revolving Loan, which advance shall be deemed to have been requested by the Borrower.
The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that (a) all indebtedness, liabilities and obligations with respect to Bank Products provided
by the Agent or its affiliates, and all of its agreements under this Section, are part of the Obligations secured by the Collateral, and (b)
the obtaining of Bank Products from the Agent or its affiliates (i) is in the sole and absolute discretion of the Agent or its affiliates and
(ii) is subject to all rules and regulations of the Agent or its affiliates.
 

2.5.5  Joint and Several Liability.
 

Each Borrower shall be liable for all amounts due to the Agent and/or any Lender under this Agreement, regardless of
which Borrower actually receives Loans or other extensions of credit hereunder or the amount of such Loans received or the manner
in which the Agent and/or such Lender accounts for such Loans or other extensions of credit on its books and records. The
Borrower’s Obligations with respect to Loans made to it, and the Borrower’s Obligations arising as a result of the joint and several
liability of the Borrower hereunder, with respect to Loans made to the other Borrower hereunder, shall be separate and distinct
obligations, but all such Obligations shall be primary obligations of the Borrower.
 

2.5.6  Contribution and Indemnification among the Borrowers.
 

Each Borrower is obligated to repay the Obligations as joint and several obligors under this Agreement. To the extent
that any Borrower shall, under this Agreement as a joint and several obligor, repay any of the Obligations constituting Loans made to
another Borrower hereunder or other Obligations incurred directly and primarily by any other Borrower (an “Accommodation
Payment”), then the Borrower making such Accommodation Payment shall be entitled to contribution and indemnification from, and
be reimbursed by, each of the other Borrowers in an amount, for each of such other Borrowers, equal to a fraction of such
Accommodation Payment, the numerator of which fraction is such other Borrower’s “Allocable Amount” (as defined below) and the
denominator of which is the sum of the Allocable Amounts of all of the Borrowers. As of any date of determination, the “Allocable
Amount” of each Borrower shall be equal to the maximum amount of liability for Accommodation Payments which could be asserted
against such Borrower hereunder without (a) rendering such Borrower “insolvent” within the meaning of Section 101 (31) of the
Bankruptcy Code, Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA”) or Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act
(“UFCA”), (b) leaving such Borrower with unreasonably small capital or assets, within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy
Code, Section 4 of the UFTA, or Section 5 of the UFCA, or (c) leaving such Borrower unable to pay its debts as they become due
within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code or Section 4 of the UFTA, or Section 5 of the UFCA. All rights and claims of
contribution, indemnification and reimbursement under this section shall be subordinate in right of payment to the prior payment in full
of the Obligations. The provisions of this section shall, to the extent expressly inconsistent with any provision in any Loan Document,
supersede such inconsistent provision.
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2.5.7  Agency of Payments Inc.
 

Each o f the other Borrowers appoints Payments Inc. as its administrative agent for al l purposes relevant to this
Agreement, including (without limitation) the giving and receipt of notices and execution and delivery of all documents, instruments
and certificates contemplated herein and all modifications hereto. Any acknowledgement, consent, direction, certification or other
action which might otherwise be valid or effective only if given or taken by all of the Borrowers or acting singly, shall be valid and
effective if given or taken only by Payments Inc., whether or not the other Borrower joins therein.
 

Section 2.6  Funding of Advances.
 

2.6.1  Advances by Lenders.
 

Unless the Agent elects, in the exercise of its discretion from time to time, to have one of the other provisions of this
Section 2.6 (Funding of Advances) apply, upon the Agent’s receipt of a Loan Notice, the Agent shall promptly notify each Lender of
the amount of each Advance to be made by such Lender on the requested borrowing date under such Lender’s Revolving Credit
Commitment. Not later than 1:00 p.m. (Baltimore City Time) on each requested borrowing date for the making of Advances, each
Lender shall, if it has received timely notice from the Agent of the Borrower’s request for such Advances, make available to the Agent,
in funds immediately available to the Agent at the Agent’s office set forth in Section 9.1 (Notices), such Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro
Rata Share of the Advances to be made on such date.
 

2.6.2  M&T Advances.
 

Between Settlement Dates, the Agent may request and M&T may (but shall not be obligated to) advance to the
Borrower out of M&T’s own funds, the entire principal amount of any Advance requested or deemed requested pursuant to Section
2.1.2 (Procedure for Making Advances Under the Revolving Loan) (any such Advance being referred to as a “M&T Loan”). The
making of each M&T Loan by M&T shall be deemed to be a purchase by M&T of a 100% participation in each other Lender’s
Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of the amount of such M&T Loan. All payments of principal, interest and any other amount with
respect to such M&T Loan shall be payable to and received by the Agent for the account of M&T. Upon demand by M&T, with notice
to the Agent, each other Lender shall pay to M&T, as the repurchase of such participation, an amount equal to 100% of such Lender’s
Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of the principal amount of such M&T Loan. Any payments received by the Agent between
Settlement Dates that in accordance with the terms of this Agreement are to be applied to the reduction of the outstanding principal
balance of Revolving Loan, shall be paid over to and retained by M&T for such application, and such payment to and retention by
M&T shall be deemed, to the extent of each other Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of such payment, to be a purchase by
each such other Lender of a participation in the Advance (including the repurchase of participations in M&T Loans) made by M&T.
Upon demand by another Lender, with notice thereof to the Agent, M&T shall pay to the Agent, for the account of such other Lender,
as a repurchase of such participation, an amount equal to such other Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of any such amounts
(after application thereof to the repurchase of any participations of M&T in such other Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of
any M&T Loans) paid only to M&T by the Agent.
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2.6.3  Agent Advances.

 
(a)  Subject to the limitations set forth in the provisos contained in this Section 2.6.3, the Agent is hereby

authorized by the Lenders and the Borrower, from time to time in the Agent’s sole discretion, (i) after the occurrence of a Default or an
Event of Default or (ii) at any time that any of the other applicable conditions precedent set forth in ARTICLE V (Conditions Precedent)
have not been satisfied, to make Advances to the Borrower on behalf of the Lenders that the Agent, in its reasonable business
judgment, deems necessary or desirable (A) to preserve or protect the Collateral, or any portion thereof, (B) to enhance the likelihood
of, or maximize the amount of, repayment of the Loans and other Obligations, or (C) to pay any other amount chargeable to the
Borrower pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, including, without limitation, Enforcement Costs (any of the Advances described in
this Section 2.6.3 being hereinafter referred to as “Agent Advances”); provided, that the Required Lenders may at any time revoke the
Agent’s authorization contained in this Section 2.6.3 to make Agent Advances, any such revocation to be in writing and to become
effective prospectively upon the Agent’s receipt thereof; and provided further, that the Agent shall not make Agent Advances above
that would cause the Revolver Usage otherwise permitted to be outstanding under this Agreement to exceed the lesser of the Total
Revolving Credit Committed Amount or the Borrowing Base. Nothing in this Section 2.6.3 shall imply any limitation on the obligations
of the Borrower to pay the Obligations including, without limitation, Enforcement Costs or on the obligations of the Lenders under
Section 9.19 (Indemnification).
 

(b)  The Agent Advances shall be repayable on demand and secured by the Collateral, shall constitute
Advances and Obligations, and shall bear interest at the rate applicable to the Revolving Loan from time to time. The Agent shall
notify each Lender in writing of each such Agent Advance.
 

2.6.4  Overadvances. 
 

(a)  Any contrary provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, the Lenders hereby authorize the Agent or
M&T, as applicable, and the Agent or M&T, as applicable, may, but is not obligated to, knowingly and intentionally, continue to make
Advances (including, without limitation, M&T Loans) to the Borrower notwithstanding that an Overadvance exists or thereby would be
created, so long as (i) after giving effect to such Advances (including, without limitation, M&T Loans), the aggregate outstanding
principal balance of the Revolving Loans does not exceed the amount of the Borrowing Base by more than 10% at the time the
Overadvance is made, (ii) after giving effect to such Advances (including, without limitation, M&T Loans) the aggregate outstanding
principal balance of the Revolving Loans does not exceed the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount, and (iii) at the time of the
making of any such Advance (including, without limitation, M&T Loans), the Agent does not believe, in good faith, that the
Overadvance created by such Advance will be outstanding for more than ninety (90) days. The foregoing provisions are for the
exclusive benefit of the Agent, M&T, and the Lenders and are not intended to benefit the Borrower in any way. The Advances and
M&T Loans, as applicable, that are made pursuant to this Section 2.6.4 shall be subject to the same terms and conditions as any
other Advance or M&T Loan, as applicable, except that they shall be Base Rate Loans.
 
 

-44-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(b)  I n the event the Agent obtains actual knowledge that the Revolver Usage exceeds the amounts
permitted by the preceding paragraph, regardless of the amount of, or reason for, such excess, the Agent shall notify Lenders as
soon as practicable (and prior to making any (or any additional) intentional Overadvances (except for and excluding amounts charged
to the Revolving Loan Account for interest, fees, or Enforcement Costs) unless the Agent determines that prior notice would result in
imminent harm to the Collateral or its value), and the Lenders thereupon shall, together with the Agent, jointly determine the terms of
arrangements that shall be implemented with the Borrower and intended to reduce, within a reasonable time, the outstanding principal
amount of the Advances to the Borrower to an amount permitted by the preceding paragraph. In the event the Agent or any Lender
disagrees over the terms of reduction or repayment of any Overadvance, the terms of reduction or repayment thereof shall be
implemented according to the determination of the Required Lenders.
 

(c)  Each Lender shall be obligated to settle with the Agent as provided in Section 2.7.2 (Revolving Loan
Settlement) for the amount of such Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of any unintentional Overadvances by the Agent
reported to such Lender, any intentional Overadvances made as permitted under this 2.6.4, and any Overadvances resulting from the
charging to the Revolving Loan Account of interest, fees, Enforcement Costs or other amounts permitted by this Agreement.
 

2.6.5  No Novation.
 

The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Notes delivered on the date of this Agreement have been delivered
in substitution for the Notes delivered under the terms of the Original Financing Agreement and that the execution and delivery of the
Notes delivered on the date of this Agreement are not intended to and shall not cause a novation with respect to any or all of the
Obligations.
 

Section 2.7  Settlement Among Lenders.
 

2.7.1  Term Line Settlement.
 

The Agent shall pay to each Lender on each Interest Payment Date or Term Line Installment Payment Date, as the
case may be, such Lender’s ratable share of all payments received by the Agent in immediately available funds on account of the
Term Lines, net of any amounts payable by such Lender to the Agent, by wire transfer of same day funds; the amount payable to
each Lender shall be based on the principal amount of the Term Lines owing to such Lender.
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2.7.2  Revolving Loan Settlement.

 
It is agreed that each Lender’s funded portion of the Advances are intended by the Lenders to be equal at all times to

such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Revolving Loan outstanding. Notwithstanding
such agreement, the several and not joint obligation of each Lender to fund the Revolving Loan made in accordance with the terms of
this Agreement ratably in accordance with such Lender’s Pro Rata Share and each Lender’s right to receive its ratable share of
principal payments on the Revolving Loan in accordance with its Pro Rata Share, the Lenders agree (which agreement shall not be
for the benefit of or enforceable by the Borrower) that in order to facilitate the administration of this Agreement and the Financing
Documents that settlement among them may take place on a periodic basis in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.7.2.
 

(a)  Selection of Settlement Dates. If the Agent elects, in its discretion, but subject to the consent of M&T,
to settle accounts (“Settlement”) among the Lenders with respect to principal amounts of Revolving Loan less frequently than each
Business Day, then the Agent shall designate periodic Settlement Dates that may occur on any Business Day after the Closing Date;
provided, however, that the Agent shall designate as a Settlement Date any Business Day that is an Interest Payment Date; and
provided further, that a Settlement Date shall occur at least once each week. The Agent shall designate a Settlement Date by
delivering to each Lender a Settlement Report not later than 12:00 noon (Baltimore City Time) on the proposed Settlement Date,
which Settlement Report shall be with respect to the period beginning on the immediately preceding Settlement Date and ending on
such designated Settlement Date.
 

(b)  In General. To the extent and in the manner hereinafter provided in this Section 2.7.2, Settlement
among the Lenders as to the Revolving Loan may occur periodically on Settlement Dates determined from time to time by the Agent.
Settlements may occur before or after the occurrence or during the continuance of a Default or Event of Default and whether or not all
of the conditions set forth in Section 5.2 (Conditions to All Extensions of Credit) have been met. On each Settlement Date payments
shall be made by or to M&T, Agent and the other Lenders in accordance with the Settlement Report delivered by the Agent pursuant
to the provisions of this Section 2.7.2 in respect of such Settlement Date so that as of each Settlement Date, and after giving effect to
the transactions to take place on such Settlement Date, each Lender’s funded portion of the Advances shall equal such Lender’s Pro
Rata Share of the Revolving Loan outstanding.
 

(c)  Interim Collections. Between Settlement Dates, the Agent, to the extent no Agent Advances or M&T
Loans are outstanding, may pay over to M&T any payments received by the Agent, which in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement would be applied to the reduction of the Revolving Loans, for application to M&T’s other outstanding Revolving Loans. If,
as of any Settlement Date, collections received since then immediately preceding Settlement Date have been applied to M&T’s other
outstanding Revolving Loans other than to M&T Loans or Agent Advances, as provided for in the previous sentence, M&T shall pay
to the Agent for the accounts of the Lenders, to be applied to the outstanding Revolving Loans of such Lenders, an amount such that
each Lender shall, upon receipt of such amount, have, as of such Settlement Date, its Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loans. During
the period between Settlement Dates, M&T with respect to M&T Loans, the Agent with respect to Agent Advances, and each Lender
with respect to the Revolving Loans other than M&T Loans and Agent Advances, shall be entitled to interest at the applicable rate or
rates payable under this Agreement on the actual average daily amount of funds employed by M&T, the Agent and the other Lenders.
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(d)  Return Payments. If any amounts received by M&T in respect of the Obligations are later required to
be returned or repaid by M&T to the Borrower or any other obligor or their respective representatives or successors in interest,
whether by court order, settlement or otherwise, in excess of the M&T’s Pro Rata Share of all such amounts required to be returned
by all Lenders, each other Lender shall, upon demand by M&T with notice to the Agent, pay to the Agent for the account of M&T, an
amount equal to the excess of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of all such amounts required to be returned by all Lenders over the
amount, if any, returned directly by such Lender.
 

(e)  Payment by Lender. Payment by any Lender to the Agent shall be made not later than 2:00 p.m.
(Baltimore City Time) on the Business Day such payment is due, provided that if such payment is due on demand by another Lender,
such demand is made on the paying Lender not later than 12:00 p.m. noon (Baltimore City Time) on such Business Day. Payment by
the Agent to any Lender shall be made by wire transfer, promptly following the Agent’s receipt of funds for the account of such Lender
and in the type of funds received by the Agent, provided that if the Agent receives such funds at or prior to 12:00 p.m. noon
(Baltimore City Time), the Agent shall pay such funds to such Lender on such Business Day. If a demand for payment is made after
the applicable time set forth above, the payment due shall be made on the first Business Day following the date of such demand.
 

2.7.3  Settlement of Other Obligations.
 

All other amounts received by the Agent on account of, or applied by the Agent to the payment of, any Obligation
owed to the Lenders (including, without limitation, Fees payable to the Lenders and proceeds from the sale of, or other realization
upon, all or any part of the Collateral following an Event of Default) that are received by the Agent not later than 11:00 a.m. (Baltimore
City Time) on a Business Day will be paid by the Agent to each Lender on the same Business Day, and any such amounts that are
received by the Agent after 11:00 a.m. (Baltimore City Time) will be paid by the Agent to each Lender on the following Business Day.
Unless otherwise stated herein, the Agent shall distribute Fees payable to the Lenders ratably to the Lenders based on each Lender’s
Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share and shall distribute proceeds from the sale of, or other realization upon, all or any part of the
Collateral following an Event of Default ratably to the Lenders based on the amount of the Obligations then owing to each Lender.
 

2.7.4  Presumption of Payment.
 

(a)  Unless the Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to 12:00 p.m. noon (Baltimore City
Time) on the date of the requested date for the making of Advances that such Lender will not make available to the Agent, such
Lender’s Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of the Advances to be made on such date, the Agent may assume that such Lender has
made such amount available to the Agent on such date in accordance with this Section 2.7.4 (Presumption of Payment), and the
Agent, in its sole discretion may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the Borrower on such date a corresponding
amount on behalf of such Lender.
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(b)  If and to the extent such Lender shall not have so made available to the Agent its Revolving Credit
Pro Rata Share of the Advances made on such date, and the Agent shall have so made available to the Borrower a corresponding
amount on behalf of such Lender, such Lender shall, on demand, pay to the Agent such corresponding amount, together with interest
thereon, at the Federal Funds Rate for the first three (3) days from and after the date such corresponding amount shall have been so
available by the Agent to the Borrower and thereafter at the Base Rate applicable to the Revolving Loans, until the date such amount
shall have been repaid to the Agent. Such Lender shall not be entitled to payment of any interest that accrues on the amount made
available by the Agent to the Borrower for the account of such Lender until such time as such Lender reimburses the Agent for such
amount, together with interest thereon, as provided in this Section 2.7.4. The failure of any Lender to make any Advance shall not
relieve any other Lender of any obligation hereunder to make an Advance, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any
other Lender to make the Advance.
 

(c)  A certificate of the Agent submitted to any Lender with respect to any amounts owing to the Agent by
such Lender under this Section 2.7.4 shall be conclusive and binding on such Lender, absent manifest error. If such Lender does not
pay such amounts to the Agent promptly upon the Agent’s demand, the Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower of such Lender’s
failure to make payment, and the Borrower shall immediately repay such amounts to the Agent, together with accrued interest thereon
at the applicable rate on the Revolving Loan, all without prejudice to the rights and remedies of the Agent against any defaulting
Lender. Any and all amounts due and payable to the Agent by the Borrower under this Section 2.7.4 constitute and shall be part of the
Agent’s Obligations.
 

(d)   The Agent shall not be obligated to transfer to a Defaulting Lender any payments made by the
Borrower to the Agent. In such event, the Agent may, but shall not be required to, retain payments that would otherwise be made to
such Lender hereunder, apply such payments to such Lender’s defaulted obligations hereunder, transfer any such payments to each
other non-Defaulting Lenders ratably in accordance with their Commitments (but only to the extent that such Defaulting Lender’s
Advance was funded by the other Lenders), hold and re-lend to the Borrower for the account of such Defaulting Lender the amount of
all such payments received and retained by it for the account of such Defaulting Lender, and take such other action as the Agent may
deem to be appropriate, all at such time, and in such order, as the Agent may elect in its sole discretion exercised from time to time.
Solely for the purposes of voting or consenting to matters with respect to the Financing Documents, such Defaulting Lender shall be
deemed not to be a “Lender” and such Lender’s Commitment shall be deemed to be zero. This Section shall remain effective with
respect to such Lender until (x) the Obligations under this Agreement shall have been declared or shall have become immediately due
and payable, (y) the non-Defaulting Lenders, the Agent, and the Borrower shall have waived such Defaulting Lender’s default in
writing, or (z) the Defaulting Lender makes its Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share of the applicable Advance and pays to the Agent all
amounts owing by Defaulting Lender in respect thereof. The operation of this Section 2.7.4 (Presumption of Payment) shall not be
construed to increase or otherwise affect the Commitment of any Lender, to relieve or excuse the performance by such Defaulting
Lender or any other Lender of its duties and obligations hereunder, or to relieve or excuse the performance by the Borrower of its
duties and obligations hereunder to the Agent or to the Lenders other than such Defaulting Lender. Any such failure to fund by any
Defaulting Lender shall constitute a material breach by such Defaulting Lender of this Agreement and shall entitle the Borrower at its
option, upon written notice to the Agent, to arrange for a substitute Lender to assume the Commitment of such Defaulting Lender,
such substitute Lender to be acceptable to the Agent. In connection with the arrangement of such a substitute Lender, the Defaulting
Lender shall have no right to refuse to be replaced hereunder, and agrees to execute and deliver a completed form of Assignment and
Acceptance Agreement in favor of the substitute Lender (and agrees that it shall be deemed to have executed and delivered such
document if it fails to do so) subject only to being repaid its share of the outstanding Obligations without any premium or penalty of
any kind whatsoever; provided further, however, that any such assumption of the Commitment of such Defaulting Lender shall not be
deemed to constitute a waiver of any of the Agent’s, other Lenders’ or the Borrower’s rights or remedies against any such Defaulting
Lender arising out of or in relation to such failure to fund.
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ARTICLE III
THE COLLATERAL

 
Section 3.1  Debt and Obligations Secured.

 
All property and Liens assigned, pledged or otherwise granted under or in connection with this Agreement (including, without

limitation, those under Section 3.2 (Grant of Liens)) or any of the Financing Documents shall secure (a) the payment of all of the
Obligations, including, without limitation, all Revolver Usage and any and all Agent’s Obligations, and (b) the performance,
compliance with and observance by the Borrower of the provisions of this Agreement and all of the other Financing Documents or
otherwise under the Obligations. The security interest and Lien of each Lender in such property shall rank equally in priority with the
interest of each other Lender, but the security interest and Lien of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations shall be superior
and paramount to the security interest and Lien of the Lenders.
 

Section 3.2  Grant of Liens.
 

The Borrower hereby assigns, pledges and grants to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the
Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, and agrees that the Agent and the Lenders shall have a perfected and continuing
security interest in, and Lien on the following property of the Borrower, all whether now owned or existing or hereafter acquired or
arising wherever situated: all of the Borrower’s Receivables, inventory, chattel paper, documents, instruments, Equipment, investment
property, and General Intangibles; all of the Borrower’s deposit accounts with any financial institution with which the Borrower
maintains deposits; all insurance policies covering the foregoing and the right to receive refunds of unearned insurance premiums
under those policies; all books and records in whatever media (paper, electronic or otherwise) recorded or stored, with respect to the
foregoing and all Equipment and General Intangibles necessary or beneficial to retain, access and/or process the information
contained in those books and records; all of the personal property of the Borrower, whether now owned or existing or hereafter
acquired or created; and, and all of the Borrower’s other personal property of any kind or nature whatsoever, and all cash proceeds
and noncash proceeds and products of the foregoing. The Borrower further agrees that the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the
Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, shall have in respect thereof all of the rights and
remedies of a secured party under the Uniform Commercial Code as well as those provided in this Agreement, under each of the
other Financing Documents and under applicable Laws.
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Section 3.3  Perfection Certificate.
 

On or prior to the Closing Date, the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent a certificate in substantially the form attached to this
Agreement as EXHIBIT B (the “Perfection Certificate”) which shall contain such information with respect to the Borrower’s business
and real and personal property as the Agent may require and shall be certified by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower, all in the
form provided to the Borrower by the Agent and as revised in connection with Compliance Certificates from time to time.
 

Section 3.4  Personal Property.
 

The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that it is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that the Agent, for the ratable
benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, shall have a first priority, perfected Lien,
in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, on all of the Borrower’s personal property of any kind and nature
whatsoever, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, subject only to the Permitted Liens, if any. In furtherance of the foregoing:
 

3.4.1  Promissory Notes, etc.
 

Subject to the provisions of subsection (b) below, on the Closing Date and without implying any limitation on the
scope of Section 3.2 (Grant of Liens), the Borrower shall deliver to the Agent (or the Servicer, to the extent so provided in the
Servicing Agreement Assignment) all originals of all of Premium Finance Agreements, the Borrower’s letters of credit, instruments and
other Collateral that may be perfected by possession and, if the Agent so requires, shall execute and deliver a separate pledge,
assignment and security agreement in form and content acceptable to the Agent, which pledge, assignment and security agreement
shall assign, pledge and grant a Lien to the Agent on all of the Borrower’s letters of credit, instruments and possessory Collateral. In
the event that the Borrower shall acquire after the Closing Date any letters of credit or instruments and other possessory Collateral,
the Borrower shall promptly so notify the Agent and deliver the originals of all of the foregoing to the Agent promptly and in any event
within ten (10) days of each acquisition. All letters of credit, instruments and other possessory Collateral shall be delivered to the
Agent endorsed and/or assigned as required by the pledge, assignment and security agreement and/or as the Agent may require
and, if applicable, shall be accompanied by blank irrevocable and unconditional stock or bond powers.
 

3.4.2  Patents, Copyrights and Other Property Requiring Additional Steps to Perfect.
 

On the Closing Date and without implying any limitation on the scope of Section 3.2 (Grant of Liens), the Borrower
shall execute and deliver all Financing Documents and on or after the Closing Date, as applicable, the Borrower take all actions
requested by the Agent in order to perfect a first priority assignment of Patents, Copyrights, Trademarks, customer lists or any other
type or kind of intellectual property acquired by the Borrower after the Closing Date.
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Section 3.5  Record Searches.
 

A s of the Closing Date and thereafter at the time any Financing Document is executed and delivered by the Borrower
pursuant to this Section, the Agent shall have received, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, such Lien or record searches
with respect to all of the Borrower and/or any other Person, as appropriate, and the property covered by such Financing Document
showing that the Lien of such Financing Document will be a perfected first priority Lien on the property covered by such Financing
Document subject only to Permitted Liens or to such other matters as the Agent may approve.
 

Section 3.6  Real Property.
 

The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that it is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that the Agent, for the ratable
benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, shall have a first priority, perfected Lien,
in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and its counsel, on all of the Borrower’s real property of any kind and nature
whatsoever, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, subject only to the Permitted Liens, if any, although the Borrower at this time
owns no real property. In furtherance of the foregoing:
 

With respect to real property acquired by the Borrower after the Closing Date, the Borrower shall, promptly after acquisition
thereof, grant a Lien covering such real property to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent
with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, under the provisions of a mortgage, deed of trust or other document, as appropriate. Each
Financing Document to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto shall:
 

(a)  be in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent;
 

(b)  create a first priority Lien in such real property in favor of the Agent, for the ratable benefit of
the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, subject only to Permitted Liens, zoning
ordinances, and such other matters as the Agent may approve;

 
(c)  be accompanied by a current appraisal of the fair market value of the subject real property

prepared by appraisers satisfactory to the Agent;
 

(d)  be accompanied by a current survey satisfactory in all respects to the Agent of the subject
real property, prepared by a registered land surveyor or engineer satisfactory to the Agent;

 
(e)  b e accompanied by evidence satisfactory to the Agent regarding the current and past

pollution control practices at such real property in connection with the discharge, emission, handling, disposal or existence of
Hazardous Materials, which may include, at the Agent’s request, an environmental audit of such real property prepared by a
person or firm acceptable to the Agent;
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(f)  b e accompanied by a mortgagee’s title insurance policy or marked-up unconditional

commitment or binder for such insurance in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and issued by a title insurance
company satisfactory to the Agent; and

 
(g)  upon request of the Agent, be accompanied by a signed opinion of counsel addressed to the

Agent and each of the Lenders, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent, and from counsel, satisfactory to the Agent,
licensed to practice in the state where the subject real property is located.

 
Section 3.7  Costs.

 
The Borrower agrees to pay, as part of the Enforcement Costs and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Laws, on

demand all costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Agent and/or any of the Lenders in connection with the taking, perfection,
preservation, protection and/or release of a Lien on the Collateral, including, without limitation:
 

(a)  fees and expenses incurred by the Agent and/or any of the Lenders in preparing, reviewing,
negotiating and finalizing the Financing Documents from time to time (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees
incurred in connection with preparing, reviewing, negotiating, and finalizing any of the Financing Documents, including, any
amendments and supplements thereto);

 
(b)  all filing and/or recording taxes or fees;

 
(c)  all title insurance premiums and costs;

 
(d)  all costs of Lien and record searches;

 
(e)  reasonable attorneys’ fees in connection with all legal opinions required;

 
(f)  appraisal and/or survey costs; and

 
(g)  all related costs, fees and expenses.

 
Section 3.8  Release.

 
Upon the indefeasible repayment in full in cash of the Obligations and performance of all Obligations of the Borrower and all

obligations and liabilities of each other Person, other than the Agent and the Lenders, under this Agreement and all other Financing
Documents, the termination and/or expiration of all of the Commitments, upon the Borrower’s request and at the Borrower’s sole cost
and expense, the Agent shall release and/or terminate any Financing Document but only if and provided that there is no commitment
or obligation (whether or not conditional) of the Agent and/or any of the Lenders to re-advance amounts that would be secured
thereby.
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Section 3.9  Inconsistent Provisions.
 

I n the event that the provisions of any Financing Document directly conflict with any provision of this Agreement, the
provisions of this Agreement govern.
 

ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

 
Section 4.1  Representations and Warranties.

 
The Borrower represents and warrants to the Agent and the Lenders, as follows:

 
4.1.1  Subsidiaries.

 
The Borrower has no Subsidiaries except as noted on the Perfection Certificate. Each of the Subsidiaries is a Wholly

Owned Subsidiary except as shown on the Perfection Certificate, which correctly indicates the nature and amount of the Borrower’s
ownership interests therein. Each of the Subsidiaries (a) is a corporation duly organized, existing and in good standing under the laws
of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, (b) has the corporate power to own its property and to carry on its business as now being
conducted, and (c) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the character of the properties
owned by it therein or in which the transaction of its business makes such qualification necessary..
 

4.1.2  Good Standing.
 

The Borrower (a) is a corporation duly organized, existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its
incorporation stated in the Perfection Certificate and in no other jurisdiction, (b) has the corporate power to own its property and to
carry on its business as now being conducted, and (c) is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in
which the character of the properties owned by it therein or in which the transaction of its business makes such qualification
necessary.
 

4.1.3  Power and Authority.
 

The Borrower has full corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, and the other Financing
Documents to which it is a party, to make the borrowings under this Agreement and to incur and perform the Obligations whether
under this Agreement, the other Financing Documents or otherwise, all of which have been duly authorized by all proper and
necessary corporate action. No consent or approval of shareholders or any creditors of the Borrower, and no consent, approval, filing
or registration with or notice to any Governmental Authority on the part of the Borrower, is required as a condition to the execution,
delivery, validity or enforceability of this Agreement the other Financing Documents, or the performance by the Borrower of the
Obligations.
 

4.1.4  Binding Agreements.
 

This Agreement and the other Financing Documents executed and delivered by the Borrower have been properly
executed and delivered and constitute the valid and legally binding obligations of the Borrower and are fully enforceable against the
Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws of
general application affecting the rights and remedies of creditors and secured parties, and general principles of equity regardless of
whether applied in a proceeding in equity or at law.
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4.1.5  No Conflicts.
 

Neither the execution, delivery and performance of the terms of this Agreement or of any of the other Financing
Documents executed and delivered by the Borrower nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will
conflict with, violate or be prevented by (a) the Borrower’s charter or bylaws, (b) any existing mortgage, indenture, contract or
agreement binding on the Borrower or affecting its property, or (c) any Laws.
 

4.1.6  No Defaults, Violations.
 

(a)  No Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing.
 

(b)  Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is in default under or with respect to any obligation
under any existing mortgage, indenture, contract or agreement binding on it or affecting its property in any respect that could have a
Material Adverse Effect.
 

4.1.7  Compliance with Laws.
 

Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any applicable Laws (including, without limitation,
any Laws relating to employment practices, t o environmental, occupational and health standards and controls) or order, writ,
injunction, decree or demand of any court, arbitrator, or any Governmental Authority affecting the Borrower or any of its properties,
the violation of which, considered in the aggregate, could have a Material Adverse Effect.
 

4.1.8  Margin Stock.
 

None of the proceeds of the Loans will be used, directly or indirectly, by the Borrower or any Subsidiary for the
purpose of purchasing or carrying, or for the purpose of reducing or retiring any indebtedness that was originally incurred to purchase
or carry, any “margin stock” within the meaning of Regulation U (12 CFR Part 221), of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System or for any other purpose that might make the transactions contemplated in this Agreement a “purpose credit” within the
meaning of Regulation U, or cause this Agreement to violate any other regulation of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or the Small Business Investment Act of 1958, as amended, or any rules or
regulations promulgated under any of such statutes.
 

4.1.9  Investment Company Act; Margin Securities.
 

Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is an investment company within the meaning of the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended, nor is it, directly or indirectly, controlled by or acting on behalf of any Person which is an
investment company within the meaning of said Act. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one
of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of purchasing o r carrying “margin stock” within the
meaning of Regulation U (12 CFR Part 221), of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
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4.1.10  Litigation.

 
Except a s otherwise disclosed on Schedule 4.1.10 attached hereto and made a part hereof, there are no

proceedings, actions or investigations pending or, so far as the Borrower knows, threatened before or by any court, arbitrator or any
Governmental Authority that, in any one case or in the aggregate, if determined adversely to the interests of the Borrower or any
Subsidiary, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Borrower.
 

4.1.11  Financial Condition.
 

The financial statements of the Parent dated March 31, 2006, are complete and correct and fairly present the
financial position of the Parent and its Subsidiaries and the results of its operations and transactions in its surplus accounts as of the
date and for the period referred to and have been prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the
period involved. The financial statements of the Payments dated May 31, 2006, are complete and correct and fairly present the
financial position of the Borrower and the results of its operations and transactions in its surplus accounts. There are no liabilities,
direct or indirect, fixed or contingent, of the Parent or its Subsidiaries or the Borrower as of the date of such financial statements that
are not reflected therein or in the notes thereto. There has been no adverse change in the financial condition or operations of the
Parent or its Subsidiaries or the Borrower since the date of such financial statements and t o the Borrower’s knowledge no such
adverse change is pending or threatened. Neither the Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor the Borrower has guaranteed the
obligations of, or made any investment in or advances to, any Person, except as disclosed in such financial statements.
 

4.1.12  Full Disclosure.
 

The financial statements referred to in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition) of this Agreement, the Financing
Documents (including, without limitation, this Agreement), and the statements, reports or certificates furnished by the Borrower in
connection with the Financing Documents (a) do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and (b) when taken in their
entirety, do not omit any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading. There is no fact known to
the Borrower that the Borrower has not disclosed to the Agent and the Lenders in writing prior to the date of this Agreement with
respect to the transactions contemplated by the Financing Documents that materially and adversely affects or in the future could, in
the reasonable opinion of the Borrower materially adversely affect the condition, financial or otherwise, results of operations,
business, or assets of the Borrower or of any Subsidiary.
 

4.1.13  Indebtedness for Borrowed Money.
 

Except for the Obligations and except as set forth in Schedule 4.1.13 attached hereto and made a part hereof, the
Borrower has no Indebtedness for Borrowed Money. The Agent has received photocopies of all promissory notes evidencing any
Indebtedness for Borrowed Money set forth in Schedule 4.1.13, together with any and all subordination agreements, other
agreements, documents, or instruments securing, evidencing, guarantying or otherwise executed and delivered in connection
therewith.
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4.1.14  Parent Subordinated Debt.
 

None o f the Parent Subordinated Debt Documents has been amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise
modified except as otherwise disclosed to the Agent and the Lenders in writing on or before the effective date of any such
amendment, supplement, restatement or other modification. In addition, there does not exist any default or any event that upon notice
or lapse of time or both would constitute a default under the terms of any of the Parent Subordinated Debt Documents.
 

4.1.15  Taxes.
 

Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has filed all returns, reports and forms for Taxes that, to the knowledge of
the Borrower, are required to be filed, and has paid all Taxes as shown on such returns or on any assessment received by it, to the
extent that such Taxes have become due, unless and to the extent only that such Taxes, assessments and governmental charges are
currently contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings by the Borrower, such Taxes are not the subject of any Liens other
than Permitted Liens, and adequate reserves therefor have been established as required under GAAP. All tax liabilities of the
Borrower were as of the date of audited financial statements referred to in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition), and are now,
adequately provided for on the books of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, as appropriate. No tax liability has been asserted by the
Internal Revenue Service or any state or local authority against the Borrower for Taxes in excess of those already paid.
 

4.1.16  ERISA.
 

With respect to any Plan that is maintained or contributed to by the Borrower and/or by any ERISA Affiliate or as to
which the Borrower retains material liability: (a) no “accumulated funding deficiency” as defined in Code §412 or ERISA §302 has
occurred, whether or not that accumulated funding deficiency has been waived; (b) no Reportable Event has occurred other than
events for which reporting has been waived or that are unlikely to result in material liability for the Borrower; (c) no termination of any
plan subject to Title IV of ERISA has occurred; (d) neither the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred a “complete withdrawal”
within the meaning of ERISA §4203 from any Multi-employer Plan that is likely to result in material liability for the Borrower; (e) neither
the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred a “partial withdrawal” within the meaning of ERISA §4205 with respect to any Multi-
employer Plan that is likely to result in material liability for the Borrower; (f) no Multi-employer Plan to which the Borrower or any
ERISA Affiliate has an obligation to contribute is to the knowledge of the Borrower, in “reorganization” within the meaning of ERISA
§4241 nor has notice been received by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate that such a Multi-employer Plan will b e placed in
“reorganization”.
 

4.1.17  Title to Properties.
 

The Borrower has good and marketable title to all of its properties, including, without limitation, the Collateral and the
properties and assets reflected i n the balance sheets described in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition). The Borrower has legal,
enforceable and uncontested rights to use freely such property and assets. All of such properties (including, without limitation, the
Collateral) that were purchased, were purchased for fair consideration and reasonably equivalent value in the ordinary course of
business of both the seller and the Borrower and not, by way of example only, as part of a bulk sale.
 
 

-56-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



4.1.18  Patents, Trademarks, Etc.
 

Each of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries owns, possesses, or has the right to use all necessary Patents, licenses,
Trademarks, Copyrights, permits and franchises to own its properties and to conduct its business as now conducted, without known
conflict with the rights of any other Person. Any and all obligations to pay royalties or other charges with respect to such properties
and assets are properly reflected on the financial statements described in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition).
 

4.1.19  Premium Finance Licenses.
 

(a)  Payments Inc. holds all Premium Finance Licenses and all other licenses, permits, approvals and
authorizations required in connection with the conduct of its present and proposed business. All such Premium Finance Licenses and
the like are (and shall remain) valid and in full force and effect. Each of Parent and its other Subsidiaries holds all licenses, permits,
approvals and authorizations required in connection with the conduct of its present and proposed business
 

(b)  EXHIBIT G sets forth a complete list and description of all Premium Finance Licenses required for the
conduct of Payments Inc.’s business in the normal course. Each such Premium Finance License is validly issued and in full force and
effect, and constitutes all of the authorization necessary for the operation of Payments Inc.’s business in the normal course. Complete
and correct copies of the Premium Finance Licenses have been delivered to the Agent. No event has occurred which (i) permits, or
after notice or lapse of time or both would permit, revocation, lapse or termination of any Premium Finance Licenses, or (ii) materially
and adversely affects, or in the future would materially and adversely affect, any of the rights of Payments Inc. thereunder. No other
license, permit, approval, authorization or franchise is required for the operation of Payments Inc.’s business. Payments Inc. has no
reason to believe nor any knowledge that the Premium Finance Licenses listed and described on EXHIBIT G will not be renewed in
the ordinary course. Payments Inc. has filed or will timely file all reports, applications, documents, instruments, and information
required to be filed by it pursuant to applicable rules and regulations or requests of every regulatory body having jurisdiction over any
of the Premium Finance Licenses.
 

4.1.20  Employee Relations.
 

Except as disclosed on Schedule 4.1.20 attached hereto and made a part hereof, (a) neither the Borrower nor any
Subsidiary thereof nor any of the Borrower’s or Subsidiary’s employees is subject to any collective bargaining agreement, (b) no
petition for certification or union election is pending with respect to the employees of the Borrower or any Subsidiary and no union or
collective bargaining unit has sought such certification or recognition with respect to the employees of the Borrower, (c) there are no
strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or controversies pending or, to the best knowledge of the Borrower after due inquiry, threatened
between the Borrower and its employees, and (d) neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to an employment
contract, severance agreement, commission contract, consulting agreement or bonus agreement. Hours worked and payments made
to the employees of the Borrower have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable law dealing with
such matters. All payments due from the Borrower or for which any claim may be made against the Borrower, on account of wages
and employee and retiree health and welfare insurance and other benefits have been paid or accrued as a liability on its books. The
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents, will not give rise to a
right of termination or right of renegotiation on the part of any union under any collective bargaining agreement to which the Borrower
is a party or by which it is bound.
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4.1.21  Presence of Hazardous Materials or Hazardous Materials Contamination.
 

T o the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, (a) no Hazardous Materials are located on any real property owned,
controlled or operated by of the Borrower or for which the Borrower is, or is claimed to be, responsible, except for reasonable
quantities of necessary supplies for use by the Borrower in the ordinary course of its current line of business and stored, used and
disposed in accordance with applicable Laws; and (b) no property owned, controlled or operated by the Borrower or for which the
Borrower has, or is claimed to have, responsibility has ever been used as a manufacturing, storage, or dump site for Hazardous
Materials nor is affected by Hazardous Materials Contamination at any other property.
 

4.1.22  Perfection and Priority of Collateral.
 

The Agent and the Lenders have, or upon execution and recording of this Agreement and the Security Documents
will have, and will continue to have as security for the Obligations, a valid and perfected Lien on and security interest in all Collateral,
free of all other Liens, claims and rights of third parties whatsoever except Permitted Liens, including, without limitation, those
described on Schedule 4.1.22 attached hereto and made a part hereof.
 

4.1.23  Places of Business and Location of Collateral.
 

The information contained in the Perfection Certificate is complete and correct. The Perfection Certificate completely
and accurately identifies the address of (a) the state of organization of the Borrower, (b) the chief executive office of the Borrower, (c)
any and each other place of business of the Borrower, (d) the location of all books and records pertaining to the Collateral, and (e)
each location, other than the foregoing, where any of the Collateral is located. The proper and only places to file financing statements
with respect to the Collateral within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code are the filing office for the jurisdiction in which the
Borrower is organized and the local real property filing office for any location at which the Borrower has fixtures, all as identified on
the Perfection Certificate.
 

4.1.24  Business Information.
 

In the five (5) years preceding the date hereof, the Borrower has not changed its name, state of organization, identity
or organizational structure, has conducted business under any name other than its current name, and has conducted its business in
any jurisdiction other than those disclosed on the Perfection Certificate.
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4.1.25  Equipment.

 
All Equipment is personalty and is not and will not be affixed to real estate in such manner as to become a fixture or

part of such real estate. No equipment is held by the Borrower on a sale on approval basis.
 

4.1.26  Receivables.
 

With respect to all Receivables and to the best of the Borrower’s knowledge (a) they are genuine, and in all respects
what they purport to be, and are not evidenced by a judgment, an instrument, or chattel paper (unless such judgment has been
assigned and such instrument or chattel paper has been endorsed and delivered to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders ratably
and the Agent); (b) they represent bona fide transactions completed in accordance with the terms and provisions contained in the
invoices, purchase orders and other contracts relating thereto, and the underlying transaction therefor is in accordance with all
applicable Laws; (c) the amounts shown on the Borrower’s books and records, with respect thereto are actually and absolutely owing
to the Borrower and are not contingent or subject to reduction for any reason other than regular discounts, credits or adjustments
allowed by the Borrower in the ordinary course of its business; (d) no payments have been or shall be made thereon except
payments turned over to the Agent by the Borrower; and (e) all Account Debtors thereon have the capacity to contract.
 

4.1.27  Compliance with Eligibility Standards.
 

Each Receivable included in the calculation of the Borrowing Base does and will at all times meet and comply with all
of the standards for Eligible Receivables. With respect to those Receivable that the Agent has deemed Eligible Receivables (a) there
are no facts, events or occurrences that in any way impair the validity, collectibility or enforceability thereof or tend to reduce the
amount payable thereunder; and (b) there are no proceedings or actions known to the Borrower that are threatened or pending
against any Account Debtor that might result in any material adverse change in the Borrowing Base.
 

4.1.28  Original Financing Agreement.
 

No Default or Event of Default (including, without limitation, those with respect to representations and warranties)
existed under the Original Financing Agreement or under any of the other Financing Documents immediately before the execution
and delivery of this Agreement.
 

4.1.29  Solvency
 

The Borrower is Solvent prior to and after giving effect to the making of the Loans.
 

4.1.30  Subsidiary.
 

AARD-VARK Agency, Ltd., a wholly-owned Subsidiary of Barry Scott Acquisition Corp., has been sold and neither the
Parent nor any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Parent retains any interest therein.
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Section 4.2  Survival; Updates of Representations and Warranties.

 
All representations and warranties contained in or made under or in connection with this Agreement and the other Financing

Documents shall survive the Closing Date, the making of any advance under the Loans and extension of credit made hereunder, and
the incurring of any other Obligations and shall be deemed to have been made at the time of each request for, and again at the time
of the making of, each advance under the Loans and Revolver Usage, except that the representations and warranties that relate to
the financial statements that are referred to in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition), shall also be deemed to cover financial statements
furnished from time to time to the Agent and the Lenders pursuant to Section 6.1.1 (Financial Statements).
 

ARTICLE V
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

 
Section 5.1  Conditions to the Initial Advance.

 
The making of the initial Advance under the Revolving Loan, the initial Term Line advance, and other Revolver Usage on the

Closing Date are subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent in a manner satisfactory in form and substance to the
Agent and its counsel:
 

5.1.1  Organizational Documents - Borrower.
 

The Agent shall have received with respect to the Borrower:
 

(a)  a certificate of good standing certified by the Secretary of State, or other appropriate
Governmental Authority, of the state of incorporation of the Borrower;

 
(b)  a certified copy from the appropriate Governmental Authority under which the Borrower is

organized, of the Borrower’s recorded articles of incorporation and all recorded amendments thereto;
 

(c)  a certificate of qualification to do business for the Borrower certified by the Secretary of State
or other Governmental Authority of each state in which the Borrower conducts business;

 
(d)  a certificate dated as of the Closing Date by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the

Borrower covering:
 

(i)  true and complete copies of the Borrower’s corporate charter,
bylaws, and all amendments thereto;

 
(ii)  true and complete copies of the resolutions of its Board of Directors

authorizing (A) the execution, delivery and performance of the Financing Documents to which it is a party, (B) the
borrowings hereunder, and (C) the granting of the Liens contemplated by this Agreement and the Financing
Documents to which the Borrower is a party;

 
 

-60-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(iii)  t he incumbency, authority and signatures of the officers of the
Borrower authorized to sign this Agreement and the other Financing Documents to which the Borrower is a party; and

 
(iv)  t he identity of the Borrower’s current directors, common stock

holders and other equity holders, as well as their respective percentage ownership interests.
 

5.1.2  Opinion of Borrower’s Counsel.
 

The Agent shall have received the favorable opinion of counsel for the Borrower addressed to the Agent and the
Lenders in form satisfactory to the Agent.
 

5.1.3  Organizational Documents - Corporate Guarantor.
 

The Agent shall have received with respect to each of the Corporate Guarantors:
 

(a)  a certificate of good standing certified by the Secretary of State, or other appropriate
Governmental Authority, of the state of incorporation for the Corporate Guarantor;

 
(b)  a certificate of qualification to do business certified by the Secretary of State or other

Governmental Authority of each state in which the Corporate Guarantor conducts business;
 

(c)  a certificate dated as of the Closing Date by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the
Corporate Guarantor covering:

 
(i)  true and complete copies of the Corporate Guarantor’s corporate

charter, bylaws, and all amendments thereto;
 

(ii)  true and complete copies of the resolutions of the Board of Directors
of the Corporate Guarantor authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Financing Documents to which
the Corporate Guarantor is a party and the granting of the Liens contemplated by any of the Financing Documents to
which the Corporate Guarantor is a party;

 
(iii)  t he incumbency, authority and signatures of the officers of the

Corporate Guarantor authorized to sign its Corporate Guaranty and all other Financing Documents t o which the
Corporate Guarantor is a party;

 
(iv)  the identity of the Corporate Guarantor’s current directors, common

stock holders and other equity holders, as well as their respective percentage ownership interests;
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(d)  the favorable opinion of counsel for the Corporate Guarantor addressed to the Agent and the
Lenders and in form satisfactory to the Agent.

 
5.1.4  Consents, Licenses, Approvals, Etc.

 
The Agent shall have received copies of all consents, licenses and approvals, including all Premium Finance

Licenses, required in connection with the execution, delivery, performance, validity and enforceability of the Financing Documents
and continued operation of the Borrower’s business, and such consents, licenses and approvals, including the Premium Finance
Licenses, shall be in full force and effect.
 

5.1.5  Notes.
 

The Agent shall have received for delivery to each of the Lenders the Revolving Credit Notes, each conforming to the
requirements hereof and executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower and attested by a duly authorized representative of the
Borrower.
 

5.1.6  Financing Documents and Collateral.
 

The Borrower shall have executed and delivered the Financing Documents to be executed by it, and shall have
delivered original chattel paper, instruments, investment property, and related Collateral and all opinions, title insurance, and other
documents contemplated by Article III (The Collateral).
 

5.1.7  Other Financing Documents.
 

In addition to the Financing Documents to be delivered by the Borrower, the Agent shall have received the Financing
Documents duly executed and delivered by Persons other than the Borrower.
 

5.1.8  Documents, Etc.
 

The Agent shall have received such other certificates, opinions, documents and instruments confirmatory of or
otherwise relating to the transactions contemplated hereby as may have been reasonably requested by the Agent.
 

5.1.9  Payment of Fees.
 

The Agent and the Lenders shall have received payment of any Fees due on or before the Closing Date.
 

5.1.10  Perfection Certificate.
 

The Borrower shall have delivered the Perfection Certificate required under the provisions of Section 3.3 (Perfection
Certificate) duly executed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower.
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5.1.11  Recordings and Filings.

 
The Borrower shall have: (a) executed and delivered all Financing Documents (including, without limitation, UCC-1

and UCC-3 statements) required to be filed, registered or recorded in order to create, in favor of the Agent and the Lenders, a
perfected Lien in the Collateral (subject only to the Permitted Liens) in form and in sufficient number for filing, registration, and
recording in each office in each jurisdiction in which such filings, registrations and recordations are required, and (b) delivered such
evidence as the Agent may deem satisfactory that all necessary filing fees and all recording and other similar fees, and all Taxes and
other expenses related to such filings, registrations and recordings will be or have been paid in full.
 

5.1.12  Insurance Certificate.
 

The Agent shall have received an insurance certificate in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1.8 (Insurance)
and Section 6.1.19 (Insurance With Respect to Equipment).
 

5.1.13  Bailee Acknowledgements.
 

The Agent shall have received an agreement acknowledging the Liens of the Agent and the Lenders from each
bailee, warehouseman, consignee or similar third party that has possession of any of the Collateral, which agreements must be
reasonably acceptable to the Agent and its counsel in their sole and absolute discretion.
 

5.1.14  Field Examination.
 

The Agent shall have completed a field examination of the Borrower’s business, operations and income, the results of
which field examination shall be in all respects acceptable to the Agent in its sole and absolute discretion and shall include reference
discussions with key customers and vendors.
 

5.1.15  Life Insurance.
 

The Agent shall have received a life insurance policy on the life of Barry B. Goldstein in an amount not less than One
Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000) issued by an insurance company and in such form and content satisfactory to
the Agent, together with the fully executed duplicate originals of the Assignment of Life Insurance.
 

5.1.16  Subordination Agreement.
 

T h e Agent shall have received the fully executed Subordination Agreement and the Parent Subordination
Agreements in form and content acceptable to the Agent. The Agent shall have received and approved copies of the fully executed
Subordinated Debt Documents and the Parent Subordinated Debt Documents, all of which must be in form and content acceptable to
the Agent.
 

5.1.17  Servicing Agreement; Back-Up Servicing Agent.
 

The Agent shall have received true and complete copies of the Servicing Agreement Documents.
 
 

-63-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



5.1.18  Servicing.
 

The Agent shall have received true and complete copies of the Servicing Agreement Documents and of the Back-Up
Servicing Agreement.
 

Section 5.2  Conditions to all Extensions of Credit.
 

The making of all advances under the Loans is subject to the fulfillment of the following conditions precedent in a manner
satisfactory in form and substance to the Agent and its counsel:
 

5.2.1  Compliance.
 

The Borrower shall have complied and shall then be in compliance with all terms, covenants, conditions and
provisions of this Agreement and the other Financing Documents that are binding upon it.
 

5.2.2  Borrowing Base.
 

The Borrower shall have furnished all Borrowing Base Reports required by Section 2.1.5 (Collateral Reporting), there
shall exist no Borrowing Base Deficiency, and as evidence thereof, the Borrower shall have furnished to the Agent such reports,
schedules, certificates, records and other papers as may be requested by the Agent, and the Borrower shall be in compliance with
the provisions of this Agreement both immediately before and immediately after the making of the Advance requested.
 

5.2.3  Default.
 

There shall exist no Event of Default or Default hereunder.
 

5.2.4  Representations and Warranties.
 

The representations and warranties of the Borrower contained among the provisions of this Agreement shall be true
and with the same effect as though such representations and warranties had been made at the time of the making of, and of the
request for, each advance under the Loans and Revolver Usage, except that the representations and warranties that relate to
financial statements which are referred to in Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition), shall also be deemed to cover financial statements
furnished from time to time to the Agent pursuant to Section 6.1.1 (Financial Statements).
 

5.2.5  Adverse Change.
 

N o adverse change shall have occurred in the condition (financial or otherwise), operations or business of the
Borrower that would, in the good faith judgment of the Agent, materially impair the ability of the Borrower to pay or perform any of the
Obligations.
 

5.2.6  Legal Matters.
 

All legal documents incident to each advance under the Loans and Revolver Usage shall be reasonably satisfactory
to counsel for the Agent.
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5.2.7  Consents, Licenses, Approvals, Etc.
 

N o Premium Finance Licenses or other consent, license or approval required for the continued operation of the
Borrower’s business, shall have been revoked, forfeited, terminated, allowed to lapse or otherwise invalidated.
 

ARTICLE VI
COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER

 
Section 6.1  Affirmative Covenants.

 
So long as any of the Obligations (or any the Commitments therefor) shall be outstanding hereunder, the Borrower agrees

with the Agent and the Lenders as follows:
 

6.1.1  Financial Statements.
 

The Borrower shall furnish to the Agent and the Lenders:
 

(a)  Borrower Information.The Borrower shall provide the financial reports and information set forth on
EXHIBIT D attached to and a part of this Agreement and such other reports and information as the Agent may require.
 

(b)  Parent Annual Statements and Certificates. The Parent shall furnish to the Agent and each of the
Lenders as soon as available, but in no event more than ninety (90) days after the close of each fiscal year of the Parent, (i) a copy of
the annual financial statement in reasonable detail satisfactory to the Agent relating to the Parent and its Subsidiaries, prepared in
accordance with GAAP and examined and certified by independent certified public accountants satisfactory to the Agent, which
financial statement shall include a consolidated and consolidating balance sheet of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as of the end of
such fiscal year and consolidated and consolidating statements of income, cash flows and changes in shareholders equity of the
Parent and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal year, and (ii) a management letter in the form prepared by the Parent’s independent
certified public accountants.
 

(c)  Annual Opinion of Accountant. The Parent shall furnish to the Agent and each of the Lenders as soon
as available, but in no event more than ninety (90) days after the close of the Parent’s fiscal years, a letter or opinion of the
accountant who examined and certified the annual financial statement relating to the Parent and its Subsidiaries (i) stating whether
anything in such accountant’s examination has revealed the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default hereunder, and, if so,
stating the facts with respect thereto and (ii) acknowledging that the Agent will rely on the statement and that the Parent knows of the
intended reliance by the Agent.
 

(d)  Quarterly Statements and Certificates. The Parent shall furnish to the Agent and each of the Lenders
as soon as available, but in no event more than forty-five (45) days after the close of the Parent’s fiscal quarters, consolidated and
consolidating balance sheets of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as of the close of such period, consolidated and consolidating income,
cash flows and changes in shareholders equity statements for such period, projected cash flow on a month to month basis and
projected income statements, a certification that no change has occurred to the information contained in the Perfection Certificate
(except as set forth on any schedule attached to the certification), prepared by a Responsible Officer in a format acceptable to the
Agent, all as prepared and certified by a Responsible Officer and accompanied by a certificate of that officer stating whether any
event has occurred that constitutes a Default or an Event of Default hereunder, and, if so, stating the facts with respect thereto. With
the foregoing, the Borrower shall provide a Compliance Certificate, in substantially the form attached to this Agreement as EXHIBIT
C.
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(e)  Annual Budget and Projections. The Borrower shall furnish to the Agent and each of the Lenders as
soon as available, but in no event later than the 10th day before the end of each fiscal year a consolidated and consolidating budget
and pro forma financial statements on a month-to-month basis for the following fiscal year.
 

(f)  Perfection Certificates. Promptly after request by the Agent from time to time and no later than thirty
(30) days prior to any material change to information contained on the Perfection Certificate, the Borrower shall furnish to the Agent
an update of the information contained in the Perfection Certificate.
 

(g)  Additional Reports and Information. The Borrower shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the
Agent promptly, such additional information, reports or statements with respect to the Borrower and/or any one or more of the
Corporate Guarantors as the Agent and/or any of the Lenders may from time to time reasonably request.
 

6.1.2  Reports to SEC and to Stockholders.
 

The Borrower will furnish to the Agent and the Lenders, promptly upon the filing or making thereof, at least one (l)
copy of all financial statements, reports, notices and proxy statements sent by the Borrower to its stockholders, and of all regular and
other reports filed by the Borrower with any securities exchange or with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 

6.1.3  Recordkeeping, Rights of Inspection, Field Examination, Etc.
 

(a)  The Borrower shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain (i) a standard system of
accounting in accordance with GAAP, and (ii) proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of
all dealings and transactions in relation to its properties, business and activities.
 

(b)  The Borrower shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit authorized representatives of
the Agent to visit and inspect the properties of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, to review, audit, check and inspect the Collateral at
any time with or without notice, to conduct field examinations, to review, audit, check and inspect the Borrower’s other books of record
at any time with or without notice and to make abstracts and photocopies thereof, and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of
the Borrower and/or any Subsidiaries, with the officers, directors, employees and other representatives of the Borrower and/or any
Subsidiaries and their respective accountants, all at such times during normal business hours and other reasonable times and as
often as the Agent may reasonably request.
 

(c)  The Borrower hereby irrevocably authorizes and directs all accountants and auditors employed by the
Borrower and/or any Subsidiaries at any time prior to the repayment in full of the Obligations to exhibit and deliver to the Agent and
the Lenders copies of any and all of the financial statements, trial balances, management letters, or other accounting records of any
nature of the Borrower and/or any Subsidiaries in the accountant’s or auditor’s possession, and to disclose to the Agent and any of
the Lenders any information they may have concerning the financial status and business operations of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries. Further, the Borrower hereby authorizes all Governmental Authorities to furnish to the Agent and the Lenders copies of
reports or examinations relating to the Borrower and/or any Subsidiaries, whether made by the Borrower or otherwise.
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(d)  Any and all costs and expenses incurred by, or on behalf of, the Agent in connection with the conduct
of any of the foregoing, including, without limitation, the actual fees and expenses charged for third party examinations and further
including, without limitation, travel, lodging, meals, and other expenses together with an allocated charge of $90 per hour for each
examiner that is an employee of the Agent for inspections of the Collateral and the Borrower’s operations and for associated write-up
time, shall be part of the Enforcement Costs and shall be payable to the Agent upon demand. The Borrower acknowledges and
agrees that such expenses may include, but shall not be limited to, any and all out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agent’s
employees, agents and third party examiners in, and when, traveling to the Borrower’s facilities.
 

6.1.4  Corporate Existence.
 

The Borrower shall maintain, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain, its corporate existence in good standing
in the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated and in each other jurisdiction where it is required to register or qualify to do business if the
failure to do so in such other jurisdiction might have a Material Adverse Effect on the Borrower or such Subsidiary.
 

6.1.5  Compliance with Laws.
 

The Borrower shall comply, and cause each of its Subsidiaries to comply, with all applicable Laws and observe the
valid requirements of Governmental Authorities, the noncompliance with or the nonobservance of which might have a Material
Adverse Effect on the Borrower or such Subsidiary.
 

6.1.6  Preservation of Properties.
 

The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, at all times (a) maintain, preserve, protect and keep its
properties, whether owned or leased, in good operating condition, working order and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and
from time to time will make all proper repairs, maintenance, replacements, additions and improvements thereto needed to maintain
such properties in good operating condition, working order and repair, and (b) do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve
and to keep in full force and effect its material franchises, leases of real and personal property, trade names, patents, trademarks and
permits that are necessary for the orderly continuance of its business.
 

6.1.7  Line of Business.
 

Payments Inc. will continue to engage substantially only in the business of providing personal and/or commercial
automobile property and casualty insurance policies premium finance services. The Parent and its other Subsidiaries will continue to
engage substantially only in their current lines of insurance-related services.
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6.1.8  Insurance.

 
The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, at all times maintain, with financially sound and reputable

insurers having a rating of at least A-VII or better by Best Rating Guide or other comparable rating chosen by the Agent, insurance as
is required by applicable Laws and such other insurance, in such amounts, of such types and against such risks, hazards, liabilities,
casualties and contingencies as are usually insured against in the same geographic areas by business entities engaged in the same
or similar business. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep
adequately insured all of its property against loss or damage resulting from fire or other risks insured against by extended coverage
and maintain public liability insurance against claims for personal injury, death or property damage occurring upon, in or about any
properties occupied or controlled by it, or arising in any manner out of the businesses carried on by it, all in such amounts not less
than the Agent shall reasonably determine from time to time. The Borrower shall deliver to the Agent on the Closing Date (and
thereafter on each date there is a material change in the insurance coverage) a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower
containing a detailed list of the insurance then in effect and stating the names of the insurance companies, the types, the amounts
and rates of the insurance, dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and risks covered thereby. Within thirty (30) days after
notice in writing from the Agent, the Borrower will obtain such additional insurance as the Agent may reasonably request.
 

6.1.9  Taxes.
 

Except t o the extent that the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith and by appropriate
proceedings, the Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay and discharge all Taxes prior to the date when any
interest or penalty would accrue for the nonpayment thereof. The Borrower shall furnish to the Agent, at such times as the Agent may
require, proof satisfactory to the Agent of the making of payments or deposits required by applicable Laws including, without limitation,
payments or deposits with respect to amounts withheld by the Borrower from wages and salaries of employees and amounts
contributed by the Borrower on account of federal and other income or wage taxes and amounts due under the Federal Insurance
Contributions Act, as amended.
 

6.1.10  ERISA.
 

The Borrower will, and will cause each of its ERISA Affiliates to, comply with the funding requirements of ERISA with
respect to Plans for its respective employees. The Borrower will not permit with respect to any Plan (a) any prohibited transaction or
transactions under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code, that results, or may result, in any material liability of the Borrower and/or
ERISA Affiliate, or (b) any Reportable Event if, upon termination of the plan o r plans with respect to which one or more such
Reportable Events shall have occurred, there is or would be any material liability of the Borrower and/or ERISA Affiliates to the
PBGC. Upon the Lender’s request, the Borrower will deliver to the Lender a copy of the most recent actuarial report, financial
statements and annual report completed with respect to any Plan.
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6.1.11  Notification of Events of Default and Adverse Developments.
 

The Borrower shall promptly notify the Agent upon obtaining knowledge of the occurrence of:
 

(a)  any Event of Default;
 

(b)  any Default;
 

(c)  any litigation instituted or threatened against the Borrower or its Subsidiaries and of the entry
of any judgment or Lien (other than any Permitted Liens) against any of the assets or properties of the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries where the claims against the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollars
($100,000) and are not covered by insurance;

 
(d)  a n y event, development or circumstance whereby the financial statements furnished

hereunder fail in any material respect to present fairly, in accordance with GAAP, the financial condition and operational
results of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;

 
(e)  any judicial, administrative or arbitral proceeding pending against the Borrower or any of its

Subsidiaries and any judicial or administrative proceeding known by the Borrower to be threatened against the Borrower or
any of its Subsidiaries that, if adversely decided, could have a Material Adverse Effect;

 
(f)  the receipt by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of any notice, claim or demand from any

Governmental Authority that alleges that the Borrower or any Subsidiary is in violation of any of the terms of, or has failed to
comply with any applicable Laws regulating its operation and business, including, but not limited to, the Occupational Safety
and Health Act and the Environmental Protection Act; and

 
(g)  any other development in the business or affairs of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries

that may have a Material Adverse Effect;
 

(h)  in each case describing in detail satisfactory to the Agent the nature thereof and the action
the Borrower proposes to take with respect thereto.

 
6.1.12  Hazardous Materials; Contamination.

 
The Borrower agrees to:

 
(a)  give notice to the Agent immediately upon acquiring knowledge of the presence of any

Hazardous Materials or any Hazardous Materials Contamination on any property owned, operated or controlled by the
Borrower or for which the Borrower is, or is claimed to be, responsible (provided that such notice shall not be required for
Hazardous Materials placed or stored on such property in accordance with applicable Laws in the ordinary course (including,
without limitation, quantity) of the Borrower’s line of business expressly described in this Agreement), with a full description
thereof;
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(b)  promptly comply with any Laws requiring the removal, treatment or disposal of Hazardous
Materials or Hazardous Materials Contamination and provide the Agent with satisfactory evidence of such compliance;

 
(c)  provide the Agent, within thirty (30) days after a demand by the Agent, with a bond, letter of

credit or similar financial assurance evidencing to the Agent’s satisfaction that the necessary funds are available to pay the
cost of removing, treating, and disposing of such Hazardous Materials or Hazardous Materials Contamination and discharging
any Lien that may be established as a result thereof on any property owned, operated or controlled by the Borrower or for
which the Borrower is, or is claimed to be, responsible; and

 
(d)  a s part of the Obligations, defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Agent, each of the

Lenders and each of their respective agents, employees, trustees, successors and assigns from any and all claims that may
now or in the future (whether before or after the termination of this Agreement) be asserted as a result of the presence of any
Hazardous Materials or any Hazardous Materials Contamination on any property owned, operated or controlled by the
Borrower for which the Borrower is, or is claimed to be, responsible.

 
T h e Borrower acknowledges and agrees that this indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement and the
Commitments and the payment and performance of all of the other Obligations.
 

6.1.13  Disclosure of Significant Transactions.
 

The Borrower shall deliver to the Agent a written notice describing in detail each transaction by it involving the
purchase, sale, lease, or other acquisition or loss or casualty to or disposition of an interest in Fixed or Capital Assets that exceeds
Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000.00), said notices to be delivered to the Agent within thirty (30) days of the occurrence
of each such transaction.
 

6.1.14  Key Man Life Insurance.
 

The Borrower shall at all times maintain life insurance with a responsible insurer on the life of Barry B. Goldstein in
an amount not less than One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000) and will assign the proceeds of such life insurance
to the Agent pursuant to the Assignment of Life Insurance.
 

6.1.15  Financial Covenants.
 

(a)  Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the Term:
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“Capitalization” means as to the Borrower at any date of determination thereof the sum of the Borrower’s
Tangible Net Worth plus Borrower’s Subordinated Indebtedness.
 

“Capitalization Ratio” means the ratio of (a) total liabilities of the Borrower (including book overdraft a s a
liability, not as an offset to cash) minus Borrower’s Subordinated Indebtedness to (b) the Borrower’s Capitalization.
 

“EBITDA” means as to the Borrower for any period of determination thereof, the sum of (a) the net profit (or
loss) determined in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, plus (b) interest expense and income tax provisions for such period,
plus (c) depreciation and amortization of assets for such period.
 

“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means for any period of determination thereof, the ratio of (a) EBITDA, to (b)
the sum of (i) the aggregate amount of interest expense, plus (ii) scheduled principal payments on Funded Debt, plus (iii) cash taxes
paid, plus (iv) non-financed Capital Expenditures (Capital Expenditures financed with the Revolving Loan being deemed to be non-
financed), plus (E) any dividends paid to stockholders, plus (v) without duplication, any other distributions that reduce the Borrower’s
Net Worth.
 

“Funded Debt” means the aggregate of the consolidated outstanding principal balance under the Revolving
Loan plus the Borrower’s Subordinated Indebtedness plus all other Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (other than that described on
clauses (f) and (g) of that term) plus the amount of book overdrafts upon the Borrower’s deposit accounts plus unfunded liabilities
(that is, “Due to carriers” accounts payable as shown on the Borrower’s balance sheet and determined on a consistent basis).
 

“Net Worth” means the shareholders’ equity of the Borrower, defined in accordance with GAAP.
 

“Tangible Net Worth” means as to the Borrower at any date of determination thereof, the aggregate at such
time of the Borrower’s Net Worth minus the total of (a) all assets that would be classified as intangible assets under GAAP
consistently applied, (b) applicable reserves, allowances and other similar properly deductible items to the extent such reserves,
allowances and other similar properly deductible items have no t been previously deducted by the Agent in the calculation of
shareholders’ equity, (c) any revaluation or other write-up in book value of assets subsequent to the date of the most recent financial
statements delivered to the Agent, and (d) the amount of all loans and advances to, or investments in, any Person (other than
pursuant to Premium Finance Agreements), other than cash equivalents and deposit accounts maintained with any financial
institution.
 

(b)  Capitalization Ratio. The Borrower shall maintain, tested as of the last day of each month, for the
twelve (12) month period ending on the test date, a Capitalization Ratio, of not greater than 7.0 to 1.0.
 

(c)  Finance Receivables to Funded Debt Ratio. Payments Inc. shall maintain, tested as of the last day of
each of month, a ratio of total Receivables due and owing under Premium Finance Agreements net of all reserves as required in
accordance with GAAP, consistently applied, to Funded Debt of not less than 1.0 to 1.0.
 
 

-71-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



(d)  Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. The Borrower shall maintain, tested as of the last day of each of the
Borrower’s fiscal quarters for the twelve (12) month period ending on the test date, a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of not less than
1.05 to 1.0.
 

6.1.16  Collection of Receivables.
 

Until such time that the Agent shall notify the Borrower of the revocation of such privilege, the Borrower and each of
the Subsidiaries shall at its own expense have the privilege for the account of, and in trust for, the Agent and the Lenders of collecting
its Receivables and receiving in respect thereto all Items of Payment and shall otherwise completely service all of the Receivables
including (a) the billing, posting and maintaining of complete records applicable thereto, (b) the taking of such action with respect to
the Receivables as the Agent may request or in the absence of such request, as the Borrower and each of the Subsidiaries may
deem advisable; and (c) the granting, in the ordinary course of business, to any Account Debtor, any rebate, refund or adjustment to
which the Account Debtor may be lawfully entitled, and may accept, in connection therewith, the return of goods, the sale or lease of
which shall have given rise to a Receivable and may take such other actions relating to the settling of any Account Debtor’s claim as
may be commercially reasonable. The Agent may, at its option, at any time or from time to time after and during the continuance of a
Default hereunder, revoke the collection privilege given in this Agreement to the Borrower and each of the Subsidiaries and by either
giving notice of its assignment of, and Lien on the Collateral to the Account Debtors or giving notice of such revocation to the
Borrower. The Agent shall not have any duty to, and the Borrower hereby releases the Agent and the Lenders from all claims of loss
or damage caused by the delay or failure to collect or enforce any of the Receivables or to preserve any rights against any other party
with an interest in the Collateral. The Agent shall be entitled at any time and from time to time to confirm and verify Receivables.
 

6.1.17  Assignments of Receivables.
 

The Borrower will promptly, upon request, execute and deliver to the Agent written assignments, in form and content
acceptable to the Agent, of specific Receivables or groups of Receivables; provided, however, the Lien and/or security interest
granted to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations,
under this Agreement shall not be limited in any way to or by the inclusion or exclusion of Receivables within such assignments.
Receivables so assigned shall secure payment of the Obligations and are not sold to the Agent and/or the Lenders whether or not any
assignment thereof, that is separate from this Agreement, is in form absolute. The Borrower agrees that neither any assignment to the
Lender nor any other provision contained in this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents shall impose on the Agent or
the Lenders any obligation or liability of the Borrower with respect to that which is assigned and the Borrower hereby agrees to
indemnify the Agent and the Lenders and hold the Agent and the Lenders harmless from any and all claims, actions, suits, losses,
damages, costs, expenses, fees, obligations and liabilities that may be incurred by or imposed upon the Agent and/or any of the
Lenders by virtue of the assignment of and Lien on the Borrower’s rights, title and interest in, to, and under the Collateral.
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6.1.18  Notice of Commercial Tort Claims.
 

The Borrower shall promptly notify the Agent in writing in the event the Borrower shall have, receive or otherwise
obtain a commercial tort claim, as plaintiff or otherwise in its favor against any third party and, upon the request of the Agent, shall
promptly amend the Perfection Certificate and, without implying any limitation on the provisions of Section 6.1.22 (Further Assurances;
Defense of Title), confirm that the Agent is authorized to file additional, and to amend, financing statements and do such other acts or
things deemed necessary or desirable by the Agent to grant the Agent a first priority, perfected security interest in any such
commercial tort claim, including, without limitation executing an assignment of such commercial tort claim.
 

6.1.19  Insurance With Respect to Equipment.
 

The Borrower will (a) maintain and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain hazard insurance with fire and extended
coverage and naming the Agent as an additional insured with loss payable to the Agent as its respective interest may appear on the
Equipment in an amount at least equal to the lesser amount of the outstanding principal amount of the Obligations or the fair market
value of the Equipment (but in any event sufficient to avoid any co-insurance obligations) and with a specific endorsement to each
such insurance policy pursuant to which the insurer agrees to give the Agent at least thirty (30) days written notice before any
alteration or cancellation of such insurance policy and that no act or default of the Borrower shall affect the right of the Agent to
recover under such policy in the event of loss or damage; (b) file and cause each of its Subsidiaries to file with the Agent, upon its
request, a detailed list of the insurance then in effect and stating the names of the insurance companies, the amounts and rates of the
insurance, dates of the expiration thereof and the properties and risks covered thereby; and (c) within thirty (30) days after notice in
writing from the Agent, obtain and cause each of its Subsidiaries to maintain such additional insurance as the Agent may reasonably
request.
 

6.1.20  Maintenance of the Collateral. 
 

The Borrower will maintain the Collateral in good working order, saving and excepting ordinary wear and tear, and
will not permit anything to be done to the Collateral that may materially impair the value thereof. The Agent, or an agent designed by
the Agent, shall be permitted to enter the premises of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries and examine, audit and inspect the Collateral
at any reasonable time and from time to time without notice. The Agent and the Lenders shall not have any duty to, and the Borrower
hereby releases the Agent and the Lenders from all claims of loss or damage caused by the delay or failure to collect or enforce any
of the Receivables or to preserve any rights against any other party with an interest in the Collateral.
 

6.1.21  Equipment.
 

The Borrower shall (a) maintain all Equipment as personalty, (b) not affix any Equipment to any real estate in such
manner as to become a fixture or part of such real estate, and (c) shall hold no Equipment on a sale on approval basis. The Borrower
hereby declares its intent that, notwithstanding the means of attachment, no goods of the Borrower hereafter attached to any realty
shall be deemed a fixture, which declaration shall be irrevocable, without the Agent’s consent, until all of the Obligations have been
paid in full and all of the Commitments have been terminated or have expired.
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6.1.22  Further Assurances; Defense of Title.

 
At its expense, the Borrower will defend the title to the Collateral (and any part thereof), and will immediately execute,

acknowledge and deliver any financing statement, renewal, affidavit, deed, assignment, continuation statement, security agreement,
certificate or other document that the Agent may require in order to perfect, preserve, maintain, continue, protect and/or extend the
Lien or security interest granted to the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the
Agent’s Obligations, under this Agreement, under any of the other Financing Documents and the first priority of that Lien, subject only
to the Permitted Liens. The Borrower will from time to time do whatever the Agent may require by way of obtaining, executing,
delivering, and/or filing financing statements, landlords’ or mortgagees’ waivers, notices of assignment and other notices and
amendments and renewals thereof and the Borrower will take any and all steps and observe such formalities as the Agent may
require, in order to create and maintain a valid Lien upon, pledge of, or paramount security interest in, the Collateral, subject to the
Permitted Liens. Without implying any limitation on the foregoing, with respect to the Collateral that may be perfected by control, the
Borrower shall take such steps as the Lender may require in order that Agent may have such control. The Borrower shall pay to the
Agent on demand all taxes, costs and expenses incurred by the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, recording and
filing of any such document or instrument. To the extent that the proceeds of any of the Receivables of the Borrower are expected to
become subject to the control of, or in the possession of, a party other than the Borrower or the Agent, the Borrower shall cause all
such parties to execute and deliver on the Closing Date security documents, financing statements or other documents as requested
by the Agent and as may be necessary to evidence and/or perfect the security interest of the Agent, for the ratable benefit o f the
Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, in those proceeds. The Borrower agrees that a copy
of a fully executed security agreement and/or financing statement shall be sufficient to satisfy for all purposes the requirements of a
financing statement as set forth in Article 9 of the applicable Uniform Commercial Code. The Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the
Agent as the Borrower’s attorney-in-fact, with power of substitution, in the name of the Agent or in the name of the Borrower or
otherwise, for the use and benefit of the Agent for itself and the Lenders, but at the cost and expense of the Borrower and without
notice to the Borrower, to execute and deliver any and all of the instruments and other documents and take any action which the
Lender may require pursuant the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.1.22. Further, to the extent permitted by applicable Laws, the
Agent is hereby authorized to file, without the Borrower’s signature, one or more financing statements or other notices disclosing the
liens and other security interests of the Agent and the Lenders. All financing statements and notices may describe the collateral of the
Agent and the Lenders as all assets and/or all personal property of the Borrower. The Borrower hereby ratifies and confirms the
Agent’s authority to file and the validity of any and all such financing statements and notices filed prior to the date of this Agreement.
 

6.1.23  Business Information.
 

The Borrower will notify the Agent not less than thirty (30) days prior to (a) any change in its name or in the name
under which the Borrower conducts its business, (b) any change to the Borrower’s state of organization, identity or organizational
structure, (c) any change of the location of the chief executive office of the Borrower, and (d) the opening of any new place of
business or the closing of any existing place of business, and any change in the location of the places where the Collateral, or any
part thereof, or the books and records, or any part thereof, are kept.
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6.1.24  Subsequent Opinion of Counsel as to Recording Requirements.
 

In the event that the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall transfer its principal place of business or the office where it
keeps its records pertaining to the Collateral, upon the Agent’s request the Borrower will provide to the Agent a subsequent opinion of
counsel as to the filing, recording and other requirements with which the Borrower and its Subsidiaries have complied to maintain the
Lien and security interest in favor of the Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to
the Agent’s Obligations, in the Collateral.
 

6.1.25  Use of Premises and Equipment.
 

The Borrower agrees that until the Obligations are fully paid and all of the Commitments have been terminated or
have expired, the Agent (a) after and during the continuance of a Default or an Event of Default, may use any of the Borrower’s
owned or leased lifts, hoists, trucks and other facilities or equipment for handling or removing the Collateral; and (b) shall have, and is
hereby granted, a right of ingress and egress to the places where the Collateral is located, and may proceed over and through any of
the Borrower’s owned or leased property.
 

6.1.26  Protection of Collateral.
 

The Borrower agrees that the Agent may at any time following an Event of Default take such steps as the Agent
deems reasonably necessary to protect the interest of the Agent and the Lenders in, and to preserve the Collateral, including, without
limitation, the hiring of such security guards, the placing of other security protection measures, and otherwise restricting access to
owned or leased locations where Collateral is located, all as the Agent deems appropriate from time to time, may employ and
maintain at any of the Borrower’s premises a custodian who shall have full authority to do all acts necessary to protect the interests of
the Agent and the Lenders in the Collateral and may lease warehouse facilities to which the Agent may move all or any part of the
Collateral to the extent commercially reasonable. The Borrower agrees to cooperate fully with the Agent’s efforts to preserve the
Collateral and will take such actions to preserve the Collateral as the Agent may reasonably direct. All of the Agent’s expenses of
preserving the Collateral, including any reasonable expenses relating to the compensation and bonding of a custodian, shall be part
of the Enforcement Costs.
 

6.1.27  Appraisals.
 

Whenever a Default or an Event of Default exists, and at such other times as the Agent may request, but not more
frequently than once a year, the Borrower shall, at its expense, provide the Agent with appraisals or updates thereof of any or all of
the Collateral from an appraiser and in form in all respects satisfactory to the Agent.
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6.1.28  Servicing Agreements.
 

The Borrower agrees that the Servicing Agreement Documents and the Back-Up Servicing Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect at all times. The agreements, terms and conditions of this Agreement with respect to the Servicer and the
Servicing Agreement shall apply to the servicer under the Back-Up Servicing Agreement and to the Back-Up Servicing Agreement at
such times as the servicer is providing, or is obligated to provide, services under the Back-Up Servicing Agreement. Under the terms
of the Servicing Agreement Documents, the Servicer shall at all times: (a) be authorized and obligated, upon notification from the
Agent of an Event of Default, to perform its servicing duties solely for the benefit of the Agent; (b) receive all Items of Payment and
other Collateral as the Agent’s bailee for the purpose of perfecting the Agent’s and the Lenders’ security interests therein, (c) deposit
all proceeds of Items of Payment and other Collateral into the Collateral Account; (d) be obligated to provide to the Agent not less
than three hundred sixty-five (365) days notice of the Servicer’s intent to cancel the Servicing Agreement; and (e) along with the
Borrower, covenant and agree that the Servicer shall not be authorized to modify or amend the Servicing Agreement Documents
without the Agent’s express written consent.
 

6.1.29  Borrower’s Procedures.
 

Payments Inc.’s forms and procedures shall at all times reflect the following to the continuing satisfaction of the Agent:
 

(a)  Premium Finance Agreements, payment coupon books, and such other materials, shall reflect the
Agent as secured creditor to Payments Inc. and shall direct that payments be made to the Servicer. References in the Premium
Finance Agreements to the “Loan and Security Agreement with” the Agent mean this Agreement, as amended, restated, modified,
substituted, extended and renewed from time to time.
 

(b)  Scheduled monthly payments and all other Items of Payments shall be (i) received by the Servicer for
processing (or forwarded to the Servicer by Payments Inc.) for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, and as bailee for the purpose
of perfecting Agent’s and the Lenders’ security interest therein, (ii) deposited by the Servicer into the Collateral Account; (iii) if made
payable to Payments Inc. shall be endorsed by the Servicer pursuant to authority granted by Payments Inc. to the Servicer in the
Servicing Agreement for deposit to, and deposited exclusively to the Collateral Account;
 

(c)  Payments Inc.’s “Notices of Financed Premium,” “Notices of Cancellation” and other notices or claims
with respect to returned premiums or Receivables (the foregoing collectively, “Premium Claim Notices”) (i) shall specify the Agent’s
interest, as secured creditor to Payments Inc., in returned premiums on policies financed by Payments Inc. and (ii) shall direct that all
remittances shall be made payable to “M&T Bank, Secured Creditor”, as secured creditor to Payments Inc. at the Servicer’s address,
unless Payments Inc. and the Agent shall have agreed otherwise in each instance. All Items of Payment with respect to those
remittances shall deposited into the Collateral Account in compliance with Section 2.1.10 (Collateral Account).
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(d)  T o t h e extent that Payments Inc. receives any scheduled payments on Premium Finance
Agreements or payments of returned premiums on cancelled Premium Finance Agreement or pursuant to Premium Claim Notices,
via ACH transfers or other standing transfer orders, Payments Inc. shall modify its notices and other communication materials to
instruct payors that such payments are to be directed to the Collateral Account.
 

(e)  Payments Inc. shall irrevocably and continuously provide the Agent “read only” access, or such other
access to be determined, to Payments Inc.’s accounting and financial records including, without limitation, those with respect to the
Receivables.
 

(f)  No later than fifteen (15) days after the end of each month, Payments Inc. to provide the Agent with
premium disbursement file monthly in electronic format acceptable to the Agent.
 

(g)  Payments Inc. shall at all times use the Agent’s “Full Account Reconciliation” program (or, at the
Agent’s direction, other program or programs offered by the Agent) for Payments Inc.’s deposit and contract disbursement accounts.
The proceeds of the Receivables shall be subject to the provisions of Section 2.1.10 (Collateral Account).
 

Section 6.2  Negative Covenants.
 

So long as any of the Obligations or the Commitments therefor shall be outstanding hereunder, the Borrower agrees with the
Agent and the Lenders that without the prior written consent of the Agent:
 

6.2.1  Capital Structure, Merger, Acquisition or Sale of Assets.
 

Payment Inc. will not alter or amend its capital structure, authorize any additional class of equity, issue any stock or
equity of any class. The Borrower will not enter into any merger or consolidation or amalgamation, windup or dissolve itself (or suffer
any liquidation or dissolution) or acquire all or substantially all the assets of any Person (except pursuant to an Approved Acquisition),
or sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any of its assets. Any consent of the Agent to the disposition of any assets may be conditioned
on a specified use of the proceeds of disposition.
 

6.2.2  Subsidiaries.
 

The Borrower will not create or acquire any Subsidiaries other than the Subsidiaries identified on the Perfection
Certificate without the prior written consent of the Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
 

6.2.3  Purchase or Redemption of Securities, Dividend Restrictions.
 

Payments will not purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock or warrants now or hereafter
outstanding, declare or pay any dividends thereon (other than stock dividends), provided, however, that neither proceeds of the
Loans nor the Collateral may be used for such purpose without the prior written consent of the Agent. The Borrower will not apply any
of its property or assets to the purchase, redemption or other retirement of, set apart any sum for the payment of any dividends on, or
for the purchase, redemption, or other retirement of, make any distribution by reduction of capital or otherwise in respect of, any
shares of any class of capital stock of the Borrower, or any warrants, permit any Subsidiary to purchase or acquire any shares of any
class of capital stock of, or warrants issued by, of the Borrower, make any distribution to stockholders or set aside any funds for any
such purpose, and not prepay, purchase or redeem any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money other than the Obligations, except for
Permitted Distributions and except for dividends or other distributions or advances made to the Parent when there exists no Default or
Event of Default in order to enable the Parent to pay at a time payments due and payable (other than those payments which may not
be made due to applicable provisions of subordination) under the Parent Subordinated Debt and the corresponding portion of the
Subordinated Debt to the extent the payments are expressly permitted by this Agreement, the Subordination Agreement and the
Parent Subordination Agreement..
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6.2.4  Indebtedness.
 

The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness
for Borrowed Money, or permit any Subsidiary so to do, except:
 

(a)  the Obligations;
 

(b)  current accounts payable arising in the ordinary course;
 

(c)  indebtedness secured by Permitted Liens;
 

(d)  Subordinated Indebtedness; and
 

(e)  indebtedness of the Borrower existing on the date hereof and reflected on the financial
statements furnished pursuant to Section 4.1.11 (Financial Condition).

 
6.2.5  Investments, Loans and Other Transactions.

 
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to,

(a) except pursuant to an Approved Acquisition, make, assume, acquire or continue to hold any investment in any real property
(unless used in connection with its business and treated as a Fixed or Capital Asset of the Borrower or the Subsidiary) or any Person,
whether by stock purchase, capital contribution, acquisition of indebtedness of such Person or otherwise (including, without limitation,
investments in any joint venture or partnership), (b) guaranty or otherwise become contingently liable for the indebtedness, liabilities
or other obligations of any Person, or (c) make any loans or advances, or otherwise extend credit to any Person, except:
 

(i)  any advance to an officer or employee of the Borrower or of any
Subsidiary for travel or other business expenses in the ordinary course of business, provided that the aggregate
amount of all such advances by all of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (taken as a whole) outstanding at any time
shall not exceed Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500);
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(ii)  the endorsement of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection
or similar transactions in the ordinary course of business;

 
(iii)  any investment in Cash Equivalents, that are pledged to the Agent,

for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and for the benefit of the Agent with respect to the Agent’s Obligations, as
collateral and security for the Obligations; and

 
(iv)  trade credit extended to customers in the ordinary course of

business.
 

6.2.6  Operating Lease Obligations.
 

The Borrower will not incur or permit to exist any Lease Obligations (including, without limitation, Lease Obligations
with respect to real property) incurred after the date of this Agreement except Capital Leases expressly permitted by this Agreement
or permit any Subsidiary so to do, if the aggregate amount of all such Lease Obligations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries (taken
as a whole) would at any time exceed Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) during any fiscal year of the Borrower.
 

6.2.7  Stock of Subsidiaries.
 

The Borrower, without the prior written consent of the Agent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed, will not sell or otherwise dispose of any shares of capital stock of any Subsidiary (except in connection with a merger or
consolidation of a Wholly Owned Subsidiary into the Borrower or another Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Borrower or with the
dissolution of any Subsidiary) or permit any Subsidiary to issue any additional shares of its capital stock except pro rata to its
stockholders.
 

6.2.8  Subordinated Indebtedness.
 

The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to make:
 

(a)  except from the Permitted Distributions, any payment of principal of, or interest on, any of the
Subordinated Indebtedness, including, without limitation, the Subordinated Debt, if a Default or Event of Default then exists
hereunder or would result from such payment;

 
(b)  any payment of the principal or interest due on the Subordinated Indebtedness as a result of

acceleration thereunder or a mandatory prepayment thereunder;
 

(c)  any amendment or modification of or supplement to the documents evidencing or securing
the Subordinated Indebtedness; and

 
(d)  payment of principal or interest on the Subordinated Indebtedness other than when due

(without giving effect to any acceleration of maturity or mandatory prepayment).
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6.2.9  Liens.
 

The Borrower agrees that it (a) will not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its properties or
assets, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, or permit any Subsidiary so to do, except for Liens securing the Obligations and
Permitted Liens, (b) will not agree to, assume or suffer to exist any provision in any instrument or other document for confession of
judgment, cognovit or other similar right or remedy, (c) will not allow or suffer to exist any Permitted Liens to be superior to Liens
securing the Obligations except as expressly set forth in Schedule 4.1.22, (d) will not enter into any contracts for the consignment of
goods, will not execute or suffer the filing of any financing statements or the posting of any signs giving notice of consignments, and
will not, as a material part of its business, engage in the sale of goods belonging to others, and (e) will not allow or suffer to exist the
failure of any Lien described in the Security Documents to attach to, and/or remain at all times perfected on, any of the property
described in the Security Documents.
 

6.2.10  Transactions with Affiliates.
 

Except (a) as permitted in Section 6.2.3 (Purchase or Redemption of Securities; Dividend Restrictions) or Section
6.2.16 (Compensation), (b) for the reimbursement of reasonable payroll expenses incurred by DCAP Management Corp. on behalf of
the Borrower as further set forth in that certain letter agreement dated July 10, 2003 between the Borrower and Parent, a true copy of
which the Borrower and Parent have provided to the Agent prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, (c) transactions
between the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors (other than the Parent) that are in the ordinary course of business relating or
incidental to the financing of automobile insurance premiums and that are upon fair and reasonable terms which are no less favorable
than would be obtained in a comparable arms-length transaction with a Person who is not an Affiliate and which are profitable for the
Borrower, and (d) the payment of sublease payments in the ordinary course from Borrower to the Parent pursuant to that certain
sublease agreement dated October 1, 2002, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries will not enter into or participate in any transaction with
any Affiliate or, except in the ordinary course of business, with the officers, directors, employees and other representatives of the
Borrower and/or any Subsidiary.
 

6.2.11  Other Businesses.
 

Payments Inc. and its Subsidiaries will not, without the prior written consent of the Agent, engage directly or indirectly
in any business other than the business of financing premiums for personal and/or commercial automobile property and casualty
insurance policies in the States of New York and New Jersey and the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and such other States as the
Agent may approve in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to time. The Parent and its other Subsidiaries will
continue to engage substantially only in their current lines of insurance-related services.
 

6.2.12  ERISA Compliance.
 

None of the Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate shall: (a) engage in or permit any “prohibited transaction” (as defined in
ERISA); (b) cause any “accumulated funding deficiency” as defined in ERISA and/or the Internal Revenue Code; (c) terminate any
pension plan in a manner that could result in the imposition of a lien on the property of the Borrower pursuant to ERISA; (d) terminate
or consent to the termination of any Multi-employer Plan; or (e) incur a complete or partial withdrawal with respect to any Multi-
employer Plan.
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6.2.13  Prohibition on Hazardous Materials.
 

The Borrower shall not place, manufacture or store or permit to be placed, manufactured or stored any Hazardous
Materials on any property owned, operated or controlled by the Borrower or for which the Borrower is responsible other than
Hazardous Materials placed or stored on such property in accordance with applicable Laws in the ordinary course of the Borrower’s
business expressly described in this Agreement.
 

6.2.14  Amendments.
 

Payments Inc. will not amend, terminate or allow to lapse or agree to amend, terminate or allow to lapse the Premium
Finance Licenses or any other franchise, license, consent, approval or agreement necessary for Payments Inc. to operate its
business in the normal course, or consent to or waive any material provisions thereof. The Parent and its other Subsidiaries will not
amend, terminate or allow to lapse or agree to amend, terminate or allow to lapse any franchise, license, consent, approval or
agreement necessary the Parent or the applicable Subsidiary to operate its business in the normal course, or consent to or waive any
material provisions thereof.
 

6.2.15  Method of Accounting; Fiscal Year.
 

The Borrower agrees that:
 

(a)  i t shall not change the method of accounting employed in the preparation of any financial
statements furnished to the Agent under the provisions of Section 6.1.1 (Financial Statements), unless required to conform to
GAAP and on the condition that the Borrower’s accountants shall furnish such information as the Agent may request to
reconcile the changes with the Borrower’s prior financial statements

 
(b)  it will not change its fiscal year from a year ending on December 31.

 
6.2.16  Compensation.

 
Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries will pay any bonuses, fees, compensation, commissions, salaries,

drawing accounts, or other payments (cash and non-cash), whether direct or indirect, to any stockholders of the Borrower or its
Subsidiaries, or any Affiliate of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, other than reasonable compensation for actual services rendered by
stockholders in their capacity as officers or employees of the Borrower and other compensation pursuant to (i) that certain
Employment Agreement dated May 28, 2003 between AIA-DCAP Corp. and Barry Lefkowitz and (ii) that certain Employment
Agreement dated May 10, 2001 between the Parent and Barry Goldstein, true and correct copies of which have been provided to the
Agent prior to the execution of this Agreement. The Employment Agreements will not be modified or amended without the prior written
consent of the Agent.
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6.2.17  Transfer of Collateral.
 

The Borrower and the Subsidiaries will not transfer, or permit the transfer, to another location of any of the Collateral
or the books and records related to any of the Collateral.
 

6.2.18  Sale and Leaseback.
 

The Borrower and the Subsidiaries will not directly or indirectly enter into any arrangement to sell or transfer all or
any substantial part of its fixed assets and thereupon or within one (1) year thereafter rent or lease the assets so sold or transferred.
 

6.2.19  Disposition of Collateral.
 

Neither the Borrower nor the Subsidiaries will sell, discount, allow credits or allowances, transfer, assign, extend the
time for payment on, convey, lease, assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of the Collateral, except, prior to an Event of Default,
dispositions expressly permitted elsewhere in this Agreement, the sale of unnecessary or obsolete Equipment, but only if the
proceeds of the sale of such Equipment are (a) used to purchase similar Equipment to replace the unnecessary or obsolete
Equipment or (b) immediately turned over to the Agent for application to the Obligations in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement.
 

ARTICLE VII
DEFAULT AND RIGHTS AND REMEDIES

 
Section 7.1  Events of Default.

 
The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute an “Event of Default” under the provisions of this

Agreement:
 

7.1.1  Failure to Pay.
 

The failure of the Borrower to pay any of the Obligations as and when due and payable in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement, the Notes and/or any of the other Financing Documents.
 

7.1.2  Breach of Representations and Warranties.
 

Any representation or warranty made in this Agreement or in any report, statement, schedule, certificate, opinion
(including any opinion of counsel for the Borrower), financial statement or other document furnished in connection with this
Agreement, any of the other Financing Documents, or the Obligations, shall prove to have been false or misleading when made (or, if
applicable, when reaffirmed) in any material respect.
 

7.1.3  Failure to Comply with Covenants.
 

The failure of the Borrower to perform, observe or comply with any covenant, condition or agreement contained in
this Agreement.
 

-82-

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



7.1.4  Default Under Other Financing Documents or Obligations.
 

A default shall occur under any of the other Financing Documents or under any other Obligations, and such default is
not cured within any applicable grace period provided therein.
 

7.1.5  Receiver; Bankruptcy.
 

The Borrower or any Subsidiary shall (a) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee or liquidator of
itself or any of its property, (b) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts as they mature, (c) make a general assignment for the
benefit of creditors, (d) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, (e) file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy or a petition or an answer
seeking or consenting to reorganization or an arrangement with creditors or to take advantage of any bankruptcy, reorganization,
insolvency, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute, or an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition
filed against it in any proceeding under any such law, or take corporate action for the purposes of effecting any of the foregoing, or (f)
by any act indicate its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or the appointment of any receiver of or
trustee for any of its property, or suffer any such receivership, trusteeship or proceeding to continue undischarged for a period of sixty
(60) days, or (g) by any act indicate its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any order, judgment or decree by any court of
competent jurisdiction or any Governmental Authority enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the operation of a material portion of the
Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s business or the use or disposition of a material portion of the Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s assets.
 

7.1.6  Involuntary Bankruptcy, etc.
 

(a) An order for relief shall be entered in any involuntary case brought against the Borrower or any Subsidiary
under the Bankruptcy Code, or (b) any such case shall be commenced against the Borrower or any Subsidiary and shall not be
dismissed within sixty (60) days after the filing of the petition, or (c) an order, judgment or decree under any other Law is entered by
any court of competent jurisdiction or by any other Governmental Authority on the application of a Governmental Authority or of a
Person other than the Borrower or any Subsidiary (i) adjudicating the Borrower or any Subsidiary bankrupt or insolvent, or (ii)
appointing a receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Borrower or of any Subsidiary, or of a material portion of the Borrower’s or any
Subsidiary’s assets, or (iii) enjoining, prohibiting or otherwise limiting the operation of a material portion of the Borrower’s or any
Subsidiary’s business or the use or disposition of a material portion of the Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s assets, and such order,
judgment or decree continues unstayed and in effect for a period of thirty (30) days from the date entered.
 

7.1.7  Judgment.
 

Unless adequately insured in the opinion of the Agent, the entry of a final judgment o r final judgments for the
payment of money involving more than $50,000 in the aggregate against the Borrower and/or any one or more of the Corporate
Guarantors, and the failure by the Borrower and the Corporate Guarantors to discharge the same, or cause it to be discharged, within
thirty (30) days from the date of the order, decree or process under which or pursuant to which such judgment was entered, or to
secure a stay of execution pending appeal of such judgment.
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7.1.8  Execution; Attachment.
 

Any execution or attachment shall be levied against the Collateral, or any part thereof, and such execution or
attachment shall not be set aside, discharged or stayed within thirty (30) days after the same shall have been levied.
 

7.1.9  Default Under Other Borrowings.
 

Default shall be made with respect to any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (other than the Loan) with an aggregate
outstanding principal balance of more than $100,000 if the default is a failure to pay at maturity or if the effect of such default is to
accelerate the maturity of such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money or to permit the holder or obligee thereof or other party thereto to
cause any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money to become due prior to its stated maturity.
 

7.1.10  Challenge to Agreements.
 

The Borrower or any of the Guarantors shall challenge the validity and binding effect of any provision of any of the
Financing Documents or shall state its intention to make such a challenge of any of the Financing Documents or any of the Financing
Documents shall for any reason (except to the extent permitted by its express terms) cease to be effective or to create a valid and
perfected first priority Lien (except for Permitted Liens) on, or security interest in, any of the Collateral purported to be covered
thereby.
 

7.1.11  Material Adverse Effect Change.
 

The Agent, in its sole discretion, determines in good faith that an event has occurred with respect to the Borrower
that may have Material Adverse Effect.
 

7.1.12  Change of Control.
 

Any Person, other than the Parent, shall own any equity interest in Payments Inc., or any Person (other than Barry B.
Goldstein) or group (as such term is used in Sections 13 and 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), and the rules and regulations thereunder) shall have become the direct or indirect beneficial owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3
and 13d-5 promulgated under the Exchange Act) of, or shall have the right to vote or otherwise control, 30% or more of any class of
voting securities of the Parent.
 

7.1.13  Liquidation, Termination, Dissolution, Change in Management, etc.
 

The Borrower shall liquidate, dissolve or terminate its existence or shall suspend or terminate a substantial portion of
its business operations or Barry B. Goldstein shall no longer hold the office and perform the duties of chief executive and chief
operating officer of the Borrower any change occurs in the management or control of the Borrower without the prior written consent of
the Agent.
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7.1.14  Subordinated Debt (Parent).

 
O n o r before December 31, 2006, the maturity date of the subordinated debt in Parent shall be not have been

extended to at least December 31, 2008.
 

Section 7.2  Remedies.
 

Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Agent may, in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion from time to
time, and shall, at the direction of the Required Lenders, at any time thereafter exercise any one or more of the following rights,
powers or remedies.
 

7.2.1  Acceleration.
 

The Agent may declare any or all of the Obligations to be immediately due and payable, notwithstanding anything
contained in this Agreement or in any of the other Financing Documents to the contrary, without presentment, demand, protest, notice
of protest or of dishonor, or other notice of any kind, all of which the Borrower hereby waives.
 

7.2.2  Further Advances.
 

The Agent may from time to time without notice to the Borrower suspend, terminate or limit any further Advances,
loans or other extensions of credit under the Commitment, under this Agreement and/or under any of the other Financing Documents.
Further, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or Default specified in Section 7.1.5 (Receiver; Bankruptcy) or Section 7.1.6
(Involuntary Bankruptcy, etc.), the Commitments and any agreement in any of the Financing Documents to provide additional credit
shall immediately and automatically terminate and the unpaid principal amount of the Notes (with accrued interest thereon) and all
other Obligations then outstanding, shall immediately become due and payable without further action of any kind and without
presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower.
 

7.2.3  Uniform Commercial Code.
 

The Agent shall have all of the rights and remedies of a secured party under the applicable Uniform Commercial
Code and other applicable Laws. Upon demand by the Agent, the Borrower shall assemble the Collateral and make it available to the
Agent, at a place designated by the Agent. The Agent or its agents may without notice from time to time enter upon the Borrower’s
premises to take possession of the Collateral, to remove it, to render it unusable, to process it or otherwise prepare it for sale, or to sell
or otherwise dispose of it.
 

Any written notice of the sale, disposition or other intended action by the Agent with respect to the Collateral that is
sent by regular mail, postage prepaid, to the Borrower at the address set forth in Section 9.1 (Notices), or such other address of the
Borrower that may from time to time be shown on the Agent’s records, at least ten (10) days prior to such sale, disposition or other
action, shall constitute commercially reasonable notice to the Borrower. The Agent may alternatively or additionally give such notice in
any other commercially reasonable manner. Nothing in this Agreement shall require the Agent to give any notice not required by
applicable Laws.
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I f any consent, approval, or authorization of any state, municipal or other Governmental Authority or of any other

Person or of any Person having any interest therein, should be necessary to effectuate any sale or other disposition of the Collateral,
the Borrower agrees to execute all such applications and other instruments, and to take all other action, as may be required in
connection with securing any such consent, approval or authorization.
 

The Borrower recognizes that the Agent may be unable to effect a public sale of al l or a part of the Collateral
consisting of investment property by reason of certain prohibitions contained in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and other
applicable Federal and state Laws. The Agent may, therefore, in its discretion, take such steps as it may deem appropriate to comply
with such Laws and may, for example, at any sale of the Collateral consisting of securities restrict the prospective bidders or
purchasers as to their number, nature of business and investment intention, including, without limitation, a requirement that the
Persons making such purchases represent and agree to the satisfaction of the Agent that they are purchasing such securities for their
account, for investment, and not with a view to the distribution or resale of any thereof. The Borrower covenants and agrees to do or
cause to be done promptly all such acts and things as the Agent may request from time to time and as may be necessary to offer
and/or sell the securities or any part thereof in a manner that is valid and binding and in conformance with all applicable Laws. Upon
any such sale or disposition, the Agent shall have the right to deliver, assign and transfer to the purchaser thereof the Collateral
consisting of securities so sold.
 

7.2.4  Specific Rights With Regard to Collateral.
 

In addition to all other rights and remedies provided hereunder or as shall exist at law or in equity from time to time,
the Agent may (but shall be under no obligation to), without notice to the Borrower, and the Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the
Agent as its attorney-in-fact, with power of substitution, in the name of the Agent and/or any or all of the Lenders and/or in the name of
the Borrower or otherwise, for the use and benefit of the Agent and the Lenders, but at the cost and expense of the Borrower and
without notice to the Borrower:
 

(a)  request any Account Debtor obligated on any of the Receivables to make payments thereon
directly to the Agent, with the Agent taking control of the cash and non-cash proceeds thereof;

 
(b)  compromise, extend or renew any of the Collateral or deal with the same as it may deem

advisable;
 

(c)  make exchanges, substitutions or surrenders of all or any part of the Collateral;
 

(d)  copy, transcribe, or remove from any place of business of the Borrower or any Subsidiary all
books, records, ledger sheets, correspondence, invoices and documents, relating to or evidencing any of the Collateral or
without cost or expense to the Agent or the Lenders, make such use of the Borrower’s or any Subsidiary’s place(s) of
business as may be reasonably necessary to administer, control and collect the Collateral;
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(e)  repair, alter or supply goods if necessary to fulfill in whole or in part the purchase order of any
Account Debtor;

 
(f)  demand, collect, receipt for and give renewals, extensions, discharges and releases of any of

the Collateral;
 

(g)  institute and prosecute legal and equitable proceedings to enforce collection of, or realize
upon, any of the Collateral;

 
(h)  settle, renew, extend, compromise, compound, exchange or adjust claims in respect of any of

the Collateral or any legal proceedings brought in respect thereof;
 

(i)  endorse or sign the name of the Borrower upon any Items of Payment, certificates of title,
instruments, investment property, stock powers, documents, documents of title, financing statements, assignments, notices or
other writing relating to or part of the Collateral and on any proof of claim in bankruptcy against an Account Debtor;

 
(j)  notify the Post Office authorities to change the address for the delivery of mail to the Borrower

to such address or Post Office Box as the Agent may designate and receive and open all mail addressed to the Borrower ;
and

 
(k)  take any other action necessary or beneficial to realize upon or dispose of the Collateral or to

carry out the terms of this Agreement.
 

7.2.5  Application of Proceeds.
 

Any proceeds of sale or other disposition of the Collateral will be applied by the Agent to the payment first of any and
all Agent’s Obligations, then to any and all Enforcement Costs, and any balance of such proceeds will be remitted to the Lenders in
like currency and funds received ratably in accordance with their respective Pro Rata Shares of such balance. Each Lender shall
apply any such proceeds received from the Agent to its Obligations in such order and manner as such Lender shall determine. If the
sale or other disposition of the Collateral fails to fully satisfy the Obligations, the Borrower shall remain liable to the Agent and the
Lenders for any deficiency.
 

7.2.6  Performance by Agent.
 

I f the Borrower shall fail to pay the Obligations or otherwise fail to perform, observe or comply with any of the
conditions, covenants, terms, stipulations or agreements contained in this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents, the
Agent without notice to or demand upon the Borrower and without waiving or releasing any of the Obligations or any Default or Event
of Default, may (but shall be under no obligation to) at any time thereafter make such payment or perform such act for the account
and at the expense of the Borrower, and may enter upon the premises of the Borrower for that purpose and take all such action
thereon as the Agent may consider necessary or appropriate for such purpose and the Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints the
Agent as its attorney-in-fact to do so, with power of substitution, in the name of the Agent, in the name of any or all of the Lenders, or
in the name of the Borrower or otherwise, for the use and benefit of the Agent, but at the cost and expense of the Borrower and
without notice to the Borrower. All sums so paid or advanced by the Agent together with interest thereon from the date of payment,
advance or incurring until paid in full at the Post-Default Rate and all costs and expenses, shall be deemed part of the Enforcement
Costs, shall be paid by the Borrower to the Agent on demand, and shall constitute and become a part of the Agent’s Obligations.
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7.2.7  Other Remedies.

 
The Agent may from time to time proceed to protect or enforce the rights of the Agent and/or any of the Lenders by

an action or actions at law or in equity or by any other appropriate proceeding, whether for the specific performance of any of the
covenants contained in this Agreement or in any of the other Financing Documents, or for an injunction against the violation of any of
the terms of this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents, or in aid of the exercise or execution of any right, remedy or
power granted in this Agreement, the Financing Documents, and/or applicable Laws. The Agent and each of the Lenders is
authorized to offset and apply to all or any part of the Obligations all moneys, credits and other property of any nature whatsoever of
the Borrower now or at any time hereafter in the possession of, in transit to or from, under the control or custody of, or on deposit
with, the Agent, any of the Lenders or any Affiliate of the Agent or any of the Lenders.
 

ARTICLE VIII
THE AGENT

 
Section 8.1  Appointment and Authorization.

 
Each Lender hereby designates and appoints M&T as its Agent under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents

and each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes the Agent to take such action on its behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and
each other Financing Document and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to it by the terms of
this Agreement or any other Financing Document, together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. The Agent agrees
to act as such on the express conditions contained in this ARTICLE VIII. The provisions of this ARTICLE VIII are solely for the benefit
of the Agent and the Lenders and the Borrower shall have no rights as a third party beneficiary of any of the provisions contained
herein.
 

Section 8.2  Nature of Duties
 

8.2.1  In General.
 

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained elsewhere in this Agreement or in any other Financing
Document, the Agent shall not have any duties or responsibilities, except those expressly set forth herein, nor shall the Agent have or
be deemed to have any fiduciary relationship with any Lender, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties,
obligations or liabilities shall be read into this Agreement or any other Financing Document or otherwise exist against the Agent.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, the use of the term “agent” in this Agreement with reference to the Agent is
not intended to connote any fiduciary or other implied (or express) obligations arising under agency doctrine of any applicable law.
Instead, such term is used merely as a matter of market custom, and is intended to create or reflect only an administrative relationship
between independent contracting parties. Except as expressly otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Agent shall have and may
use its sole discretion with respect to exercising or refraining from exercising any discretionary rights or taking or refraining from taking
any actions which the Agent is expressly entitled to take or assert under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents,
including (a) the determination of the applicability of ineligibility criteria with respect to the calculation of the Borrowing Base, (b) the
making of Agent Advances, and (c) the exercise of remedies pursuant to this Agreement and the other Financing Documents, and
any action so taken or not taken shall be deemed consented to by the Lenders.
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8.2.2  Delegation of Duties.
 

The Agent may execute any of its duties under this Agreement or any other Financing Document by or through
agents, employees or attorneys-in-fact and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. The
Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or misconduct of any agent or attorney-in-fact that it selects as long as such
selection was made without gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of
competent jurisdiction,.
 

8.2.3  Express Authorization
 

The Agent is hereby expressly and irrevocably authorized by each of the Lenders, as agent on behalf of itself and the
other Lenders:
 

(a)  to receive on behalf of each of the Lenders any payment or collection on account o f the
Obligations and to distribute to each Lender its Pro Rata Share of all such payments and collections so received as provided
in this Agreement;

 
(b)  t o receive all documents and items to be furnished to the Lenders under the Financing

Documents (nothing contained herein shall relieve the Borrower of any obligation to deliver any item directly to the Lenders to
the extent expressly required by the provisions of this Agreement);

 
(c)  to act or refrain from acting in this Agreement and in the other Financing Documents with

respect to those matters so designated for the Agent;
 

(d)  to act as nominee for and on behalf of the Lenders in and under this Agreement and the other
Financing Documents;

 
(e)  to arrange for the means whereby the funds of the Lenders are to be made available to the

Borrower;
 

(f)  to distribute promptly to the Lenders, if required by the terms of this Agreement, all written
information, requests, notices, Loan Notices, payments, Prepayments, documents and other items received from the
Borrower or other Person;
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(g)  t o amend, modify, or waive any provisions of this Agreement or the other Financing
Documents on behalf of the Lenders subject to the requirement that certain of the Lenders’ consent be obtained in certain
instances as provided in 9.2.2 (Consent of All Lenders Required);

 
(h)  to deliver to the Borrower and other Persons, all requests, demands, approvals, notices, and

consents received from any of the Lenders;
 

(i)  t o exercise on behalf of each Lender all rights and remedies of the Lenders upon the
occurrence of any Event of Default and/or Default specified in this Agreement and/or in any of the other Financing Documents
or applicable Laws;

 
(j)  to execute any of the Security Documents and any other documents on behalf of the Lenders

as the secured party for the benefit of the Agent and the Lenders; and
 

(k)  to take such other actions as may be requested by the Required Lenders.
 

Section 8.3  Liability of Agent.
 

None of the Agent-Related Persons shall (a) be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by any of them under or in
connection with this Agreement or any other Financing Document or the transactions contemplated hereby (except for its own gross
negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of competent jurisdiction,), (b) be liable for
any apportionment or distribution of payments made by it in good faith and if any such apportionment or distribution is subsequently
determined to have been made in error the sole recourse of any Lender to whom payment was due but not made, shall be to recover
from the other Lenders any payment in excess of the amount to which they are determined to be entitled (and such other Lenders
hereby agree to return to such Lender any such erroneous payments received by them), or (c) be responsible in any manner to any
of the Lenders for any recital, statement, representation or warranty made by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the
Borrower, or any officer thereof, contained in this Agreement or in any other Financing Document, or in any certificate, report,
statement or other document referred to or provided for in, or received by the Agent under or in connection with, this Agreement or
any other Financing Document, or the validity, effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other
Financing Document, or for any failure of the Borrower o r any other party to any Financing Document to perform its obligations
hereunder or thereunder. No Agent-Related Person shall be under any obligation to any Lender to ascertain or to inquire as to the
observance or performance of any o f the agreements contained in, or conditions of, this Agreement or any other Financing
Document, or to inspect the properties, books or records of the Borrower or any of the Borrower’s Subsidiaries or Affiliates.
 

Section 8.4  Reliance by Agent.
 

The Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any writing, resolution, notice, consent,
certificate, affidavit, letter, telegram, facsimile, telex or telephone message, statement or other document or conversation believed by
it to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons, and upon advice and
statements of legal counsel (including counsel to the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by the Agent.
The Agent may deem and treat the original Lenders as the owners of the respective Notes for all purposes until receipt by the Agent
of a written notice of assignment, negotiation or transfer of any interest therein by the Lenders in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement. The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under this Agreement or any other Financing
Document unless it shall first receive such advice or concurrence of the Required Lenders as it deems appropriate and, if it so
requests, it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred
by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action. The Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining
from acting, under this Agreement or any other Financing Document in accordance with a request or consent of the Required Lenders
(or all Lenders if so required by Section 9.2.2 (Consent of All Lenders Required)) and such request and any action taken or failure to
act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all of the Lenders.
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Section 8.5  Notice of Default.

 
The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge or notice of the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, unless the

Agent shall have received written notice from a Lender or the Borrower referring to this Agreement, describing such Default or Event
of Default and stating that such notice is a “notice of default.” The Agent will notify the Lenders of its receipt of any such notice. The
Agent shall take such action with respect to such Default or Event of Default as may be requested by the Required Lenders in
accordance with Section 9.2.2 (Consent of All Lenders Required); provided, however, that unless and until the Agent has received
any such request, the Agent may (but shall not be obligated to) take such action, or refrain from taking such action, with respect to
such Default or Event of Default as it shall deem advisable.
 

Section 8.6  Credit Decision.
 

Each Lender acknowledges that none of the Agent-Related Persons has made any representation or warranty to it, and that
no act by the Agent hereinafter taken, including any review of the affairs of the Borrower and its Affiliates, shall be deemed to
constitute any representation or warranty by any Agent-Related Person to any Lender. Each Lender represents to the Agent that it
has, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-Related Person and based on such documents and information as it has
deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of and investigation into the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and
other condition and creditworthiness of the Borrower and its Affiliates, and all applicable bank regulatory laws relating to the
transactions contemplated hereby, and made its own decision to enter into this Agreement and to extend credit to the Borrower. Each
Lender also represents that it will, independently and without reliance upon any Agent-Related Person and based on such documents
and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking
or not taking action under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents, and to make such investigations as it deems
necessary to inform itself as to the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the
Borrower. Except for notices, reports and other documents expressly herein required to be furnished to the Lenders by the Agent, the
Agent shall not have any duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with (and, to the extent provided, Agent-Related Persons shall
have no liability for the accuracy or completeness of) any credit or other information, including, without limitation, field examinations
performed by Agent-Related Persons, concerning the business, prospects, operations, property, financial and other condition or
creditworthiness of the Borrower which may come into the possession of any of the Agent-Related Persons. Fo r purposes of
determining compliance with the conditions specified in ARTICLE V (CONDITIONS PRECEDENT), each Lender that has signed this
Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be satisfied with, each document or other matter
required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless Agent shall have received
notice from such Lender prior to the proposed Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.
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Section 8.7  Indemnification.
 

Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated, the Lenders shall indemnify upon demand the
Agent-Related Persons (to the extent not reimbursed b y or on behalf of the Borrower and without limiting the obligation of the
Borrower to do so), in accordance with their Pro Rata Shares, from and against any and all Indemnified Liabilities as such term is
defined in Section 9.19 (Indemnification); provided, however, that no Lender shall be liable for the payment to the Agent-Related
Persons of any portion of such Indemnified Liabilities resulting solely from such Person’s gross negligence or willful misconduct as
determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of competent jurisdiction,. Without limitation of the foregoing, each Lender shall
reimburse the Agent upon demand for its Pro Rata Share of any costs or out-of-pocket expenses (including Enforcement Costs)
incurred by the Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification, amendment or
enforcement (whether through negotiations, legal proceedings or otherwise) of, or legal advice in respect of rights or responsibilities
under, this Agreement, any other Financing Document, or any document contemplated by or referred to herein, to the extent that the
Agent is not reimbursed for such expenses by or on behalf of the Borrower. The undertaking in this Section shall survive the payment
of all Obligations hereunder and the resignation or replacement of the Agent.
 

Section 8.8  Agent in Individual Capacity.
 

The M&T and its Affiliates may make loans to, issue letters of credit for the account of, accept deposits from, acquire equity
interests in and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust, financial advisory, underwriting or other business with the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates as though the M&T were not the Agent hereunder and without notice to or consent of the Lenders.
The M&T or its Affiliates may receive information regarding the Borrower, its Affiliates and Account Debtors (including information that
may be subject to confidentiality obligations in favor of the Borrower or such Subsidiary) and acknowledge that the Agent and the
M&T shall be under no obligation to provide such information to them. With respect to its Loans, the M&T shall have the same rights
and powers under this Agreement as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and the terms
“Lender” and “Lenders” include the M&T in its individual capacity.
 

Section 8.9  Successor Agent.
 

The Agent may resign as Agent upon at least 30 days’ prior notice to the Lenders and the Borrower, such resignation to be
effective upon the acceptance of a successor agent to its appointment as Agent. In the event the M&T sells all of its Commitment and
Revolving Loans as part of a sale, transfer or other disposition by the M&T of substantially all of its loan portfolio, the M&T shall resign
as Agent and such purchaser or transferee shall become the successor Agent hereunder. Subject to the foregoing, if the Agent
resigns under this Agreement, the Required Lenders shall appoint from among the Lenders a successor agent for the Lenders. If no
successor agent is appointed prior to the effective date of the resignation of the Agent, the Agent may appoint, after consulting with
the Lenders and the Borrower, a successor agent from among the Lenders. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as successor
agent hereunder, such successor agent shall succeed to all the rights, powers and duties of the retiring Agent and the term “Agent”
shall mean such successor agent and the retiring Agent’s appointment, powers and duties as Agent shall be terminated. After any
retiring Agent’s resignation hereunder as Agent, the provisions of this ARTICLE 8 shall continue to inure to its benefit as to any
actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement.
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Section 8.10  Status of Lenders.

 
Each Lender represents and warrants to the Agent that the Lender is a “United States person” within the meaning of Section

7701(a)(30) of the Internal Revenue Code and such Lender claims exemption from, or a reduction of, U.S. withholding tax under
Sections 1441 or 1442 of the Internal Revenue Code, or has complied with the provisions of Section 8.11 (Withholding Tax).
 

Section 8.11  Withholding Tax.
 

I f any Lender is a “foreign corporation, partnership or trust” within the meaning of the Code and such Lender claims
exemption from, or a reduction of, U.S. withholding tax under Sections 1441 or 1442 of the Code, such Lender agrees with and in
favor of the Agent, to deliver to the Agent:
 

(a)  i f such Lender claims an exemption from, or a reduction of, withholding tax under a United
States of America tax treaty, properly completed IRS Forms W-8BEN and W-8ECI before the payment of any interest in the
first calendar year and before the payment of any interest in each third succeeding calendar year during which interest may
be paid under this Agreement;

 
(b)  if such Lender claims that interest paid under this Agreement is exempt from United States of

America withholding tax because it is effectively connected with a United States of America trade or business of such Lender,
two properly completed and executed copies of IRS Form W-8ECI before the payment of any interest is due in the first
taxable year of such Lender and in each succeeding taxable year of such Lender during which interest may be paid under
this Agreement, and IRS Form W-9; and

 
(c)  such other form or forms as may be required under the Code or other laws of the United

States of America as a condition to exemption from, or reduction of, United States of America withholding tax.
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Such Lender agrees to promptly notify the Agent of any change in circumstances which would modify or render invalid any

claimed exemption or reduction.
 

If any Lender claims exemption from, or reduction of, withholding tax under a United States of America tax treaty by providing
IRS Form FW-8BEN and such Lender sells, assigns, grants a participation in, or otherwise transfers all or part of the Obligations
owing to such Lender, such Lender agrees to notify the Agent of the percentage amount in which it is no longer the beneficial owner
of Obligations of the Borrower to such Lender. To the extent of such percentage amount, the Agent will treat such Lender’s IRS Form
W-8BEN as no longer valid.
 

I f any Lender claiming exemption from United States of America withholding tax by filing IRS Form W-8ECI with the Agent
sells, assigns, grants a participation in, or otherwise transfers all or part of the Obligations owing to such Lender, such Lender agrees
to undertake sole responsibility for complying with the withholding tax requirements imposed by Sections 1441 and 1442 of the Code.
 

If any Lender is entitled to a reduction in the applicable withholding tax, the Agent may withhold from any interest payment to
such Lender an amount equivalent to the applicable withholding tax after taking into account such reduction. If the forms or other
documentation required by subsection (a) of this Section are not delivered to the Agent, then the Agent may withhold from any
interest payment to such Lender not providing such forms or other documentation an amount equivalent to the applicable withholding
tax.
 

If the IRS or any other Governmental Authority of the United States of America or other jurisdiction asserts a claim that the
Agent did not properly withhold tax from amounts paid to or for the account of any Lender (because the appropriate form was not
delivered, was not properly executed, or because such Lender failed to notify the Agent of a change in circumstances which rendered
the exemption from, or reduction of, withholding tax ineffective, or for any other reason) such Lender shall indemnify the Agent fully
for all amounts paid, directly or indirectly, by the Agent as tax or otherwise, including penalties and interest, and including any taxes
imposed by any jurisdiction on the amounts payable to the Agent under this Section, together with all costs and expenses (including,
without limitation, reasonable attorneys fees and other Enforcement Costs). The obligation of the Lenders under this subsection shall
survive the payment of all Obligations and the resignation or replacement of the Agent.
 

Section 8.12  Collateral Matters.
 

8.12.1  Release of Collateral.
 

The Lenders hereby irrevocably authorize the Agent, at its option and in its sole discretion, to release any Agent’s
Liens upon any Collateral (i) upon the termination of the Commitments and payment and satisfaction in full by Borrower of all Loans
and reimbursement obligations in respect of letters of credit and any other Obligations, and the termination of all outstanding letters of
credit (whether or not any of such obligations are due) and all other Obligations; (ii) constituting property being sold or disposed of if
the Borrower certifies to the Agent that the sale or disposition is made in compliance with Section 6.2.1 (Capital Structure, Merger,
Acquisition or Sale of Assets) (and the Agent may rely conclusively on any such certificate, without further inquiry); (iii) constituting
property in which the Borrower owned no interest at the time the Lien was granted or at any time thereafter or property which was the
subject of a Permitted Lien in which the other secured party holds a Lien with priority over the Agent’s Liens; or (iv) constituting
property leased to the Borrower under a lease which has expired or been terminated in a transaction permitted under this Agreement.
Except as provided above, the Agent will not release any of the Agent’s Liens without the prior written authorization of the Lenders;
provided that the Agent may, in its discretion, release the Agent’s Liens on Collateral valued in the aggregate not in excess of
$500,000 during each Fiscal Year without the prior written authorization of the Lenders and the Agent may release the Agent’s Liens
on Collateral valued in the aggregate not in excess of $1,000,000 during each Fiscal Year with the prior written authorization of
Required Lenders. Upon request by the Agent or the Borrower at any time, the Lenders will confirm in writing the Agent’s authority to
release any Agent’s Liens upon particular types or items of Collateral pursuant to this Section 8.12.
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Upon receipt by the Agent of any necessary authorization required pursuant to this Section 8.12 (a) from the Lenders
of the Agent’s authority to release Agent’s Liens upon particular types or items of Collateral, and upon at least five (5) Business Days
prior written request by the Borrower, the Agent shall (and is hereby irrevocably authorized by the Lenders to) execute such
documents as may be necessary to evidence the release of the Agent’s Liens upon such Collateral; provided, however, that (i) the
Agent shall not be required to execute any such document on terms which, in the Agent’s opinion, would expose the Agent to liability
or create any obligation or entail any consequence other than the release of such Liens without recourse or warranty, and (ii) such
release shall not in any manner discharge, affect or impair the Obligations or any Liens (other than those expressly being released)
upon (or obligations of the Borrower in respect of) all interests retained by the Borrower, including the proceeds of any sale, al l of
which shall continue to constitute part of the Collateral.
 

8.12.2  Status of Agent’s Liens.
 

The Agent shall have no obligation whatsoever to any of the Lenders to assure that the Collateral exists or is owned
by the Borrower or is cared for, protected or insured or has been encumbered, or that the Agent’s Liens have been properly or
sufficiently or lawfully created, perfected, protected or enforced or are entitled to any particular priority, or to exercise at all or in any
particular manner or under any duty of care, disclosure or fidelity, or to continue exercising, any of the rights, authorities and powers
granted or available to the Agent pursuant to any of the Financing Documents, it being understood and agreed that in respect of the
Collateral, or any act, omission or event related thereto, the Agent may act in any manner it may deem appropriate, in its sole
discretion given the Agent’s own interest in the Collateral in its capacity as one of the Lenders and that the Agent shall have no other
duty or liability whatsoever to any Lender as to any of the foregoing.
 

Section 8.13  Restrictions on Actions by Lenders; Sharing of Payments.
 

Each of the Lenders agrees that it shall not, without the express consent of all Lenders, and that it shall, to the extent it is
lawfully entitled to do so, upon the request of all Lenders, set off against the Obligations, any amounts owing by such Lender to the
Borrower or any accounts of the Borrower now or hereafter maintained with such Lender. Each of the Lenders further agrees that it
shall not, unless specifically requested to do so by the Agent, take or cause to be taken any action to enforce its rights under this
Agreement or against the Borrower, including the commencement of any legal or equitable proceedings, to foreclose any Lien on, or
otherwise enforce any security interest in, any of the Collateral.
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If at any time or times any Lender shall receive (i) by payment, foreclosure, setoff or otherwise, any proceeds of Collateral or

any payments with respect to the Obligations of the Borrower to such Lender arising under, or relating to, this Agreement or the other
Financing Documents, except for any such proceeds or payments received by such Lender from the Agent pursuant to the terms of
this Agreement, or (ii) payments from the Agent in excess of such Lender’s ratable portion of all such distributions by the Agent, such
Lender shall promptly (1) turn the same over to the Agent, in kind, and with such endorsements as may be required to negotiate the
same to the Agent, or in same day funds, as applicable, for the account of all of the Lenders and for application to the Obligations in
accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement, or (2) purchase, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest and
participation in the Obligations owed to the other Lenders so that such excess payment received shall be applied ratably as among
the Lenders in accordance with their Pro Rata Shares; provided, however, that if all or part of such excess payment received by the
purchasing party is thereafter recovered from it, those purchases of participations shall be rescinded in whole or in part, as
applicable, and the applicable portion of the purchase price paid therefor shall be returned to such purchasing party, but without
interest except to the extent that such purchasing party is required to pay interest in connection with the recovery of the excess
payment.
 

Section 8.14  Agency for Perfection.
 

Each Lender hereby appoints each other Lender as agent for the purpose of perfecting the Lenders’ security interest in
assets which, in accordance with Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code can be perfected only by possession. Should any Lender
(other than the Agent) obtain possession of any such Collateral, such Lender shall notify the Agent thereof, and, promptly upon the
Agent’s request therefor shall deliver such Collateral to the Agent or in accordance with the Agent’s instructions.
 

Section 8.15  Dissemination of Information.
 

The Agent will provide the Lenders with any information received by the Agent from the Borrower that is required to be
provided to the Agent or to the Lenders hereunder; provided, however, that the Agent shall not be liable to any one or more the
Lenders for any failure t o do so, except to the extent that such failure is attributable to the Agent’s gross negligence or willful
misconduct as determined by a final non-appealable order by a court of competent jurisdiction.
 

ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS

 
Section 9.1  Notices.

 
All notices, requests and demands to or upon the parties to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have

been given or made when delivered by hand on a Business Day, or two (2) days after the date when deposited in the mail, postage
prepaid by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, o r when sent by overnight courier, on the Business Day next
following the day on which the notice is delivered to such overnight courier, addressed as follows:
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Borrower: Payments Inc.
1158 Broadway
Hewlett, New York 11557
Attention: Barry B. Goldstein

  
with a copy to: Fred Skolnick, Esquire

Certilman, Balin, Adler & Hyman, LLP
90 Merrick Avenue
East Meadow, NY 11554

  
Agent: Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company

25 South Charles Street, 14th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21201
Attention: Maryanne Gruys

  
with a copy to: Frederick W. Runge, Jr., Esquire

Miles & Stockbridge P. C.
10 Light Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

  
M&T: Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company

25 South Charles Street, 14th Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21201
Attention: Maryanne Gruys

  
with a copy to: Frederick W. Runge, Jr., Esquire

Miles & Stockbridge P. C.
10 Light Street
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

  
Other Lenders: at the address set forth below their respective signatures

 
By written notice, each party to this Agreement may change the address to which notice is given to that party, provided that

such changed notice shall include a street address to which notices may be delivered by overnight courier in the ordinary course on
any Business Day.
 

Section 9.2  Amendments; Waivers.
 

9.2.1  Generally.
 

This Agreement and the other Financing Documents may not be amended, modified, or changed in any respect
except by an agreement in writing signed by the Agent, the Required Lenders and the Borrower, and, to the extent provided in
Section 9.2.2 (Consent of all Lenders Required), by an agreement in writing signed by the Agent, all of the Lenders and the Borrower.
No waiver of any provision of this Agreement or of any of the other Financing Documents, nor consent to any departure by the
Borrower therefrom, shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing signed by the Required Lenders. No course of
dealing between the Borrower and the Agent and/or any of the Lenders and no act or failure to act from time to time on the part of the
Agent and/or any of the Lenders shall constitute a waiver, amendment or modification of any provision of this Agreement or any of the
other Financing Documents or any right or remedy under this Agreement, under any of the other Financing Documents or under
applicable Laws. Without implying any limitation on the foregoing, and subject to the provisions of Section 9.2.2 (Consent of all
Lenders Required)
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(a)  Any waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance, for the terms and purpose for
which given, subject to such conditions as the Agent and Lenders may specify in any such instrument.
 

(b)  No waiver of any Default or Event of Default shall extend to any subsequent or other Default or Event
of Default, or impair any right consequent thereto.
 

(c)  No notice to or demand on the Borrower in any case shall entitle the Borrower to any other or further
notice or demand in the same, similar or other circumstance.
 

(d)  N o failure or delay by the Lenders to insist upon the strict performance of any term, condition,
covenant or agreement of this Agreement or of any of the other Financing Documents, or to exercise any right, power or remedy
consequent upon a breach thereof, shall constitute a waiver, amendment or modification of any such term, condition, covenant or
agreement or of any such breach or preclude the Lenders from exercising any such right, power or remedy at any time or times.
 

(e)  By accepting payment after the due date of any amount payable under this Agreement or under any
of the other Financing Documents, the Lenders shall not be deemed to waive the right either to require prompt payment when due of
all other amounts payable under this Agreement or under any of the other Financing Documents, or to declare a default for failure to
effect such prompt payment of any such other amount.
 

9.2.2  Consent of all Lenders Required.
 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, no amendment, modification, change or waiver shall be
effective without the consent of all of the Lenders to:
 

(a)  change the Maturity Date or the date of payment of principal of, or interest on, any Note;
 

(b)  reduce the principal amount of any Note, the rate of interest thereon or the Fees due to the
Lenders, except as expressly permitted in this Agreement;

 
(c)  increase the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount, except as expressly permitted in this

Agreement; or
 

(d)  modify this Section 9.2.2 or the definition of “Required Lenders.”
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Section 9.3  Cumulative Remedies.
 

The rights, powers and remedies provided in this Agreement and in the other Financing Documents are cumulative, may be
exercised concurrently or separately, may be exercised from time to time and in such order as the Agent shall determine, subject to
the provisions of this Agreement, and are in addition to, and not exclusive of, rights, powers and remedies provided by existing or
future applicable Laws, all without regard to any right of the Borrower or any other Person to the marshalling of assets, which right the
Borrower and any other Person (including, without limitation, the Guarantors) who may be liable (by endorsement, guaranty,
indemnity or otherwise) for all or any part of the Obligations hereby waive to the extent permitted by applicable Laws. In order to
entitle the Agent to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Agreement, it shall not be necessary to give any notice, other than such
notice as may be expressly required in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and subject to the terms of this
Agreement, the Agent may:
 

(a)  proceed against the Borrower with or without proceeding against any other Person
(including, without limitation, any one or more of the Guarantors) who may be liable (by endorsement, guaranty, indemnity or
otherwise) for all or any part of the Obligations;

 
(b)  proceed against the Borrower with or without proceeding under any of the other Financing

Documents or against any Collateral or other collateral and security for all or any part of the Obligations;
 

(c)  without reducing or impairing the obligation of the Borrower and without notice, release or
compromise with any guarantor or other Person liable for all or any part of the Obligations under the Financing Documents or
otherwise;

 
(d)  without reducing or impairing the obligations of the Borrower and without notice thereof:

 
(i)  fail to perfect the Lien in any or all Collateral or to release any or all

the Collateral or to accept substitute Collateral;
 

(ii)  approve the making of Advances under this Agreement;
 

(iii)  waive any provision of this Agreement or the other Financing
Documents;

 
(iv)  exercise or fail to exercise rights of set-off or other rights; or

 
(v)  accept partial payments or extend from time to time the maturity of all

or any part of the Obligations.
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Section 9.4  Severability.

 
In case one or more provisions, or part thereof, contained in this Agreement or in the other Financing Documents shall be

invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any Law, then without need for any further agreement, notice or action:
 

(a)  the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall remain effective and
binding on the parties thereto and shall not be affected or impaired thereby;

 
(b)  the obligation to be fulfilled shall be reduced to the limit of such validity;

 
(c)  if such provision or part thereof pertains to repayment of the Obligations, then, at the sole and

absolute discretion of the Agent, all of the Obligations of the Borrower to the Agent and the Lenders shall become
immediately due and payable; and

 
(d)  if the affected provision or part thereof does not pertain to repayment of the Obligations, but

operates or would prospectively operate to invalidate this Agreement in whole or in part, then such provision or part thereof
only shall be void, and the remainder of this Agreement shall remain operative and in full force and effect.

 
Section 9.5  Syndication.

 
(a)  The Arranger, in cooperation with the Borrower, will manage all aspects of the syndication, including the

selection of Lenders, the determination of when Arranger will approach potential Lenders, and the final allocations among Lenders.
The Borrower agrees to assist Arranger actively in achieving a timely syndication that is reasonably satisfactory to Arranger, such
assistance to include, among other things, (i) direct contact during the syndication between the Borrower’s senior officers,
representatives and advisors, on the one hand, and prospective Lenders, on the other hand at such times and places as Arranger
may reasonably request, (ii) providing to Arranger all financial and other information with respect to the Borrower and the transactions
contemplated that Arranger may reasonably request, including but not limited to financial projections relating to the foregoing, and (iii)
assistance in the preparation of a confidential information memorandum and other marketing materials to be used in connection with
the syndication.
 

(b)  The Arranger shall notify the Agent and the Borrower in writing of the Adjustment Date with respect to any
new Lender under the provisions of this Section 9.5. On or before the Adjustment Date, the Agent, the Borrower and the respective
new Lender shall execute and deliver a written amendments to this agreement in a form acceptable to the Agent, and such other
documents (including, without limitation, a new Note to the order of the new Lender) as the Agent may require to reflect the new
Lender’s Revolving Credit Committed Amount and the increase in the Total Revolving Credit Committed Amount.
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Section 9.6  Assignments by Lenders.
 

Any Lender may, with the prior written consent of the Agent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), but without
notice to or consent of the Borrower, assign to any Person (each an “Assignee” and collectively, the “Assignees”) all or a portion of
such Lender’s Commitments; provided that, unless the Lender has assigned all of its Commitments, after giving effect to such
assignment, such Lender must continue to hold a Pro Rata Share of the Commitments at least equal to Five Million Dollars
($5,000,000). Any Lender that elects to make such an assignment shall pay to the Agent, for the exclusive benefit of the Agent, an
administrative fee for processing each such assignment in the amount of Three Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($3,500.00). Such
Lender and its Assignee shall notify the Agent and the Borrower in writing of the date on which the assignment is to be effective (the
“Adjustment Date”). On or before the Adjustment Date, the assigning Lender, the Agent, the Borrower and the respective Assignee
shall execute and deliver a written assignment agreement in a form acceptable to the Agent, which shall constitute an amendment to
this Agreement to the extent necessary to reflect such assignment. Upon the request of any assigning Lender following an
assignment made in accordance with this Section 9.6, the Borrower shall issue new Notes to the assigning Lender and its Assignee
reflecting such assignment, in exchange for the existing Notes held by the assigning Lender.
 

In addition, notwithstanding the foregoing, any Lender may at any time pledge all or any portion of such Lender’s rights under
this Agreement, any of the Commitments or any of the Obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank.
 

Section 9.7  Participations by Lenders.
 

Any Lender may at any time sell to one or more financial institutions participating interests in any of such Lender’s Obligations
or Commitments; provided, however, that (a) no such participation shall relieve such Lender from its obligations under this
Agreement or under any of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, (b) such Lender shall remain solely responsible for
the performance of its obligations under this Agreement and under all of the other Financing Documents to which it is a party, and (c)
the Borrower, the Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such
Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Financing Documents.
 

Section 9.8  Disclosure of Information by Lenders.
 

I n connection with any transaction contemplated by Section 9.5 (Remaining Syndication) sale, transfer, assignment or
participation by any Lender in accordance with Section 9.6 (Assignments by Lenders) or Section 9.7 (Participations by Lenders), each
Lender shall have the right to disclose to any actual or potential Lender, purchaser, assignee, transferee or participant al l financial
records, information, reports, financial statements and documents obtained in connection with this Agreement and/or any of the other
Financing Documents or otherwise.
 

Section 9.9  Successors and Assigns.
 

This Agreement and all other Financing Documents shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Borrower, the Agent
and the Lenders and their respective successors and assigns, except that the Borrower shall not have the right to assign its rights
hereunder or any interest herein without the prior written consent of the Agent and the Required Lenders of the Lenders.
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Section 9.10  Continuing Agreements.
 

All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower i n this Agreement, in any of the other
Financing Documents, and in any certificate delivered pursuant hereto or thereto shall survive the making by the Lenders o f the
Loans and the execution and delivery of the Notes, shall be binding upon the Borrower regardless of how long before or after the date
hereof any of the Obligations were or are incurred, and shall continue in full force and effect so long as any of the Obligations are
outstanding and unpaid. From time to time upon the Agent’s request, and as a condition of the release of any one or more of the
Security Documents, the Borrower and other Persons obligated with respect to the Obligations shall provide the Agent with such
acknowledgments and agreements as the Agent may require to the effect that there exists no defenses, rights of setoff or
recoupment, claims, counterclaims, actions or causes of action of any kind or nature whatsoever against the Agent, any Agent-
Related Persons, any or all of the Lenders, and/or any of its or their agents and others, or to the extent there are, the same are
waived and released.
 

Section 9.11  Enforcement Costs.
 

The Borrower agrees to pay to the Agent on demand all Enforcement Costs, together with interest thereon from the date
incurred or advanced until paid in full at a per annum rate of interest equal at all times to the Post-Default Rate. Enforcement Costs
shall be immediately due and payable at the time advanced or incurred, whichever is earlier. Without implying any limitation on the
foregoing, the Borrower agrees, as part of the Enforcement Costs, to pay upon demand any and all stamp and other Taxes and fees
payable or determined to b e payable in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Financing
Documents and to save the Agent and the Lenders harmless from and against any and all liabilities with respect to or resulting from
any delay in paying or omission to pay any Taxes or fees referred to in this Section. The provisions of this Section shall survive the
execution and delivery of this Agreement, the repayment of the other Obligations and shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
 

Section 9.12  Applicable Law; Jurisdiction.
 

9.12.1  Applicable Law.
 

As a material inducement to the Agent and the Lenders to enter into this Agreement, the Borrower acknowledges and
agrees that the Financing Documents, including, this Agreement, shall be governed by the Laws of the State, as if each of the
Financing Documents and this Agreement had each been executed, delivered, administered and performed solely within the State
even though for the convenience and at the request of the Borrower, one or more of the Financing Documents may be executed
elsewhere. The Agent and the Lenders acknowledge, however, that remedies under certain of the Financing Documents that relate to
property outside the State may be subject to the laws of the state in which the property is located.
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9.12.2  Submission to Jurisdiction.
 

The Borrower irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the State over any suit,
action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents. The Borrower irrevocably
waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such
suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court
has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Final judgment in any such suit, action or proceeding brought in any such court shall be
conclusive and binding upon the Borrower and may be enforced in any court in which the Borrower is subject to jurisdiction, by a suit
upon such judgment, provided that service of process is effected upon the Borrower in one of the manners specified in this Section or
as otherwise permitted by applicable Laws.
 

9.12.3  Service of Process.
 

The Borrower hereby consents to process being served in any suit, action or proceeding of the nature referred to in
this Section by (a) the mailing of a copy thereof by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the
Borrower at the Borrower’s address designated in or pursuant to Section 9.1 (Notices), and (b) serving a copy thereof upon the agent,
if any, designated and appointed by the Borrower as the Borrower’s agent for service of process by or pursuant to this Section. The
Borrower irrevocably agrees that such service (y) shall be deemed in every respect effective service of process upon the Borrower in
any such suit, action or proceeding, and (z) shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be taken and held to be valid personal service
upon the Borrower. Nothing in this Section shall affect the right of the Agent to serve process in any manner otherwise permitted by
law or limit the right of the Agent otherwise to bring proceedings against the Borrower in the courts of any jurisdiction or jurisdictions.
 

Section 9.13  Duplicate Originals and Counterparts.
 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of duplicate originals or counterparts, each of such duplicate originals or
counterparts shall be deemed to be an original and all taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument..
 

Section 9.14  No Agency.
 

Nothing herein contained shall be construed to constitute the Borrower as the agent of the Agent or any of the Lenders for
any purpose whatsoever or to permit the Borrower to pledge any of the credit of the Agent or any of the Lenders. Neither the Agent
nor any of the Lenders shall be responsible or liable for any shortage, discrepancy, damage, loss or destruction of any part of the
Collateral wherever the same may be located and regardless of the cause thereof. Neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall, by
anything herein or in any of the Financing Documents or otherwise, assume any of the Borrower’s obligations under any contract or
agreement assigned to the Agent and/or the Lenders, and neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall be responsible in any way
for the performance by the Borrower of any of the terms and conditions thereof.
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Section 9.15  Date of Payment.

 
Should the principal of or interest on the Notes become due and payable on other than a Business Day, the maturity thereof

shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and in the case of principal, interest shall be payable thereon at the rate per
annum specified in the Notes during such extension.
 

Section 9.16  Entire Agreement.
 

This Agreement is intended by the Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower to be a complete, exclusive and final expression of
the agreements contained herein. Neither the Agent, the Lenders nor the Borrower shall hereafter have any rights under any prior
agreements pertaining to the matters addressed by this Agreement but shall look solely to this Agreement for definition and
determination of all of their respective rights, liabilities and responsibilities under this Agreement.
 

Section 9.17  Waiver of Trial by Jury.
 

THE BORROWER, THE AGENT AND THE LENDERS HEREBY JOINTLY AND SEVERALLY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN
ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO WHICH THE BORROWER AND THE AGENT AND/OR ANY OR ALL OF THE LENDERS
MAY BE PARTIES, ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY PERTAINING TO (A) THIS AGREEMENT, (B) ANY OF THE FINANCING
DOCUMENTS, OR (C) THE COLLATERAL. THIS WAIVER CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OF ALL CLAIMS
AGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS, INCLUDING CLAIMS AGAINST PARTIES WHO ARE NOT
PARTIES TO THIS AGREEMENT.
 

This waiver is knowingly, willingly and voluntarily made by the Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders, and the Borrower, the
Agent and the Lenders hereby represent that no representations of fact or opinion have been made by any individual to induce this
waiver of trial by jury or to in any way modify or nullify its effect. The Borrower, the Agent and the Lenders further represent that they
have been represented in the signing of this Agreement and in the making of this waiver by independent legal counsel, selected of
their own free will, and that they have had the opportunity to discuss this waiver with counsel.
 

Section 9.18  Liability of the Agent and the Lenders.
 

The Borrower hereby agrees that neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall be chargeable for any negligence, mistake,
act or omission of any accountant, examiner, agency or attorney employed by the Agent and/or any of the Lenders i n making
examinations, investigations or collections, or otherwise in perfecting, maintaining, protecting or realizing upon any lien or security
interest or any other interest in the Collateral or other security for the Obligations.
 

By inspecting the Collateral or any other properties of the Borrower or by accepting or approving anything required to be
observed, performed or fulfilled by the Borrower or to be given to the Agent and/or any of the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement or
any of the other Financing Documents, neither the Agent nor any of the Lenders shall be deemed to have warranted or represented
the condition, sufficiency, legality, effectiveness or legal effect of the same, and such acceptance or approval shall not constitute any
warranty or representation with respect thereto by the Agent and/or the Lenders.
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Section 9.19  Indemnification.

 
The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless, the Agent, the Lenders, the respective parent and Affiliates of the

Agent and the Lenders and the respective parent’s and Affiliates’ officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents (each an
“Indemnified Party;” and collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), from and against any and all claims, liabilities, losses, damages, costs
and expenses (whether or not such Indemnified Party is a party to any litigation), including without limitation, reasonable attorney’s
fees and costs and costs of investigation, document production, attendance at depositions or other discovery, incurred by any
Indemnified Party with respect to, arising out of or as a consequence of (a) this Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents,
including without limitation, any failure of the Borrower to pay when due (at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) any principal,
interest, fee or any other amount due under this Agreement or the other Loan documents, or any other Event of Default; (b) the use
by the Borrower of any proceeds advanced hereunder; (c) the transactions contemplated hereunder; or (d) any claim, demand, action
or cause of action being asserted against (i) the Borrower or any of its Affiliates by any other Person, or (ii) any Indemnified Party by
the Borrower in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder (the foregoing collectively, the “Indemnified Liabilities”).
Notwithstanding anything herein or elsewhere to the contrary, the Borrower shall not be obligated to indemnify or hold harmless any
Indemnified Party from any liability, loss or damage resulting from the gross negligence or willful misconduct (as determined by a final
non-appealable order by a court of competent jurisdiction) of such Indemnified Party. Any amount payable to the Agent and/or the
Lenders under this Section will bear interest at the Post-Default Rate from the due date until paid.
 
 

[Signatures follow on next page]
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Signature Page to
Financing and Security Agreement among

Payments Inc. and DCAP Group, Inc., Borrower
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, Agent

and
Certain Lenders

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto have executed and delivered this Agreement under their respective

seals as of the day and year first written above.
 

WITNESS:
 
_____________

PAYMENTS INC.
 
By:_______________(Seal)

Barry B. Goldstein
President

  
WITNESS:
 
____________

DCAP GROUP, INC.
 
By:______________(Seal)

Barry B. Goldstein
President

  
WITNESS:
 
 
___________
 

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS
TRUST COMPANY
in its capacity as Agent
 
By:_____________(Seal)

Maryanne Gruys
Vice President

  
WITNESS:
 
 
___________
 

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS
TRUST COMPANY
in its capacity as a Lender
 
By:_____________(Seal)

Maryanne Gruys
Vice President
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FINANCING AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

 
Dated July __, 2006

 
 

By and Among
 
 

PAYMENTS INC.,
 
 

as Borrower,
 
 

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY,
 
 

as Agent
 
 

MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, INVESTMENT BANKING GROUP
 
 

as Sole Lead Arranger
 
 

 
 

and the Lenders parties
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AMENDED AND RESTATED
REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE

(M&T)
 
$20,000,000 Baltimore, Maryland
 July 28, 2006

 
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, PAYMENTS INC., a corporation organized under the laws the State of New York (“Payments Inc.”),

and DCAP GROUP, INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Parent”), of which Payments
Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary, jointly and severally (the “Borrower”), promises to pay to the order of MANUFACTURERS AND
TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York State Bank organized under the laws of the State of New York (the “Lender” ) , the
principal sum of TWENTY MILLION DOLLARS ($20,000,000) (the “Principal Sum”), o r such lesser amount equal to the Lender’s
Revolving Credit Pro Rata Share (as that term is defined in the “Financing Agreement” defined below) of the Revolving Credit Facility
(as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement) or so much thereof as has been or may be advanced and/or readvanced to or for
the account of the Borrower under the Revolving Credit Facility (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement) pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the Financing Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rate or rates hereinafter provided, in
accordance with the following:
 

1.  Interest.
 

Commencing as of the date hereof and continuing until repayment in full of all sums due hereunder, the unpaid Principal Sum
shall bear interest at the Applicable Interest Rate or the Post-Default Rate (both as defined in the Financing Agreement) in effect from
time to time for the Revolving Loan (as defined in the Financing Agreement). The Applicable Interest Rate shall be determined in the
manner provided in the Financing Agreement.
 

2.  Payments and Maturity.
 

The unpaid Principal Sum, together with interest thereon at the rate or rates provided above, shall be payable as follows:
 

(a)  Interest only on the unpaid Principal Sum shall be due and payable at the times provided in the Financing
Agreement, Section 2.3.1 (Payment of Interest) of the Financing Agreement being the current provision therefor; and
 

(b)  Unless sooner paid, the unpaid Principal Sum, together with interest accrued and unpaid thereon, shall be
due and payable in full on the Revolving Credit Expiration Date (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement).
 

The fact that the balance hereunder may be reduced to zero from time to time pursuant to the Financing Agreement will not
affect the continuing validity of this Note or the Financing Agreement, and the balance may be increased to the Principal Sum after
any such reduction to zero.
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3.  Default Interest.
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as hereinafter defined), the unpaid Principal Sum shall bear interest thereafter at
the Post-Default Rate until such Event of Default is cured.
 

4.  Late Charges.
 

If the Borrower shall fail to make any payment under the terms of this Note (other than a payment due at maturity) within five
(5) days after the date such payment is due, the Borrower shall pay to the Lender on demand a late charge equal to five percent (5%)
of the delinquent amount.
 

5.  Application and Place of Payments.
 

All payments made on account of this Note shall be applied in the manner provided in the Financing Agreement. All payments
on account of this Note shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds during regular
business hours of Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, a New York State Bank (the “Agent” under the Financing Agreement),
at the Agent’s office at 25 South Charles Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21201, or at such other times and places as the Agent may at
any time and from time to time designate in writing to the Borrower.
 

6.  Prepayment.
 

The Borrower may prepay the Principal Sum at the times and in the manner provided in the Financing Agreement.
 

7.  Financing Agreement and Other Financing Documents.
 

This Note is a “Revolving Credit Note” described in an Amended and Restated Financing and Security Agreement dated July
28, 2006 (as amended, modified, restated, substituted, extended and renewed at any time and from time to time, the “Financing
Agreement”), by and among the Borrower, the Agent, the Lender, and the other Lenders under the Financing Agreement. The
indebtedness evidenced by this Note is included within the meaning of the term “Obligations” as defined in the Financing Agreement.
The term “Financing Documents” as used in this Note shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement. All terms used in
this Note which are not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement.
 

8.  Security.
 

This Note is secured as provided in the Financing Agreement.
 

9.  Events of Default.
 

The occurrence of any one or more of the following events shall constitute an event of default (individually, an “Event of
Default” and collectively, the “Events of Default”) under the terms of this Note:
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(a)  The failure of the Borrower to pay to the Lender when due any and all amounts payable by the Borrower to
the Lender under the terms of this Note; or
 

(b)  The occurrence of an Event of Default (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement).
 

10.  Remedies.
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, at the option of the Lender, all amounts payable by the Borrower to the Lender
under the terms of this Note shall immediately become due and payable by the Borrower to the Lender without notice to the Borrower
or any other person, and the Lender shall have all of the rights, powers, and remedies available under the terms of this Note, any of
the other Financing Documents and all applicable laws. The Borrower and all endorsers, guarantors, and other parties who may now
or in the future be primarily or secondarily liable for the payment of the indebtedness evidenced by this Note hereby severally waive
presentment, protest and demand, notice of protest, notice of demand and of dishonor and non-payment of this Note and expressly
agree that this Note or any payment hereunder may be extended from time to time without in any way affecting the liability of the
Borrower, guarantors and endorsers.
 

11.  Confessed Judgment.
 

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Borrower hereby authorizes any attorney designated by the Lender or any
clerk of any court of record to appear for the Borrower in any court of record and confess judgment without prior hearing against the
Borrower in favor of the Lender for and in the amount of the unpaid Principal Sum, all interest accrued and unpaid thereon, all other
amounts payable by the Borrower to the Lender under the terms of this Note or any of the other Financing Documents, costs of suit,
and attorneys’ fees of fifteen percent (15%) of the unpaid Principal Sum and interest then due hereunder. By its acceptance of this
note, the Lender agrees that in the event the Lender exercises at any time its right to confess judgment under this note, the Lender
shall use its best efforts to obtain legal counsel who will charge the Lender for its services on an hourly basis, at its customary hourly
rates and only for the time and reasonable expenses incurred. In no event shall the Lender enforce the legal fees portion of a
confessed judgment award for an amount in excess of the fees and expenses actually charged to the Lender for services rendered by
its counsel in connection with such confession of judgment and/or the collection of sums owed to the Lender. In the event the Lender
receives, through execution upon a confessed judgment, payments on account of attorneys’ fees in excess of such actual attorneys’
fees and expenses incurred by the Lender, then, after full repayment and satisfaction of all of the obligations under and in connection
with this note, the loan agreement and all of the other loan documents, the Lender shall refund such excess amount to the Borrower.
The Borrower hereby releases, to the extent permitted by applicable law, all errors and all rights of exemption, appeal, stay of
execution, inquisition, and other rights to which the Borrower may otherwise be entitled under the laws of the United States of
America or of any state or possession of the United States o f America now in force and which may hereafter be enacted. The
authority and power to appear for and enter judgment against the Borrower shall not be exhausted by one or more exercises thereof
or by any imperfect exercise thereof and shall not be extinguished by any judgment entered pursuant thereto. Such authority may be
exercised on one or more occasions or from time to time in the same or different jurisdictions as often as the Lender shall deem
necessary or desirable, for all of which this Note shall be a sufficient warrant.
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12.  Expenses.

 
The Borrower promises to pay to the Lender on demand by the Lender all costs and expenses incurred by the Lender in

connection with the collection and enforcement of this Note, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses
and all court costs.
 

13.  Notices.
 

Any notice, request, or demand to or upon the Borrower or the Lender shall be deemed to have been properly given or made
when delivered in accordance with Section 9.1 (Notices) of the Financing Agreement.
 

14.  Miscellaneous.
 

Each right, power, and remedy of the Lender as provided for in this Note or any of the other Financing Documents, or now or
hereafter existing under any applicable law or otherwise shall be cumulative and concurrent and shall be in addition to every other
right, power, or remedy provided for in this Note or any of the other Financing Documents or now or hereafter existing under any
applicable law, and the exercise or beginning of the exercise by the Lender of any one or more of such rights, powers, or remedies
shall not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by the Lender of any or all such other rights, powers, or remedies. No failure or
delay by the Lender to insist upon the strict performance of any term, condition, covenant, or agreement of this Note or any of the
other Financing Documents, or to exercise any right, power, or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof, shall constitute a waiver of
any such term, condition, covenant, or agreement or of any such breach, or preclude the Lender from exercising any such right,
power, or remedy at a later time or times. By accepting payment after the due date of any amount payable under the terms of this
Note, the Lender shall not be deemed to waive the right either to require prompt payment when due of all other amounts payable
under the terms of this Note or to declare an Event of Default for the failure to effect such prompt payment of any such other amount.
No course of dealing or conduct shall be effective to amend, modify, waive, release, or change any provisions of this Note.
 

15.  Partial Invalidity.
 

In the event any provision of this Note (or any part of any provision) is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid,
illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision (or remaining
part of the affected provision) of this Note; but this Note shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision (or
part thereof) had not been contained in this Note, but only to the extent it is invalid, illegal, or unenforceable.
 

16.  Captions.
 

The captions herein set forth are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to define, limit, or describe the scope or
intent of this Note.
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17.  Applicable Law.

 
The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that this Note shall be governed by the laws o f the State of Maryland (but not

including the conflict of law rules thereof), even though for the convenience and at the request of the Borrower, this Note may be
executed elsewhere, all as if this Note had been executed, delivered, administered and performed solely within the State of Maryland.
 

18.  Consent to Jurisdiction.
 

The Borrower irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any state or federal court sitting in the State of Maryland over any suit,
action, or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note or any of the other Financing Documents. The Borrower irrevocably waives,
to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection that the Borrower may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such
suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court and any claim that any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such
court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. Final judgment in any such suit, action, or proceeding brought in any such court
shall be conclusive and binding upon the Borrower and may be enforced in any court in which the Borrower is subject to jurisdiction
by a suit upon such judgment, provided that service of process is effected upon the Borrower as provided in this Note or as otherwise
permitted by applicable law.
 

19.  Service of Process.
 

The Borrower hereby consents to process being served in any suit, action, or proceeding instituted in connection with this
Note in the manner provided in the Financing Agreement.
 

20.  No Novation.
 

This Note amends and restates, is intended as a replacement of, and is in substitution for, that certain Revolving Credit Note
dated the Original Closing Date from Payments, as maker, payable to the order of the Lender (the “Original Note”), but is not intended
as a novation of the Original Note or any of the Obligations evidenced by the Original Note. All references in the Financing
Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents to the “Revolving Credit Note” shall mean the Original Note, as amended and
restated in accordance with the provisions of this Note.
 

21.  WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY.
 

THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING TO WHICH
THE BORROWER AND THE LENDER MAY BE PARTIES, ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY PERTAINING TO (A) THIS NOTE
OR (B) THE FINANCING DOCUMENTS. IT IS AGREED AND UNDERSTOOD THAT THIS WAIVER CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF
TRIAL BY JURY OF ALL CLAIMS AGAINST ALL PARTIES TO SUCH ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS, INCLUDING CLAIMS
AGAINST PARTIES WHO ARE NOT PARTIES TO THIS NOTE.
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THIS WAIVER IS KNOWINGLY, WILLINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY MADE BY THE BORROWER, AND THE BORROWER

HEREBY REPRESENTS THAT NO REPRESENTATIONS OF FACT OR OPINION HAVE BEEN MADE BY ANY INDIVIDUAL TO
INDUCE THIS WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY OR TO IN ANY WAY MODIFY OR NULLIFY ITS EFFECT. THE BORROWER
FURTHER REPRESENTS THAT THE BORROWER HAS BEEN REPRESENTED IN THE SIGNING OF THIS NOTE AND IN THE
MAKING OF THIS WAIVER BY INDEPENDENT LEGAL COUNSEL, SELECTED OF THE BORROWER’S OWN FREE WILL, AND
THAT THE BORROWER HAS HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO DISCUSS THIS WAIVER WITH COUNSEL.
 
 

[Signatures follow on next page]
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO

AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE (M&T)
 
 
 WITNESS:
 
______________________

PAYMENTS INC.
 
By:____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
WITNESS:
 
_______________________

DCAP GROUP, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President
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M&T BANK
Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company

TERM LINE NOTE
Maryland

 
July __, 2006 $1,300,000.00
 
BORROWER:  Payments, Inc., a New York corporation

 and
 DCAP Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation

 with its primary place of business located at:
 1158 Broadway
 Hewlett, New York 11557
 Attention: Barry B. Goldstein

BANK: MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York banking corporation with its banking offices at One
M&T Plaza, Buffalo, NY 14203 Attention: Office of the General Counsel.

Promise to Pay. For value received, intending to be legally bound, Borrower promises to pay to the order of the Bank, on the dates
set forth below, the principal sum of One Million Three Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,300,000.00) (the “Principal”) plus interest as
agreed below and all fees and costs (including without limitation attorneys’ fees and disbursements whether for internal or outside
counsel) the Bank incurs in order to collect any amount due under this Note, to negotiate or document a workout or restructuring, or to
preserve its rights or realize upon any guaranty or other security for the payment of this Note (“Expenses”).

Financing Agreement; Financing Documents. This Note is the “Term Line Note” described in an Amended and Restated Financing
and Security Agreement of even date herewith by and between the Borrower and the Lender (as amended, modified, restated,
substituted, extended and renewed at any time and from time to time, the “Financing Agreement”). The indebtedness evidenced by
this Note is included within the meaning of the term “Obligations” as defined in the Financing Agreement. This Note is one of the
“Financing Documents” (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement). All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise
defined shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement.

Interest. The unpaid Principal of this Note shall earn interest calculated on the basis of a 360-day year for the actual number of days
of each year (365 or 366), from and including the date the proceeds of this Note are disbursed to, but not including, the date all
amounts hereunder are paid in full, at a rate per year as set forth in Section 2.4.1 (Applicable Interest Rate -Term Line) of the
Financing Agreement.

Maximum Legal Rate. It is the intent of the Bank and Borrower that in no event shall interest be payable at a rate in excess of the
maximum rate permitted by applicable law (the “Maximum Legal Rate”). Solely to the extent necessary to prevent interest under this
Note from exceeding the Maximum Legal Rate, Borrower agrees that any amount that would be treated as excessive under a final
judicial interpretation of applicable law shall be deemed to have been a mistake and automatically canceled, and, if received by the
Bank, shall be refunded to Borrower, without interest.

Default Rate. If an Event of Default (defined below) occurs, the interest rate on the unpaid Principal shall immediately be
automatically increased to the Post-Default Rate as set forth in the Financing Agreement.

Repayment of Principal and Interest; Late Charge. Payments shall be made in immediately available United States funds at any
banking office of the Bank. Interest will continue to accrue until payment is actually received. Payments may be applied in any order
in the sole discretion of the Bank but, prior to default, shall be applied first to past due interest, Expenses, late charges and principal,
then to current interest, Expenses, late charges and principal, and last to remaining principal.
 
The Maturity Date of this Note is the Term Line Maturity Date (as defined in the Financing Agreement).
 

❑ Borrower shall pay the entire Principal on the Maturity Date. In addition, until the outstanding Principal is paid in full, payments
of all accrued and unpaid interest in amounts which will vary will become due and payable on the _________________ day of
each:
❑ month ❑ quarter ❑ year commencing on _________________________, 20____.

☑ Borrower shall pay the Principal in ❑ monthly ☑ quarterly ❑ annual installments commencing on September 1, 2006 and on
the first day of each ❑ month ☑ quarter ❑ year thereafter consisting of equal installments each in the amount of $130,000.00 and
ONE (1) FINAL INSTALLMENT on the Maturity Date in an amount equal to the outstanding Principal together with all other
amounts outstanding hereunder including, without limitation, accrued interest, costs and expenses. In addition, until the
outstanding Principal is paid in full, payments of all accrued and unpaid interest in amounts which will vary will become due and
payable on the first day of each: ☑ month ❑ quarter ❑ year commencing on August 1, 2006.

❑ Borrower shall pay Principal and interest in __________________ consecutive level ❑ monthly ❑ quarterly ❑ annual
installments consisting of both Principal and interest, amortized over a period of________ years, commencing on
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_________________________, 20____ and on the ________________ day of each  ❑  month  ❑  quarter  ❑  year thereafter
consisting of ______________ equal installments of Principal and interest each in the amount of
$_______________________and ONE (1) FINAL INSTALLMENT on the Maturity Date in an amount equal to the outstanding
Principal together with all other amounts outstanding hereunder including, without limitation, accrued interest,
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costs and expenses. PLEASE NOTE: The Final Installment may be higher than expected if any payment is received after its due
date. Furthermore, to the extent that (i) the repayment terms of this Note contemplate level installments of Principal and interest
during any period in which the applicable interest rate is a variable rate (“Variable Rate P&I Period”), and (ii) during any such
Variable Rate P&I Period, the applicable interest rate changes in accordance with the terms of this Note, the following provisions
shall apply: (a) if the amount of accrued interest during any installment period shall exceed the amount of Borrower’s scheduled
installment of Principal and interest for that period, the amount of the installment due and payable to the Bank for that period shall
be adjusted (i.e., increased) to equal the amount of interest accrued for that period, so as to avoid negative amortization; and (b)
in all other instances of applicable interest rate fluctuation during a Variable Rate P&I Period, Borrower’s scheduled installment of
Principal and interest will remain the same and, in such instances where the applicable interest rate increases, result in a greater
portion of such installment amount being applied to interest due, leaving less available to reduce the Principal balance. Borrower
understands that each scenario will result in a higher than expected Principal balance due and payable to the Bank on the
Maturity Date, and agrees that, absent manifest error, the Bank’s determination of any amount due in connection herewith shall
be conclusive.

 
Prepayment Premium. During the term of this Note, Borrower shall have the option of paying the unpaid Principal to the Bank in
advance of the Maturity Date, as set forth in Section 2.2.6 (Optional Prepayments of Term Line) of the Financing Agreement.

Representations, Warranties and Covenants. Borrower represents, warrants and acknowledges to, and agrees and covenants
with, the Bank that now and until this Note is paid in full:

a.  Business Purpose. This Note evidences a commercial loan and an extension of credit for a commercial purpose within
the meaning of the Commercial Law Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, and the loan proceeds shall be used only for a
business purpose and not for any personal, family or household purpose.

b.  Good Standing; Authority. Borrower is an entity (i) duly organized and existing and in good standing under the laws of
the jurisdiction in which it was formed, (ii) duly qualified, in good standing and authorized to do business in every jurisdiction in which
failure to be so qualified might have a material adverse effect on its business or assets and (iii) has the power and authority to own
each of its assets and to use them as contemplated now or in the future.

c.  Legality. The execution, issuance, delivery to the Bank and performance by Borrower of this Note (i) are in furtherance of
Borrower’s purposes and within its power and authority; (ii) do not (a) violate any statute, regulation or other law or any judgment,
order or award of any court, agency or other governmental authority o r of any arbitrator or (b) violate Borrower’s certificate of
incorporation or other governing instrument, constitute a default under any agreement binding on Borrower, or result in a lien or
encumbrance on any assets of Borrower; and (iii) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or partnership action.

d.  Compliance. The Borrower conducts its business and operations and the ownership of its assets in compliance with each
applicable statute, regulation and other law, including without limitation environmental laws. All approvals, including without limitation
authorizations, permits, consents, franchises, licenses, registrations, filings, declarations, reports and notices (the “Approvals”)
necessary to the conduct of Borrower’s business and for Borrower’s due issuance of this Note have been duly obtained and are in full
force and effect. The Borrower is in compliance with all conditions of each Approval.

e.  Financial and Other Information. For each year until this Note is paid in full, Borrower shall provide to the Bank in form
and number of copies and by accountants satisfactory to the Bank, such financial information as required by the Financing
Agreement.

f.  Accounting; Tax Returns and Payment of Claims. Borrower will maintain a system of accounting and reserves in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, has filed and will file each tax return required of it and, except as disclosed
in an attached schedule, has paid and will pay when due each tax, assessment, fee, charge, fine and penalty imposed by any taxing
authority upon Borrower or any of its assets, income or franchises, as well as all amounts owed to mechanics, materialmen, landlords,
suppliers and the like in the ordinary course of business.

g.  Title to Assets; Insurance. Borrower has good and marketable title to each of its assets free of security interests and
mortgages and other liens except as disclosed in its financial statements or on a schedule attached to this Note or pursuant to the
Bank’s prior written consent. Borrower will maintain its property in good repair and will maintain and on request provide the Bank with
evidence of insurance coverage satisfactory to the Bank including without limitation fire and hazard, liability, worker’s compensation
and business interruption insurance and flood hazard insurance as required.

h.  Judgments and Litigation. There is no pending or threatened claim, audit, investigation, action or other legal proceeding
or judgment, order or award of any court, agency or other governmental authority or arbitrator (each an “Action”) which involves
Borrower or its assets and might have a material adverse effect upon Borrower or threaten the validity of this Note or any related
document or transaction. Borrower will immediately notify the Bank in writing upon acquiring knowledge of any such Action.

i.  Notice of Change of Address and of Default. Borrower will immediately notify the Bank in writing (i) of any change in its
address or of the location of any collateral securing this Note, (ii) of the occurrence of any Event of Default defined below, (iii) of any
material change in Borrower’s ownership or management and (iv) of any material adverse change in Borrower’s ability to repay this
Note.
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j.  No Transfer of Assets. Until this Note is paid in full, Borrower shall not without the prior written consent of the Bank (i) sell
or otherwise dispose of substantially all of its assets, (ii) acquire substantially all of the assets of another entity, (iii) if it is a corporation,
participate in any merger, consolidation or other absorption or (iv) agree to do any of these things.

Events of Default. The following constitute an event of default (“Event of Default”): (i) failure by Borrower to make any payment when
due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) of the amounts due under this Note, the Financing Agreement or
the other Financing
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Documents, or any part thereof, or there occurs any event or condition which after notice, lapse of time or both will permit such
acceleration; (ii) Borrower defaults in the performance of any covenant or other provision with respect to this Note, the Financing
Agreement, or any other agreement between Borrower and the Bank or any of its affiliates or subsidiaries (collectively, “Affiliates”);
(iii) Borrower fails to pay when due (whether at the stated maturity, by acceleration or otherwise) any indebtedness for borrowed
money owing to the Bank (other than under this Note), any third party or Affiliate or the occurrence of any event which could result in
acceleration of payment of any such indebtedness or the failure to perform any agreement with any third party or Affiliate; (iv) the
reorganization, merger, consolidation or dissolution of Borrower (or the making of any agreement therefor); the sale, assignment,
transfer or delivery of all o r substantially all of the assets of Borrower to a third party; or the cessation by Borrower as a going
business concern; (v) the death or judicial declaration of incompetency of Borrower, if an individual; (vi) failure to pay, withhold or
collect any tax as required by law; the service or filing against Borrower or any of its assets of any lien (other than a lien permitted in
writing by the Bank), judgment, garnishment, order or award; (vii) if Borrower becomes insolvent or is generally not paying its debts
as such debts become due; (viii) the making of any general assignment by Borrower for the benefit of creditors; the appointment of a
receiver or similar trustee for Borrower or its assets; or the making of any, or sending notice of any intended, bulk sale; (ix) Borrower
commences, or has commenced against it, any proceeding or request for relief under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws now
or hereafter in effect in the United States of America or any state or territory thereof or any foreign jurisdiction or any formal or
informal pro-ceeding for the dissolution or liquidation of, settlement of claims against or winding up of affairs of Borrower; (x) any
representation or warranty made in this Note, the Financing Agreement, any related document, any agreement between Borrower
and the Bank or any Affiliate or in any financial statement of Borrower proves to have been misleading in any material respect when
made; Borrower omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made in this Note, the Financing Agreement, any
related document, any agreement between Borrower and the Bank o r any Affiliate or any financial statement of Borrower not
misleading in light of the circumstances in which they were made; or, if upon the date of execution of this Note, there shall have been
any material adverse change in any of the facts disclosed in any financial statement, representation or warranty that was not
disclosed in writing to the Bank at or prior to the time of execution hereof; (xi) any pension plan of Borrower fails to comply with
applicable law or has vested unfunded liabilities that, in the opinion of the Bank, might have a material adverse effect on Borrower’s
ability to repay its debts; (xii) an adverse change in the Borrower, its business, assets, operations, management, ownership, affairs or
condition (financial or otherwise) from the status shown on any financial statement or other document submitted to the Bank or any
Affiliate, and which change the Bank determines will have a material adverse effect on (a) the Borrower, its business, assets,
operations or condition (financial or otherwise), or (b) the ability of the Borrower to pay or perform any obligation to the Bank; (xiii) the
occurrence of any event described in sub-paragraph (i) through and including (xii) hereof with respect to any guarantor or any other
party liable for, or whose assets or any interest therein secures, payment of any of the amounts due under this Note; (xiv) Borrower
fails to supply new or additional collateral within ten (10) days of request by the Bank; or (xv) the Bank in good faith deems itself
insecure with respect to payment or performance under this Note, the Financing Agreement or any of the other Financing Documents.

Rights and Remedies Upon Default. Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the Bank without demand of performance or
other demand, presentment, protest, advertisement or notice of any kind (except any notice required by law) to or upon the Borrower
or any other person (all and each of which demands, presentments, protests, advertisements and notices are hereby waived), may
exercise all rights and remedies under the Borrower’s agreements with the Bank or its Affiliates, applicable law, in equity or otherwise
and may declare all or any part of any amounts due hereunder not payable on demand to be immediately due and payable without
demand or notice o f any kind and terminate any obligation it may have to grant any additional loan, credit or other financial
accommodation to the Borrower. All or any part of any amounts due hereunder whether or not payable on demand, shall be
immediately due and payable automatically upon the occurrence of an Event of Default in sub-paragraph (ix) above, or at the Bank’s
option, upon the occurrence of any other Event of Default. The provisions hereof are not intended in any way to affect any rights of
the Bank with respect to any amounts due hereunder which may now or hereafter be payable on demand.

Right of Setoff. The Bank shall have the right to set off against the amounts owing under this Note any property held in a deposit or
other account with the Bank or any Affiliates or otherwise owing by the Bank or any Affiliate in any capacity to Borrower or any
Guarantor or endorser of this Note. Such setoff shall be deemed to have been exercised immediately at the time the Bank or such
Affiliate elects to do so.

Miscellaneous. This Note, together with any related loan and security agreements and guaranties, contains the entire agreement
between the Bank and Borrower with respect to the Note, and supersedes every course of dealing, other conduct, oral agreement
and representation previously made by the Bank. All rights and remedies of the Bank under applicable law and this Note or
amendment of any provision of this Note are cumulative and not exclusive. No single, partial or delayed exercise by the Bank of any
right or remedy shall preclude the subsequent exercise by the Bank at any time of any right or remedy of the Bank without notice. No
waiver or amendment of any provision of this Note shall be effective unless made specifically in writing by the Bank. No course of
dealing or other conduct, no oral agreement or representation made by the Bank, and no usage of trade, shall operate as a waiver of
any right or remedy of the Bank. No waiver of any right or remedy of the Bank shall be effective unless made specifically in writing by
the Bank. Borrower agrees that in any legal proceeding, a copy of this Note kept in the Bank’s course of business may be admitted
into evidence as an original. This Note is a binding obligation enforceable against Borrower and its successors and assigns and shall
inure to the benefit of the Bank and its successors and assigns. If a court deems any provision of this Note invalid, the remainder of
the Note shall remain in effect. Section headings are for convenience only. Singular number includes plural and neuter gender
includes masculine and feminine as appropriate.

Notices. Any demand or notice hereunder or under any applicable law pertaining hereto shall be in writing and duly given if delivered
to Borrower (at its address on the Bank’s records) or to the Bank (at the address on page one and separately to the Bank officer
responsible for Borrower’s relationship with the Bank). Such notice or demand shall be deemed sufficiently given for all purposes
when delivered (i) by personal delivery and shall be deemed effective when delivered, or (ii) by mail or courier and shall be deemed
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effective three (3) business days after deposit in an official depository maintained by the United States Post Office for the collection of
mail or one (1) business day after delivery to a nationally recognized overnight courier service (e.g., Federal Express). Notice by e-
mail is not valid notice under this or any other agreement between Borrower and the Bank.

Joint and Several. If there is more than one Borrower, each of them shall be jointly and severally liable for all amounts and
obligations which become due under this Note and the term “Borrower” shall include each as well as all of them.
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Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Note has been delivered to and accepted by the Bank and will be deemed to be made in the
State of Maryland. Except as otherwise provided under federal law, this Note will be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the
State of Maryland excluding its conflict of laws rules. BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE EXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT IN THE STATE OF MARYLAND WHERE THE BANK MAINTAINS A
BRANCH AND CONSENTS THAT THE BANK MAY EFFECT ANY SERVICE OF PROCESS IN THE MANNER AND AT
BORROWER’S ADDRESS SET FORTH ABOVE FOR PROVIDING NOTICE OR DEMAND; PROVIDED THAT NOTHING
CONTAINED IN THIS NOTE WILL PREVENT THE BANK FROM BRINGING ANY ACTION, ENFORCING ANY AWARD OR
JUDGMENT OR EXERCISING ANY RIGHTS AGAINST BORROWER INDIVIDUALLY, AGAINST ANY SECURITY OR AGAINST
ANY PROPERTY OF BORROWER WITHIN ANY OTHER COUNTY, STATE OR OTHER FOREIGN OR DOMESTIC
JURISDICTION. Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the venue provided above is the most convenient forum for both the Bank
and Borrower. Borrower waives any objection to venue and any objection based on a more convenient forum in any action instituted
under this Note.

Waiver of Jury Trial. BORROWER AND THE BANK HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE ANY
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY BORROWER AND THE BANK MAY HAVE IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING, IN LAW OR IN
EQUITY, IN CONNECTION WITH THIS NOTE OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED HERETO. BORROWER REPRESENTS AND
WARRANTS THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OR AGENT OF THE BANK HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE,
THAT THE BANK WILL NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THIS JURY TRIAL WAIVER. BORROWER
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE BANK HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS NOTE BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE
PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION.

Power to Confess Judgment. BORROWER HEREBY EMPOWERS ANY ATTORNEY OF ANY COURT OF RECORD, AFTER
THE OCCURRENCE OF ANY EVENT OF DEFAULT HEREUNDER, TO APPEAR FOR BORROWER AND, WITH OR WITHOUT
COMPLAINT FILED, CONFESS JUDGMENT, OR A SERIES OF JUDGMENTS, AGAINST BORROWER IN FAVOR OF THE BANK
OR ANY HOLDER HEREOF FOR THE ENTIRE PRINCIPAL BALANCE OF THIS NOTE, ALL ACCRUED INTEREST AND ALL
OTHER AMOUNTS DUE HEREUNDER, TOGETHER WITH COSTS OF SUIT AND AN ATTORNEY’S COMMISSION OF THE
GREATER OF TEN PERCENT (10%) OF SUCH PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST OR $1,000 ADDED AS A REASONABLE
ATTORNEY’S FEE, AND FOR DOING SO THIS NOTE OR A COPY VERIFIED BY AFFIDAVIT SHALL BE A SUFFICIENT
WARRANT. BORROWER HEREBY FOREVER WAIVES AND RELEASES ALL ERRORS IN SAID PROCEEDINGS AND ALL
RIGHTS OF APPEAL AND ALL RELIEF FROM ANY AND ALL APPRAISEMENT, STAY OR EXEMPTION LAWS OF ANY STATE
NOW IN FORCE OR HEREAFTER ENACTED. INTEREST ON ANY SUCH JUDGMENT SHALL ACCRUE A T THE DEFAULT
RATE. NO SINGLE EXERCISE OF THE FOREGOING POWER TO CONFESS JUDGMENT, OR A SERIES OF JUDGMENTS,
SHALL BE DEEMED TO EXHAUST THE POWER, WHETHER OR NOT ANY SUCH EXERCISE SHALL BE HELD BY ANY
COURT TO BE INVALID, VOIDABLE, OR VOID, BUT THE POWER SHALL CONTINUE UNDIMINISHED AND IT MAY BE
EXERCISED FROM TIME TO TIME AS OFTEN AS THE BANK SHALL ELECT UNTIL SUCH TIME AS THE BANK SHALL HAVE
RECEIVED PAYMENT IN FULL OF THE DEBT, INTEREST AND COSTS. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION DO NOT APPLY
TO ANY LOAN EVIDENCED BY THIS NOTE THAT IS WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THE SECTION ENTITLED “SPECIAL
PROVISIONS - LOANS OF $75,000 OR LESS” AND MADE TO AN INDIVIDUAL OR SOLE PROPRIETOR BORROWER.

Preauthorized Transfers from Deposit Account. I f a deposit account number is provided in the following blank Borrower hereby
authorizes the Bank to debit Borrower’s deposit account #______________________________with the Bank automatically for any
amount which becomes due under this Note.

Acknowledgment. Borrower acknowledges that it has read and understands all the provisions of this Note, including the Confession
of Judgment, Governing Law, Jurisdiction and Waiver of Jury Trial, and has been advised by counsel as necessary or
appropriate.

WITNESS the due execution hereof as a SEALED INSTRUMENT the day and year first above written.
 

 BORROWERS:
PAYMENTS, INC.

  
______________(SEAL)  
 

BY:_______________________(SEAL)
Name: _____________________
Title: ______________________

  
 DCAP GROUP, INC.

  
______________(SEAL)  
 

BY:_______________________(SEAL)
Name: _____________________
Title: ______________________
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF _________________ )
: SS.

COUNTY OF _______________ )

O n the __________ day of July, in the year 2006, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said State,
personally appeared______________________________________, personally known to me or proved to me on the basis of
satisfactory evidence to be the individual(s) whose name(s) is (are) subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the individual(s),
or the person upon behalf of which the individual(s) acted, executed the instrument.

Notary Public

STATE OF _________________ )
: SS.

COUNTY OF _______________ )

O n the __________ day of July, in the year 2006, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said State,
personally appeared______________________________________, personally known to me or proved to me on the basis of
satisfactory evidence to be the individual(s) whose name(s) is (are) subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their capacity(ies), and that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrument, the individual(s),
or the person upon behalf of which the individual(s) acted, executed the instrument.

Notary Public

 

FOR BANK USE ONLY

Authorization Confirmed:
Disbursement of Funds:

Credit A/C # ____________________ Off Ck #_________________ Payoff Obligation #__________________
$ ____________________      $__________________            $___________________

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



SECURITY AGREEMENT
(Guarantor Security Agreement)

 
 

THIS SECURITY AGREEMENT (Guarantor Security Agreement) (this “Agreement”) is made as of the 28th day of July, 2006,
by
 

DCAP GROUP, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (“DCAP”), DCAP
MANAGEMENT CORP., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, DCAP ACCURATE, INC.,
a Delaware corporation (“DCAP Accurate” ) , AIA-DCAP CORP., a corporation organized under the laws of the
Commonwealth o f Pennsylvania, BARRY SCOTT AGENCY, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the
State of New York, BARRY SCOTT COMPANIES, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of
Delaware, BARRY SCOTT ACQUISITION CORP., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York,
BARON CYCLE, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, BLAST ACQUISITION
CORP., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, DEALERS CHOICE AUTOMOTIVE
PLANNING, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, IAH, INC., a corporation
organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, and INTANDEM CORP., a corporation organized under the laws
of the State of New York (each an “Obligor” and collectively the “Obligors”).

 
for the benefit of MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York State Bank, in its capacity as “Agent” for itself
and other “Lenders” under the Financing Agreement (as hereinafter defined) (the “Secured Party”).
 

RECITALS
 

A. PAYMENTS INC., a corporation organized under the laws the State of New York (“Payments Inc.”), and DCAP GROUP,
INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Parent”), of which Payments Inc. is a wholly-
owned subsidiary, jointly and severally (the “Borrower”) have applied to the Agent and the Lenders for credit facilities consisting of a
revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $20,000,000 and a term line facility in the maximum principal amount of
$2,500,000 to be advanced pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of an Amended and Restated Financing and
Security Agreement of even date herewith (as amended, modified, restated, substituted, extended and renewed at any time and from
time to time, the “Financing Agreement”) by and among the Borrower, the Agent, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, a New
York State Bank organized under the laws of the State of New York, in its capacity as a Lender, and such other entities that may
become Lenders under the Financing Agreement from time to time. The Financing Agreement amends and restates the “Original
Financing Agreement” (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement).
 

B. All defined terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the
Financing Agreement.
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C. The Obligors, other than DCAP Accurate, are parties to the “Corporate Guaranty” (as that term is defined in the Original

Financing Agreement) and the “Guarantor Security Agreement” (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement).
 

D. The Obligors have requested that the Agent and the Lenders enter into the Financing Agreement with the Borrower and
make the credit facilities described in the Financing Agreement available to the Borrower.
 

E. The Agent and the Lenders have required, as a condition to entering into the Financing Agreement, that the Obligors
execute this Agreement as additional security for the payment and performance of the “Obligations” (as that term is defined in the
Financing Agreement) and as an amendment and restatement of, without a novation of the indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of
the Obligors under, the “Guarantor Security Agreement” (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement). References in
the Financing Agreement and the other Financing Documents to the “Guarantor Security Agreement” shall mean this Agreement as
amended, restated, modified, substituted, extended and renewed from time to time.
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in order to induce the Agent and the Lenders to enter into the Financing Agreement:
 

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of which the Obligor hereby acknowledges,
 

FOR THE PURPOSE OF SECURING (i) all present and future indebtedness, liabilities and other obligations of any nature
whatsoever (direct or indirect, fixed or contingent), and whether or not now contemplated, of the Obligor to Secured Party and the
Lenders including, without limitation, those indebtedness, liabilities and other obligations arising pursuant to or in connection with this
Agreement, that certain Amended and Restated Guaranty of Payment Agreement dated of even date herewith (the “Guaranty”) from
the Obligor in favor of the Secured Party, as agent for itself and the other Lenders, and/or (ii) all present and future indebtedness,
liabilities and other obligations of any nature whatsoever (direct or indirect, fixed or contingent; including, without limitation, the
“Obligations” as that term is defined the Financing Agreement ), and whether or not now contemplated, under or secured by the
Financing Agreement from time to time (all indebtedness, liabilities and other obligations under clauses (i) and/or (ii) above
collectively, the “Secured Obligations”),
 

THE OBLIGOR HEREBY assigns, pledges and grants a security interest to Secured Party, and covenants and agrees that
Secured Party shall have a perfected and continuing security interest in, all of the following property of the Obligor, all whether now
owned or existing or hereafter acquired or created wherever situated (collectively, the “Collateral”):
 

(a)  All inventory, and all warranties, licenses, franchises, documents, chattel paper and general
intangibles related thereto (including, without limitation, software), and all returned, rejected or repossessed goods; and

 
(b)  All accounts, contract rights, chattel paper (including, without limitation, electronic chattel

paper), instruments, payment intangibles and other general intangibles, health-care-insurance receivables, money and
documents, and all returned, rejected or repossessed goods, the sale or lease of which shall have given or shall give rise to
any of the foregoing; and
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(c)  All equipment, furniture, fixtures, and other goods together with (i) all additions, parts, fittings,

accessories, special tools, attachments and accessions now and hereafter affixed thereto and/or used in connection
therewith, (ii) leases and chattel paper with respect thereto, (iii) all replacements thereof and substitutions therefor and (iv)
and all warranties, licenses, franchises, and general intangibles related to the foregoing (including, without limitation,
software); and

 
(d)  All general intangibles (including, without limitation, all books and records, things in action,

contractual rights, tax returns, goodwill, literary rights, rights to performance, copyrights, trademarks and patents) and
commercial tort claims; and

 
(e)  A l l notes, notes receivable, drafts, letters of credit, letter-of-credit rights, supporting

obligations, deposit accounts, investment property, security, acceptances, instruments and documents; and
 

WITH RESPECT TO EACH AND ALL OF THE FOREGOING, all insurance policies and insurance proceeds related to any
and all of the foregoing or otherwise and all cash and noncash proceeds thereof, and all books and records in whatever media (paper,
electronic or otherwise) recorded or stored, with respect to any or all of the foregoing and all equipment, hardware and general
intangibles necessary, beneficial or desirable to retain, access and/or process the information contained in those books and records,
and all proceeds (cash and noncash) of the foregoing, it being the intention of the Obligor that the Collateral shall include all of the
Obligor’s personal property. All terms used herein which are defined by the Maryland Uniform Commercial Code shall have the same
meanings as assigned to them by the Maryland Uniform Commercial Code unless and to the extent varied by this Agreement.
 

The Obligor further agrees that the Secured Party shall have in respect thereof all of the rights and remedies of a secured
party under the Maryland Uniform Commercial Code as well as those provided in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the fact that the
proceeds of the Collateral constitute a part of the Collateral, the Obligor may not dispose of the Collateral, or any part thereof.
 

1.  The Obligor covenants with and warrants to Secured Party that:
 

(a)  The Obligor will store the Collateral in appropriate containers, in safe and secure locations, and in
accordance with applicable laws, will take all steps necessary to preserve and maintain the Collateral and its value, and will not permit
anything to be done to the Collateral which may materially impair its value o r security. Secured Party, or agents designated by
Secured Party, shall be permitted to enter the premises of the Obligor and examine, audit and inspect the Collateral at any
reasonable time and from time to time without notice.
 

(b)  At its expense, the Obligor will defend the title to the Collateral (or any part thereof), and will promptly upon
request by the Secured Party execute, acknowledge and deliver or obtain any financing statement, continuation statement, security
agreement, assignment, instruments, acknowledgments, landlord, bailee and other third party waivers, filings
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o r other document as may be necessary or beneficial, in the opinion of the Secured Party, to perfect (by control or otherwise),
preserve, provide notice of, maintain, continue, realize upon, protect and/or extend the assignment, lien or security interest granted to
the Secured Party under this Agreement and its priority. The Obligor agrees that a copy of a fully executed security agreement and/or
financing statement shall be sufficient to satisfy for all purposes the requirements of a financing statement as set forth in Article 9 of
the applicable Uniform Commercial Code. Further, to the extent permitted by applicable laws, the Secured Party is authorized to file,
without the Obligor’s signature, one or more financing statements, amendments to financing statements, correction statements or
other notices disclosing the Secured Party’s liens and other security interests. All financing statements and notices may describe the
Secured Party’s collateral as all assets or all personal property of Obligor. The Obligor hereby ratifies and confirms the validity of any
and all financing statements filed by the Secured Party prior to the date of this Agreement.
 

(c)  The Obligor will maintain on the goods included among the Collateral hazard insurance with fire and
extended coverage, naming Secured Party as an additional insured and sole loss payee, in amounts, with endorsements, from
insurers and otherwise in form and substance satisfactory to Secured Party as determined by Secured Party from time to time.
 

(d)  The Obligor will immediately notify the Secured Party of each change which has caused, and of each
proposed change which the Obligor believes would cause, the information contained on EXHIBIT A to this Agreement to be no longer
accurate, complete and correct
 

2.  The Obligor hereby represents and warrants to and covenants with the Secured Party that:
 

(a)  The Obligor has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to incur and perform the
obligations provided for therein, all of which have been duly authorized by all proper and necessary action of the appropriate
governing body of the Obligor and by all necessary third parties including, without limitation, Governmental Authorities. This
Agreement constitutes valid and legally binding obligations of the Obligor, enforceable in accordance with their terms.
 

(b)  There i s no charter, bylaw, stock provision, partnership, operating agreement, articles of organization,
partnership agreement, or other document pertaining to the organization, power or authority of the Obligor and no provision of any
existing agreement, mortgage, indenture, contract, law, court or administrative order or proceeding binding on or applicable to the
Obligor or affecting its property, which would conflict with or in any way prevent the execution, delivery or carrying out of the terms of
this Agreement.
 

(c)  The Obligor has good title to the Collateral and the Collateral is free and clear of liens, security interests,
claims, encumbrances, and assignments, except those granted to the Secured Party, except, with respect to the assets of Barry Scott
Companies, Inc. only, those granted to The Progressive Corporation, and except, with respect to assets of DCAP Accurate purchased
from Accurate Agency of Western New York, Inc., Louisons Associates Limited and Accurate Agency, Inc., security interests granted
to those persons in the assets purchased.
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(d)  The Secured Party has and will at all times continue to have as security for the Secured Obligations a valid
and perfected security interest in all of the Collateral.
 

(e)  At the time this Agreement is executed and delivered, there exists no default under this Agreement and no
condition that with the giving or notice or the passage of time would be a default under this Agreement.
 

(f)  The information contained in EXHIBIT A, which is attached to and a part of this Agreement, is accurate,
complete and correct.
 

3.  The Obligor shall be in default under this Agreement and the Secured Obligations i f the Obligor (i) breaches any
agreement, covenant and warranty under this Agreement or any other agreement, covenant or warranty between the Obligor and the
Secured Party, (ii) is in default under any of the other Secured Obligations, including, without limitation, any agreement with respect
thereto, (iii) transfers to another location any of the Collateral, or makes any change which would cause the information contained on
EXHIBIT A to this Agreement to be no longer accurate, complete and correct, (iv) transfers or assigns (including, without limitation,
transfers or assignments by merger, consolidation or operation of law) or sells, conveys, leases, assigns, transfers or otherwise
disposes of all or any part of the Collateral, except inventory sold in the ordinary course of business prior to an event of default, (v)
permits (or if there shall arise) any security interest, encumbrance, financing statement, lien (including, without limitation, tax lien) or
charge of any kind on the Collateral, except for the liens of Secured Party pursuant to this Agreement and except for the liens of The
Progressive Corporation on the assets of Barry Scott Companies, Inc., (vi) changes the Obligor's name, state of organization, or entity
structure, or become organized under the laws of an additional state, (vii) liquidates, dissolves or terminates its existence, (viii) admits
in writing its inability generally to pay its debts as they mature or shall make any assignment for the benefit of any of its creditors, (ix)
is the subject of federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or trustee proceedings, or (x) suffers (or if there shall occur) an
“Event of Default” (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement or in any of the other Financing Documents).
 

4.  Upon the occurrence of a default under this Agreement (and in addition to all of its rights, powers and remedies under
this Agreement, the Guaranty, any other promissory notes, documents, instruments, guaranties, mortgages or other contract with or
for the benefit of the Secured Party, or securing or evidencing payment of any indebtedness of the Obligor, at any time executed by
the Obligor and/or any other person in connection with any of the Secured Obligations, all as the same may be amended, modified,
restated, substituted, extended and renewed at any time and from time to time, the “Financing Documents”): The Secured Party may,
in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion, declare all or any part of the Secured Obligations to be immediately due and
payable. The Secured Party shall have all of the rights and remedies of a secured party under the Maryland Uniform Commercial
Code and other applicable laws. If the sale or other disposition of the Collateral fails to satisfy all of the Secured Obligations, the
Obligor shall remain liable to Secured Party for any deficiency. Upon demand by Secured Party, the Obligor shall assemble the
Collateral and make it available to Secured Party, at a place reasonably convenient for such purpose as designated by Secured
Party. The Obligor shall hold in trust for the Secured Party all collections and proceeds of Collateral in the form received, shall not
commingle those collections or proceeds with any other assets of the Obligor and shall deliver those collections and proceeds
immediately to the Secured Party with
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any necessary endorsement. The Secured Party or its agents may enter upon and remain on the Obligor’s premises to take
possession of the Collateral, to remove it, to render it unusable, to collect it, or to sell or otherwise dispose of it and to take any other
action permitted to be taken under this Agreement or under applicable laws. Any proceeds of the collection, the sale or other
disposition of the Collateral will be applied by the Secured Party to the Secured Obligations (whether then due or not), at such time or
times and in such order and manner of application as the Secured Party may from time to time in its sole and absolute discretion
determine.
 

5.  I f the Obligor fails to take any action required to be taken by the Obligor under this Agreement (including, without
limitation, obtaining required insurance), the Secured Party, in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion, may do so in the name
of the Secured Party or the Obligor as the Secured Party may elect, but at the cost and expense of the Obligor, which cost and
expense shall be immediately due and payable to the Secured Party as part of the Secured Obligations. In addition to all other rights
and remedies provided hereunder or as shall exist at law or in equity from time to time, the Secured Party may (but shall be under no
obligation to), without notice to the Obligor, in the name of the Secured Party or in the name of the Obligor or otherwise, for the use
and benefit of the Secured Party, but at the cost and expense of the Obligor, (i) following a default under this Agreement, extend,
renew, demand, collect, enforce by legal or equitable proceedings or otherwise, exchange, surrender, compromise, give receipt for
and give renewals, extensions, discharges and releases of, any and all of the Collateral; (ii) endorse or sign the name of the Obligor
upon any items of payment, certificates of title, instruments, financing statements, securities, powers, documents, documents of title,
or other writing relating to or part of the Collateral; and (iii) following a default under this Agreement, take any other action necessary
or beneficial to realize upon or dispose of the Collateral. The Obligor hereby irrevocably appoints the Secured Party as its attorney-in-
fact, with power of substitution from time to time, to take such actions as are described in this paragraph as well as any other action
which the Obligor is required to take under this Agreement or under any of the other Financing Documents, including, without
limitation, the execution, acknowledgment and delivery of any financing statement, continuation statement, security agreement,
assignment, instruments, filings or other document as may be necessary or beneficial, in the opinion of the Secured Party, to perfect,
preserve, provide notice of, maintain, continue, realize upon, protect and/or extend the assignment, lien or security interest granted to
the Secured Party under this Agreement and its priority.
 

6.  Without precluding other means for giving notice, any written notice of the sale, disposition or other intended action by
Secured Party with respect to the Collateral given at least ten (10) days prior to such sale, disposition or other action and sent to the
mailing address set forth on EXHIBIT A attached hereto, shall in all events constitute commercially reasonable notice to the Obligor.
 

7.  The Obligor agrees to pay to Secured Party as part of the Secured Obligations all reasonable expenses, charges,
costs, taxes, and fees (including, without limitation, reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses, whether incurred prior to the institution
of any suit or other proceeding or otherwise) of any nature whatsoever paid or incurred by or on behalf of Secured Party or the
Lenders in connection with the perfection, collection, maintenance, preservation, inspection, insuring, defense, protection, realization
upon, disposition, sale or enforcement of all or any part of the Collateral or the enforcement or collection of the Secured Obligations.
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8.  This Agreement may not be amended, modified, or changed in any respect except by an agreement in writing signed
by the Secured Party and the Obligor. The Secured Party shall have the right at all times to enforce the provisions of this Agreement
in strict accordance with the terms hereof, notwithstanding any conduct or custom on the part of the Secured Party in refraining from
so doing at any time or times. The failure or delay of the Secured Party at any time o r times to enforce the rights under such
provisions, strictly in accordance with the same, shall not be construed as having created a custom in any way or manner contrary to
specific provisions of this Agreement or as having in any way or manner modified or waived the same.
 

9.  The rights, powers and remedies provided in this Agreement are cumulative, may b e exercised concurrently or
separately, may be exercised from time to time and in such order as the Secured Party shall determine, and are in addition to, and not
exclusive of, rights, powers and remedies provided by applicable laws, all without regard to any right of the Obligor or any other
person or entity to the marshalling of assets, which right the Obligor and any other person or entity who may be liable (by
endorsement, guaranty, indemnity or otherwise) for all or any part of the Secured Obligations hereby waive to the extent permitted by
applicable laws. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Secured Party and the Lenders may: (a) proceed against any one
or more Obligors and/or the Collateral with or without proceeding against any other Obligor or any other person obligated under any
of the Secured Obligations; (b) proceed against the Obligor with or without proceeding under the other Financing Documents; (c)
without reducing or impairing the obligation of the Obligor and without notice, release or compromise with any guarantor or other
person liable for all or any part of the Secured Obligations; and (d) without reducing or impairing the obligations of the Obligor and
without notice thereof: (i) fail to perfect the security interests and/or other interests of the Secured Party in any or all Collateral or to
release any or all the Collateral or to accept substitute Collateral, (ii) allow all or any Secured Obligations to arise after the date of this
Agreement, (iii) waive any provision of this Agreement, (iv) exercise or fail to exercise rights of set-off or other rights, (v) accept partial
payments or extend from time to time the maturity of all or any part of the Secured Obligations, and (vi) take or fail to take any action
under this Agreement or against any one or more persons obligated under the Secured Obligations. The Obligor, together with any
guarantor, surety or indemnitor of all or any part of the Secured Obligations, hereby waives and releases all claims and defenses
against the Secured Party and the Lenders and/or with respect to the payment or enforcement of the Secured Obligations and the
Secured Party’s rights in the Collateral on account of any of the foregoing.
 

10.  In case one or more provisions contained in this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect
under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall remain effective and binding
on the parties hereto and shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
 

11.  “Obligor” means the collective reference to each and every Person defined as a “Obligor” in the preamble of this
Agreement or otherwise so identified in this Agreement from time to time, and to any one or more of such Persons, all jointly and
severally, unless a specific Obligor is expressly identified. “Obligors” means the collective reference to all Persons included in the
definition of “Obligor.” The headings in this Agreement are included herein for convenience only, shall not constitute a part of this
Agreement for any other purpose, and shall not be deemed to affect the meaning or construction of any of the provisions hereof. The
above Recitals are part of this Agreement
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12.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Obligor and Secured Party and their respective

successors and assigns.
 
 

[Signatures follow on next pages]
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO
SECURITY AGREEMENT

(GUARANTOR SECURITY AGREEMENT)
 

WITNESS the signature and seal of the Obligors as of the day and year first above written.
 

WITNESS OR ATTEST:
 
_______________________

DCAP GROUP, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

DCAP MANAGEMENT CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

DCAP ACCURATE, INC. 
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

AIA-DCAP CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

 
[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO
SECURITY AGREEMENT

(GUARANTOR SECURITY AGREEMENT)
 
  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARRY SCOTT AGENCY, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARRY SCOTT COMPANIES, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARRY SCOTT ACQUISITION CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARON CYCLE, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BLAST ACQUISITION CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

 
[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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SIGNATURE PAGE TO

SECURITY AGREEMENT
(GUARANTOR SECURITY AGREEMENT)

 
 
  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

DEALERS CHOICE AUTOMOTIVE PLANNING, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

IAH, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

INTANDEM CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
 

[Acknowledgment follows on Next Page]
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT PAGE TO
SECURITY AGREEMENT

(GUARANTOR SECURITY AGREEMENT)

STATE OF MARYLAND, CITY OF BALTIMORE, TO WIT:
 

I HEREBY CERTIFY, that on this ___ day of July, 2006, before me, a Notary Public of said State, personally appeared Barry
B. Goldstein, who acknowledged himself to be the President of DCAP GROUP, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the
State of Delaware, and of each of the other Guarantors described in foregoing instrument, known to me (or satisfactorily proven) to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that he executed the same for the purposes
therein contained as the duly authorized President of each of said corporations by signing the respective names of the corporations by
himself as President, respectively, of each.
 
 

WITNESS my hand and Notarial Seal.
 

______________________________
Notary Public

My Commission Expires:
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EXHIBIT A TO SECURITY AGREEMENT

 
 

The Obligor further represents and warrants to the Secured Party that the information provided to the Lender on the
Perfection Certificate dated on or about the Original Closing Date (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement) with respect to
each Obligor other than DCAP Accurate and on or about date of this Agreement in the case of DCAP Accurate, and provided by each
Obligor to the Lender is true and correct and is incorporated into this Agreement by reference.
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REAFFIRMATION OF AND AMENDMENT TO STOCK PLEDGE AGREEMENTS
 

THIS REAFFIRMATION OF AND AMENDMENT TO STOCK PLEDGE AGREEMENTS (this “Agreement”) is made as of the
28th day of July, 2006, by
 

DCAP GROUP, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (“DCAP”), BARRY
SCOTT AGENCY, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, BARRY SCOTT
COMPANIES, INC., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, and BLAST ACQUISITION
CORP., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware (each a “Pledgor” and collectively the
“Pledgors”).

 
for the benefit of MANUFACTURERS AND TRADERS TRUST COMPANY, a New York State Bank, in its capacity as “Agent” for itself
and other “Lenders” under the Financing Agreement (as hereinafter defined) (the “Secured Party”).
 

RECITALS
 

A. PAYMENTS INC., a corporation organized under the laws the State of New York (“Payments Inc.”), and DCAP GROUP,
INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (“Parent”), of which Payments Inc. is a wholly-
owned subsidiary, jointly and severally (the “Borrower”) have applied to the Agent and the Lenders for credit facilities consisting of a
revolving credit facility in the maximum principal amount of $20,000,000 and a term line facility in the maximum principal amount of
$2,500,000 to be advanced pursuant to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of an Amended and Restated Financing and
Security Agreement of even date herewith (as amended, modified, restated, substituted, extended and renewed at any time and from
time to time, the “Financing Agreement”) by and among the Borrower, the Agent, Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, a New
York State Bank organized under the laws of the State of New York, in its capacity as a Lender, and such other entities that may
become Lenders under the Financing Agreement from time to time. The Financing Agreement amends and restates the “Original
Financing Agreement” (as that term is defined in the Financing Agreement).

 
B. All defined terms used in this Agreement and not defined herein shall have the meaning given to such terms in the

Financing Agreement.
 

C. The Pledgors are parties to the “Stock Pledge Agreements” (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement).
 

D. The Pledgors have requested that the Agent and the Lenders enter into the Financing Agreement with the Borrower and
make the credit facilities described in the Financing Agreement available to the Borrower.
 

E. The Agent and the Lenders have required, as a condition to entering into the Financing Agreement, that the Pledgors
execute this Agreement as additional security for the payment and performance of the “Obligations” (as that term is defined in the
Financing Agreement) and as an affirmation of their indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of the Pledgors under, the “Stock Pledge
Agreements” (as that term is defined in the Original Financing Agreement). References in the Financing Agreement and the other
Financing Documents to the Stock Pledge Agreements means the “Stock Pledge Agreements” (as that term is defined in the Original
Financing Agreement), as reaffirmed and amended by this Agreement and as amended, restated, modified, substituted, extended and
renewed from time to time.
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NOW, THEREFORE, in order to induce the Agent and the Lenders to enter into the Financing Agreement:

 
1.  Each of the Pledgors (a) consents to the transactions contemplated by, and agreements made by the Borrower under,

the Financing Agreement, (b) ratifies, confirms and reissues the terms, conditions, promises, covenants, grants, assignments,
security agreements, waivers, agreements, representations, warranties and provisions contained in Stock Pledge Agreements, and
(c) agrees that the Pledgor has no (and alternatively waives each and every) counterclaim, recoupment, setoff, reduction or defense
with respect to the Pledgor's obligations under the Stock Pledge Agreements, however arising, in contract, in tort or otherwise and
whenever arising; and (d) alternatively, releases, withdraws, waives and discharges any and all claims, rights, demands, damages,
causes of action, judgments or liabilities which the Pledgor has, had or may have ever had against the Agent or the Lenders,
including but not limited to any arising in connection with the Stock Pledge Agreements or the other Financing Documents.
 

2.  Without limiting the foregoing, the Pledgors, jointly and severally, acknowledge and agree that (a) references in the
Stock Pledge Agreements to the term “Financing Agreement” mean the Financing Agreement as defined above in this Agreement
and references in the Stock Pledge Agreements to the “Borrower,” “Obligations” and other terms defined in the Financing Agreement
shall have the meaning set forth in the Financing Agreement), (b) the Obligations include, without limitation, the Revolving Credit
Facility and the Term Line Facility described in the Financing Agreement and the Obligations are covered by the Stock Pledge
Agreements; (c) in the Stock Pledge Agreements the Pledgors agreed, among other things, that the parties to the Financing
Documents may from time to time modify, amend, change or terminate any provisions of any of the Financing Documents without in
any way releasing, affecting or in any way impairing the obligations and liabilities of the Pledgors under the Stock Pledge
Agreements, and (d) notwithstanding the Agent’s and the Lenders’ acceptance of this Agreement (notice of which acceptance is
hereby waived), the parties may hereafter modify, amend, change or terminate any provisions of any of the Financing Documents
without notice to, the further agreement of, or the consent of the Pledgors.
 

3.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of duplicate originals or counterparts, each of such duplicate
originals or counterparts shall be deemed to be an original and taken together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Each
Pledgor agrees that the Pledgor’s signature may be delivered by facsimile or by pdf. If a Pledgor chooses to deliver the Pledgor’s
signature by facsimile or by pdf, the Pledgor agrees to provide a counterpart of this Agreement with the Pledgor’s inked signature
promptly to the Agent.
 
 

[Signatures follow on next page]
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Signature Page to

REAFFIRMATION OF AND AMENDMENT TO STOCK PLEDGE AGREEMENTS
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Pledgor has executed and delivered this Agreement under seal as of the day and year of the
Financing Agreement.
 
 
 ATTEST:
 
______________________

 DCAP GROUP, INC.
 
By:____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARRY SCOTT AGENCY, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BARRY SCOTT COMPANIES, INC.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President

  
ATTEST:
 
_______________________

BLAST ACQUISITION CORP.
 
By:_____________________ (SEAL)

Barry B. Goldstein,
President
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AMENDMENT TO SECURED SUBORDINATED
PROMISSORY NOTES AND WARRANTS

DCAP GROUP, INC.
1158 Broadway

Hewlett, New York 11558

May 25, 2005

Jack Seibald as representative and
attorney-in-fact for the holders of
the Secured Subordinated Promissory
Notes of DCAP Group, Inc., dated
July 10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate
principal amount of $1,500,000
1336 Boxwood Drive West
Hewlett Harbor, NY 11557

Dear Jack:

Reference is made to the Secured Subordinated Promissory Notes of DCAP Group, Inc. (the “Company”), dated July
10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate principal amount of $1,500,000 (collectively, the “Notes”) and held by the persons and entities
set forth on Schedule A attached hereto (collectively, the “Noteholders”).

Reference is also made to the Warrants issued by the Company, dated July 10, 2003, to the Noteholders for the
purchase of an aggregate of 97,500 shares of Common Stock of the Company (collectively, the “Warrants”).

All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Notes.

The parties agree that, in consideration of the extension hereby of the outside date by which the Warrants may be
exercised from 5:00 P.M., Eastern Time, on January 10, 2006 to 5:00 P.M., Eastern Time, on September 30, 2007, the Maturity Date
for each of the Notes is hereby extended from January 10, 2006 to September 30, 2007. Except as amended hereby, the Notes and
the Warrants shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their respective terms.
 

Very truly yours,

DCAP GROUP, INC.

By:_________________________     
  Barry B. Goldstein, President

 
Agreed:
 
__________________________
Jack Seibald, as representative and attorney-
in-fact for the holders of the Secured Subordinated
Promissory Notes of DCAP Group, Inc., dated
July 10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate principal amount
of $1,500,000
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SCHEDULE A

 
 

Name

 

 

Outstanding
Principal

Amount of
Note   

Number of
Shares

of Common
Stock

Subject to
Warrant  

IRA FBO Stewart R. Spector,
Pershing LLC Custodian  $ 461,538.49  30,000 
 
IRA FBO Jack D. Seibald, 
Pershing LLC Custodian

 
$ 288,461.54  18,750 

 
J.M.J Realty Company

 
$ 230,769.23  15,000 

 
Sanders Opportunity Fund (Inst.), LP

 
$ 166,153.85  10,800 

 
Take-Two Capital LP

 
$ 115,384.61  7,500 

 
Citco Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited as Trustee
of the MS Deferred Income Trust

 
$ 115,384.61  7,500 

 
Sanders Opportunity Fund, LP

 
$ 64,615.39  4,200 

 
Michael Rosen and Catherine Rosen

 
$ 57,692.31  3,750 

 

EDGAR Stream is a copyright of Issuer Direct Corporation, all rights reserved.



AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO SECURED SUBORDINATED
PROMISSORY NOTES AND WARRANTS

DCAP GROUP, INC.
1158 Broadway

Hewlett, New York 11558

March 23, 2007

Jack Seibald as representative and attorney-in-
fact for the holders of the Secured Subordinated
Promissory Notes of DCAP Group, Inc., dated
July 10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate
principal amount of $1,384,615.39 as set forth
on Schedule A attached hereto
1336 Boxwood Drive West
Hewlett Harbor, NY 11557

Dear Jack:

Reference is made to the Secured Subordinated Promissory Notes of DCAP Group, Inc. (the “Company”), dated July
10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate principal amount of $1,384,615.39 (collectively, the “Notes”) and held by the persons and
entities set forth on Schedule A attached hereto (collectively, the “Noteholders”).

Reference is also made to the Warrants issued by the Company, dated July 10, 2003, to the Noteholders for the
purchase of an aggregate of 90,000 shares of Common Stock of the Company (collectively, the “Warrants”).

All capitalized terms used and not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Notes.

The parties agree that, in consideration of the extension hereby of the outside date by which the Warrants may be
exercised from 5:00 P.M., Eastern Time, on September 30, 2007 to 5:00 P.M., Eastern Time, on September 30, 2008, the Maturity
Date for each of the Notes is hereby extended from September 30, 2007 to September 30, 2008. Except as amended hereby, the
Notes and the Warrants shall continue in full force and effect in accordance with their respective terms.

Very truly yours,

DCAP GROUP, INC.

By: ___________________     
Barry B. Goldstein, President

Agreed:

____________________________
Jack Seibald, as representative and attorney-in-
fact for the holders of the Secured Subordinated
Promissory Notes of DCAP Group, Inc., dated
July 10, 2003, in the outstanding aggregate principal amount
of $1,384,615.39 as set forth on Schedule A attached hereto
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SCHEDULE A

 
 

Name

 

 

Outstanding
Principal

Amount of
Note   

Number of
Shares

of Common
Stock

Subject to
Warrant  

        
IRA FBO Stewart R. Spector,
Pershing LLC Custodian  $ 461,538.49  30,000 
 
IRA FBO Jack D. Seibald, 
Pershing LLC Custodian

 
$ 288,461.54  18,750 

 
J.M.J Realty Company

 
$ 230,769.23  15,000 

 
Sanders Opportunity Fund (Inst.), LP

 
$ 166,153.85  10,800 

 
Take-Two Capital LP

 
$ 115,384.61  7,500 

 
Sanders Opportunity Fund, LP

 
$ 64,615.39  4,200 

 
Michael Rosen and Catherine Rosen

 
$ 57,692.31  3,750 
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Exhibit 21
 

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
 

 
Name of Subsidiary State of Incorporation
  
AA DCAP Greenbrook Inc. New Jersey
AIA-DCAP Corp.(1) Pennsylvania
Baron Cycle, Inc. (2) New York
Barry Scott Acquisition Corp.(2) New York
Barry Scott Agency Inc.(2) New York
Barry Scott Companies, Inc.(1) Delaware
Blast Acquisition Corp. Delaware
DCAP Management Corp. New York
Dealers Choice Automotive Planning Inc. New York
DCAP Accurate, Inc.(2) Delaware
IAH, Inc. Delaware
Intandem Corp. New York
Payments Inc. New York
_________________
 

(1)  A wholly-owned subsidiary of Blast Acquisition Corp.
(2)  A wholly-owned subsidiary of Barry Scott Companies, Inc.
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference into the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-134102) and Form S-8
(No. 333-104060 and No. 333-13289)) of DCAP Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries of our report dated March 14, 2007 with respect to the
consolidated financial statements of DCAP Group, Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-KSB of DCAP Group, Inc. for the
year ended December 31, 2006.

/s/Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP
Holtz Rubenstein Reminick LLP
Melville, New York
March 28, 2007
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Certification
 

 
I, Barry Goldstein, certify that:
  
1. I have reviewed this Form 10-KSB of DCAP Group, Inc.;
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the small business issuer as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

  
4. The small business issuer’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15-(e)) for the small business issuer and
have:

  
 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the small business issuer,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

   
 b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the small business issuer’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented

in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

   
 c. Disclosed in this report any change in the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting that

occurred during the small business issuer’s most recent fiscal quarter (the small business issuer’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting; and

  
5. The small business issuer’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of

internal control over financial reporting, to the small business issuer’s auditors and the audit committee of the small
business issuer’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
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 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the small business issuer’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

   
 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role

in the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 27, 2007  
  
 /s/ Barry B. Goldstein

Barry B. Goldstein
Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

PURSUANT TO
 

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

 
The undersigned hereby certifies, pursuant to, and as required by, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of DCAP Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-KSB for
the year ended December 31, 2006 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-KSB fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

 
Dated: March 27, 2007    
 

/s/ Barry B. Goldstein 
Barry B. Goldstein
Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer
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